Public Document Pack

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE CABINET

WEDNESDAY 12TH FEBRUARY 2025
AT 6.00 P.M.

PARKSIDE SUITE - PARKSIDE

MEMBERS: Councillors K.J. May (Leader), S. J. Baxter (Deputy Leader),
S. R. Colella, B. McEldowney, K. Taylor, S. A. Webb and
P. J. Whittaker
AGENDA
To receive apologies for absence
Declarations of Interest
To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other
Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm

the nature of those interests.

To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet
held on 7th January 2025 (Pages 5 - 18)

Minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 6th
January 2025 (Pages 19 - 34)

(@) To receive and note the minutes
(b)  To consider any recommendations contained within the minutes



Pay Policy 2025/2026 (Pages 35 - 44)

To consider, and if considered appropriate, to pass the following
resolution to exclude the public from the meeting during the
consideration of item(s) of business containing exempt information:-

"RESOLVED: that under Section 100 | of the Local Government Act 1972, as
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of
the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it/they involve(s) the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part | of Schedule 12A to
the Act, as amended, the relevant paragraph of that part, in each case, being
as set out below, and that it is in the public interest to do so:-

Iltem No. Paragraph(s)

7 3

8 3

Strategic Parking Review (Pages 45 - 238)

Medium Term Financial Plan - Tranche 2 Budget including Fees and
Charges (following consultation) (Pages 239 - 322)

Appendix A to this report will be published in a Supplementary Papers pack to
this agenda.

To consider any urgent business, details of which have been notified to
the Assistant Director of Legal, Democratic and Procurement Services
prior to the commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman, by
reason of special circumstances, considers to be of so urgent a nature
that it cannot wait until the next meeting

Sue Hanley
Chief Executive
Parkside
Market Street
BROMSGROVE
Worcestershire
B61 8DA

4th February 2025



If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact
Jo Gresham

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove, B61 8DA
Tel: (01527) 64252 Ext: 3031
Email: joanne.gresham@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE
MEETINGS

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers,
please do not hesitate to contact the officer named above.

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
ATTENDING MEETINGS IN PERSON

Meeting attendees and members of the public are encouraged not to attend a
Committee if they have if they have common cold symptoms or any of the
following common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; a high
temperature, a new and continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste.

Notes:

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when Council
might have to move into closed session to consider exempt or
confidential information. For agenda items that are exempt, the public
are excluded and for any such items.


mailto:joanne.gresham@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Bromsgrove
District Council

www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC

Access to Information

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of
press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain
documents. Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further
broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act.

» You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before
the date of the meeting.

» You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its
Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting.

» You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on
which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date
of the meeting. These are listed at the end of each report.

» An electronic register stating the names and addresses and
electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of
all Committees etc. is available on our website.

» A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to
items to be considered in public will be made available to the public
attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its
Committees/Boards.

» You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council
has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers
concerned, as detailed in the Council’'s Constitution, Scheme of
Delegation.

You can access the following documents:
» Meeting Agendas
» Meeting Minutes

> The Council’s Constitution

at www.bromsaqgrove.gov.uk



http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/

Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

BROMSGROVEDISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE CABINET

/TH JANUARY 2025, AT 6.00 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors K.J. May (Leader), S. J. Baxter (Deputy Leader),
S. R. Colella, B. McEldowney, K. Taylor (from Minute Item No.
58/24), S. A. Webb and P. J. Whittaker
Observers: Councillor P. M. McDonald and Councillor S.T. Nock

Officers: Mrs. S. Hanley, Mr P. Carpenter, Mr. G. Revans,
Mr S. Parry, Mr M. Austin, Mr. M. Bough and Mrs. J. Bayley-Hill

54/24 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies for absence.

Members noted that Councillor K. Taylor would be arriving late for the
meeting.

55/24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

56/24 TO CONFIRM THE ACCURACY OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING
OF THE CABINET HELD ON 10TH DECEMBER 2024

The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 10" December 2024
were submitted.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 10t
December 2024 be approved as a true and correct record.

57/24 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
BOARD HELD ON 9TH DECEMBER 2024

The minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting held on 9
December 2024 were considered.

The Leader confirmed that there were no outstanding recommendations
from this meeting requiring the Cabinet’s consideration.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
meeting held on 9" December 2024 be noted.

Page 5



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

58/24 REFUSE FLEET REPLACEMENT AND WHEELED BIN PRESSURES

The Environmental Services Manager presented a report on the subject
of the replacement of the Council’s refuse vehicle fleet and pressures
relating to wheeled bins used by the authority.

Cabinet was reminded that at a previous meeting, Members had
received an update on the pressures on the vehicle fleet used for the
delivery of the waste service and the Council’s capital programme had
been reprofiled in response to this. Officers had subsequently identified
issues with the bins used by the Council. The authority had a diamond
bin system whereby the bins were lifted to dispose of waste. The
Council was the only authority to retain this system as all other local
authorities had ceased to use this following a tragic accident in Coventry
involving the lifting mechanism. Consequently, there were no vehicles
available to purchase that were suitable for lifting this type of bin.

The Council could continue to use the existing bins and maintain the
existing vehicle fleet. However, the vehicles used by the authority were
aging and this created challenges, including financial challenges in the
long-term. Therefore, Officers were proposing that the authority’s bins
needed to be replaced with industry standard comb bins. There were
two different sizes of comb bin available to use which Cabinet was
invited to consider.

The report was being considered in a context in which the Government
was introducing extended producer responsibilities, whereby
manufacturers would be taxed on packaging. The funds arising from
this tax would be allocated to public services and Bromsgrove District
Council was due to receive £1.04 million initially, with annual
contributions anticipated. However, Members were asked to note that
the level of funding received from this source was likely to decline over
time as manufacturers made changes to their packaging in order to
reduce their tax liabilities.

During consideration of this item, the Chairman of the Overview and
Scrutiny Board, Councillor P. McDonald, was invited to address Cabinet
on behalf of the Board on this subject. Members were advised that the
Board had pre-scrutinised the report at a meeting held on 6" January
2025. The Board had noted that in the report it had been suggested that
provision of smaller bins would help to encourage an increase in
recycling rates in the District. However, the Board had had concerns
about the impact that this might have in the local community and
therefore had recommended that the Council should invest in the larger
bins.

Members subsequently discussed the proposals detailed in the report
and in so doing commented on the following matters:

Page 6



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

o The procurement of new vehicles alongside new bins. It was
confirmed that these would be owned by the Council.

o The typographical errors that had been identified in the report,
including the figure in the second recommendation which should
have been recorded as £2.2 million.

o The hard work of the Waste Collection Service team.

o The historic decision that had been taken by the Council to invest
in diamond bins, which had been considered to be cutting edge at
the time.

o The length of time that the diamond bins had been used, for over
20 years. Officers expressed hopes that the replacement comb
bins could be utilised for a similar amount of time in order to
achieve value for money.

o The amount of funding that Redditch Borough Council was due to
receive for extended producer responsibilities. Officers confirmed
that this figure was likely to be circa £200,000 lower than for
Bromsgrove District Council due to the lower number of
households.

o The numbers of green, grey and brown bins used by households in
the District. Officers advised that there were approximately 43,000
households in the District and roughly this number of green and
grey bins per household. In addition, there were approximately
20,000 brown bins, as not all residents opted to receive the garden
waste collection service.

o The bins that would be provided to households on request prior to
investment in the new bins. Cabinet was advised that there were
occasions when residents requested replacement bins and, as
diamond bins were no longer available, comb bins had already
started to be provided to these households.

o The potential for the availability of smaller bins to be promoted to
residents, whilst providing the larger bins as a standard. In
particular, Members commented that single person households
might prefer to use smaller bins.

. The communications that would be issued alongside replacement
of the bins. Officers explained that funding was proposed in the
MTFP to allocate to communications in respect of this matter.

RESOLVED

1) The Council agrees to replace all “Diamond” lift bins in use across
the Residual, Recycling, and Garden Waste services in
Bromsgrove District during the 2025/26 financial year with industry
standard “Comb” lift bins.

2) To endorse the proposal to replace all the Council’s existing
“‘Diamond” wheeled bins with industry standard “Comb” 240Itr
wheeled bins.

Page 7



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

RECOMMENDED that

1) The Council allocates £2.2 million Capital funding in the Medium-
Term Financial Plan for the 2025/26 financial year for the purchase
and distribution of these bins.

59/24 INTRODUCTION OF FOOD WASTE COLLECTION

The Environmental Services Manager presented a report concerning the
introduction of a food waste collection service in Bromsgrove District.

Cabinet was advised that the Environment Act 2021 had introduced a
new statutory duty for local authorities to provide a weekly food waste
collection service. Confirmation had not yet been provided to the
Council on the new burdens funding that would be made available by the
Government to the authority to help cover the costs of delivering this
service. However, it was anticipated that the Council would receive an
additional circa £900,000 to cover the costs of new caddies and outdoor
bins for household use for the food waste.

At a local level, there were space issues at Bromsgrove depot in relation
to accommodating a new vehicle or vehicles for the delivery of a food
waste collection service. These vehicles could not be accommodated
alongside the existing fleet. Officers had concluded that it would not be
viable to purchase more land to accommodate the additional vehicles,
so this was not considered to be a suitable option for the Council at this
time.

Taking into account existing pressures and uncertainties, Officers were
proposing that the Council should procure the food waste collection
service through a private sector company. lIdeally, the Council would
have aimed to deliver the service inhouse, but this was not considered to
be feasible at this stage. The proposal was to procure the service for a
period of up to eight years.

To maximise interest in this opportunity within the private sector,
Bromsgrove District Council would aim to procure this service jointly with
Redditch Borough Council and Wyre Forest District Council. There was
no guarantee that the procurement exercise would be successful.
However, if the procurement process was unsuccessful, the Council
could report back to the Department of Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs (DEFRA) highlighting the issues that had been experienced and a
request would then be submitted to extend the deadline for the
introduction of the service in the District.

Once the report had been presented, Members discussed the following
matters in detail:

o The procurement of an external provider for the food waste
collection service and the implications for other waste collection

Page 8



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

services. Cabinet was advised that existing services would be
unaffected and would continue to be delivered inhouse.

The potential for the risks to the authority arising from the
introduction of a food waste collection service to be reduced
through procurement of a third party to deliver the service. Officers
explained that these risks would also be shared with Redditch
Borough and Wyre Forest District Council by undertaking joint
procurement.

The consultation that had already been undertaken with
representatives of the Trades Unions and staff employed in the
Waste Collection team to explain the rationale for the proposed
way forward in this instance.

The soft market testing exercise that had been undertaken by five
Worcestershire authorities, including Bromsgrove District Council,
prior to this date and the extent to which the lack of interest
expressed by private sector organisations at this time reflected the
potential interest in the proposed contract with the public sector.
Officers explained that it was not unusual to not attract interest in
soft market testing exercises because they were not guaranteed to
result in contract work. Therefore, this could not be regarded as
representative of the likely outcome of the procurement exercise.
The dates when Redditch Borough and Wyre Forest District
Councils were due to consider this issue. Officers clarified that the
Redditch Executive Committee was due to consider the matter at a
meeting on 14" January 2025 and it was anticipated that Wyre
Forest District Council would discuss the matter in February 2025.
The timeframes for undertaking the procurement exercise. Cabinet
was advised that the aim was to go out to tender in spring 2025.
The forthcoming deadline, in spring 2026, for Councils to introduce
a food waste collection service and the implications of possible
non-compliance. Members were advised that as long as the
Council had a clear plan in place the authority would not be failing
in terms of compliance.

The lack of anaerobic digestors in Worcestershire to dispose of the
food waste and the implications of this situation. Officers explained
that Worcestershire County Council was responsible for disposal of
the waste and once the food waste was loaded onto the vehicles,
the County Council needed to direct District Councils on where this
waste should be disposed.

The extent to which the Council would be able to meet the
Government’s deadline to introduce the food waste collection
service if this was not outsourced to the private sector. Officers
confirmed that the Council was unlikely to meet the deadline if a
decision was taken to deliver this service inhouse at this stage.

The benefits arising from outsourcing this service, which would
include the potential to share risks with other authorities, to gather
data on service delivery and to use that data to inform decisions
taken in eight years’ time.

The forthcoming requirement for an additional circa 9,000 houses
to be developed in Bromsgrove District, under the WNational

Page 9



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the extent to which this
had been taken into account when planning arrangements for the
collection and disposal of food waste.

The extent to which there were risks associated with food
collection, including pests, and how these risks would be
addressed.

Long-haul disposal arrangements for food waste and the
arrangements for use of transfer stations.

The smaller bins that had been suggested by DEFRA. Members
commented that this was unlikely to be welcomed by local
residents.

The potential for a similar food waste disposal system to Norway to
be introduced in Bromsgrove and the challenges involved in this.
Officers clarified that the system in the UK was less advanced than
in parts of the continent and unfortunately not set up to be as
progressive.

The extent to which householders were likely to continue to
dispose of food waste in their grey bins.

The concerns that some residents might have about using slop
buckets in their homes.

The potential for food waste to be comingled with other sources of
waste and collected at the same time. Cabinet was advised that
the Environment Act placed a legal requirement for food waste to
be collected separately on a weekly basis.

The patterns in terms of food waste collection that had emerged in
parts of the country where this service had already been
introduced. Members were asked to note that some householders
would not use the service every week whilst other residents would
not use the service at all.

The likelihood that some residents would continue to dispose of
food waste in their compost bins.

The potentially different food waste patterns that might emerge
over time across the various districts in the county.

The need to encourage residents to reduce the amount of food that
they wasted.

The arrangements that would be in place should the successful
company through the procurement process go into administration.
Officers advised that there would be appropriate insurance
arrangements in place to address this risk. Working with other
local authorities would also help to offset this risk.

The risk that some residents would leave caddies outside their
properties creating an unsightly appearance. Officers explained
that communications would be issued in relation to this matter.

The reasons why the Council had opted for an eight-year length for
the proposed contract. Cabinet was advised that this would help to
affray the financial costs involved. For a shorter contract, a private
sector company was likely to require the same financial investment
from the authority but over a shorter period of time and this could
be difficult for the Council to manage.

Page 10



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

o The vehicles that would be purchased for the delivery of the food
waste collection service and whether the Council would own these
vehicles. Officers explained that the third-party company would
own the vehicles. There would be the option for the organisation to
sell or transfer the asset to the Council’s ownership at the end of
the eight years, however, the general lifespan of a vehicle such as
this tended to be eight years.

o The potential for the Council to purchase land to accommodate a
food waste collection service. Officers reiterated that this option
was not considered to be viable as there was not sufficient time
remaining to enable the Council to provide this service inhouse in
time to meet the Government’s deadline.

o The work that had been undertaken to date to highlight with
DEFRA that the Council lacked capacity at the depot to
accommodate a food waste collection service. Officers confirmed
that this issue had been raised with DEFRA but, like other
authorities that had raised this issue, officers had been advised that
this was the Council’s issue to resolve.

During consideration of this item, the Chairman of the Overview and
Scrutiny Board, Councillor P. McDonald, was invited to address the
Cabinet on behalf of the Board. Members were advised that the report
had been pre-scrutinised at a meeting of the Board held on 6™ January
2025. Whilst the Committee had not proposed any specific
recommendations on this subject, concerns had been raised about the
extent to which it was likely that there would be interest within the private
sector to deliver this service. Cabinet was therefore asked to take into
account the potential need for a “plan B” moving forward, in case initial
plans could not be progressed.

Based on these concerns, Members discussed the potential to introduce
an additional proposal as part of the decision making on this report. This
was worded in the following manner:

“Officers to consider arrangements should procurement of a food
waste collection service be unsuccessful.”

Members commented that this additional proposal would help to ensure
that the Council continued to take action, in light of the tight deadlines,
even if the procurement process was unsuccessful.

RESOLVED that

1) Subject to the outcome of negotiations, the Council approves the
introduction of a joint Food Waste Collection Service, working with
Redditch Borough Council and Wyre Forest District Council to
deliver the authority’s statutory duties under the Environment Act
2021 regarding a Food Waste Collection service;

2) Delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director of
Environmental and Housing Property Services following
consultation with the Section 151 Officer, the Principal Solicitor

Page 11



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

(Contracts, Commercial and Procurement) and the Portfolio
Holders for Finance and Environmental Services respectively to,
subject to the agreement of recommendations 1 and 4:

a) to negotiate and agree terms with Redditch Borough Council
and Wyre Forest District Council to enter into a joint tender for
a shared food waste collection service;

b) tender and award a dedicated weekly food waste collection
service through a third party for a period of 8 years
commencing no later than 31 March 2026.

3) Officers to consider arrangements should procurement of a food
waste collection service be unsuccessful.

RECOMMENDED that

4)  The Council allocate £1,000,000 Revenue Funding in the Medium-
Term Financial Plan as an operational budget from 2026/27 to fund
the Food Waste Collection Service in the Borough, as accounted
for within tranche 1 of the budget.

60/24 FINAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2025/26

The Deputy Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer presented the Final
Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 for Members’ consideration.

Cabinet was advised that the Council Tax Support Scheme had not
been amended and remained largely the same as the version that had
been approved in 2024. The only difference was that the whole scheme
had been uprated by 1.7 per cent in line with the approved increases in
national benefits. The Council brought in this banded scheme in 2021
and the full review undertaken in the previous year’s budget suggested
that most Councils now used this type of matrix.

The Council spent circa £5 million on Council Tax Support through the
collection fund, with 70 per cent paid for by Worcestershire County
Council, 13 per cent paid for by Bromsgrove District Council, 12 per cent
paid for by the West Mercia Police and 5 per cent covered by
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Fire and Rescue Service.

There were circa 1,800 pension aged people living in the District who
were receiving Council Tax Support (paid for by the Government) and
2,300 working aged residents.

Members welcomed the report and in doing so commented on the
importance of the Council Tax Support Scheme in terms of providing
support to some of the most vulnerable residents living in the District.

During consideration of this item, Members noted that the name of the

lead Portfolio Holder should have been included in the table on the first
page of the report.

Page 12



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

RECOMMENDED that the council tax reduction scheme be retained for
the 2025-26 tax year, subject to the uprating of income bands by 1.7 per
cent in-line with increases to national benefits.

61/24 COUNCIL TAX BASE 2025/26

The Deputy Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer presented the
Council Tax Base 2025/26 report for Cabinet’s consideration.

Members were advised that this was a statutory report which was
required to allow precepting authorities to calculate how much Council
Tax they would raise in the upcoming financial year.

The figures provided in the report were based on data on the Council
Tax system as at the 30" November 2024 adjusted for:

. The latest dwelling numbers.

. Discounts and exemptions such as Council Tax Support.

. An allowance of 1 per cent for non-collection of Council Tax (with
Members being advised that the Council’s in year collection rate
was approximately 98.5 per cent.)

. The new Council Tax base was 38,359.9 Band “D” equivalent
properties (Members were informed that the previous financial year
this figure had been 37,997.7).

The report had been pre-scrutinised at a recent meeting of the Finance

and Budget Working Group. During the meeting, Members had

requested a breakdown of the number of properties in each band in the

District. The following information had subsequently been confirmed,

which was highlighted with Cabinet Members for consideration:

Band A — 3,952 properties
Band B — 7,459 properties
Band C — 9,342 properties
Band D — 8,056 properties
Band E — 7,212 properties
Band F — 3,849 properties
Band G — 2,924 properties
Band H — 381 properties

Members were asked to note that whilst these figures added together
might seem to differ from the Council Tax Base figure, this was because
the Council Tax Base focused on Band D equivalent numbers.

The Finance and Budget Working Group had also questioned which
areas of the District were impacted by the Trent River Management Area
in terms of flood defences. Officers confirmed that this included parts of
Hollywood, Wythall, Frankley and Rubery. Confirmation was provided
that flood defence area information was included in the report as these
figures were needed by Worcestershire County Council, which was the
responsible lead authority for flood defences.

Page 13



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

RESOLVED that the amount calculated by Bromsgrove District Council
as the Council Tax Base for the whole area for 2025/26 is approved at
38,359.9 as detailed in appendix 1 to include the individual parish
elements

62/24 DISABLED FACILITY GRANT OMBUDSMAN'S REPORT

The Strategic Housing Services Manager presented the Disabled
Facilities Grant Ombudsman’s report for Cabinet’s consideration.

Members were advised that this was a statutory report which needed to
be presented for Cabinet’'s consideration. The Local Government
Ombudsman had concluded that there had been maladministration in
relation to the provision of Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) funding
support to a local resident. There had been a number of partner
organisations involved in this complex case, including Bromsgrove
District Council, Bromsgrove District Housing Trust (BDHT),
Worcestershire Children’s First and other bodies. All partners had
received criticisms in the report and recommendations had been made
by the Ombudsman to address the issues that had been identified.

Since the report had been issued by the Ombudsman, the Council had
been working to address the recommendations detailed in the report.
This had included taking a lead on communications and the introduction
of a form for the DFG process that residents could sign to indicate that
they understood and were satisfied with the works that would be
undertaken using the funding.

Following the presentation of the report, Members expressed their
disappointment that this situation had occurred in this instance. There
was general agreement that lessons needed to be learned from the
situation to ensure that services improved in future. As part of this
process, the suggestion was made that the new form that had been
introduced for the DFG scheme should involve tripartite approval; from
the Occupational Therapist involved in undertaking an assessment of an
applicant; from the applicant; and from the Council. It was suggested
that this would be particularly helpful for more vulnerable applicants, who
might require additional support, as well as providing an audit trail.
Officers agreed to review and update the form accordingly.

RESOLVED that
1) the content of the report be noted; and
2) the actions implemented in response to the recommendations of

the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman be endorsed.

63/24 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN (MTFP) TRANCHE 1 - (TO FOLLOW)

The Deputy Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer presented the
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Tranche 1 report (following

Page 14



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

consultation) 2025/26 to 2027/28. In presenting this report, an update in
respect of consultation feedback was circulated at the meeting (attached
at Appendix 1 to the minutes).

Members were reminded that at the Cabinet meeting held on 10t
December 2024 the Tranche 1 MTFP was presented. This report had
then been considered prior to consultation with the public and other
stakeholders. The authority had subsequently consulted on the Tranche
1 budget proposals. This budget consultation opened on 5th December
2024. As part of the consultation process, an email invitation was sent
to members of the Bromsgrove Community Panel to take part in the
consultation. The survey was also promoted on a variety of social media
channels. The survey closed at 12 noon on Thursday 2nd January
2025. The response rate from the community panel members had been
48 per cent. There were a total of 278 valid responses received overall.

In terms of responses to specific questions, Members were referred to
Question 2, which provided a breakdown of the consultation responses
by location. The highest percentage of returns had been received from
Aston Fields, Belbroughton and Romsley, and Bromsgrove Centre.
Question 16 provided a breakdown of the age ranges of the people who
filled out the questionnaire. Members were asked to note that the vast
majority were aged over 50.

The survey had asked respondents to rank the three most important
services they felt the Council should invest in. In the feedback received,
these had been:

o Local Economic Development and Employment (47.1 per cent of
respondents).

o Community Safety (44.6 per cent of respondents).

o Maintenance of the Landscape and Environment (43.8 per cent of
respondents)

In questions where respondents were asked to indicate whether they
agreed or disagreed with particular suggestions, six of those responses
entailed well over 50 per cent agreeing or strongly agreeing. Only two
had responses lower than 50 per cent - these being:

. Do you agree that the Council should invest more in our front-line
services to cover increases in fuel? (At a 49.6% approval rate.)

o Do you support fees and charges (this excludes parking) rising by
4% to keep them in line with inflation and rising staffing costs? (At a
40.2% approval rate.)

The highest approval rating, at 86.2 per cent, was to the question - Do
you agree that the Council should invest in economic development in
order to support local businesses, start-ups, the town and local centres
and to prioritise local skills?

Page 15



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

Two further questions were asked about what level of increase to
Bromsgrove District Council's proportion of Council Tax residents
supported. The answers to this were:

o 61.5 per cent agreed or strongly agreed with a 1.99 per cent
increase.
o This dropped to 45.8 per cent for a 2.99 per cent increase.

The survey had also included two free test questions:

e Please let us know your suggestions for investing in the district to
increase prosperity and enhance appeal for residents and
businesses alike.

o  There were 178 responses to this question.

o Responses to this question provided many suggestions and
comments regarding the District. The top three themes were
Bromsgrove Town Centre, supporting businesses and the
importance of infrastructure, from roads to public transport.
These themes had many cross overs, from the impact of
traffic, encouraging a diverse range of businesses into the
town and reducing costs to visitors and businesses alike.

o  Suggestions included:

. Reducing business rates / relief

. Reducing parking costs

. Supporting independent retailers

. Bringing in key major retailers

. Understanding the offer on the High Street. Some
respondents had suggested that there were too many
charity shops, cafes, hair and vaping businesses

" Utilising empty shops for small businesses, new start-
ups, housing and community use

. Improving the market, in terms of the quality, offer and
number of days that it was in operation

. Making the town vibrant, attractive and distinctive,
including by developing attractions and encouraging

visitors

. Improving the appearance and maintenance of the high
street

. Improving public transport

. Supporting active travel
. Accessing grants wherever possible
. Ensuring a District-wide view

e Please let us know any other comments on the budget or ideas for
reducing costs or increasing income to ensure Council services
remain sustainable.

o  There were 118 responses to this question.

o  Of the responses to this question, the largest category fell into
the theme of efficiency and value for money. Other themes
included infrastructure, focusing on those in need, ensuring

Page 16



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

transparency and accountability, asset utilisation, and the
town centre.
oSuggestions included:

. Reviewing salaries

" Ensuring there were the right skills within the Council

. Outsourcing some functions

" Exploring alternative methods of delivery (e.g. co-
operatives, and partnerships)

" Reducing use of consultants

. Reviewing fees and charges

" Commercial opportunities (e.g. logs, compost or specific
services)

" Turning off lights / utilising smart sensors

" Reducing events

. Promoting events better to increase revenue

. Community use of buildings

. Energy generation (e.g. solar panels in car parks)

" Converting buildings into housing (e.g. multi-storey by
Asda)

. Increasing enforcement fines (e.g. fly tipping and
littering)

" Supporting the voluntary sector

. Reducing business rates / relief

. Reviewing Council Tax

. Better coordination around highways and roadworks

In considering the feedback, Members were asked to note that there
were some responses that had been received which indicated that some
members of the public were not sure which services were provided by
Bromsgrove District Council as opposed to Worcestershire County
Council.

The consultation feedback had been considered at a recent meeting of
the Finance and Budget Working Group. During the meeting, Members
had noted that there had been a relatively high response rate from
residents living in Alvechurch, compared to other areas. The suggestion
was made that this had been due to work undertaken by the local
Councillors to raise awareness and it was possible that lessons could be
learned from this for other areas in the future.

Once the report had been presented, Members discussed the following
points in detail:

o The response rate to the consultation, which compared favourably
with previous consultation processes in respect of the Council's
budget.

o The value of increasing the response rate in future to ensure that
the feedback was more representative of a wider number of
residents living in the District.

Page 17



Agenda Iltem 3

Cabinet
7th January 2025

o The potential for the data in response to Question 33 to be
provided at a Parish Council level. Officers undertook to
investigate this matter further.

o The membership of the Bromsgrove Community Panel. Officers
confirmed that this comprised approximately 500 local residents
who had opted to be consulted on a regular basis by the Council.

o The businesses that were leasing shops in Bromsgrove town
centre.

J The changing shopping habits of consumers in the twenty-first
century and the need for the local economy to adapt.

o The potential for more pop-up shops to be introduced in the
District.

o The advice that the Council’s economic development team and the
Town Centres Manager provided to local businesses.

Members concluded their discussions by thanking the Financial Services
team for their hard work on preparing the MTFP.

RECOMMENDED that

1) Members endorse the inputs into the Council's Medium Term
Financial Plan as at the middle of October 2024, and the
associated risks and opportunities.

2) An initial Tranche of savings proposals and pressures, as set out in
Sections 3.03 to 3.14, including the fees and charges increases
(non-commercial), after consideration of feedback from the
consultation exercise which closed on the 2" January 2025, is
approved at Council.

The meeting closed at 8.01 p.m.

Chairman

Page 18



72/23

73/23

74/23

Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

BROMSGROVEDISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD

6TH JANUARY 2025, AT 6.00 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors P. M. McDonald (Chairman), S. T. Nock (Vice-
Chairman), A. Bailes, R. Bailes, A. M. Dale, E. M. S. Gray,
R. J. Hunter, B. Kumar, D. J. Nicholl, J. Robinson and
J. D. Stanley

Observers: Councillor K. J. May - Leader and Cabinet Member for
Strategic Partnerships and Enabling

Councillor S. R. Colella - Cabinet Member of Finance

Councillor S. A. Webb - Cabinet Member of Health and Wellbeing
and Strategic Housing

Councillor P. J. Whittaker — Cabinet Member for Environmental
Services and Community Safety

Councillor H.D.N. Rone- Clarke — Chairman of Housing Task
Group

Other Attendees: Mr C. Mallard and Ms M. Keegan (The
Basement Project)

Officers: Mr. G. Revans, Mr S. Parry, Mr M. Austin,
Ms. A. Delahunty, Ms. B. Houghton and Mrs S. Woodfield

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor S.A.
Robinson with Councillor J.W. Robinson in attendance as named
substitute.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS

No declarations of interest were received nor of any whipping
arrangements.

TO CONFIRM THE ACCURACY OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING
OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD HELD ON 9TH
DECEMBER 2024

The minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting held on 9"
December 2024 were considered.

Page 19



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

It was requested by Members that a correction be made in respect of the
inaccuracy in the minute record of item 64/24 — To confirm the accuracy
of the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held
on 9" December 2024:

It was requested that the inaccurate paragraph, which read as follows:

“The formation of the Cabinet Advisory Group (CAG) provided some
useful discussions including the condition of play areas, approaching
“end of life”. As instructed by CAG, Officers carried out a public
consultation, with a useful session being held with the Consultant to
discuss Foxgrove Way in more detail”.

Be corrected to:

“The formation of the Cabinet Advisory Group (CAG) provided some
useful discussions including the condition of play areas, approaching
“end of life”. As recommended by CAG, Officers carried out a public
consultation, with a useful session being held with the Consultant to
discuss Foxgrove Way in more detail”.

It was agreed the inaccuracy would be corrected.

It was also requested that a timescale be provided for the paragraph,
which read “The Leader of the Council expressed the view that an audit
for Parish Council play area provision should be carried out and for
transparency and scrutiny, be reviewed through the Finance and

Budget Working Group”. The request was subsequently noted and
agreed would be actioned accordingly.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
meeting held on 9" December 2024 be agreed as a true and correct
record.

75/23 NORTH WORCESTERSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
(INCLUDING ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR)

The Community Safety Manager delivered an update on the progress of
the North Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership (NWCSP)
report to the Board.

At its Planning meeting in February 2024, the NWCSP reviewed and
agreed its new priorities for the following three-year period. The
Partnership Plan set out the priorities that the CSP would focus on for a
3-year period, with an annual refresh to capture any emerging issues
and trends. The NWCSP priorities for period April 2024 to March 2027
were:-

. Public Place Violence & the Serious Violence Duty

. ASB, Nuisance and Environmental Issues
. Shoplifting and Neighbourhood Crime:

Page 20



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

Neighbourhood Crime is defined as domestic
burglary, robbery (against the
individual/household), theft from a person and
vehicle crime.
. Protecting Vulnerable Communities including Hate
Crime & Targeted Harassment, Domestic Abuse &
DHRs and Sexual Violence
. Serious Organised Crime via a Joint Action Group (SOCJAG)

Alongside the local priorities, NWCSP worked closely with South
Worcestershire CSP, through the countywide Safer Communities Board
(SCB), to identify and address countywide issues. Through
Worcestershire SCB, the two statutory CSPs collaborated on key
countywide projects and initiatives to ensure District area input and
delivery were considered and implemented. These Worcestershire-wide
activities and interventions included:-

» Domestic Abuse Partnership Board

* Prevent Strategy Group [Counter Terrorism]

* Protect (& Prepare) Board [Counter Terrorism]

« Safeguarding Children Partnership & GETSAFE [Child
Exploitation]

* Adult Safeguarding Partnership & Adult Exploitation Group

 Reducing Reoffending Group & Integrated Offender
Management

+ Substance Misuse Oversight Group / Combatting Drugs
Partnership

In 2023-24 new funding was made available by the Home Office via the
West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to support
Community Safety partners in Implementing the Serious Violence Duty.
Home Office funding allocations for SVD interventions in Worcestershire
totalled £50k.

Alongside the PCC’s force-wide commissioning, NWCSP was allocated
an annual ring-fenced amount from the PCC of £139,250k to identify and
address local issues at a District level. In addition to the annual ring-
fenced grant, the PCC also allocated additional Safer Communities
funding to NWCSP. The funding was allocated by the Partnership to
complement the ring-fenced grant and address identified issues that
were of most concern and/or are having a detrimental effect on local
communities.

During consideration of the item, Members raised the following:

e A Member detailed to the Board a legal dispute which had arisen
in their local ward area, whereby a resident had been advised that
the issue was deemed as a private matter and advised to seek
legal advice. The Council’'s Community Safety Officer offered
invaluable assistance and advice, which avoided the cost of
seeking legal advice from a Solicitor. It was requested that

Page 21



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

Members be provided with the necessary Antisocial Behaviour
(ASB) tools, powers and relevant Officer contact details to assist
their local community more effectively. — The Community Safety
Manager responded that relevant support could be arranged and
was subsequently agreed as an action.

In the report it was suggested that there had been a decrease in
shoplifting within the District between the period of 2023-2024.
However, after consideration, Members expressed the view that
shoplifting remained a concern in their local ward area and
suggested that the crimes were not being adequately reported.
Members felt it would be helpful if the Council provided support to
local businesses to encourage sufficient reporting on matters in
the local area and if shoplifting incidences were reported that the
crimes be investigated. — It was noted that shoplifting was a
significant issue locally and underreported, however, there had
been successes with collaborative business partnership working
around the Town Centre areas. Members were also advised of
the Hotspot Patrols initiative where two areas of Bromsgrove had
been identified as suffering from high levels of serious violence
and ASB. Since the project went live on 15t June 2024, 595 pro-
active patrols had been completed at the relevant times to
increase visibility within the Town Centre.

The Board also queried how the Council determined which areas
to prioritise in the local area. — Members noted that data was
sought following requests for service and responses to calls from
community members.

A Member informed the Board of a shop theft incident which had
taken place in the Rubery area. A response was provided by The
Bromsgrove Centres Manager and advised that the DISC
Scheme could assist further with the incident. It was requested
that an update be provided. - It was agreed this would be reported
to the relevant team as an action.

The Redeployable Camera Scheme was discussed, and it was
requested that Members be provided with the specific locations of
the deployments across the district areas. Also, if successful,
Members queried if the Council would consider the scheme on a
permanent basis. — It was advised that requests should be raised
with the Safer Neighbourhood Team (SNT), allowing the Closed-
Circuit Television (CCTV) Monitoring Centre to have relevant
discussions regarding Code of Practice legal requirements for
surveillance. It was agreed that contact details would be provided
to Members as an action.

The Annual White Ribbon Domestic Abuse Campaign was
discussed by Members. A motion had previously been passed to
seek formal accreditation of the scheme; Members requested that
details be provided on the progress of the scheme. — It was
advised that accreditation was a very time-consuming process at
a time when the team was at reduced capacity, however a vacant
post within the team would be appointed and this could assist with
progressing the matter further in the future.

Page 22



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

e A joy riding incident was discussed by a Member which had been
raised within their ward area. The SNT was subsequently
contacted regarding the incident, and it was disappointing to note
that the incident had been considered unsafe and they were
unable to assist further. It was queried if the CSP had dealt with
similar matters in tackling ways to reduce the issue within other
areas of the District? — It was noted that the SNTs had a wealth of
knowledge in tackling joy riding and was a somewhat surprising
response. It was agreed that the matter would be discussed with
the SNT Inspector as an action. The Leader of the Council added
that Inspector Richard Field from the West Mercia Police had
dealt with a similar incident within the District and had worked
proactively to address the issues raised.  Members were
encouraged to report the relevant crimes to Inspector Richard
Field to ensure that the reporting was followed up with an action
plan.

e The Chairman of the Board expressed disappointment that a
representative from West Mercia Police was not present for the
meeting and felt that specific questions raised had been relevant
to the Police for their comment and input. The Chairman also
advised the Board of continuing issues with Graffiti within his
ward and at St Chads Park, which was having a detrimental effect
to the reputation of the area. — It was agreed that the matter
would be discussed further with the SNT as an action to follow.

e The Leader of the Council asked that issues experienced when
reporting a crime in the local area be notified to the PCC and
requested further clarity on the specific Force boundary areas and
West Mercia’s areas of responsibility. — It was advised that it was
a specific policing matter and that the query might be better
routed through the West Mercia Police and Crime Panel so that
the PCC can be tasked to ensure the Police Control Centre are
directing calls for service appropriately as part of their call taking
role.

RESOLVED that the progress made by North Worcestershire
Community Safety Partnership (NWCSP) be noted.

76/23 THE BASEMENT PROJECT (AIMS OF GRANT FUNDING)

The Strategic Housing Officer presented The Basement Project Aims of
Grant Funding for Member’s consideration followed by a brief video
which included shared experiences through support offered by the
Basement Project.

The report sought to provide an opportunity for Members to familiarise
themselves with the aims and outcomes of the Basement which provided
housing related support and other support to young people up to the age
of 25.

The Council supported the Basement Project with both Homelessness
Prevention Grant and Domestic Abuse grant funding. The purpose of

Page 23



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

the ringfenced Homelessness Prevention Grant fund was to give Local
Authorities control and flexibility in managing homelessness pressures
and supporting those who were at risk of homelessness. The
Government expected Local Authorities to use it to deliver the following
priorities:

e To fully enforce the Homelessness Reduction Act and contribute
to ending rough sleeping by increasing activity to prevent single
homelessness.

e Reduce family temporary accommodation numbers through
maximising family homelessness prevention.

e Eliminate the use of unsuitable bed and breakfast accommodation
for families for longer than the statutory six-week limit.

Domestic Abuse New Burdens Grant funding was allocated to ensure
that Councils could comply with the requirements to provide safe and
supported accommodation for those fleeing domestic abuse.

During consideration of the report, Members discussed the following
points:

e Members requested a further explanation of how the scheme
differentiated between evaluating success relating to support
provided for regular clients and non-clients. — Members were
advised that the scheme for non-clients provided a drop-in service
where there was a requirement i.e. for food, therefore an
induction service was unnecessary. If a client was at crisis point,
they would be considered as a regular client, and ad hoc issues
were treated as a non-client approach and measured as one

case.
e Members also discussed if the Basement Project had a
responsibility within fostering and adoption. — Members were

advised that there was a corporate parenting and safeguarding
body which had a success in delivering and meeting specific
requirements. There was also care leaver support in place as
part of the Basement Project initiatives.

e Housing outcomes were discussed with the Board and Members
gueried what support was given to clients being housed in
temporary accommodation, especially with the lack of white
goods being made available within properties. — The Chief
Executive Officer of the Basement Project responded that
mediation was provided prior to housing which included sourcing
relevant household items necessary. It was felt that the stress of
moving into rented accommodation did have a detrimental effect
on some client’s mental health.

e Members queried how in one way specifically the Local Authority
could assist with the project. — In response the Basement Project
felt that early preventative intervention in schools would be
beneficial to have a more holistic approach.

Page 24



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

e The Chairman of the Board raised a query on food bank
deliveries being carried out outside the District boundary area and
if the Basement Project were aware. — It was explained that a
client in the Rubery area had contacted the library to distribute
food parcels. The suggestion was reviewed, and the decision
was made that the library was not a suitable approach. Members
noted that there would be a new drop in scheme rolled out in
early 2025 to assist with food parcel distribution.

e The Board also reviewed the Council’s statutory duty to combat
homelessness, with  Members querying the severity of
homelessness within the District? — In response Members were
advised that providing sufficient temporary accommodation was
an issue and that the relevant funding provided was being utilised
to tackle the issue.

e The Chairman queried if some residents could be housed in
temporary accommodation for up to six months. — In response
Members were informed that this occurred only in exceptional
circumstances and if a priority requirement. Members were also
advised that St. Basils assisted clients with house shares, if peer
support was deemed a beneficial approach.

e The Chairman also raised the question of how grant funding
requirements were measured. — It was noted that grant funding
requirements were measured by reviewing the relevant
outcomes. The necessary Internal Audit evaluations had been
carried out and noted were content with how grant funding needs
were measured.

e Members added their thanks for the comprehensive report and
efforts of the Basement Project team in helping to provide the
skills and support necessary to assist with job opportunities and
aspirations to residents.

RESOLVED that the contents of The Basement Project report be noted.

77123 INTRODUCTION OF FOOD WASTE COLLECTION (PRE-SCRUTINY)

The Portfolio Holder provided an initial brief overview with Members,
followed by the Environmental Servies Manager who presented the
Introduction of Food Waste Collection to Members.

The Government has set a new statutory duty under the Environment
Act 2021 to introduce a dedicated separate weekly collection of food
waste from all households by 31st March 2026, alongside expanded
requirements on dry recycling.

Working closely with Worcestershire County Council (WCC) as the
Waste Disposal Authority, the Council were able to accommodate the
changes to dry recycling without any modification to the existing green
bin service. The report was focusing primarily on the changes required
from the new food waste service. As the Council operated such a
service, additional resources were required to operate, and due to the

Page 25



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

current size restrictions of the depots, were unable to add them to the
existing arrangements without significant investment in additional land
as well as an expansion of the Operator's Licence with the Traffic
Commissioner and DVSA.

In addition to the challenges regarding space restrictions on providing
the service, it would require procurement and delivery of food waste
caddies for each property, additional bins for communal properties, and
additional dedicated vehicles and staff to collect the waste.

To achieve the Government requirements on time, it was vital that the
Council took decisions by the end of January 2026 to allow the
procurement of resources to supply the service to residents, either as an
in-house service, or through an external provider.

After consideration of the report, Members raised the following:

e Were the proposed bins of a standard size for the food waste
collection? — The Board were advised that the proposed food
waste bins were proposed to be 40 litre sized bins, paired with a
smaller kitchen caddy for household food scraps.

e Were residents aware of the proposed Food Waste Collection
Service? — Members were advised that residents had not been
informed due to the pressures regarding the uncertainty of
timescales and funding allowances from Central Government.
Members noted that if proposals were implemented in Spring
2026, part of the EPR funding, would be to engage with residents.

e Were the smaller waste collection vehicles being considered as
part of future proposals? — It was explained that the Council did
use smaller waste collection vehicles to access narrow residential
areas and was looking to purchase a new vehicle for the future
comb bin proposals.

e Would the Council consider buying the food waste caddies in-
house rather than the outsourcing proposals? — The Board were
advised that the option had been debated to be incorporated as
part of EPR funding to support the purchase of food waste
caddies and would be discussed further for future consideration
with the new Section 151 Officer. The group were also advised
that the caddies still formed part of the Council’s ownership,
despite outsourcing considerations. The Executive Director
added that the Council was in favour of running services in-
house, but depot space would require consideration and with time
constraints, it had limited Council decisions. In-house proposals
would be considered in the future once the contract agreement
had expired. The Leader of the Council also informed the Board
that old bins would be recycled as part of the business case.

¢ Had the space been procured at an anaerobic digester? — It was
noted that WCC had outlined that until the Council could provide
a specific start date, they were unable to secure a contract with a
potential disposal site to take the material. The Executive Director

Page 26



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

added that WCC had been in discussions with potential food
waste disposal sites to the North and South of the County, with
discussions ongoing. The Leader added that there was a finite
amount of capacity at anaerobic sites within the District and
stated it was advisable that space be procured in the North of the
County, in particular. The Leader requested a more
comprehensive solution to the points raised was agreed to be
reviewed as an action.

RECOMMENDED that:

The Cabinet RECOMMEND that:

1) Subject to the outcome of negotiations, the Council approves the
introduction of a joint Food Waste Collection Service, working
with Redditch Borough Council and Wyre Forest District Council
to deliver the authority’s statutory duties under the Environment
Act 2021regarding a Food Waste Collection Service;

2) The Council allocate £1,000,000 Revenue Funding in the
Medium-Term Financial Plan as an operational budget from
2026/27 to fund the Food Waste Collection Service in the
Borough, as accounted for within Tranche 1 of the Budget;

3) Delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director of
Environmental and Housing Property Services following
consultation with the Section 151 Officer, the Principal Solicitor
(Contracts, Commercial and Procurement) and the Portfolio
Holders for Finance and Environmental Services respectively to:

a) subject to the agreement of recommendation 1 above, to
negotiate and agree terms with Redditch Borough Council and
Wyre Forest District Council to enter into a joint tender for a
shared Food Waste Collection Service;

b) tender and award a dedicated weekly food waste collection
service through a third party for a period of 8 years
commencing no later than 31 March 2026.

78/23 REFUSE FLEET REPLACEMENT AND WHEELED BIN PRESSURES
(PRE-SCRUTINY)

The Portfolio Holder provided an initial contextual briefing to Members.

It was highlighted that there was a typographical error for 1.2
recommendation which read as follows:

“The Council allocates £2,200,00 Capital funding in the Medium-Term
Financial Plan for the 2025/26 financial year for the purchase and
distribution of these bins”.

Page 27



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

The Portfolio Holder informed the Board that it should read as follows:

The Council allocates £2,200,000 Capital funding in the Medium-Term
Financial Plan for the 2025/26 financial year for the purchase and
distribution of these bins”.

Following the initial briefing by the Portfolio Holder, the Environmental
Services Manager presented his report for the Refuse Fleet
Replacement and Wheeled Bin Pressures to the Board to Members.

Given that the “Diamond” bins were limiting the Council’s ability to meet
the statutory duties, as well as increasing operating costs, it was
proposed that Bromsgrove District Council replace all the existing
“‘Diamond” wheeled bins with industry standard “Comb” 240Itr wheeled
bins (no change in size for any waste streams). Or to replace all the
existing green and brown “Diamond” wheeled bins with industry standard
“Comb” 240Itr wheeled bins and replace the existing 240Itr wheeled bins
for residual waste, with 180ltr “comb” wheeled bins.

The option to reduce the size of the residual waste bin, although would
support immediate benefits regarding recycling performance, it might
add additional challenges should the Council look to make further
changes to expand the service and/or reduce the frequency of residual
waste collection to further pressurise the waste stream and reduce
operating costs linked to the non-recyclable waste.

Like for like replacement of all existing Diamond Wheeled bins would
require Capital investment of approximately £2.2m including delivery and
expected credits against the recycled “Diamond” bins.

A decision to reduce the size of the 240Itr residual waste bins to 180ltrs
would reduce that cost by £60k and would also support increased
recycling quantities and take up of the food waste service expected to start
in 2026 based on a current fortnightly collection service.

During consideration of the item Members raised the following:

e What the impact could be with increasing the frequency of
collection times and capacity of the bins and could it cause
infestation issues? — It was advised that the possible introduction
of a weekly Food Waste Service should assist with infestation
issues. It was further discussed that to encourage the disposal of
food waste, there was a suggestion of reducing the size of the bin

Page 28



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

capacity or to extend the frequency of collection of residual waste
from two to three weeks which would also further reduce
infestation issues. The Executive Director also advised the Board
that Stratford on Avon District Council had rolled out a three-week
residual waste collection service and a garden waste collection
service every two weeks with very few issues and an overall good
reception from residents.

What the Council’s provision was to ensure the prevention of
future deaths in response to the fatality involving one of its
vehicles whilst in service with Coventry City Council in 20227 —
Members noted that the Health and Safety Executive and
Coroner’'s Office (who dealt with the inquest) were ensuring
manufacturers made the adjustments necessary for the specific
lift system.

Had communal areas been considered which had larger bin
containers in the specific residential areas? - It was suggested
that a lack of ownership was an issue for the larger communal
areas. The Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) (legislation
that aims to make producers responsible for the cost of the
collection, management and recycling of packaging) funding
would assist with future engagement to promote the correct
recycling habits for residents.

Would the lifting mechanism for the new fleet be adequate for the
different sized litre bins proposed? — It was reported that the size
of the bins would not be an issue for the lifting mechanisms with
the proposed or existing fleet.

Members considered the financial implication proposals and
raised concerns that costings were only estimates and that the
Council should consider fluctuating costs in the future. Members
urged for a strong business case model to be established and
that the Board be given the opportunity to scrutinise the costings
in full detail. It was also requested if Members could be provided
with further clarity on the Capital Investment figure of
approximately £2.2m. — Members were informed that the funds
were based on calculations carried out in November 2024, testing
the market for the cost of the wheeled bins, collection and
disposal. It was understood by Officers that there might be some
variance for future costings.

Could the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
(DEFRA) funding transfer of £1.04m for dry recyclable material
through the EPR scheme for the 2025/26 financial year be
clarified. — Members noted that the funding was due to a tax on
packaging manufacturers under the “producer pays” principle and
was intended to support costs of the existing waste collection

Page 29



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

arrangements, supporting communication and education on dry
recycling. The Executive Director added that whilst the funding
was not ringed fenced, it was expected to be used specifically for
waste considerations. From 2028 the funding would be linked to
the quality as well as the quantity of recycling collected and may
be required to support education and engagement with residents
regarding their waste to maintain the level of funding.

Also, during consideration of the item, a recommendation was
proposed by Councillor R.J. Hunter. The recommendation was:

“To endorse the proposal 4.1.1 to: Replace all our existing
‘Diamond” wheeled bins with industry standard “Comb” 240ltr

wheeled bins (no change in size for any waste streams)”.

The recommendation was proposed by Councillor R.J. Hunter
and seconded by Councillor J.W. Robinson.

On being put to the vote the recommendation was carried.

RECOMMENDED that:

The Cabinet RECOMMEND that:

1) The Council agrees to replace all “Diamond?” lift bins in use across
the Residual, Recycling, and Garden Waste services in
Bromsgrove District during the 2025/26 financial year with
industry standard “Comb” lift bins.

2) The Council allocates £2,200,00 Capital funding in the Medium-
Term Financial Plan for the 2025/26 financial year for the
purchase and distribution of these bins.

79/23 WORCESTERSHIRE = HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE - UPDATE

The Council’s Representative on the Worcestershire Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC), Councillor B. Kumar, updated the
Board on the matters discussed at its recent meeting held on 12%
November 2024.

Following the presentation Members discussed several points which
included:

e In response to a former query submitted by Councillor Nicholl
concerning why the amount of people accessing Substance
Misuse Treatment had increased from 1852 to 3060 in the last 12

Page 30



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

months. — It was explained that this was due to poor structure
within the health provision.

e Members raised a query regarding childhood obesity and if the
Council could provide further provision to promote healthy eating
within the school setting. — It was advised that there were
proposals in place to provide healthier snacks within local areas
to be situated nearer to schools. Councillor Kumar agreed to
discuss this in further detail with Public Health. The Leader of the
Council also advised Members of the Early Help provision which
provided pre-natal advice for obesity.

e If the Council could provide additional walking, cycling and
running groups. — Members noted that Public Health were very
proactive and would be happy to support the provision of
available funding to provide awareness through social media in
local areas. The Leader of the Council added that contained in a
recent WCC report was information regarding the Road Safety
Education Team, as the accredited training provider which
promoted the delivery of the Bikeability Scheme across
Worcestershire. Members were also advised there was grant
provision available from the Department of Transport to promote
active living. Members also noted that the WCC Road Safety
Team visited schools to promote lifelong behaviour and attitudes
for safer roads and school crossing patrol safety. “Here to Help”
and “Strength in Communities” also promoted a healthy diet and
being active in schools.

RESOLVED that the Worcestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee Update be noted.

80/23 FINANCE AND BUDGET WORKING GROUP - UPDATE

The Chairman of the Finance and Budget Working Group, Councillor P.
McDonald updated the Board of the recent meeting which took place on
Thursday 2" January 2025.

The Medium-Term Financial Plan — Tranche 1 Budget report was being
reviewed at Cabinet on 7" January 2025 and then reported to Council
on 22" January 2025 with the following points considered by the Board:

e A one-year settlement was agreed.

e The agreed 3.25 percentage increase in grant funding had been
re-evaluated to O percent. Consultations were ongoing to review
the funding.

e There would be a 2.99 percentage increase in Council Tax.

e There was an agreement of a 3 percent increase in pay awards
(an estimated £154Kk).

e It was agreed that National Insurance contributions would be
funded by the Government.

e The Council to allocate £1m revenue funding for the Food Waste
Collection Service.

Page 31



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

e A dividend of £250k would be provided by Bromsgrove School.

RESOLVED that the Finance and Budget Working Group update be
noted.

81/23 TASK GROUP - UPDATE

The Chairman of the Housing Task Group, Councillor H.D.N. Rone-
Clarke updated the Board with the following points:

e The group were progressing well with the initial agreed areas of
interest being discussed and scrutinised during various meetings
that had taken place.

e The additional allocations policy objective which had been agreed
by the Board and added to its Terms of Reference was to be
discussed at its next meeting to take place on Monday 13t
January 2025.

e The previous meeting held on 16" December 2024 held
discussions with residents of the Cofton Estate Development who
were invited to share their experiences with fleeceholding issues
with the Group. The Chairman explained that prior to discussions
with the residents it was explained the Task Group were a
nondecision making body. The Chairman also agreed that the
final report and recommendations would be shared with the
residents for their perusal.

RESOLVED that the Housing Task Group update be noted.

82/23 CABINET WORK PROGRAMME

The Cabinet Work Programme was considered by the Board.

The Chairman of the Board requested that the Strategic Parking Review
which was to be held at Cabinet on 12" February 2025 be pre-
scrutinised by the Board at the next Overview and Scrutiny Boad
meeting held on 11" February 2025. After consideration the Board
agreed to review this item.

A member requested further clarity on the item held in the Cabinet Work
Programme for the Local Development Scheme. It was discussed that
further information would be sought from the relevant Officers and
agreed as an action.

RESOLVED that the content of the Cabinet Work Programme be noted
as per the preamble above.

83/23 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME

The Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme was considered by
Members.

Page 32



Agenda Item 4

Overview and Scrutiny Board
6th January 2025

Members queried if specific dates had been confirmed for the Artrix and
Bromsgrove District Plan Consultation. It was agreed that the dates
would be discussed with the relevant officers and noted as an action.

The Leader of the Council informed Members that the Bromsgrove
District Plan Consultation would be available as an item for discussion in
the Bromsgrove Planning Steering Group which would be held on 23
January 2025.

RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme be noted.

84/23 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTION SHEET

The Overview and Scrutiny Action Sheet was noted by Members.

It was discussed that whilst an hourly rate range for the consultants who
worked on the project were provided, Members had also requested the
rate paid for the consultant who attended the Cabinet Advisory Group
(CAG). This was agreed would be followed up as an action.

A specified date was requested by Members for when an audit would be
carried out for the Parish Council Play Area provision. The request was
noted and agreed would be forwarded as an action to the relevant
officers.

A Member suggested that actions which had been updated post
publication should be included as part of the minutes. The comments
were noted and agreed would be added as an appendix to the minutes.

RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Board Action sheet be
noted.

85/23 TO CONSIDER ANY URGENT BUSINESS, DETAILS OF WHICH HAVE
BEEN NOTIFIED TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF LEGAL,
DEMOCRATIC AND PROCUREMENT SERVICES PRIOR TO THE
COMMENCEMENT OF THE MEETING AND WHICH THE CHAIRMAN,
BY REASON OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, CONSIDERS TO BE OF
SO URGENT A NATURE THAT IT CANNOT WAIT UNTIL THE NEXT
MEETING.

There was no urgent business for consideration.

The meeting closed at 8.48 p.m.

Chairman

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12 February 2025

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2025 - 26

Relevant Portfolio Holder Karen May, Leader of Bromsgrove
District Council

Portfolio Holder Consulted

Relevant Assistant Director Pete Carpenter

Report Author Job Title: HR & OD Manager
Contact email:

Becky Talbot becky.talbot@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk
Contact Tel: 01527 64252 ext:3385

Wards Affected

Ward Councillor(s) consulted
Relevant Council Priority
Non-Key Decision

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in
advance of the meeting.

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND to Council that
the Pay Policy as detailed in Appendix 1 to the report be
approved.

2. BACKGROUND

The Localism Act requires English and Welsh local authorities to
produce a Pay Policy statement (‘the statement’). The Act requires the
statement to be approved by Full Council and to be adopted by 315t
March each year for the subsequent financial year. The Pay Policy
Statement for the Council is included at Appendix 1.

The Statement must set out policies relating to-

(a) The remuneration of its chief officers,
(b) The remuneration of its lowest-paid employees, and
(c) The relationship between-

0] The remuneration of its chief officers, and

(i) The remuneration of its employees who are not chief

officers.

The provisions within the Localism Act bring together the strands of
increasing accountability, transparency and fairness in the setting of
local pay.

Page 35


mailto:becky.talbot@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Agenda Iltem 5

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12 February 2025

3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES

There are no implications in relation to this report

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

All financial implications have already been included as part of the
budget setting process and posts are fully budgeted for.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The legal implications are contained within the report.

6. OTHER - IMPLICATIONS

There are no implications in relation to this report

Climate Change Implications

There are no specific climate change implications.

Equalities and Diversity Implications

There are no implications in relation to this report

7. RISK MANAGEMENT

There are no implications in relation to this report

8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appendix A — Pay Policy 2025 - 26

Page 36



Agenda Iltem 5

APPENDIX 1
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PAY POLICY STATEMENT

Introduction and Purpose

1. Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the
“power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as
authority thinks fit”. This pay policy statement sets out the Council’s
approach to pay policy in accordance with the requirements of Section 38
of the Localism Act 2011. It shall apply for the financial year 2025 and each
subsequent financial year, until amended.

2. The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the
Council’s approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying;

a. the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined,;

b. the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief
officers’, as defined by the relevant legislation;

c. the Committee(s) responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in this
statement are applied consistently throughout the Council and for
recommending any amendments to the full Council

3. Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will come into
immediate effect and will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual
basis, in accordance with the relevant legislation prevailing at that time.

Legislative Framework

4. In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council
will comply with all relevant employment legislation. This includes the
Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable
Treatment) Regulations 2000, The Agency Workers Regulations 2010 and
where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Earnings)
Regulations. With regard to the equal pay requirements contained within
the Equality Act, the Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within
its pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified
through the use of equality proofed Job Evaluation mechanisms. These
directly relate salaries to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of
the role.

Pay Structure

5. The Council’s pay and grading structure comprises grades 1 — 11. These
are followed by grades for Managers, Assistant Director 1, Assistant
Director 2, Director WRS, Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive and
then Chief Executive; all of which arose following the introduction of shared
services with Redditch Borough Council.

Page 37



Agenda Iltem 5

Within each grade there are a number of salary / pay points. Up to and
including grade 11 scale, at spinal column point 43, the Council uses the
nationally negotiated pay spine. Salary points above this are locally
determined. The Council’s Pay structure is set out below.

Grade Spinal Column Points Nationally determined

rates

Minimum | Maximum

£ £
1 2 2 23,656 23,656
2 2 5 23,656 24,790
3 5 9 24,790 26,409
4 9 14 26,409 28,624
5 14 19 28,624 31,067
6 19 24 31,067 34,314
7 25 30 35,235 39,513
8 30 34 39,513 43,693
9 34 37 43,693 46,731
10 37 40 46,731 49,764
11 40 43 49,764 52,805
Manager Hay Hay Evaluated | 38% 55,407 57,645
Manager Hay Grade 1 Hay evaluated | 43% 64,112 66,640
Manager Hay Grade 2 Hay evaluated | 45% 66,618 69,293
Assistant Director 1 Hay evaluated | 51% 75,679 78,685
Assistant Director 2 Hay evaluated | 61% 90,074 93,668
Director of WRS Hay evaluated | 68% 100,622 | 104,230
Executive Director Hay evaluated | 74% 110,738 | 115,013
1D:f uty Chief Executive & | |\ evaluated | 80% 117,305 | 121,814

Page 38




Agenda Iltem 5

Chief Executive Hay evaluated | 100% 145,807 | 153,750

10.

11.

All Council posts are allocated to a grade within this pay structure, based on the
application of a Job Evaluation process. Posts at Managers and above are
evaluated by an external assessor using the Hay Job Evaluation scheme. Where
posts are introduced as part of a shared service, and where these posts are
identified as being potentially too ‘large’ and ‘complex’ for this majority scheme,
they will be double tested under the Hay scheme, and where appropriate, will be
taken into the Hay scheme to identify levels of pay. This scheme identifies the
salary for these posts based on a percentage of Chief Executive Salary (for ease
of presentation these are shown to the nearest whole % in the table above). Posts
below this level (which are the majority of employees) are evaluated under the
“Gauge” Job Evaluation process.

In common with the majority of authorities the Council is committed to the Local
Government Employers national pay bargaining framework in respect of the
national pay spine and annual cost of living increases negotiated with the trade
unions.

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally
negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with
collective bargaining machinery and/or as determined by Council policy. In
determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for all posts, the
Council takes account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use
of public expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees
who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to the
community; delivered effectively and efficiently and at all times those services are
required.

New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant grade,
although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate. From
time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay market in
order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills and
capacity. Where necessary, the Council will ensure the requirement for such is
objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant
market comparators, using appropriate data sources available from within and
outside the local government sector.

For staff not on the highest point within the salary scale there is a system of annual
progression to the next point on the band.

Senior Management Remuneration

12.

For the purposes of this statement, senior management means ‘chief officers’ as
defined within S43 of the Localism Act. The posts falling within the statutory
definition are set out below, with details of their basic salary as at 15t April 2025
(assuming no inflationary increase for these posts).

Page 39



Agenda Iltem 5

13. Bromsgrove District Council is managed by a senior management team who
manage shared services across both Bromsgrove District and Redditch Borough
Councils. All of the posts listed below have been job evaluated on this basis, with

the salary costs for these posts split equally between both Councils.

Cost to
Pay range Pay range Increme Bromsgrove
Title % of Chief | (minimum) | (maximum) ntal District
exSe;::ive £ c points Council
y £
Chief Executive 100% 145,807 153,750 3 50%
Deputy Chief
Executive & 80% 117,305 121,814 3 50%
S151
Executive
Director
Environment 74% 110,738 115,013 3 35%
and
Communities
] This is a shared
Director post across 6
Worcestershire 0 district Authorities.
Regulatory 68% 100,622 104,230 3 Bromsgrove
SerViceS equates to
14.45%
Assistant
Director Finance
61% 90,074 93,668 3 50%
and Customer
Services
Assistant
Director 61%
Planning and 90,074 93,668 3 50%
Leisure
Services
Assistant
Director
61% 90,074 93,668 3 50%

Transformation,
Organisational
Development

Page 40




Agenda Iltem 5

and Digital

Services

Assistant
Director Legal,

Democratic and 61% 90,074 93,668 3 50%

Election
Services

Environmental
and Housing

Assistant

Director
61% 90,074 93,668 3 35%

Property
Services

Assistant

Director

Community and 61% 90,074 93,668 3 35%

Housing
Services

Assistant

Director

Regeneration & 61% 90,074 93,668 3 50%

Property
Services

Recruitment of Chief Officers

14.

15.

The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of chief officers is
set out within the Officer Employment Procedure Rules as set out in the Council’s
Constitution. When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper
account of its own equal opportunities, recruitment and redeployment Policies.
The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed chief
officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at
the time of recruitment. Where the Council is unable to recruit to a post at the
designated grade, it will consider the use of temporary market forces supplements
in accordance with its relevant policies.

Where the Council remains unable to recruit chief officers under a contract of
service, or there is a need for interim support to provide cover for a vacant
substantive chief officer post, the Council will, where necessary, consider and
utilise engaging individuals under ‘contracts for service’. These will be sourced
through a relevant procurement process ensuring the council is able to
demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from competition in securing

Page 41




Agenda Iltem 5

the relevant service. The Council does not currently have any Chief Officers under
such arrangements.

Performance-Related Pay and Bonuses — Chief Officers

16. The Council does not apply any bonuses or performance related pay to its chief
officers. Any progression through the incremental scale of the relevant grade is
subject to satisfactory performance which is assessed on an annual basis.

Additions to Salary of Chief Officers (applicable to all staff)

17. In addition to the basic salary for the post, all staff may be eligible for other
payments under the Council’s existing policies. Some of these payments are
chargeable to UK Income Tax and do not solely constitute reimbursement of
expenses incurred in the fulfilment of duties. The list below shows some of the
kinds of payments made.

a.

reimbursement of mileage. At the time of preparation of this statement, the
Council pays an allowance of 45p per mile for all staff, with additional or
alternative payments for carrying passengers or using a bicycle;
professional fees. The Council pays for or reimburses the cost of one
practicing certificate fee or membership of a professional organisation
provided it is relevant to the post that an employee occupies within the
Council.

long service awards. The Council pays staff an additional amount if they
have completed 25 years of service and having completed 40 years service.
honoraria, in accordance with the Council’s policy on salary and grading.
Generally, these may be paid only where a member of staff has performed a
role at a higher grade;

fees for returning officer and other electoral duties, such as acting as a
presiding officer of a polling station. These are fees which are identified and
paid separately for local government elections, elections to the UK
Parliament and EU Parliament and other electoral processes such as
referenda;

pay protection — where a member of staff is placed in a new post and the
grade is below that of their previous post, for example as a result of a
restructuring, pay protection at the level of their previous post is paid for the
first 12 months. In exceptional circumstance pay protection can be applied
for greater than 12 months with the prior approval of the Chief Executive.
market forces supplements in addition to basic salary where identified and
paid separately;

salary supplements or additional payments for undertaking additional
responsibilities such as shared service provision with another local authority
or in respect of joint bodies, where identified and paid separately;
attendance allowances.

Payments on Termination

18. The Council’s approach to discretionary payments on termination of employment of
chief officers prior to reaching normal retirement age is set out within its policy
statement in accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early

Page 42



Agenda Iltem 5

Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 and
Regulations 12 and 13 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits,
Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.

19. Any other payments falling outside the provisions or the relevant periods of
contractual notice shall be subject to a formal decision made by the full Council or
relevant elected members, committee or panel of elected members with delegated
authority to approve such payments.

20. Redundancy payments are based upon an employee’s actual weekly salary and, in
accordance with the Employee Relations Act 1996, will be up to 30 weeks,
depending upon length of service and age.

Publication

21. Upon approval by the full Council, this statement will be published on the Council’s
website. In addition, for posts where the full time equivalent salary is at least
£50,000, the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts will include a note on
Officers Remuneration setting out the total amount of:

a. Salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the current
and previous year;

b. Any bonuses so paid or receivable by the person in the current and previous
year;

c. Any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable to UK
income tax;

d. Any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments
connected with termination;

e. Any benefits received that do not fall within the above.

Lowest Paid Employees

22. The Council’s definition of lowest paid employees is persons employed under a
contract of employment with the Council on full time (37 hours) equivalent salaries
in accordance with the minimum spinal column point currently in use within the
Council’s grading structure. As at 15t April 2025 this is £23656 per annum.

23. The Council also employs apprentices (or other such categories of workers) who
are not included within the definition of ‘lowest paid employees’ (as they are
employed under a special form of employment contract; which is a contract for
training rather than actual employment).

24. The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and chief officers is
determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading structures as
set out earlier in this policy statement.

25. The statutory guidance under the Localism Act recommends the use of pay

multiples as a means of measuring the relationship between pay rates across the
workforce and that of senior managers, as included within the Hutton ‘Review of

Page 43



26.

Agenda Iltem 5

Fair Pay in the Public Sector’ (2010). The Hutton report was asked by
Government to explore the case for a fixed limit on dispersion of pay through a
requirement that no public sector manager can earn more than 20 times the lowest
paid person in the organisation. The report concluded that “it would not be fair or
wise for the Government to impose a single maximum pay multiple across the
public sector’. The Council accepts the view that the relationship to median
earnings is a more relevant measure and the Government’s Code of
Recommended Practice on Data Transparency recommends the publication of the
ratio between highest paid salary and the median average salary of the whole of
the authority’s workforce.

As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available
benchmark information as appropriate.

Accountability and Decision Making

28.

29.

30.

In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Council is responsible for
setting the policy relating to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and
severance arrangements for employees of the Council. Decisions about individual
employees are delegated to the Chief Executive.

The Appointments Committee is responsible for recommending to Council matters
relating to the appointment of the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive),
Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and Chief Officers as defined in the Local
Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 2001 (as amended);

For the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer,

the Statutory Officers Disciplinary Action Panel considers and decides on matters
relating to disciplinary action.

Page 44



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

Strategic Parking Review

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Baxter

Portfolio Holder Consulted Yes

Relevant Assistant Director Simon Parry

Report Author Job Title: Assistant Director of Environmental and

Housing Property Services

Contact email: simon.parry@
bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Contact Tel: 01527 64252 extn. 3201

Wards Affected All but with specific implications in the
resolutions for Bromsgrove Central,
Lowes Hill and Sanders Park wards
Ward Councillor(s) consulted No

Relevant Council Priority Infrastructure

Key Decision

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in
advance of the meeting.

This report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph(s) 3 of Part |
of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Cabinet RESOLVE that:-

1) The Business Case and Service review in respect of the delivery of
Civil Parking Enforcement Service (CPE), as detailed in the
appendices to this report, be noted.

2) The Assistant Director for Regeneration and Property Services
considers the future use of Churchfields Multi Storey, School Drive
and Stourbridge Road car parks within the development of the new
Town Centre Strategy.

3) Following the review of delivery options for Car Parking Enforcement,
and the impending changes arising from Local Government
Devolution, and subject to the agreement of resolution 4, the
Assistant Director of Environment and Housing Property Services in
conjunction with the Assistant Director of Legal, Democratic and
Procurement Servies to agree to extend the Service Level Agreement
(SLA) with Wychavon District Council for a period of 3 years and 7
months resulting in an end date of 315t March 2030.

4) The Assistant Director of Environment and Housing Property

Services in conjunction with the Assistant Director of Legal,
Democratic and Procurement Servies amend the SLA with

Page 45



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

Wychavon District Council for Parking Enforcement to include a
minimum of 25% of patrol time to be undertaken outside the town
centre.

5) The Assistant Director of Regeneration and Property Services works
with partner organisations including Wychavon District Council and
Worcestershire County Council to establish a Parking Working Group
in order to work through and consider the range of options contained
within the Appendices to enhance the opportunities for better
enforcement across the District.

6) The Assistant Director of Regeneration and Property Services
following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economic
Development and Regeneration develops a detailed implementation
plan including all technical surveys and full costs to install, where
practicable and affordable, Automatic Number Plate Recognition
(ANPR) systems to Recreation Road South, St Johns and Windsor
Street car parks and to also investigate other car parks under the
ownership of the Council.

7) One of the following options relating to the Shopmobility service be
approved:

a) To cease the operation of the Shopmobility service
OR

b) To review the provision of the service following the outcome of the
Town Centre Strategy Review and the outcome of where the
enforcement team are relocated.

The Cabinet RECOMMEND that:-

8) The Director of Resources includes in the Medium Term Financial
Plan for 2025/26 a capital budget of £100k for ANPR systems to
Recreation Road South, St Johns and Windsor Street car parks.

9) A revenue budget of £15k per annum be included in the Medium-
Term Financial Plan from April 2026 for the maintenance contracts
for the ANPR installations.

10)A revenue budget of £335,160 for Car Parking Enforcement be
included in the Medium-Term Financial Plan from April 2025, which
is to include an annual inflationary uplift, determined by the
Consumer Price Index (CPI).

Page 46



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

#
2. BACKGROUND

2.1  On 14th February 2024 Cabinet resolved to seek a Strategic Review
for Parking Services including on and off-street enforcement. The
review would also provide a Business Case, based on options that
would consider agreement of a longer-term SLA with WDC, tendering
the service and in house delivery of the service.

2.2  Waterman Infrastructre and Environment were commissioned by
Bromsgrove District Council to undertake the Strategic Review. This
proposal was based on a brief that was discussed and agreed, in
consultation with, the Cabinet Advisory Group on 8th May 2024 and
included three key deliverables.

e Strategic Review - A review of existing parking requirements including
supply and demand for now and in the future. This needed to review all
sites on a site-by-site basis with options to address existing parking
issues. It also needed to be linked to the wider Worcestershire
Transport Strategy because of regeneration objectives to increase town
centre living and footfall to support retention of the existing traders. The
review was also to include Leisure Centre users and a review of the
Shopmobility service.

e Car Park Management - A review of car park management
arrangements with solutions identified to reduce the need for off street
parking enforcement including an outline of costs, together with
operational and enforcement issues. Also to be included were
recommendations for time and day of restrictions to address existing
parking issues and assess enforcement requirements for identified
parking management design options.

e On-Street Enforcement - Review of On-Street Enforcement to be
carried out to address member and resident concerns around coverage
of activities. A review of concentration of enforcement and hotspots for
law breaking/nuisance was to be undertaken, focusing on repeat
offences. A variety of thematic options were to be recommended,
emphasising the comprehensive approach the study had taken to
reviewing car parking supply, usage, location and the land use planning
and transport agendas that were shaping it.

2.3  The three reports covering these deliverables are contained within
Appendices 1, 2 & 3 respectively.

2.4  Bromsgrove District Council (BDC) operates a number of fee charging

car parks and also a number of free car parks and has also taken
responsibility for the enforcement of On-Street Traffic Regulation

Page 47



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

Orders (TROs) since Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) was introduced
within BDC on 30 May 2013. This has allowed a more consistent
approach to traffic enforcement, as staff are able to enforce both On-
Street TROs and Off-Street Parking Orders for car parks owned by the
District Council.

2.5  Wychavon District Council (WDC) have been contracted under an SLA
to manage the Parking Service on behalf of BDC for the last 11 years.
At the Cabinet meeting on 14th February 2024, it was agreed to
maintain the services of WDC for a shorter period of 18 months whilst
the options of alternative delivery models were considered and
reported back to Cabinet as part of this report.

2.6 Inthe interim period officers from BDC and WDC have worked together
to review the concerns of members, including, primarily, the out-of-town
patrol time, whilst also ensuring that a full quota of CEOs are
maintained in order to deliver the service effectively. Data on patrol
time, and PCNs issued is collated monthly and has generally shown
two key trends, increased levels of PCN activity, as well as more,
proportionally, patrol time spent in the Parishes.

2.7 WDC'’s responsibilities include Overall Management of the Parking
Service for both On and Off-Street enforcement and liaison with County
Council Highways together with the following non-exhaustive list:

. Recruitment, management and training of the Civil Enforcement
Officers (CEOSs) (5.5 posts)

. Full administration service including general enquiries,
challenges, appeals and adjudication (2.5 posts)

. Recovery of the outstanding Penalty Charge Notices (PCNSs)
(including warrant instructions)

. The management of Residents’ Parking Schemes (RPSs)

. Monitoring equipment used to include parking machines to
ensure continued usage including restocking machines with
ticket rolls

. The day-to-day operation of the Shopmobility service including
servicing of scooters and liaising with customers

. Issuing Parking Dispensations

. School Patrols following liaison with school staff

. Disabled Blue Badge inspections

. DVLA Audits

. Various reporting including car park usage and PCNs issued.

2.8 Shopmobility — As part of the Strategic Review, Members requested
that the Shopmobility service be incorporated into the business case as
it is based in Churchfields Multi-Storey Car Park, next to Asda.
Shopmobility is currently open Mon-Sat (9.30am to 1.30pm) (bookings

Page 48



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

only). The service used to be open Mon-Sat (9am to 5pm), however
since COVID and the closure of the Multi-Storey Car Park demand has
been low.

2.9 The SLA in place between Wychavon District Council Parking section
and Bromsgrove District Council forms part of a contract with
Environmental Services, for facilitation of the car parks and civil
enforcement service. When originally set up, there was a charge for
disabled car parking, and it was seen as a service that supported these
customers. Since June 2024, car parking has been free for disabled
drivers.

3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES

Strategic Review

3.1 Car parks were assessed across a number of factors including
capacity, condition, usage, proportions of blue badge parking bays and
Electric Vehicle (EV) charging bays, safety and security, accessibility,
and convenience and usability. The results of these are contained in
Appendix 1 and are collated in Table 10: Summary of
Recommendations.

3.2 In general terms the condition of car parks is good which is borne out of
the investment in resurfacing, new lining and new machines that have
been installed over recent years. The recommendations vary across
the Car Parks but include improved signage, potential opportunities for
fee charging on free car parks and introducing ANPR across a number
of the car parks.

3.3  The car parks at School Drive and Stourbridge Road were identified as
satisfactory with both being underutilised. These sites occupy
potentially valuable land and therefore these underutilised car parks
may be better used for other needs. Consideration of the future use of
these car parks will be included within the forthcoming Town Centre
Strategy review which is designed to provide a clear vision for the town
centre in terms of what it should look and feel like for residents,
businesses and visitors and guide decisions in relation to the use of
Council owned land, including car parks.

3.4  Churchfields Multi Storey Car Park, at the time of the survey, was
decommissioned. However, the projected demand for car parks
appears to be met by current capacity, not including Churchfields.
Therefore, the recommendation is to consider demolition of the
Churchfields car park and / or to repurpose the structure/land. It is
envisaged that proposals regarding this car park will be addressed
within the Town Centre Strategy review.

Page 49



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

3.5 These three sites were also included in the Bromsgrove Town Centre
2040 Vision which set out to support the future development of the area
and provide the right level of services to meet the needs of both
residents and business population. The document was founded on the
need to regenerate and the opportunity to redevelop major unused or
underused sites which will attract people and investment to the town
centre.

3.6 Itis acknowledged that whilst the review has centred on those car
parks maintained and manged by the Council it has not taken an
overarching review of all parking demand across the District. Instead,
the review has concentrated on the car parks that BDC owns and
operates, in order to understand the condition and future viability based
on demand requirements on those car parks and the town centre. As
identified across the 3 reports, there is a clear need for partnership
working with all relevant stakeholders in order to identify potential
solutions across the whole of the District.

3.7  One of the recommendations is to increase Electric Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure (EVCI). The Council have previously invested in EVCI
ensuring some of the authority’s car parks have these facilities. This
project delivered the installations to the following car parks, Golden
Cross Car Park, Alvechurch Car Park, Sanders Park Car Park, Windsor
Street, North Bromsgrove (Bromsgrove Leisure Centre), Asda
Bromsgrove, Aston Fields, Barnt Green Parish, Princess of Wales
(POW) Community Hospital, and Webbs Hagley Garden Centre.

3.8  The Council has a current contract with Zest Eco Limited to expand
EVCI across Council owned land primarily in the authority’s remaining
car parks and also office car parks. The project which covers a 15 year
period, with an option to extend for a further 5 years, is assessing each
of the car parks that do not currently have EVCI.

3.9  The supplier is required to provide fully funded EVCI at no cost to the
Council. The contract allows for the supply, installation, maintenance
and ongoing operational management of the EVCI across the various
agreed sites. The first installations are currently being programmed for
an early 2025 commencement.

3.10 To further enhance the ECVI schemes above, which concentrate
around car parks, there is a government funded Local Electric Vehicle
Infrastructure (LEVI) scheme which is being co-ordinated by
Worcestershire County Council. An allocation of £3.5m has been
received and is primarily focused on delivering public charge points
(predominantly low powered chargers) for residents without dedicated
off-street parking at home.

Page 50



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

3.11 The County Council are producing tender documents that will be
released in early 2025. There is a long list of sites across the County
that are being developed based on the criteria set within the funding
terms. It is anticipated that once a provider has been identified the
County and associated Districts will liaise with the provider to identify
the most appropriate charger points across Worcestershire.

Car Park Management

3.12 As part of the discussions through Cabinet Advisory Group on 8th May
2024 and discussions at the Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting held
on 12th February 2024, there was a clear desire expressed by
Members to ensure a more equitable balance in patrols across the
whole District. The SLA with WDC included a 10% provision for out-of-
town centre patrol time. In order to assist with on street enforcement,
the review of off-street enforcement was included.

3.13 As part of the recommendations for providing more patrol time for on
street enforcement, ANPR has been considered within the report at
Appendix 2. This system would provide monitoring of vehicles entering
and exiting the car park at all times of the day, the length of stay and
subsequent payment.

3.14 The installation of ANPR was recommended across most sites within
Appendices 1 and 2. However, the preferred option is to install across
the high volume and income value sites at Recreation Road South, St
Johns and Windsor Street where local conditions allow.

3.15 Subject to Members’ agreement to resolution 6, it is proposed that the
outcomes of the detailed Implementation Plan should be reported for
Cabinet’s consideration at a later date and inform further discussions
regarding possible use of ANPR.

3.16 As part of the Strategic Review, analysis of enforcement for on street
parking in the District was undertaken. Through engagement with
Members, on a local basis, as well as some residents, issues of on
street parking both within centres on residential streets and outside
schools, at peak times, have been raised.

On Street Enforcement

3.17 On Street parking enforcement, together with Off Street enforcement, is
currently contracted to WDC to administer. This service is delivered
with 5.5 CEOs spread across the mainly rural District which in turn
brings coverage issues based on the geographical nature of the
District.

Page 51



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

3.18 Through the course of the last 12 months, Officers have been working
closely with WDC Officers to review patrols based on the feedback
given by members, regarding the volume of time spent within the
parishes versus the town centre. In the initial version of the SLA, there
was an indication that 10% of patrol time should be spent outside of the
town centre. As a consequence of the reviews of patrols, the proportion
of time spent outside Bromsgrove town centre has increased. A
quarterly summary of PCN information including patrol time in and
outside of the town centre is also included as well as a comparison with
the corresponding quarter from the previous year and is contained
within Appendix 4 .

3.19 Across most of the ward-based engagement with Members, issues
around parking outside schools at peak times was frequently raised.
There is currently no uniform approach to addressing these concerns
based on the different stakeholders that have a role to play in achieving
more considerate and compliant parking. The Police, Schools, Local
Authority and CEOs all have a role to play in promoting and enforcing
considerate parking.

3.20 Examples of both ‘softer’ and ‘harder’ measures highlighted in the
report are a social media and community engagement campaign to be
rolled out, targeted at drivers, to encourage considerate parking outside
of shops and schools, as a “softer measure” behavioural change
campaign. Further investigation and action is needed to review and
amend “harder measure” parking restrictions and increase coverage of
signing and lining options (i.e. double yellow lines, designated parking
areas).

3.21 A key element of enforcement is to have a clear line of communication
and therefore one of the recommendations is for BDC and WCC to
investigate the potential of developing an online tool to enable BDC
residents to log parking violations and persistent offences. This would
be linked to the current WCC system to report environmental concerns
and problems with street furniture (i.e. street lighting, pavements). The
system could be used by WDC as a measure to target resources from
local intelligence.

3.22 There are a range of options that are listed in the Executive Summary
of Appendix 3 - Review of On-Street Enforcement.

3.23 A key element of delivery in this context, is to ensure there is clear
partnership working amongst the various stakeholders. It is therefore
recommended that a Parking Task Group be established including
representatives from BDC, WDC and WCC to work through the various
options pertinent to each organisation.

Page 52



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

Options Appraisal

3.24 In order to assess how car parking enforcement may be delivered in
the medium and long term, an options appraisal identifying the
positives and negatives of the three key options has been undertaken.
These options are; 1. maintain the SLA with WDC, 2. tender out to
external contractors and 3. delivery with internal resources. The
outcomes of this options appraisal are detailed in Appendix 5.

3.25 The publication of the English Devolution White Paper on 16th
December 2024 has provided uncertainty on the impact that this will
have on BDC over the forthcoming 2 to 4 years. As such, continuity of
service for parking enforcement is recommended by an extension to
the period of the services delivered by WDC. This continuity will ensure
compliance of service delivery during the period of the extended SLA.
This will also allow officers the time and capacity to deliver the ANPR
solutions for the 3 car parks identified. The strategy therefore to further
enhance service delivery will include the introduction of ANPR,
providing more opportunity for on street enforcement, an ongoing
review and amendments to patrols. This is based on feedback given
with the reports and further analysis of patrol information including both
coverage and frequency across the District, analysis of data to identify
existing and potentially emerging hotspots for poor and illegal parking
practices, together with the key recommendations to be considered by
the Parking Working Group.

3.26 Whilst the review of patrols is ongoing, as part of this review and
working with the Parish Councils, an investigation into whether it would
be viable to purchase additional time for patrols within their locations
could be undertaken.

Shopmobility

3.27 The service currently has five customers with one customer being a
regular user (once a week). The other customers use the service on an
ad-hoc basis typically once every few months and then there are other
ad-hoc customers who may use the service a few times per year. Pre
COVID, there were more customers using the service; approximately
12-15 customers per week. Since COVID the demand has been low.
This is possibly due to several factors, including the closure of the
multi-storey car park and more people owning their own mobility
equipment.

3.28 In order to assess usage, a survey was undertaken in 2021 for

residents to have their say about the service. 19 people responded — 2
were current users; 4 were previous users; and 13 had never used the

Page 53



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

service. Those who used the service either travelled by car or taxi.
When asked what enables them to get out and about more easily the
majority had access to a car; friends or family to rely on; or their own
mobility scooter which has become much more affordable in recent
years.

3.29 Attempts have been made to look to relocate the service. This has
included approaching Asda, however they have two shopping mobility
scooters for customers use and do not have the room to accommodate
any more equipment. Age UK have a charity shop on the High Street
however, they did not feel they would be able to hire equipment from
there. Another option was the customer service section at Parkside
however, they did not have the room to accommodate the scooters and
it would have been difficult for customers to access.

3.30 The current budget for Bromsgrove Shopmobility is £5,000 to cover the
costs of the equipment, maintenance and business rates. The cost of
servicing the equipment continues to increase, particularly as the
equipment is older and needs replacing.

3.31 The demand for this type of service in Bromsgrove seems low. With
the potential plan to permanently close the multi-story car park and to
relocate the staff based there, the recommendation would be to either
close the Shopmobility service or to provide the service from a new
location. An option may be to lease the equipment in the future as if
the service was to continue the equipment would need updating.

3.32 Inrespect of the option to close the service, an Equality Impact
Assessment has been undertaken. It proposes that Officers would
consult directly with the users who are potentially impacted.

3.33 There is £1,375 available in reserves which was donated to the service
by a disability organisation at the point of closure. This money could be
included within the Bromsgrove Equality Grants Scheme for VCS
organisations to apply via the annual grants process.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A budget of £50k was identified and agreed at Council on 21st
February 2024 for the strategic review to be undertaken. The
completed works have been undertaken in line with the proposal
submitted by Watermans.

4.2  The annual cost for parking enforcement undertaken by WDC for
2025/6 is £335,160.

Page 54



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

4.3  Parking fee charges generate approximately £1 million per year of
revenue for the Council.

4.4  The estimated capital costs for the installation of ANPR at the 3 Car
Parks is £100K with an anticipated annual revenue cost of £15k for
maintenance.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The legal framework for enforcement authorities in England comprises
Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004.

5.2 In 2012, BDC applied for decriminalised parking in the District. This
process included an application form submission to the Department for
Transport (DfT) which was completed by WCC and BDC. WCC led on
this application as it mainly focusses on On Street enforcement (public
highway) although Off Street (car parks) were also included as the
whole enforcement operation was decriminalised.

5.3 BDC operates a system of providing Off-Street parking for residents
and visitors under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. The legislation
allows the Council to designate Off-Street car parks (Section 32) and
regulate their operation, including the levying of charges through a
Local Parking Order.

5.4  The contract for the service provider to undertake these works will be
signed in due course, on final agreement of the terms and conditions. It
is proposed that the new SLA is set up as a 4-year agreement with an
annual review of outputs and outcomes.

5.5  Any decision regarding amendments to the SLA and / or termination
will be undertaken in conjunction with Legal Services.

5.6  The Police are responsible for dangerous parking, obstruction and
vehicles parked on white zig zags. Section 137 of the Highways Act
1980 makes it an offence to wilfully obstruct the highway. Regulation
103 of the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986
creates the offence of unnecessary obstruction.

6. OTHER - IMPLICATIONS

Relevant Council Priority

6.1 Infrastructure — By enabling car parking provision that is good quality,
affordable and can accommodate demand it helps residents and
visitors to access services within our local communities. The contents
of this report therefore support the Council’s priority of infrastructure.

Page 55



Agenda Item 7

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet 12th February 2025

Climate Change Implications

6.2  There are no Climate Change implications in renewing the SLA.
However, by introducing the MiPermit, the virtual permit system has
resulted in the reduced amount of paper required for parking tickets
and permits, together with Residents’ Parking Permits. In addition, the
report details implications in relation to the ECVI system and
opportunities in this context could have a beneficial impact on carbon
emissions in the district.

Equalities and Diversity Implications

6.3 Inrespect of the option to close the Shopmobility Service an Equality
Impact Assessment has been undertaken. It proposes that Officers
would consult directly with the users who are potentially impacted.

7. RISK MANAGEMENT

7.1 Risks associated with the delivery of Car Parking Enforcement are
identified in Appendix 5 depending on the option taken by Cabinet on
future provision of this services.

8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appendix 1
Strategic Review (Waterman Infrastructre and Environment)

Appendix 2
Car Park Management (Waterman Infrastructre and Environment)

Appendix 3
On Street Enforcement — (Waterman Infrastructre and
Environment)

Appendix 4
Bromsgrove PCN Information — Quarterly Summary

Appendix 5
Options Appraisal for Car Park Enforcement (Exempt Information).

Appendix 6
Consultancy Fees (Exempt Information)

Page 56



Agenda ltem 7

Bromsgrove Strategic Parking Review

Part One: Strategic Review

September 2024

Waterman Infrastructure & Environment Ltd

5th Floor, One Cornwall Street, Birmingham B3 2DX
www.watermangroup.com

Page 57



AX) waterman

Client Name:
Document Reference:
Project Number:

Agenda ltem 7

Bromsgrove District Council
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H90001
WIE20771

Quality Assurance — Approval Status

This document has been prepared and checked in accordance with

Waterman Group’s IMS (BS EN ISO 9001: 2015, BS EN ISO 14001: 2015 and BS EN ISO 45001:2018)

Revision Status Date Prepared by Checked by Approved by

PO1 S3 02/08/2024  Connor Webb Jack Wellings David Whalley
Undergraduate Transport Consultant ~ Associate Director
Transport Planner

Co1 S4 07/10/2024  Connor Webb Jack Wellings Richard White
Undergraduate Transport Consultant  Associate Director
Transport Planner

C02 S5 13/01/2025 Connor Webb Jack Wellings Richard White
Undergraduate Transport Consultant ~ Associate Director
Transport Planner

Comments

Final Issue following client comments.

Revision Status

Pnn  Preliminary (shared; non-contractual) S1 Coordination

Cnn Contractual S2 Information
S3 Review & Comment
S4 Review & Authorise
S5 Review & Acceptance

A1, A Authorised & Accepted (n=work stage if applicable)
Bage'ss



Agenda ltem 7

Disclaimer

This report has been prepared by Waterman Infrastructure & Environment Ltd, with all reasonable skill, care, and
diligence within the terms of the Contract with the client, incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of
Business and taking account of the resources devoted to us by agreement with the client.

We disclaim any responsibility to the client and others in respect of any matters outside the scope of the above.

This report is confidential to the client, and we accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to third parties to whom
this report, or any part thereof, is made known. Any such party relies on the report at its own risk.

Page 59



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Contents
R o (= o UL A =TT U 4T - T/ 1
2. INErOAUCHION ... s s s s s s s snsnssssssssnnsnssnnsssnnnsnsnnnnnnnnnnnnn 3
I TS = 1 S 3
REPOM FOMMIAL ... . e s ssnnnsnnnnnnn 3
3. Planning and TransSport POIICY ..o e e 4
a1 oo I8 e o o EUU TP PRPPPRPI 4
N E= Yo Ta = B o] oYU PTPPPPTI 4
REGIONAI POIICY ...t n s nnnnnnnn 5
[WoToz= | o] ITo3 Y PO 6
L S o L T 1o N o 3/ 3 e o 7
L0 01 1= S 7
1Y/ =Y T o] [ Yo ) 7
Public Off Street Parking across BromSGroVe ...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 8
Parking ENfOrCEMENT ...t e e e e e e e e e e e s et ae e e e e e e e s snbbeeeeaaeeaaans 10
L = 1= 0 e o4 T T3 1] 3V 12
Parking Capacity COMPAIISON .........cociuiiiiiiiie e ettt e e e s e e e e e e e e e e e e e s s e eraaeeeeaaeeasnnrsreeeaeeeaaas 12
1070 )] o)l == (] o TR ORI 12
6. Bromsgrove Town Centre off-streetcar park Overview and Conditions..........ccccccerriiiiiiiicnnnenn. 14
I [T S0 Y= To I o= o = o PR 15
NOIMth BromMSGrOVEe Car PArk........... e s nnnnnnan 16
T S (o [ Ol = T G SRR 17
Recreation Road SOULh CAr PArK .........c.uuviiiiiiiiiieeeee e e e e e e e e e e s s aeeeeaeeeas 18
Yol aloTo I D141V =N o= |l o1 o QPRSP 20
S B o] T IS (T o= o =1 o S 21
Stourbridge ROAA CaAr PArK..........uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiieie et e e e e e e e e e st e e e e e e s s e asabaaeeeaeeeaeanrrnneeeas 22
WiINASOr Street Car Park ... ..ot e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 24
F S (o T 1= (o Es o=l o Y- | G 25
SaNders Park Car Park ... e e e e e e e e e eeeeaaas 26
F Y=o o 1U] o] 7T o =Ty USSR 27
1071 (<] o 11| I 0= T T o QPR 29
7. Parking OCCUPANCY .....ccccoiimiiiiiieiiiiiaiiin s e e s s s e e e e ba e n b a e s 32
Average OCCUPANCY DY Car PArK.......coiuuiiiiiiiiiii et e e saneeas 32
Existing Utilisation Of Car PArKS .........cc.uuviiiiiii it e e e e e e st e e e e e e e e s b nreeeaeeeeaan 33
SUMMIAIY ...ttt e ettt e e e et et e e eeeeeeesateaaeeeeaaeeaasassssaeeaeeesesanssaseeaeeeeanasssseanaaaeeesaasnreneeeas 36
Change between Weekday and Weekend OCCUPANCY ........cocuiiieiiiiiiiiiiiee et 36
Average Length of Stay per Car Park ..........coooociiiiiiei e e e e e e 37
ST o - PO OTPRPPPTPRRN 38
ST Y (0o = Y USRS 39
T8 oo L= SR PRSP 40
L0 YT T O 40

onte
Bromsgrov?ég%ibl@arking Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H90001



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Length of Time Purchased by Car Park ...........cooo i 41
INEW ROGA ...ttt oo oo oo h bttt e et e e o e bbbttt e e e e e e s b b bbe e e e e e e e e anabbnreeeeeeeaaan 41
NOIN BIrOMSGIOVE ...ttt ettt e e bt e e e e a b et e e e bttt e e e bt e e e e bee e e e e nbeeeeanneeas 42
T (o [ T PP P PP PPRPPRN 43
Recreation RoOAd SOULN ... ... ettt e e e e et ee e e e e e e e nneeeeaaaeeeaane 44
S Ted T Tl D4 RS 45
S Lo o IR == APPSR 46
StOUrDRIAGE ROAA........ecii ettt et e e e bt e e s abe e e e e aae 47
LT Te EToT g 1y Y= USRS 48
L YT T O 48
L o T [ T 49
Off Street Parking Tariffs ... 49
Pricing @s @ demand t0O0] ...........uuuui e nnnan 50
TS Y- T o o SRR 50
Tariff RECOMMENAALIONS .......coiiiiiii ettt ettt e e e s e e e sneeeeeanneeee s 50
AT ol o T T @1 o F= T4 1o T PSPPSR 51
Free Parking at Smaller SettleMENtS .........cooiiiiiiiiiii e 51
Cleaner VENICIE CONCESSIONS .....ccoiiuiiiieiiiiie ettt ettt e e ettt e e e e st be e e e e snte e e e abee e e e esaeeeeeenteeeeaneeeeennnee 51
9. Future Growth & Trends.......ccccccceiiriiiiiiccerrre s rrrs s sssmsre e es s s s s ssssne s e e e ee s s s s smnne e e e s sas s s nnnneenessanssnnnnnnnns 52
L0 YT T O 52
Worcestershire County Council Local Plan AMS .......c..uuiiiiiieeii e e e e e e e e e e ennnes 52
Public Transport Modal Shift.............cocuiiiiiii e e e e e e e e 52
Car ParkiNg USAQGE. .....oo oottt ettt 54
Projected Parking Demand 2024 10 2039...... ... s 55
L] {011 =1 T S 55
Future Parking OCCUPANCY LEVEIS ..........oeiiiiiiiiiieeee ettt e e e e e e e e e e e 56
Summary of FULUrE GIrOWEh ... 57
10. Redevelopment & Improvement to Public Parking Across Bromsgrove Town Centre............. 58
Redevelopment OPLIONS ... ... ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nene e e e e e e e e e e neneeeeaaaeaaan 58
EV Charging SPACES .....ccoiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e st ae e e e e e e s e aantareeaaeeeaaarnnbnneaaaenaaans 59
107 o F=T o T aTo T 1Y/ o 1= TSP PRPTRR 59
A A @4 0= 1o [ o T PP PPRRR 59
Providing a Positive Parking EXPEri€NCE ...........u e nnanas 59
Communication with Motorists and influencing behaviour...............ccc 59
Acceptance of a variety of Payment Methods ...........cooviiiiiiiiic e 60
Case Study — Cheshire West and Chester...........ooiiiiiiiii e 61
The Case fOr CAShIESS ........eoiiiiiiiii et e et e e sttt e e ettt e e e e b e e s annaeeeesnnneeeean 62
101010 0 =1 PRSP PRSP 62
11. Future Trends SUMMATY ... s s s s sss s ss s e s s s e e sa s s e e sassnnenssnnnenans 63
Parking and the Net Zero Carbon AQenda ...........ouuiiiiiiiiii e 63
Future Trends and Mobility SUMMAIY.........cocoiiiiiiiiiice e e e e e e 63
SigNAge ACIrOSS BrOMSGIOVE .....cciiiiiiiiiiitiiie ettt ettt e bbbt e e e bb e e e e e s e e e e e nbeeeeanee 64

Content
Bromsgrové:@gegigaarking Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H90001



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

Bromsgrove TOWN CENMIE ........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt rb e e s et e e e e abe e e e eaneeas 64

Variable Message SigNSs (VIMS) ... ... it e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e ennreeeeaaeeeanns 66

Alvechurch and CatShill ..............uuuiiiiiii e e a—aeaaaaaaaaesassaaaasasasasnsnsassnsnnnnnnns 67
12. Conclusion and Recommendations..........cccciviiii e 70
Figures

Figure 1:
Figure 2:
Figure 3:
Figure 4:
Figure 5:
Figure 6:
Figure 7:
Figure 8:
Figure 9:

Figure 10:
Figure 11:
Figure 12:
Figure 13:
Figure 14:
Figure 15:
Figure 16:
Figure 17:
Figure 18:
Figure 19:
Figure 20:
Figure 21:
Figure 22:
Figure 23:
Figure 24:
Figure 25:
Figure 26:
Figure 27:
Figure 28:
Figure 29:
Figure 30:
Figure 31:
Figure 32:
Figure 33:
Figure 34:
Figure 35:
Figure 36:
Figure 37:
Figure 38:

Tables
Table 1:
Table 2:
Table 3:
Table 4:
Table 5:
Table 6:

Bromsgrove Ward BoundarieS Map ........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 8
Bromsgrove Town Centre Public Off Street Parking Location Plan ............ccccccoviiiiiiiiienee 9
Bromsgrove District Council operated Car Parks ..........ooo oo 10
New Road Car Park SCOMNG.......ccuuuiiiiiiiiiee ittt ettt e e bt e e e s sbbe e e e s aabaeeeans 15
North Bromsgrove Car park SCOMNG .......ooeiiiiiiiiiiiiie ittt e e eeeee s 16
Parkside Car Park SCOMNG ......cooiiiiiiiiiiiee ittt e e st e e e s aabeee e 17
Recreation Road South Car park SCOMNG. ......eiiiiiiiiiiii e 19
School Drive Car Park SCOME. ...ttt e e et e e e e e e e e ee e e e e e e e e ennees 20
St JOhN Street Car Park ...t e e e e e e e e e 22
Stourbridge Road Car Park SCOME .........c.uiiiiiiiii e 23
Windsor Street Car Park SCOMNG .....o.vuiiiiiiiiii et 25
Aston Fields Car park SCOMNG .......cooiiiiiiiiiiie et e e aneeeeeanes 26
Sanders Park Car Park SCOMNG ......uuiii ot 27
Alvechurch Car Park SCOMNG .....uueieiiiiiie ettt e e e b e e e s aabeeeeenee 28
Catshill Car PArk SCOMNG ....ccoueeiie ittt e e e e e e e e saneeas 30
Morning Period Utilisation Map Bromsgrove Centre ..o 34
Afternoon Period Utilisation Map Bromsgrove Centre...........oooiieviiiiiii i 35
Evening Period Utilisation Map Bromsgrove Centre ............ccccooiiiiiiiiiieii e 36
Change between weekday and weekend average 0CCUPANCY ........oooueeieiiieaiiiiiiiiiieea e e e 37
Average length of stay for an average weekday. ..o 38
Average Length of stay for a Saturday. ... 39
Average Length of stay for @ SUNAAY ...........oooiiiiiiiii e 40
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for New Road Car park........................ 41
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for North Bromsgrove car park............. 42
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Parkside car park ................c.c.c...... 43
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Recreation Road car park............... 44
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for School Drive car park..................... 45
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for St John Street car park.................. 46
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Stourbridge Road Car park............. 47
Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Windsor Street car park................. 48
Car OWNErShiP DY WA .....cooieiiiiiiii et e e e 53
Shopping Occasions Per Month BY AJE .....ooouiiiiiiiii e 55
Directional Car park Sign EXampIe..... ... e 65
Directional Car park Sign EXampIe..... ... e 65
Location of Strategic Car park Signage In Bromsgrove Town Centre...........ccccovvieeiiiiieeeiiieenenn. 66
Potential Locations of Variable message Signage........c..ouoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 67
Approximate Suggested Location for Parking Signage In Catshill.............ccccoiiiiiiiiiene 68
Approximate Suggested Location for Parking Signage In Alvechurch..........cccoociiiiiiiiiinns 69
Car parks iN BrOMSQGrOVE AFa ........uuiiiiiiiiiiiite ettt ettt et e s abb e sabbe e e e snneee s 8
Off Street Parking CapaCity .........coiuuiiiiiiiiii et 10
Parking Provision COMPAIISON ........cccoiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e snaeeeean 12
(O T o= 14 [ O 0 F= T o =T PP RTTPRPP 13
Average OccupancCy by Car PArk..........oooo i e 32
Bromsgrove Public Off Street Car parking TariffS ...........cooiiiiiiii e 49

Content
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegi&éarking Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H90001



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

Table 7:
Table 8:
Table 9:
Table 10:

National Car/Van AVailability ...........coooiiiiiiii et 54
Predicted growth levels for Bromsgrove from TEMPRO ..o, 56
Average 2039 Occupancy by Car PArK..........oooo e 56
Summary of RECOMMENTALIONS ........coiiiiiiiiiiiiii e e 71

Content,
Bromsgrové:@gegig%rking Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H90001



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

1. Executive Summary
Overview

As part of a Strategic Review of Car Parking for Bromsgrove District Council (BDC), Waterman
have reviewed the supply and demand for parking in Bromsgrove town centre and the
surrounding areas both now and in the future.

BDC has employed Wychavon District Council (WDC) to undertake Civil Parking Enforcement
for over 10 years. The services covered by this include the delivery of on and off-street parking
enforcement and the associated full administration including appeals and adjudication. With the
Service Level Agreement (SLA) having expired, a Strategic Review of requirements for parking
services including enforcement has been undertaken. Our Strategic Review of Car Parking is
made up of three standalone reports:

e Part One — Strategic Review
e Part Two — Car Parking Management
e Part Three — On-Street Parking Enforcement

The Strategic Review of Car Parking has reviewed existing parking requirements including
supply and demand for now and in the future. We have reviewed all sites on a site-by-site basis,
providing options to address existing parking issues. We have linked our recommendations to
the wider Worcestershire Transport Strategy, to align with regeneration objectives, to increase
town centre living and footfall, to support retention of existing traders. We have also considered
leisure centre users and a review of the Shopmobility service.

As part of this report, which is a Strategic Review, and also covered in the Car Parking
Management report, we have reviewed car park management arrangements with solutions
identified to reduce the need for off-street parking enforcement, including an outline of costs,
together with the legislative framework to follow to implement it. We have also recommended
time of day restrictions to address existing parking issues and assess enforcement
requirements for identified parking management design options.

Finally, mainly covered in the On-Street Parking Enforcement report, we have reviewed of on-
street parking enforcement to address member and resident concerns around coverage of
activities. A review of concentration of enforcement and hotspots for law breaking/nuisance was
undertaken, focusing on hotspots and repeat offences. In the On-Street Parking Enforcement
Report, a variety of thematic options are recommended, emphasising the comprehensive
approach the study has taken to reviewing car parking supply, usage, location and the land use
planning and transport agendas that are shaping it.

Strategic Review

The first part of our review, the Strategic Review, has found that there is a significant amount of
parking in Bromsgrove town centre, of a similar scale to comparator towns of similar
populations. Committed developments in the pipeline, within the vicinity of Bromsgrove town
centre, could affect demand for parking spaces in Bromsgrove town centre. There is a need to
achieve the best balance between the sometimes-conflicting requirements of a parking strategy,
i.e. its role in supporting the town centre economy, the public realm, income to BDC and other
operators, traffic congestion and the objective to encourage sustainable transport and
development. In developing the principles of a future parking strategy for Bromsgrove town
centre, we were mindful throughout our review of the need to avoid causing unintended
consequences.

Page 64



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Public transport plays a limited role in the movement of people to and from the town centre, in
comparison with many other towns that have better bus services. Therefore, Bromsgrove is
relatively car-dominated. We have found that the charging tariff utilised in Bromsgrove town
centre is well balanced with short stay parking available in all public car parks and long stay in
all but one. The parking charges are consistent with similar towns and the condition of the public
car parks is good, but some potential improvements have been identified.

As part of our review, we analysed parking utilisation and ticket sale data, as shared by BDC.
This showed that Saturdays are significantly busier than weekdays, except in a few car parks
that are popular with commuters and season ticket holders during the week (i.e. Parkside). We
have considered the results of our analysis and have highlighted six crucial recommendations
of our review that BDC should progress further. These aspects are detailed below:

e Improve car park directional signage to town centre car parks and associated way-
finding signage to direct visitors to nearby facilities in the town centre.

¢ Investigate a nighttime car parking tariff that can be used as a basis to advertise the
nighttime offer in Bromsgrove and encourage the evening economy.

e Consider improvements to town centre car parks, which could be generated by
increasing parking tariffs as the benchmarking exercise suggests there is scope for an
increase. This would support improvements to the town centre overall and an increase
in the town centre offering.

¢ Investin redeveloping School Drive car park to make it more attractive to people wishing
to use the car park.

e Place yellow lining on the on-street parking outside of the leisure Centre to encourage
people to use the paid parking there instead of parking for free.

e Aim to get more people to pay for parking charges by using card payments or by the app,
with the long-term aim to go cashless, to reduce costs for BDC as well as making sure
that all transactions are secure.

Further, detailed recommendations for each car park have been provided in the Conclusions
and Recommendations section.

One of the key aspects of this Strategic Review is to determine the need to reopen Churchfields
car park. Since 2022, this car park in Bromsgrove town centre has been closed due to anti-
social behaviour and has been decommissioned. However, from analysis of existing parking
demand through the utilisation figures shared by BDC, we have ascertained that Bromsgrove
town centre has more than adequate car parking provision both now, and in the future, without
the need to reopen Churchfields car park. This is because in Bromsgrove town centre, only two
short stay car parks (Windsor Street and St John Street) have utilisation consistently of above
60%, and this is only in the afternoons and the evening.

Furthermore, findings from traffic growth analysis using the TEMPRO tool show that levels of
parking provision are adequate to even meet a future growth year of 2039, with only St John
Street and Windsor Street car parks predicted to operate at full capacity in 2039 across both
weekdays and weekends, if traffic growth continues unabated. Although Parkside and New
Road car parks are expected to be at a high utilisation level in 2039, should the demand be
managed across the car parks which have spare capacity, by using tools such as wayfinding or
Variable Message Signs, then the demand on these car parks can be managed.

Therefore, on this basis it can be safely determined that Churchfields car park is no longer
required. Existing Bromsgrove town centre car parks can comfortably meet demand, both now
and in 2039. It is recommended that BDC explore disposal of the site so that the land can be
used for regeneration purposes.

Page 65



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

2. Introduction

The Brief

2.1 Waterman Infrastructure & Environment (‘Waterman’) have been commissioned by Bromsgrove
District Council (BDC) (“The Client”) to undertake a Strategic Parking Review within the district.

2.2 BDC has employed Wychavon District Council to undertake Civil Parking Enforcement for over
10 years. The services covered by this include the delivery of on and off-street parking
enforcement and the associated full administration including appeals and adjudication. With the
Service Level Agreement (SLA) having expired, a Strategic Review of requirements for parking
services including enforcement has been undertaken.

23 The Strategic Review of Car Parking has reviewed existing parking requirements including
supply and demand for now and in the future. We have reviewed all sites on a site-by-site basis,
providing options to address existing parking issues. We have linked our recommendations to
the wider Worcestershire Transport Strategy, to align with regeneration objectives, to increase
town centre living and footfall, to support retention of existing traders. We have also considered
leisure centre users and a review of the Shopmobility service.

2.4 This Strategic Parking Review provides an understanding of the current supply and demand for
parking in Bromsgrove, and forecasts how parking is expected to change in the future (with
consideration given to committed and allocated future development sites). This includes
potential options for future parking provision.

2.5 Through analysis of parking occupancy and utilisation, the report seeks to ascertain the future
of the Churchfields multi-storey car park. Since 2022, this car park in Bromsgrove town centre
has been closed due to anti-social behaviour. Through analysis of parking demand in the town
centre, the study seeks to determine whether the car park is still required, or if the car park /
land can be disposed of for regeneration purposes. The future need of other, underutilised car
parks is also discussed. The recommendations also call into question the future operation of
the Shopmobility service, which notionally operates from premises at the car park. This is also
discussed in the On-Street Parking Enforcement Review report, with recommendations made
on the future operation and location of the service.

Report Format
2.6 The structure of this report is as follows:
e Section 2 reviews relevant policy documents;
¢ Section 3 describes existing parking facilities and charges;
e Section 4 compares Bromsgrove to other towns of a similar scale;
e Section 5 presents the scoring for each individual car park;
¢ Section 6 presents the results of the usage surveys and ticket sales analysis;
¢ Section 7 features a review of the pricing across Bromsgrove;
e Section 8 is an assessment of future parking demand and its impact on existing facilities;
¢ Section 9 considers alternative parking measures and presents the recommended strategy;

e Section 10 summarises the future trends;

e Section 11 provides a summary of the report findings.

Page 66



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

3. Planning and Transport Policy

Introduction

3.1 A comprehensive review of national, regional, and local policies and strategies related to
parking have been undertaken. The following sections provide a summary of the findings of the
review and key points for consideration.

National Policy

3.2 The review considers national legislation such as the Parking (Code of Practice) Act 2019 and
the Traffic Management Act 2004. These documents outline the statutory requirements with
regards to parking and enforcement, and therefore the duties placed on the local authorities
when implementing parking policy. The key findings from the review are as follows:

e The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions (TSRGD) 2016 and Department for
Transport (DfT) Circular 01/2016 provide detailed information on parking bay dimensions
and related signage location, layout, text, and use of symbols. These should be read in
conjunction and shall be referred to when designing parking facilities.

e The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and (Parking) Act 1986 provided powers to local
authorities and remain relevant in terms of developing chargeable and enforceable parking
schemes.

¢ Local authorities must also adhere to the rules set out in the Civil Enforcement of Parking
Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007 relating to enforcing parking
restrictions and the issue of penalty charge notices. The Representations and Appeals
Regulations follow on from this and allow for penalty charges to be appealed by motorists
under certain conditions.

e Interms of Blue Badge parking provision, the Disabled Persons (Badges for Motor Vehicles)
(England) Regulations 2000 provides information for local authorities in terms of provision of
Blue badges to manage eligibility. The regulations also include enforcement regulations.
Guidance on the number and design of Blue Badge parking spaces to be provided is set out
in the Manual for Streets and the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB).

e If a local authority wishes to implement a workplace parking levy as part of its strategy, the
relevant sections of the Transport Act 2000 would need to be adhered to.

« The Removal and Disposal of Vehicles Regulations 2007 sets out the circumstances in
which a local authority or the police have the power to remove, store and dispose of illegally,
obstructively, or dangerously parked, abandoned, or broken-down vehicles.

¢ The Traffic Management Act 2004 provides the core legal framework for parking, and
regulates many civil enforcement powers, providing greater consistency across the country
in conjunction with the provisions above. This legislation was introduced to tackle disruption
and congestion on the road network, placing a clear network management duty on local
authorities to make sure that traffic can move freely and smoothly.

3.3 The implications of not adhering to legislative requirements when exercising powers related to
the development of policy and the design and operation of car parking are clear; a local authority
would be unable to effectively manage and enforce in accordance with its network management
duty and is at risk of acting unlawfully.

Page 67



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

3.4 In addition to legislation, the review has also included national policy and guidance documents
which may be considered when implementing a parking strategy. This is important as not every
aspect of a policy may be subject to law and there is scope to go beyond the minimum
requirement. Key points are as follows:

e The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides a single framework for preparing
plans. It offers the opportunity to inform the key principles of the approach to parking that
support any proposed regeneration proposals and future development whilst deterring
unnecessary car use, preventing commuter parking pressure and reducing congestion.

e The NPPF also discusses parking standards for developments and the setting of maximum
parking standards as appropriate, as well as the importance of providing overnight HGV
parking facilities. This, supported by relevant Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), provides
up-to-date and relevant advice on what is required in plan-making and subsequent planning
applications.

¢ The Right to Challenge Parking Policies: Traffic Management Act 2004: Network
Management Duty Guidance ensures that local businesses, the residential community, and
other road users have a recognised voice in relation to network management and parking
policies. It allows people the ability to challenge parking schemes or policies that are already
implemented or proposed and is therefore relevant with regards to development of the Plan.

¢ The Guidance for Local Authorities on Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions provides
information to ensure that parking arrangements meet mandatory requirements (set out in
the Traffic Management Act 2004) but also offers suggestions for good practice, in areas
such as training and professionalism in civil parking enforcement, and from institutions
including the British Parking Association, the Local Government Technical Advisory Group
(TAG), and the London Technical Advisors Group (LoTAG), as well as from other authorities.

e The CIHT Guidance Note on Residential Parking also provides a source for good practice
approaches to parking provision and design in this context.

Regional Policy

3.5 Worcestershire’s third Local Transport Plan (LTP3) was adopted in February 2011; this LTP
sets out the strategy to deliver ‘an efficient, affordable and multimodal transport network’.

3.6 The five main priorities of the LTP3 are taken from the DfT - Delivering a Sustainable Transport
System (DaSTS) report:

e To support national economic competitiveness and growth, by delivering reliable and
efficient transport networks;

¢ To reduce transport’s emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases, with the
desired outcome of tackling climate change;

* To contribute to better safety, security and health and longer life-expectancy by reducing the
risk of death, injury or iliness arising from transport and by promoting travel modes that are
beneficial to health;

e To promote greater equality of opportunity for all citizens; with the desired outcome of
achieving a fairer society; and

e To improve quality of life for transport users and non-transport users, and to promote a
healthy natural environment.

Page 68



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

3.7 The Local Objectives are set out by the Worcestershire Partnership in the form of the
Worcestershire Community Strategy (WSCS), these are:

e Communities that are safe and feel safe,
¢ A better environment for today and tomorrow,
e Economic success that is shared by all,
e Improving health and wellbeing,
¢ Meeting the needs of children and young people, and
e Stronger communities.
3.8 The core objectives of the LTP3 Strategy are:

e To support national economic competitiveness and growth, by delivering reliable and
efficient transport networks,

e To reduce transport’s emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases, with the
desired outcome of tacking climate change,

e To contribute to better safety security and health and longer life-expectancy by reducing the
risk of death, injury and iliness arising from transport and by promoting travel modes that are
beneficial to health,

e To promote greater equality of opportunity for all citizens, with the desired outcome of
achieving a fairer society, and

e To improve quality of life for transport users and non-transport users, and to promote a
healthy natural environment.

Local Policy

3.9 Regional policy and strategy documents have also been reviewed. Relevant policy from the
Bromsgrove District Plan 2011 — 2030 has been reviewed and can be seen below.

« BDP5A.4 A local centre should also be provided that provides a mix of retail and other A
class uses. The local centre should be located adjacent to Sidemoor First School, include
sufficient parking to cater for its own needs and the school at busy times and amenity green
space should also be provided.

¢« BDP5A.5 The community facilities should consist of a community hall, large, equipped play
areas, sports pitches, and an allotment site. There is a specific requirement for adult football
pitches adjacent to the King George V playing fields and associated infrastructure including
access, parking, and changing facilities should also be provided.

« BDP16.1 Development should comply with the Worcestershire County Council’s Transport
policies, design guide and car parking standards, incorporate safe and convenient access
and be well related to the wider transport network.

e BDP16.3 The Council will support the use of low emission vehicles including electric cars
through encouraging the provision of charging points in new developments.

e BDP16.5 The improvement of car parking and cycling provision at stations will be supported
where appropriate and in accordance with other policies contained within this Plan.

e BDP17.3 Town Centre Car parking will be restructured to offer a network of fewer, more
efficient car parks at key locations, opportunities for developing smaller more evenly
distributed car parks will be considered.

Page 69



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

4. Parking Provision

Context

4.1 Bromsgrove is a traditional market town located in North Worcestershire, with a population of
approximately 99,200 (Census, 2021). Bromsgrove borders the built-up area of Birmingham to
the north. Other towns and Vvillages in the district include Alvechurch, Aston
Fields, Belbroughton, Catshill, Clent, Hagley, Rubery, Stoke Prior and Wythall.

Methodology

4.2 Existing parking provision within the district has been assessed, with a high-level review carried
out to determine the location of Council owned car parks, there position within the town centre
and relationship with other local parking facilities.

4.3 Where information has been provided by BDC, a high-level review of the type and management
regime of the car parks (publicly run, use of permits, average length of stay) has been
undertaken. This has included examination of the number of car parking bays, the percentage
provision of bays for people with a disability (blue badge bays), as well as parking charges,
charging and enforcement regimes.

4.4 Analysis of current utilisation for existing council operated available parking stock has been
undertaken. The review captures key quantitative information associated with each car park.
Data captured across the district in terms of quality (real vs. estimated), depth and coverage of
sites (numbers of sites with parking occupancy data), and how occupancy is broken down,
which indicates that a common approach to collecting car parking data is currently not utilised.

4.5 There are several wards across the district. A map showing the wards can be seen overleaf in
Figure 1.

Page 70



AX) waterman

Figure 1: Bromsgrove Ward

Agenda ltem 7

Boundaries Map

Bromsgrove Ward Boundaries
B 7
£ Avechurch South Ward e
Alvechurch Village Ward

& aston Fields Ward

Avoncroft Ward
&
Barnt Green and Hopwood Blakeshall
Ward
Cookiey
&£¥ Bromsgrave Central Ward

olveriey Churchill
Belbroughton and Ramsley

Ward
&F catshill North Ward

Blakedown

: R
e

£F catshill South Ward i

&F Charford Ward

Cofton Ward

Kiddarminster
5

L7 Drakes Cross Ward
Stone Harvington

&F Hagley East Ward
£F Hagley West Ward Mustow Green
&3 Hill Top Ward
&£F Hollywood Ward
& Lickey Hills Ward f orton,
Lowes Hill Ward
&F Mmarlbrook Ward

£7 Norton Ward

Hartlebury Rushock

L7 Perryfields Ward
Waresley

£

&F Rock Hill Ward

e Elmley Lovett
£F Rubery Morth Ward
Cutnall Green

# Crosswat
&F Rubery South Ward reen )

Gre

£¥ sanders Park Ward Snead's Green

£¥ sidemoor Ward

&F stidesiow Ward

Lineholt

Dunhampton
& Doverdale

&¥ Tardebigge Ward 3
£ Wythall East Ward 4 Hampton
Lovett

£F Wythall West Ward

Stourbridge

Hidhey west ar

Chaddesley
Corbett

o Qintor HARBORNE eosoasTON

sy & BALSALL HEATH
Halesowen Edgbaston
sanck ¥4 m

P

gley

er)
bﬁg‘m

Rihery South ward
(Sig

A

SEv

il

Clent Romsley.

%

| D
%y HAWKESL

8eindugmon andRomaleth
Belbroughton Ball End

3
Rednal

P

Wythall
Tanwood Withall West Ward

z Eailswoo
3
§

\,\m

Brandy's
[

Dodford
i)

g Wood End
S aod Enc
g i)

Rowney Green
Alvechurch South Ward

Tanworth

s in Arden

Danzi

Elmbridge A T
g Uller

Avoncroft Ward

Wychbold Oldbe
Rashwood

Flcocks Brook WMorton Bag

Public Off Street Parking across Bromsgrove

4.6

Table 1:
Car park

New Road Car Park

North Bromsgrove Car Park
Parkside Car Park
Recreation Road South Car park
School Drive Car park

St John Streetcar park
Stourbridge Road Car park
Windsor Streetcar park
Aston Fields Car park
Sanders Park

Catshill Car park

Alvechurch Car park

The existing public car parks in Bromsgrove are shown in Table 1.

Car parks in Bromsgrove Area

No. of Spaces Charged

58 Yes

195 Yes

94 Yes

292 Yes

128 Yes

80 Yes

88 Yes

65 Yes
40 No
93 No
15 No

45 No

Page 71



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

4.7 The publicly owned and operated car parks in Bromsgrove town centre are illustrated in Figure 2.

Figure 2: Bromsgrove Town Centre Public Off Street Parking Location Plan
y »-% "‘.%“"-?o- = ‘:. L]
F e, E /S & old Burcot Lo
& L i ‘;3' b 3
5 : 5 & ¢ 5 Ol Buregy
: 5 it £ g
£ H T e " &
. Gy P 5 saneRé Lo
Lo T A
;,- . 9 e LOWES HILL
= 7 g ‘
% § g & )
°§ %o%‘ S %o mg‘rﬁidgeﬂonﬂ
2 . Parkside Canpaka®
. 5
H ;
G R o Recreation Road South ° ‘g‘é B \9 Marth Bromsgrove 1
R g% % O D &
I st =4 chool Drive b
2 " Rd . 5 B y Qéfo 3
= Sanders Park romsgrov q'\-‘
™ 9 ¢ Eo w'-j\ndsol Streat ﬁsua“ﬁ'dkd b cyraord gy
&’.-gd% ‘3 %,
B, o Mew Road & o %
L o . = Jnhggueﬁt o b NGRS '2'; » "V
Moo, peielieid Brock \ o o & 5 ] & o, h %S%
Porin e 2 kg P
g & B b
e & 2 &
Yy
b a
» : @
r “\u_n‘\ / gé
P
?1: qﬁg‘\@b %ﬂy ‘ed‘ 8 b8
a - o
o L
e : Purstyy
o o~
A
4 z ]
%;E %. o
D
=4 =
qabve % L
,f“ 2 i z @\-‘\5‘
%5 = - W o
g < W 2 &
e Charford - & AETON FIELDS
: B 5 Ewwwas & o
B o
. N
@ Location of Car parks 5 2L goem e QBssion Frios
§ 1
o ] & a

R oty
Source: https.//www.google.com/maps

4.8 All the publicly owned car parks within the district are illustrated in Figure 3.

Page 72



AX) waterman

4.9

4.10

4.1

4.12

Agenda Item 7

Figure 3: Bromsgrove District Council operated Car parks
& s B 5
% 2
°PPER caTsHiLL Marlbrook g % 5 ©
Bournheath ¢ i % P
urnhea z © :q% 2 -3 BA& &
i s ez
i N2 R
Catshil o @ SO Barnt Green
Bro 2
&
it a2
ez Apes Dale 2
y
4 Lickey End 5
3 = & Alvechurch
Spirehous®  Blackwell 5? GREEN
8
J) D, 3}
6% o % A e Al = ]
> + Burcot Cobley Hill
Sate -
SEPWES HILL
SIDEMOOR Gf e
oo :
BnQ\ ove ?25
M5
Tutnall
S Finstall
o)
e %D‘\%&
Ll
Charford .9 Hewell Lane
& > Tardebigge
& &
& ¥ =
oy Hewell Grange
@  Location of Car parks %

Sor, »
fol

Source: https://www.google.com/maps

Across the car parks operated by BDC, there are approximately 1,133 parking spaces. This

includes 16 (1%) electric vehicle (EV) charging spaces and 62 blue badge bays (6%). Of the

1,133 total number of spaces available, 185 (16%) are ‘Short Stay’ (less than 3 hours). This is
shown in Table 2.

Table 2:Off Street Parking Capacity

Car park Car parks No. of Spaces  EV Charging Blue Badge

Spaces Spaces
Short Stay 3 185 4 12
Long Stay 9 973 12 59
Total 15 1133 16 62

Currently, only six of the car parks have EV charging facilities.
Parking Enforcement

The enforcement of on-street parking restrictions is managed by BDC under an agency
agreement with Worcestershire County Council. The Civil Enforcement of parking is undertaken

by Wychavon District Council on behalf of BDC. They have carried out Civil Parking
Enforcement for over 10 years.

The services covered by this include the delivery of On and Off street parking enforcement and
the associated full administration including appeals and adjudication, general administration of
queries from a range of stakeholders, reporting issues related to Worcestershire County

Page 73



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Council's responsibilities around signage and markings, DVLA Audits, Issuing Parking
Dispensations, administration of a Permit system, Shopmobility Management, Regular checks
and stocking of tickets to Pay and Display Machines and Disabled Blue Badge Inspections.
There are no Pay & Display parking locations on-street in Bromsgrove town centre.

4,13 The locations and the enforcement of On Street Parking is considered in the On Street
Enforcement Review report.

Page 74



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

5. Benchmarking

Parking Capacity Comparison

5.1 An analysis of similar towns to Bromsgrove both nearby and across the UK has been
undertaken to understand parking need. The towns reviewed are detailed in Table 3.

Table 3: Parking Provision Comparison

All Car parks
Town Population Number | Number Parki_ng Blue Percentage
Ratio of Blue
of Car of Badge

arks Spaces P Spaces Sl

P Resident Spaces
Bromsgrove 35,000 10 1,133 0.03 62 5%
Lichfield 33,000 16 1,379 0.04 77 6%
Warwick 37,000 11 1,659 0.05 42 3%
Kidderminster 57,000 8 777 0.01 32 4%
Tipton 47,000 3 152 0.003 8 5%
Dudley 79,000 13 1,031 0.01 48 5%
Droitwich Spa 26,000 8 850 0.03 37 4%
Worcester 103,000 16 2,358 0.02 48 2%

5.2 As can be seen in Table 3 the overall number of spaces in Bromsgrove is similar in comparison
to the other towns, with a parking ratio per resident of 0.03. This compares to Warwick which is
the highest with an average of 0.5 spaces per resident, which has a similar population to
Bromsgrove at 37,000. Tipton has the lowest parking ratio per resident with an average of 0.003
spaces per resident.

5.3 Overall, the provision of Blue Badge spaces across Bromsgrove is 5% of all spaces available.
Across the comparator towns, this is comparable with Tipton and Dudley, each having 5% of all
spaces as Blue Badge Spaces.

54 The towns which have a slightly higher percentage of Blue Badge spaces are Droitwich Spa
and Kidderminster at 4%. The towns with the lowest Percentage were Worcester with 2% and
Warwick with 3%. DFT Guidance (Inclusive Mobility Guide 2021) suggests that where a car
park has more than 50 spaces, a 4% provision should be made for Blue Badge parking. Applying
this guidance to Bromsgrove indicates that sufficient space is provided for Blue Badge holders.

Cost of Parking

55 A comparison exercise was undertaken on parking charges to determine the difference in the
cost of parking in other UK towns. The charges across Bromsgrove and similar towns can be
seen in Table 4.

Page 75



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

5.6

5.7

5.8

Table 4:Car park Charges

Town Up to 30 Upto | Upto2 | Upto3 | Upto4 All Night-
mins 1 hour | hours hours hours Day Time
tariff
Bromsgrove £1 £1 £2 £3 £6 £6 N/A
Lichfield £1.50 £1.50 £1.50 £1.50 £1.50 £4 £1
Warwick £1.40 £1.40 £2.60 £3.90 £5.10 £8 £2.20
Kidderminster 70p £1.20 £2.30 £3.50 £5.70 £5.70 £2
Tipton 30p 60p £1.10 £1.60 £2.10 £4.50 £4.50
Dudley Free Free Free £2 £5 £5 Free
Droitwich Spa £1 £1 £2 £3 £4 £4 N/A
Worcester £1.10 £1.10 £2.10 £3.20 £4.20 £6.40 N/A

The comparison with neighbouring towns demonstrates that short stay parking is of a lower cost
in Bromsgrove compared to towns of a similar nature. Long stay parking in Bromsgrove is
broadly similar to towns used in the benchmarking exercise. All day parking in Bromsgrove is
also broadly like towns used in the benchmarking exercise.

Some neighbouring towns have a nighttime tariff while some offer free parking or no nighttime
parking. Those that offer a nighttime tariff offer different times (see notes below). Most towns
like Bromsgrove do not offer a nighttime tariff and that parking after 6pm is free.

As of June 2024, Bromsgrove increased their car parking charges by 20p an hour up to 3 hours
and the all-day tariff increased from £5 to £6. This moves it more in line with the comparator
towns, making it the 3" most expensive for an all-day tariff compared to the towns summarised

above.

Page 76



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

6. Bromsgrove Town Centre off-streetcar park Overview and
Conditions

6.1 As part of this study, 12 car parks were reviewed in Bromsgrove town centre. This review was
undertaken in June 2024.

6.2 These car parks have been analysed using numerous metrics to establish the existing condition
and to identify where improvements are necessary. The scoring is from 1 to 4 as shown below:

e 0 Very Poor
e 1 Poor

e 2 Satisfactory
e 3 Good

e 4 Very Good

e N/A Not Applicable to Site

e U Unclear at time of Assessment

6.3 This review has allowed for a spider diagram to be created showing the areas where individual
car parks perform well and poorly.

o Safety and Security

Is the car park well-lit during day and night?

Are there security cameras installed, are they covering the whole car park?
Are there emergency call stations?

Are there any structural issues such as cracks, potholes, or broken barriers?

e Accessibility

— Are the entries and exits clearly marked?

— Is the car park easy to navigate?

— Is the car park design wide enough for all desired vehicle types manoeuvring the
car park?

— If applicable, are pathways and ramps provided for wheelchair access?

— Are there clear markings for one-way and two-way traffic?

— Are there any congestion points that could cause delays?

— Are the parking rules and regulations clearly displayed?

e Convenience and usability of Car park

— Are the spaces adequately sized for modern vehicles?

— What payment methods are available (cash, card, mobile payment)?

— Are payment machines functional and conveniently located?

— Is there a designated area for bike parking and how many?

— Is there a designated area for motor bike parking?

— Is there a designated area for Blue Badge parking and how many?

— Are the Blue Badge spaces close to exits/entrances and facilities?

— Is there designated area for electric vehicles and how many?

— Is there sufficient parking for peak times?

— Are there indicators or systems in place to show capacity or available spaces?

— Are the parking bays, lanes and pedestrian walkways clearly marked?

Page 77



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

— Are there signs indicating speed limits and pedestrian crossings?
¢ Assessment of Location

— Is the car park within reasonable walking distance (400m) to the relevant amenities
it's there for?

— Ifit's required to cross highway to amenities is there a suitable crossing?

— Are nearby footpaths in appropriate condition?

— How many shops are nearby and how many are vacant?

 Additional Considerations

— Does the car park feel safe and inviting?

— Is there adequate drainage to prevent flooding, or large puddles that could cause
inconvenience?

— Is the car park clean and free from litter and debris?

New Road car park

6.4 New Road car park has 59 spaces, three of which are Blue Badge and is located towards the
south of the town centre. It is likely to be popular with people visiting food and entertainment
venues across the town. Access and egress to New Road car park is via a single entrance from
New Road. Pedestrians can access the car park from New Road.

6.5 New Road car park is a pay and display car park accepting both machine payments as well as
app payments.

6.6 As shown in Figure 4, New Road car park scores well on most areas with an average score of
2.75 so this car park is satisfactory.

Figure 4: New Road Car Park Scoring

Street Lighting

Free of Litter
Draining Correctly

Secuirty
General Maintance

Safe Clearly markgd entries
and exits

Level of Local facilities Easily navigated

Footpath condition Enough .W'dth for

vehicles

Local amenities within
walkable distance

Car park charges
displayed

Bays marked out Spaces Wide Enough

Sufficient Parking Payment Machines

Spaces . _provided
EV Parkin Bike .Par.kllng
Location of disabled Availability

Motorbike Parking
spaces Disabled Parking

Page 78



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

6.7 On the day of the site visit both Pay and Display machines were out of action. The key points
where New Road car park scored poorly are detailed below:

e ‘EV Parking,’
* ‘Bike & Motorbike Parking,” and
¢ ‘Wheelchair Accessible.’

6.8 This car park could be improved by providing EV charging on the car park. Guidance indicates
that 10-20% of all spaces should be an EV charging space. For New Road this would result in
between 6 and 11 EV spaces being required.

6.9 The Car park also scores lower for ‘Wheelchair Accessibility.” This is due to a narrow footway
which has a steep gradient for a wheelchair user from the town centre.

North Bromsgrove car park

6.10 North Bromsgrove car park has 195 spaces, 9 of which are Blue Badge and is located towards
the northeast of the town centre. It is likely to be popular with people visiting food and
entertainment venues across the town, as well as accessing the leisure centre. Access and
egress are via a single entrance from School Drive. Pedestrians can access the car park from
School Drive.

6.11  North Bromsgrove car park is a pay and display car park accepting both machine payments as
well as app payments. As shown in Figure 5, North Bromsgrove car park scores well on most
areas. Overall, this car park has an average score of 3.6 so is classified as being good.

Figure 5: North Bromsgrove Car park Scoring

Street Lighting
Free of Litter Security
General Maintenance

Safe Clearly marked entries...

Level of Local facilities Easily navigated

Footpath condition Enough width for...

Suitable road crossing.]. Wheelchair accessible

Local amenities within.®=== Car park charges...

Speed Limit Sign &... Spaces Wide Enough

Bays marked out Payment Machines...

Sufficient Parking...

EV Parkin
Location of disabled...

Bike Parking Availability

- Motorbike Parking
isabled Parking

6.12 The key points where New Road car park scored poorly are detailed below:

Page 79



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

e ‘Security,
e ‘Speed Limit Signing.’

6.13 The car park would benefit from the installation of security cameras to make people feel like
their vehicles are safe when being left in the car park. As well as this 5mph speed limit signing
would help improve traffic speeds and make people aware to go slow in the car park due to
pedestrians crossing.

Parkside Car Park

6.14  Parkside Car Park has a total of 92 spaces, with 6 of these being Blue Badge Spaces and is
located near the Library and District Council offices at the north end of the town centre. There
is a car park entrance and a separate exit onto Market Street. The entrance to the car park is
close to the junction which could potentially cause a road safety risk with vehicles queuing back
onto the A road while waiting to gain access to the car park.

6.15 Parkside car park is a pay and display car park accepting both machine payments as well as
app payments. As shown below in Figure 6, Parkside Car Park scores well on most areas with
an average score of 3 so is deemed to be good.

Figure 6: Parkside Car Park Scoring

Street Lighting
Free of Litter __.4

Draining Correctly

Security
General Maintenance

Clearly marked entries
and exits

Level of Local facilities Easily navigated

Footpath condition Enough_W|dth for

vehicles

Local amenities within
walkable distance

Car park charges
displayed

Bays marked out Spaces Wide Enough

Sufficient Parking Payment Machines

Spaces provided
EV Parking, Bike Parking Availability
Location of disabled

Motorbike Parking
spaces Disabled Parking

6.16  The key points of which Parkside Car Park scored poorly are detailed below:
¢ ‘EV Parking, and
e ‘Surfacing’

Page 80



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

6.17  Guidance indicates that 10-20% of all spaces should be an EV charging space. For Parkside
this would result in between 9 and 18 EV spaces.

6.18 Parkside car park scored 2 for surfacing, and therefore could benefit from improvements, with
a few directional and bay markings needing updating within the next 5 years. An image showing
the current condition of Parkside can be seen below.

Photograph 1: Parkside Car Park Photo

Recreation Road South car park

6.19 Recreation Road South car park has a total of 312 spaces, 20 of which are blue badge spaces
and is accessed and egressed for vehicles by a single entrance on Recreation Road.
Pedestrians access the car park from available entrances off Market Street and Recreation
Road. It is located adjacent to ASDA supermarket as well as a walking distance of the town
centre.

6.20 Recreation Road South is a pay and display car park accepting both machine payments as well
as app payments.

6.21  As shown in Figure 7, Recreation South car park scores well on most areas with an average
score of 3 so is deemed to be good.

Page 81



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Figure 7: Recreation Road South Car park Scoring.

Street Lighting
Free of Litter, Security

General maintenance

Safe Clearly marked...

Level of Local facilities Easily navigated

Condition of footpath Enough width for...

Suitable road.f. Wheelchair accessible

Local amenities .\, Car park charges...

Bays marked out Spaces Wide Enough

Sufficient Parking.

EV Parking Bike Parking Availability
Location of disabled. Motorbike Parking
Disabled Parking

Payment Machines...

6.22  The only point where which Recreation Road South car park scored poorly are detailed below:
e ‘Bike & Motorbike Parking.’

6.23  Overall, the car park is in a good condition with surfacing to a high quality and two EV parking
spaces, there are several payment machines with the tariffs clearly displayed across the car
park. An image of the car park can be seen overleaf.

Photograph 2: Recreation Road South Car park Photo

6.24 During a site visit motorcycles were observed to be parked on footways due to the lack of
motorcycle parking available.

Page 82



AX) waterman

Agenda ltem 7

Photograph 3: Recreation Road Car Park Photo

School Drive car park

School Drive car park has a total of 128 spaces, 2 of which are blue badge spaces, and is

6.25
accessed, and egressed is a single entrance off School Drive which leads to Stratford Road.
The pedestrian access to the car park is off School Drive.

6.26  School Drive car park is a pay and display car park accepting both machine payments as well
as app payments. As shown in Figure 8, School Drive Car park scores well on most areas with
an average score of 2.5 so is deemed to be satisfactory.

Figure 8: School Drive Car park Score.
Street Lighting
Free of Litter 4 Security
Safe 3.5 General Maintenance
Level of Local facilities Clearly marked entries...
Footpath condition Easily navigated
Suitable road crossing... Enough width for vehicles
Local amenities within... Wheelchair accessible
Bays marked out Car park charges...
Sufficient Parking Spaces Spaces Wide Enough
EV Parking Payment Machines...
Location of disabled... Bike Parking Availability
Disabled Parking Motorbike Parking
6.27  The key points of which School Drive car park scored poorly are detailed below:

Page 83



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

e ‘EV Parking’
¢ ‘Bicycle & Motorcycle Parking’ and
e ‘Surfacing’

6.28  Overall, School Drive car park is in a poor condition with surfacing and lining to a low quality
and no EV parking provision. There are several payment machines with the tariffs clearly
displayed across the car park. An image of the car park can be seen below:

Photograph 4: School Drive Car park Photograph 5: School Drive Car park

-,.,"r s -

6.29 As shown above the surfacing and lining would benefit from being refreshed. However, given
the levels of utilisation for this car park it is unclear whether it would offer economic benefit to
BDC to resurface the car park due to the low levels of utilisation recorded.

St John Street car park

6.30 St John Street car park is a short stay car park with a maximum stay of 3 hours and has a total
of 60 spaces, 4 of which are blue badge spaces. The car park is located outside Waitrose and
its primary function is to serve customers shopping in Waitrose.

6.31  However, due to its proximity to the town centre and visibility for visitors it is well used for town
centre visitors and shoppers. The access and egress are via a single entrance from Market
Street. Pedestrians can access the car park from Market Street and through a footpath that
leads to Worcester Road.

6.32 St John Street car park is a pay and display car park accepting both machine payments as well
as app payments. As shown overleaf in Figure 9, St John Street car park scores well on most
areas with an average score of 2.5 so is deemed to be satisfactory.

Page 84



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Figure 9: St John Street Car park

Street Lighting
Free of Litter 4

Safe 3.

Security

General

aintenance

Clearly marked
entries and exits

Level of Local
facilities

Footpath condition Easily navigated

Suitable road Enough width for

crossing point vehicles
Local amenities Wheelchair
within walkable.. accessible

Bays marked out Car park charges

displayed
Sufficient Parking Spaces Wide
Spaces Enough
EV Parking ayment Machlnes
. . . provided
Location of disabled Bike Parking
SPaCBsabled Parking Motorbiké& BHRRIELY

6.33 The key points of which St John Street car park scored poorly are detailed below:
e ‘EV Parking, and
e ‘Motorcycle Parking’

6.34  Overall, the car park is in a good condition with surfacing to a good quality. For improvement,
the car park could benefit from EV provision. Given the high occupancy and the short stay
nature, the car park would benefit from fast EV charging capacity. There is a lack of motorcycle
parking within the car park, so the car park could benefit from including motorcycle parking
provision.

Stourbridge Road car park

6.35 Stourbridge Road car park has a total of 76 spaces, 5 of which are blue badge spaces. The car
park is located near the library and District Council offices. The access and egress are via a
single entrance from Stourbridge Road. Pedestrians can access the car park via Stourbridge
Road and Birmingham Road.

6.36  Stourbridge Road Car park is a pay and display car park accepting both machine payments as
well as app payments.

6.37  Asshown in Figure 10, Stourbridge Road Car park scores poorly on most areas with an average
score of 2.2 so is deemed to be satisfactory.

Page 85



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Figure 10: Stourbridge Road Car park Score

Free of Littery Street Lightin?
Safe - Security

Level of Local facilities General Maintenance

Footpath condition Clearly marked...

Suitable road... Easily navigated

Local amenities within... Enough width for...

Bays marked out Wheelchair accessible

Sufficient Parking... Car park charges...

EV Parking Spaces Wide Enough

Location of disabled... Payment Machines...

Disabled Parking Bike Parking Availability
Motorbike Parking

6.38 The key points of which Stourbridge Car Park scored poorly are detailed below:
e ‘Secure,
¢ ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle Parking’
e ‘EV Parking, and
e ‘Surfacing’

6.39 Overall, the car park is in a poor condition with the bay markings worn away and several
potholes within the car park making it very unappealing for people to want to park there.

6.40 The car park scored poorly for the ‘Secure’ category due to it not being appealing to leave a car
at as well as a lack of CCTV across the whole car park. This could be a major factor as to why
there are such low levels of utilisation seen within this car park. An image displaying the current
conditions can be seen overleaf.

Page 86



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Photograph 6: Stourbridge Road Car park
L :
.y

Y G | v\v.,“'v ‘

6.41 Ifitis redeveloped EV charging spaces are recommended, similar to other car parks across the
town centre, offering a further incentive for people to park there.

6.42  Also, there is a lack of motorcycle parking within the car park so the car park could benefit from
including motorcycle parking provision.

Windsor Street car park

6.43  Windsor Street car park is a short stay car park with a maximum stay of 3 hours and has a total
of 71 spaces, 6 of which are blue badge spaces and 2 EV charging spaces. The car park is
located along Windsor Street which is a road that runs parallel to the High Street making this
car park attractive to visitors and shoppers to the town centre. This is supported by the car park
having the highest occupancy rates over a day.

6.44 There is a car park entrance and a separate exit although both feed onto Windsor Street.
Pedestrians access the car park from Windsor Street. Windsor Street car park is a pay and
display car park accepting both machine payments as well as app payments.

6.45 As shown overleaf in Figure 11, Windsor Street car park scores well on most areas with an
average score of 3.1 so is deemed to be good overall.

Page 87



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Figure 11: Windsor Street Car park Scoring

Free of Littery Street Lightin
Safe . Security

Level of Local facilities General Maintenance

Clearly marked entries

Footpath condition and exits

Suitable road crossing

point Easily navigated

Enough width for
vehicles

Local amenities within
walkable distance

Bays marked out Wheelchair accessible

Car park charges
displayed

Sufficient Parking
Spaces

EV Parking Spaces Wide Enough

Location of disabled Payment Machines

SPSfSbled Parking Bike Parkind RSBty
Motorbike Parking

6.46  The key points of which Windsor Street Car park scored poorly are detailed below:
¢ ‘Sufficient Parking Spaces,’ and
¢ ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle Parking’

6.47  The first metric stated above where it scored poorly was ‘Sufficient Parking Spaces,” whereas
stated in the occupancy data the car park is at capacity so there may not be enough space for
people to be able to park there. A solution would be to redirect users using signage to other
nearby car parks which have capacity such as New Road.

6.48 The second metric stated above in which the car park scored poorly is ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle
Parking.’ To correct this, secure cycle parking could be provided on the footway next to the car
park. As for motorcycle parking, due to the car park being at capacity at its peak, there isn’t the
space to reallocate a space for motorcycle parking within this car park specifically.

Aston Fields car park

6.49 Aston Fields car park is a short stay car park with a maximum stay of 2 hours and has a total of
40 spaces, 2 of which are blue badge spaces. The car park also has 2 EV charging spaces.
The car park is located outside of Bromsgrove Town Centre near to Bromsgrove Train Station,
which already has its own designated car park. Aston Fields Car park is a free car park.

6.50 As shown overleaf in Figure 12, Aston Fields Car park scores well on most areas with an
average score of 3 so is deemed to be good overall.

Page 88



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

6.51

6.52

6.53

6.54

Figure 12:

Aston Fields Car park Scoring

Suitable road crossing point

Local amenities within

Sufficient Parking Spaces

Street Lighting
Free of Litter 4 Security
Safe General maintenance
Clearly marked entries and
exits

Level of Local facilities

Condition of footpath Easily navigated

Enough width for vehicles

walkable distance Car park charges displayed

Bays marked out Spaces Wide Enough

Payment Machines provided

Bike Parking Availability
Location of disabled spaces Motorbike Parking
Disabled Parking

The key points of which Aston Fields car park scored poorly are detailed below:
‘Bays Marked Out,” and
‘Motorcycle and Bicycle Parking’

The first metric of which the car park scored poorly was ‘Bays Marked out,’ this is due to the car
park being gravel surfaced at the time of the visit, and the bays not being marked out apart from
a small white marker on the kerb. As of the time of revising this report, the car park had been
resurfaced and relined, which will boost both metrics accordingly.

Sanders Park Car park

Sanders Park car park is a free car park and has a total of 80 spaces, 6 of which are blue badge
spaces. The car park also has 2 EV charging spaces. The car park is located along on the edge
of Bromsgrove Town Centre and adjacent to Sanders Park.

As shown in Figure 13, Sanders Park car park scores well on most areas with an average score
of 3.4 so is deemed to be good overall.

Page 89



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

6.55

6.56

6.57

6.58

6.59

Figure 13: Sanders Park Car park Scoring

Street Lighting
Free of Litter, 4 Security

Draining Correctly 5 General Maintenance

Clearly marked entries

Safe and exits

Level of Local facilities Easily navigated

Enough width for

Footpath condition vehicles

Local amenities within

walkable distance Wheelchair accessible

Car park charges

Bays marked out displayed

Sufficient Parking
Spaces
EV Parkin Bike Parking Availability

Location of disab Motorbike Parking
spaces Disabled Parking

Spaces Wide Enough

The key point of which Sanders Park car park scored poorly are detailed below:
¢ ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle Parking’

The metric stated above in which the car park scored poorly is ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle Parking,’
due to its location adjacent to Sanders Park, cycle parking would be useful to be installed. As
for Motorcycle Parking, due to the car park having capacity at its peak, there is space to
reallocate a space for motorcycle parking within this car park.

Overall, the car park scored well across most metrics and is ideally placed for people to be able
to park securely to use Sanders Park on the outskirts of Bromsgrove Town Centre
Alvechurch Car park

Alvechurch car park is a free car park and has a total of 45 spaces, 3 of which are blue badge
spaces. The car park also has 2 EV charging spaces. The car park is located near the centre
of Alvechurch Village and close to the Village Hall.

As shown in Figure 14, Alvechurch car park scores well on most areas with an average score
of 3.4 so is deemed to be good overall.

Page 90



AX) waterman

6.60

6.61

6.62

Figure 14: Alvechurch Car park Scoring

Agenda Item 7

Draining Correctly,
Safe

Level of Local facilities

Footpath condition

Free of Litter

Street Lighting

Local amenities. =

Speed Limit Sign &...

Bays marked out

Sufficient Parking. ..
EV Parking

Location of disable

Disabled Parki

Motorbike Parking

ng

Security
General Maintenance

Clearly marked...

Easily navigated

Enough width for...
Wheelchair accessible

Car park charges...

Spaces Wide Enough

Payment Machines...
Bike Parking Availability

The key points of which the car park scored poorly are detailed below:

¢ ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle Parking’
e ‘Speed Limit Signage’

e ‘General Maintenance’

The metric stated above in which Alvechurch car park scored poorly is ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle
Parking,’ given that it is the only car park in the village it could benefit from the installation of
Motorcycle and cycle parking spaces and there is adequate space for it to be installed.

The car park currently has no speed signage to alert drivers to lower their speed however it
does have speed humps to control speed as drivers enter/exit the car park which can be seen
overleaf in Photographs 8 and 9. Currently, the car park is in a good condition but in 5 years

could potentially require resurfacing.

Page 91



Agenda Iltem 7
\\’ waterman

_ Photograph 8: Alvechurch Car park

Photograph 9: Alvechurch Car park

e

Catshill Car park

6.63  Catshill car park is a free car park and has a total of 15 spaces, 1 of which are blue badge
spaces. The car park also has 2 EV charging spaces. The car park is located on Golden Cross
Lane near to Catshill Village Hall and local shops and amenities.

6.64 As shown in Figure 15, Catshill Park car park scores well on most areas with an average score
of 3.2 so is deemed to be good overall.

Page 92



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Figure 15: Catshill Car park Scoring
Free of Littery Street Lighting
Safe Security
3.5
Level of Local facilities 3 General Maintenance

22 Clearly marked entries

Footpath condition and exits

Local amenities within

walkable distance Easily navigated

Enough width for

Bays marked out vehicles

Sufficient Parking

Wheelchair accessible
Spaces

. ar park charges
EV Parking displayed

Location of disabled Spaces Wide Enough
spaces

Disabled Parking Bike Parking Availability
Motorbike Parking

6.65 The key points of which the car park scored poorly are detailed below:
¢ ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle Parking’

6.66 The metric stated above in which Catshill car park scored poorly is ‘Motorcycle and Bicycle
Parking,” given the car park only has 15 spaces it is not deemed necessary for cycle or bicycle
parking to be installed given the location of the car park.

6.67 Images below highlight the current conditions at Catshill car park can be seen below.

Page 93



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Photograph 10: Catshill Car park Photograph 11: Catshill Car park

6.68  Overall, the car park scored well across most metrics and is ideally placed for people to be
able to park securely to use the local amenities within Catshill.

Page 94



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

7. Parking Occupancy

Average Occupancy by car park

71 Car parking occupancy data has been provided by BDC and analysed to understand occupancy
rates at car parks operated by BDC.

7.2 Data has been provided for the period 22/04/24 — 28/04/24. This considered to be a typical
week within a neutral month with no school holidays or public holidays to impact the findings.

7.3 The data is therefore considered to give an accurate representation of typical occupancy levels.
The results can be seen in Table 5, with the following colour coding:

¢ Red = Less than 30% Occupancy

o = 30% - 60% Occupancy

¢ Green = Greater than 60% Occupancy
Table 5: Average Occupancy by Car park

Weekday Average Saturday Average Sunday Average

Car park Occupancy Occupancy Occupancy

Morning Afternoon Evening Morning Afternoon Evening Morning Afternoon Evening

New Road 450, 35% - 56% 46%
car park

North
Bromsgrove
car park

Parkside
car park

30% 47%

Recreation
Road South 32% 43%
car park

School
Drive car
park

St John
Street car
park

Stourbridge
Road car
park

Windsor
Street car
park

7.4 As can be seen above in Table 5, there are 3 car parks which have the highest occupancy rates
of above 60% in both Monday-Friday as well as on the weekend, with St John Street having a
96% average occupancy rate on a weekday evening, 98% peak average occupancy rate on
Saturday afternoon. Overall, across the chargeable times, the car park was at 60% utilisation.

Page 95



Agenda Iltem 7
\\’ waterman

7.5 As well as St John Street car park, Windsor Street car park had a high utilisation rate of 77%
on a weekday evening, 95% on a Saturday afternoon and 22% on a Sunday morning. Overall,
across all the chargeable times, the average utilisation was 50% across all 3 days.

7.6 The car parks with the lowest utilisation are Stourbridge Road car park and School Drive car
park. Firstly, Stourbridge Road car park had a peak average utilisation rate of only 7% on a
weekday morning, 11% on a Saturday afternoon and 2% on a Sunday afternoon. The overall
utilisation rate for Stourbridge Road was 4% across all the chargeable hours. A factor as to why
the utilisation is low on the car park is due to Aldi being adjacent which has free parking for
customers, as well as Bromsgrove retail park to the east which also has free parking. Utilisation
was low during a site visit on 24t June 2024 which can be seen in Photographs 12 and 13.

Photograph 11: Stourbridge Road Car park Photograph 12: Stourbridge Road Car park

7.7 School Drive was also mainly below 30% peak utilisation on the surveyed week, with the
weekday utilisation being 19%, the Saturday being 23%, and the Sunday being the lowest at
8%. The overall average utilisation across all the chargeable hours was slightly higher than
Stourbridge Road at 17%.

Existing Utilisation of Car parks

7.8 Using payment data collected from transaction reports analysing all methods of payments, Debit
Card, Credit Card, Cash and Online/App payments, utilisation estimates for each car park has
been calculated.

7.9 For a weekday, a Saturday and a Sunday, each car park has been split into three periods,
Morning, Afternoon, Evening as well as a map showing the average throughout the total opening
hours of the car park.

Page 96



AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

7.10 In the figures below, an average utilisation map for the morning, afternoon and evening periods
has been provided.
7.11  The following map in Figure 16 shows a utilisation estimate for the morning period across a
standard Weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.
Figure 16: Morning Period Utilisation Map Bromsgrove Centre
Bromsgrove Town Centre Morning Car Park Utilisation Percentage Map
Avergage
Utilisation Key 1 = -
Uy @ g e Uy pussets ™ <4
e § ew“in g
Q o%-30% : B
% 'Eg; v .nm“‘\\& o g
31% - 60% g 3 i @
; &
61% - 100% 8 o ) &
< o % 2 0 stourviigoe Rosd Car o
E i mrn‘f\“&oq e )
g & Po ggae " e s Gl e
At ol 4 o, y
Pt I o s g\? % ;
, ’ stratford Ry _“_.—'—‘ gg}
’ ds’”"nsre, - d\“@ . i %
A I\ o 2
%, & e , &
’mi'v X :&SL John Stiest Car Park . Ners iy
SLarsy & £ r
Name of Car Park Morning & & 3" £ 2
New Road Car Park 40% ;E% ¢‘°\L~!},./ ,os‘p\\ 4’%& Ln\@ o j
North Bromsgrove Car Park 14% &7 e s, A 5
Parkside Car Park 34% j » E(‘f = ”1}}\(/\ §;;El;‘i\tl_‘f(9’\f“!ﬂ\:;i:
Recreation Road South Car Park 31% (}\Z\Q , A= SERIPL :,;@
School Drive Car Park 9% & o 4 ¥
St John Street Car Park 40% 3, 5> s o "
Stourbridge Road Car Park 3% o @™ i g
Windsor Street Car Park 45% 1 LR S Antng)
7.12  As can be seen in the figure above, in the morning period across the three days, no car parks
in Bromsgrove are fully utilised, whilst 5 out of the 8 car parks have a utilisation percentage of
approximately 31-60%, with North Bromsgrove car park, Stourbridge Road car park and School
Drive car park having the lowest utilisation percentage (less than 30%), with Stourbridge Road
car park having just 3%.
7.13  The figure overleaf shows the afternoon period across all three days:

Page 97



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Figure 17: Afternoon Period Utilisation Map Bromsgrove Centre

Bromsgrove Town Centre Afternoon Car Park Utilisation Percentage Map
Avergage
falta - " gy
Utilisation Key S . 1 o £ o 23
R ‘S\}L e 2 o 2 T L5
§ % & g
@ o0%-s0% ¢ 2 !
5 5 vst® 2
G e T 3
31% - 60% g &
& 3
&
e B >
S 61% - 100% %, X p
L E
=% g
g 5 <& el
d ER
§ = o
Yo = & s 2 & %
R g & @ F &
5 2 G "
v 5 £ s
S & A e 9 North Bromearove Gar P
% 5 % senco i Cor £
% g %2 5y
48 < B ®& &
M SR i i %'% 4
pagatCl %, a?* T &
3 ey &
* St stratford Ry & b
= 4, = & =
—— Y s i WindEer Sireet Car Park.. %,
Da g, tor i (p“i G\,s. £-%
&
L7 & % ®
%, ;‘*” Mew Raad Car Parkc %
% . pi NCRS
f}, yﬂﬁ st G e 2 '\'CRgm
o & & 4
i & N =
Name of Car Park Afternoon k:% A N & 47“49 ou\\z& & i
New Road Car Park 50% @ e %5 &
North Bromsgrove Car Park 14% o & 2 Sl
Parkside Car Park 599 & The Cres” Hire Airport Transters
©
Recreation Road South Car Park 45% & 4 &8, a8 “??
Sehool Drive Car Park 2% z & & Y v
St John Street Car Park 72% % - o 1
Stourbridge Road Car Park Bt % S
Windsor Street Car Park 0% e, 4 2 & Arting,

7.14  Similarly to the morning period, most car parks are in the red utilisation bracket or the yellow.
However, St John Street car park has a utilisation percentage of 72%, whilst Windsor Street car
park’ has a utilisation percentage of 60%.

7.15  The figure overleaf shows the Evening period across all three days.

Page 98



AX) waterman

Figure 18:

Agenda Item 7

Evening Period Utilisation Map Bromsgrove Centre

Avergage
Utilisation Key

Q 0% - 30%
31% - 60%

61% - 100%

%
et

A4aB

Bromsgrove Town Centre Evening Car Park Utilisation Percentage Map

v

& 4
o

Sy, s

Wt

o

<

s 5
i n

.
&
&

9., 9

‘Sehoui Drive Car sz”@
Par
> %

i 2

Al Saints rd

=
a
A3g

d PHIDBPLGINOS

BEY.

E
= §

Pafkeide ¢4 Park

=

A
& D

7.16

717

7.18

7.19

7.20

7.21

7.22

2 ES
& <,
%, o %
“Chsy
stratford Ry b
8 h’v@, N Windioe Street CarPark. %\r, “ >
oa s a5 & L%
% & Ao, L
%a & rewnsadcareon 3 3
2 NCR §
@0 i Ncg 5
Name of Car Park Evening g p & = ré‘
v o &
New Road Car Park 13% 3, s, @&\\ %y & q v g
Z %
North Bromsgrove Car Park 3% & 6 Sy A w;
“ :
Parkside Car Park 18% & 3 DM Executive Private
= @& The cres Hire Alrport Transférs
Recreation Road South Car Park 22% & y /s P
i & # ¥
School Drive Car Park 19% & > S, &
St John Street Car Park 66% % ‘: i P
2, =
Stourbridge Road Car Park 3% % o oL
% Y 5 $ A
Windsor Street Car Park 47% " =N\ W < Arung,

‘St John Street car park’ and Windsor Street car park’ are consistently the car parks with the
highest utilisation into the evening. On the other hand, many of the other car parks are estimated
to be majorly under-utilised, with Stourbridge Road car park and North Bromsgrove car park
having just 3% estimated utilisation throughout the entire period.

Summary

Overall, the two short stay car parks (Windsor Street and St John Street) had the highest
utilisation, consistently of above 60% in the afternoon and the evening on average. For these
two car parks, the morning saw the lowest utilisation at 45% and 40% respectively, on average.

The car parks with the lowest utilisation on average during the morning hours was Stourbridge
Road, School Drive, and North Bromsgrove car parks which had 3%, 9%, and 14% utilisation
respectively, this follows similar themes shown in Table 5.

The car parks with the lowest utilisation on average during the afternoon hours was again
Stourbridge Road, School Drive, and North Bromsgrove car parks which had slightly higher
values than was recorded in the mornings at 6%, 22%, and 14%, respectively.

The car parks with the lowest utilisation on average during the morning hours was Stourbridge
Road and North Bromsgrove car parks which had only 3% utilisation each, respectively.

A key theme seen from the figures above is that the car parks with the lowest utilisation are all
located to the northeast of the town centre.

Change between Weekday and Weekend Occupancy

The graph in Figure 19 highlights the change between weekday and weekend average
occupancy values to see if there are any trends across the car parks.

Page 99




Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Figure 19: Change between weekday and weekend average occupancy

25%

20%
15%
10%
B

-5%

-10%
-15% . i .
New Road North Parkside Recreation| School St Johns Stourbridg  Windsor
Car Park Bromsgrov Car Park Road Car Road Car Car Park = G Road  Street Car
e Car Park Park Park Car Park Park
= 13% -3% -13% 22% 3% 5% 8% 22%

7.23  None of the publicly owned car parks have equal usage between the weekdays and weekends,
although School Drive and North Bromsgrove car parks have the smallest change between the
weekdays and the weekend.

7.24  This could be due to their proximity to the leisure centre which sees a large number of spaces
utilised on the evenings as highlighted earlier, and there would be a similar amount using the
leisure centre during the weekend when people aren’'t working, to go to the gym, attend
swimming lessons etc.

7.25 Three of the car parks have a difference of below 5% between the weekday and the weekend,
and these are School Road, North Bromsgrove, and St Johns car parks which have a change
of +3%, -3%, and +5% respectively.

7.26  The highest percentage change seen is on both Recreation Road and Windsor Street car parks
at 22% higher on the weekend than on a weekday. For Recreation Road specifically, this is due
to it being located adjacent to Asda supermarket and people typically tend to go food shopping
on a Saturday when they are not working.

7.27  For Windsor Street, utilisation is higher on the weekend due to its proximity to the town centre
and more people using the facilities of Bromsgrove town centre on the weekends.

Average Length of Stay per Car park

7.28 The average length of stay for each car park has been identified by finding the most common
amount of time purchased for each car park and seeing what amount of time that equates to for
the tariff. This is the most accurate way of calculating the value however an assumption that the
user of the car park stays for the whole amount of time purchased has been made to calculate
this.

Page 100



Agenda Iltem 7
\\’ waterman

Weekday
7.29 The graph in Figure 20 shows the Average Length of stay for an average weekday for each car
park.
Figure 20: Average length of stay for an average weekday.
__140
0
)]
5 120
=
\% 100
>
)
2 80
(]
<
5 60
&
-1 40
(3]
(@)
2 I I I I I
o
>
< 0
& &S S S & &
S 2 > S > 2 S 2
@) ) S O S S O @)
) <& aQ O O o O P
4 3 O 4 &F & &F @
& S 3 & \y ¥ < &
6\% Q° & o X @ <
< © > 3 © (\Q 60"0
& o % SHEIS
S ¢ N
éo Q’ £2)
Car park

7.30 As shown above, the average length of stay for a weekday was highest on Parkside car park,
School Drive car park and Stourbridge Road car park at 120 minutes (3 hours). The car parks
with the lowest average length of stay for a weekday were New Road, Recreation Road, and St
Johns car parks at 30 minutes in length.

Page 101



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Saturday
7.31  The graph in Figure 21 shows the Average Length of stay for a Saturday for each car park.
Figure 21: Average Length of stay for a Saturday.
200
3 180
2 160
= 140
E 120
2 100
(]
< 80
S 60
@ 40
g 2 i N N
S 0
< & & & & & & & &
L L RS R KL L A A
° o4 w° o i (¢4 <4 °
O @ R S L & o o
N <
Q€ q\o 2 Q° Q° 56(\ Q° BN
N S Q{& S S o © S
< © & ® © &
Q @ & N \
& & & L
eO <& 2
Car park

7.32  As shown above, the average length of stay for a Saturday was highest on Stourbridge Road
car park at 180 minutes (3 hours) and New Road car park & Windsor Street car park at 120
minutes (2 hours). The car parks with the lowest average length of stay for a Saturday were
Parkside Road, Recreation Road, and St Johns car parks at 30 minutes in length.

Page 102



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Sunday
7.33  The graph in Figure 22 shows the Average Length of stay on a Sunday for each car park.
Figure 22: Average Length of stay for a Sunday
__140
8
= 120
=
= 100
S
+ 80
2 60
o
g 40
-
o
%’ 0
& B F & &
S S S > S 3 3 S
O S O O S O O O
0@6 o& \be o(> o'bb *(\06 o P
<& S Q}\@ (\Q~ & Y <& &
¥ & < & ® & &
2 @ X N &
& & & <
® ¢ S
Car parks

7.34  As shown above, the average length of stay for a Sunday was highest on New Road car park,
North Bromsgrove car park, School Drive car park and Stourbridge Road car park at 120
minutes (2 hours). The car parks with the lowest average length of stay for a weekday were
Parkside Road, Recreation Road, and St Johns car parks at 30 minutes in length.

Overview

7.35 As highlighted above, the average length of stay for all transactions made on the payment apps
as well as the machine transactions was calculated through trip data provided by BDC.

7.36  Overall, New Road car park had longer stays recorded on both Saturday and Sunday at 120
minutes (3 hours) in length in comparison to an average stay of 30 minutes on a weekday.

7.37  North Bromsgrove car park had shorter stays recorded on a weekday as well as on a Saturday
with stays averaging 60 minutes (1 hour). This differs to Sunday in which the average stay was
120 minutes (2 hours).

7.38  On Saturday and Sunday, Parkside car park, Recreation Road car park and St Johns car park
all had average stays of 30 minutes. This remained the same for Recreation Road and St Johns
car park on Thursday with the average stay once again being 30 minutes. However, Parkside
car park slightly increased with an average stay of 60 minutes (1 hour).

7.39  School Road car park had stays of 120 minutes (2 hours) on both a weekday and Sunday. This
differs to Saturday which had an average stay recorded of 60 minutes (1 hour).

7.40  Stourbridge Road car park has the longest average stay on Saturday at 180 minutes (3 hours).
The average stay recorded on a weekday and Sunday was 120 minutes (2 hours) respectively.

Page 103



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

7.41  Finally, Windsor Street car park had the longest average stay on Saturday at 120 minutes (2
hours) in length. This is greater than the average stay recorded for a weekday and Sunday at
60 minutes (1 hour) in length.

7.42 Interestingly, the average length of stay recorded across most of the car parks over the three
surveyed dates were below 2 hours, with only Stourbridge Road on Saturday having an average
length of stay of 3 hours.

Length of Time Purchased by Car park

7.43  This section reviews the average length of time purchased for each car park for both machine
transactions as well as app and online transactions.

New Road

7.44  The graph in Figure 23 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for New Road car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.

Figure 23: Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for New Road Car
park

40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%

-l 1N

O

Weekday Saturday Sunday
m30 mins m60 mins 120 mins ® 180 mins mAll Day

7.45 For a weekday, 30% of all transactions on New Road Car park were for 30 minutes of parking.
28% and 23% was recorded for 60 minutes and 120 minutes of parking time, respectively.

7.46  The lowest percentage of transactions on a weekday was for 180 minutes at 7%. This is followed
by all day transactions which accounted for 12% of all transactions on New Road Car park on
a weekday.

7.47 On Saturday, the percentage of transactions for 30 minutes decreases in comparison to a
weekday to 22% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. The percentage of transactions for
120 minutes and 180 minutes is 30% each and is the greatest amount of time people choose
to park for. The lowest proportion of transactions was for stays of 180 minutes at 10% of all
transactions recorded on Saturday. There were no transactions recorded for stays greater than
3 hours on Saturday for New Road Car park.

Page 104



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

7.48 On Sunday, the lowest proportion of stays across all 3 surveyed days for 30 minutes was
recorded at being 17% of all transactions made on Sunday. The highest proportion of stays was
seen for 120 minutes with 36% of all transactions on Sunday being for this length of time. This
is followed by 60 minutes which has 35% of all transactions recorded. Overall, Sunday has a
larger proportion of people choosing to stay for up to an hour than any other day.

North Bromsgrove

7.49 The graph in Figure 24 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for North Bromsgrove car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.

Figure 24:Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for North Bromsgrove car

park
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
Weekday Saturday Sunday
m30 mins m60 mins 120 mins ®m 180 mins mAll Day

7.50 For a weekday, 51% of all transactions on North Bromsgrove car park were for 60 minutes of
parking times. 29% and 7% was recorded for 120 minutes and 180 minutes of parking time,
respectively. The lowest percentage of transactions on a weekday was for all day transactions
at 1%. This is followed by 30-minute stays which accounted for 12% of all transactions on North
Bromsgrove car park on a weekday.

7.51  On Saturday, the percentage of transactions for 30 minutes decreases in comparison to a
weekday to 6% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. The percentage of transactions for
120 minutes and 180 minutes is 36%, and 10%, respectively. The greatest proportion of
transactions was for stays of 60 minutes at 48% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. There
were no transactions recorded for stays greater than 3 hours on Saturday for North Bromsgrove
car park.

7.52 On Sunday, the lowest proportion of stays across all 3 surveyed days for 60 minutes was
recorded at being 36% of all transactions made on Sunday. The highest proportion of stays was
seen for stays of 120 minutes at 50% of all transactions made on Sunday. There are a small
proportion of stays between 2 and 3 hours in length which was recorded as 5% of all the
transactions recorded on Sunday. There were no transactions for stays longer than 3 hours
recorded.

Page 105



Agenda ltem 7

AX) waterman

Parkside
7.53 The graph in Figure 25 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for Parkside car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.
Figure 25: Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Parkside car park
45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
N I I
» H
Weekday Saturday Sunday
m30 mins m60 mins ®m120 mins ®m180 mins ®All Day
7.54  For a weekday, 27% of all transactions on Parkside car park were for 120 minutes of parking
times. 23% was recorded respectively for 30 minutes and 60 minutes of parking time. The lowest
percentage of transactions on a weekday was for transactions between 2 and 3 hours in length
at 13%. This is followed closely by all day transactions which accounted for 14% of all
transactions on Parkside car park on a weekday.
7.55 On Saturday, the percentage of transactions for 30 minutes increases in comparison to a
weekday to 29% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. The percentage of transactions for
120 minutes and 180 minutes is 24%, and 12%, respectively. The second greatest proportion
of transactions was for stays of 60 minutes at 28% of all transactions recorded on Saturday.
The proportion of all day stays accounted for 7% and was the lowest recorded overall.
7.56  Sunday recorded the highest proportion of all transactions for 30 minutes in length at 39% of all

transactions recorded on Sunday. The highest proportion of stays was seen for stays of 120
minutes at 25% of all transactions made on Sunday. There are a smaller proportion of stays
between 2 and 3 hours in length which was recorded as 23% of all the transactions recorded
on Sunday. The proportion of transactions for stays longer than 3 hours were recorded as being
4% of the total transactions recorded on Sunday.

Page 106



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

7.57

7.58

7.59

7.60

Recreation Road South

The graph in Figure 26 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for Recreation Road car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday. Recreation Road operates
slightly differently to all the other car parks in Bromsgrove with longer stay tariffs included on
this graph up to 14 hours (840 minutes) in length.
Figure 26: Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Recreation Road car
park
50%
45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0% I- — II _ -
Weekday Saturday Sunday
m30 mins ®60 mins =120 mins ® 180 mins m240 mins
300 mins m480 mins m660 mins ®840 mins
For a weekday, 41% of all transactions on Recreation Road car park were for 30 minutes of

parking times. 34% was recorded for 60 minutes of parking time. This is followed by 16% of
transactions on a weekday being for stays between 1 and 2 hours. Finally stays of between 2
and 3 hours were recorded as 5% of all transactions on as weekday. After this, transactions of
length between 4 and 14 hours were recorded as 4% of all transactions.

On Saturday, the percentage of transactions for 30 minutes increases in comparison to a
weekday to 38% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. The percentage of transactions for
120 minutes and 180 minutes is 18%, and 5%, respectively. The second greatest proportion of
transactions was for stays of 60 minutes at 35% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. Again,
as stated for the weekday transactions of length between 4 and 14 hours were recorded at 5%
of all transactions recorded on Saturday.

Sunday recorded the highest proportion of all transactions for 30 minutes in length at 45% of all
transactions recorded on Sunday. This is followed by stays of 60 minutes at 44% of all
transactions made on Sunday. There are a smaller proportion of stays between 1 and 2 hours
in length which was recorded as 8% of all the transactions recorded on Sunday. The proportion
of transactions for stays longer than 2 hours were recorded as being 4% of the total transactions
recorded on Sunday.

Page 107



Agenda Iltem 7
\\’ waterman

School Drive

7.61  The graph in Figure 27 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for School Drive car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.

Figure 27: Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for School Drive car
park
45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
N =
Weekday Saturday Sunday
m30 mins w60 mins ®120 mins ®180 mins ®AIl Day

7.62 For aweekday, 29% of all transactions on School Drive car park were for 120 minutes of parking
time. 15% and 22% was recorded respectively for 30 minutes and 60 minutes of parking time.
The second highest proportion of transactions were for 3 hours of parking time, this being 24%
of all transactions. All-day parking on a weekday is high here, being 9% of all transactions on a
weekday.

7.63 On Saturday, the percentage of transactions for 30 minutes increases in comparison to a
weekday to 23% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. This proportion is the same for stays
of 60 minutes in length. The percentage of transactions for 120 minutes and 180 minutes is the
highest at 29%. Parking stays of 180 minutes fall slightly in comparison to the weekday at 20%
of all transactions on Saturday. The proportion of all day parking stays accounted for 5% and
was the lowest recorded overall.

7.64  Sunday recorded the highest proportion of all transactions for 30 minutes in length, at 27% of
all transactions recorded. The highest proportion of stays was for 120 minutes at 41% of all
transactions. There was a smaller proportion of stays for 3 hours in length, which was recorded
as 5% of all the transactions recorded on the Sunday. The proportion of transactions for stays
longer than 3 hours were recorded as being only 3% of the total transactions recorded.

Page 108



Agenda Iltem 7
\\’ waterman

St John Street

7.65 The graph in Figure 28 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for St John Street car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.

Figure 28:Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for St John Street car park

60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
C B =
Weekday Saturday Sunday
m30 mins m60 mins m™120 mins =180 mins

7.66 For a weekday, 20% of all transactions on St John Street car park were for 120 minutes of
parking times. 40% and 31% was recorded respectively for 30 minutes and 60 minutes of
parking time. Stays of 180 minutes accounted for 8% of all weekday transactions.

7.67 On Saturday, the percentage of transactions for 30 minutes decreased in comparison to a
weekday, to 35% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. 33% of stays were for 60 minutes in
length. The percentage of transactions for 120 minutes and 180 minutes was at 23% and 9%,
respectively.

7.68 Sunday recorded the highest proportion of all transactions for 30 minutes in length, at 55% of
all transactions recorded. Stays of 1 hour made up 25% of all transactions on Sunday and stays
of 2 hours made up 16% of all transactions on Sunday. There was a small number of
transactions for 3 hour stays on Sunday at 4%.

Page 109



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Stourbridge Road

7.69 The graph in Figure 29 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for Stourbridge Road Car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.

Figure 29:Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Stourbridge Road Car

park
120%
100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
v N =~ I
Weekday Saturday Sunday
m30 mins ®60 mins 120 mins m 180 mins mAll Day

7.70  For a weekday, 9% of all transactions on Stourbridge Road Car park were for 30 and 60 minutes
of parking times, respectively. 27% was recorded respectively for stays of 120 minutes, 180
minutes, and all-day transactions.

7.71  Saturday has a much more varied picture in comparison to the weekday, with the highest
proportion of stays being for 3 hours at 46%. This is followed by stays of 2 hours in length at
22%. The lowest overall proportion of stays was for 30 minutes and 60 minutes at 4% and 9%,
respectively. All day stays made up around 18% of all transactions on Saturday.

7.72 Due to there being only a handful of customers using the car park on Sunday, customers only
stayed at the car park for a maximum of 2 hours, and there were no other lengths of time
purchased. This once again highlights the underutilised nature of this car park.

Page 110



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Windsor Street

7.73 The graph in Figure 30 indicates the percentage split for the length of time of all transactions
for Windsor Street car park for a weekday, Saturday, and Sunday.

Figure 30:Percentage split for the length of time of all transactions for Windsor Street car park

50%
45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0% f— [ | |
Weekday Saturday Sunday
® 30 mins m60 mins 120 mins ®180 mins

7.74  For a weekday, 43% of all transactions on Windsor Street car park were for 60 minutes of
parking times. The second highest recorded length of time purchase was for 2 hours at 29%.
26% was recorded for 30 minutes of parking time. Stays of 180 minutes account for 1% of all
weekday transactions.

7.75 On Saturday, the percentage of transactions for 30 minutes decreased in comparison to a
weekday to 24% of all transactions recorded on Saturday. 36% of stays were for 60 minutes in
length. The percentage of transactions for 120 minutes and 180 minutes were 37% and 4%,
respectively.

7.76  The highest proportion of stays on Sunday were stays of 60 minutes in length at 38% of users.
This is followed by stays of 120 minutes in length at 30%, and then stays of 30 minutes which
made up 28% of the total transactions recorded on the Sunday. Stays of 3 hours in length were
recorded to make up around 4% of the transactions recorded on Sunday.

Overview

7.77 Overall, most car parks that offer all day tariffs saw a low parking utilisation and higher
proportion of stays up to 3 hours in length. Therefore, BDC should consider whether there is a
benefit to increasing tariffs on shorter stays at the car parks and to look at changing the way the
tariffs work, to exclude more of the long stay tariffs.

7.78 On the Short Stay car parks at St John Street and Windsor Street, most stays were only up to
2 hours instead of the 3 hours which they are allowed at a maximum. Shorter stays were found
to be more popular on Sundays. This analysis can help to shape the pricing strategy to increase
revenue based on the current patterns of use of each car park.

7.79 Recreation Road South car park saw a high proportion of stays up to 2 hours and after that
time, the proportion of users of the car park is very low. Therefore, an adjustment of the tariffs
could be better suited to look at implementing an all-day tariff on the car park for people who
choose to stay more than 2 hours, to increase revenue.

Page 111



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

8.1

8.2

Pricing

Off Street Parking Tariffs

Parking charges across Bromsgrove are consistent, with most Long Stay car parks charging
the same tariff for users, the only exception being Recreation Road car park. This location has
an hourly tariff up to a stay of 5 hours in comparison to the other Long Stay car parks, which
only go up to a stay of 3 hours, before the user needs to pay for an all-day tariff. Short stay car
parking is consistent with the two Short Stay car parks charging the same tariff up to 3 hours.

A detailed breakdown of the tariffs charged across all car parks across Bromsgrove can be seen
in Table 6.

Table 6:Bromsgrove Public Off Street Car parking Tariffs

Car park 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 4 hours 5 hours All Day

Recreation

Road South £1 £2 £3 £4 £5 £8

North

£1 £2 £3 - - £6
Bromsgrove

Parkside £1 £2 £3 - - £6

Stourbridge

Road £1 £2 £3 - - £6

School Drive £1 £2 £3 - - £6

New Road £1 £2 £3 - - £6

St Johns Street
(Short Stay 3 £1.30 £2.50 £3.80 - - -
hours)

Windsor Street
(Short Stay 3 £1.30 £2.50 £3.80 - - -
hours)

Aston Fields

(Short Stay 2 Free
hours)

Sanders Park Free

Alvechurch Free

Catshill Free

Page 112



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Pricing as a demand tool

Research

8.3 From our analysis, current parking tariffs in BDC are reasonable, having regard to current
demand levels and a comparison with neighbouring towns. There is an opportunity to review
tariff levels, particularly if revenue raised is reinvested to improve the parking experience.

8.4 Available research by the British Parking Association’ and the Local Government Association?
suggests that space availability is more important than pricing. Car park charging is often
perceived, particularly amongst businesses, as being a key determinant for changes in footfall
levels in town and city centres. Over three-quarters of the business owners / workers
interviewed for research in 20153, suggested that car parking options have an impact on the
number of people coming into the town centre and therefore on their custom.

8.5 Most research concludes that the general availability of spaces is felt by visitors to be more
important than cost in their overall decision about visiting. This is understandable as parking
provision is only useful if customers can utilise appropriate parking at the right locations to suit
their needs.

8.6 Primarily, customers value the certainty of being able to park when and where they want to.
Whilst this does not always meet the objectives for the town, convenience is a quality for which
most people are willing to pay.

Tariff Recommendations

8.7 As a finite resource, parking in Bromsgrove town centre needs to be managed and tariffs are
one of the main ways of doing this, with an application of setting reasonable charges to the
following principles:

e Ensuring they are fair and reasonable for all user groups having regard to the needs of the
individual community.

e Manage turnover of spaces effectively
« Off-set the Council’s costs of operating the car parks.

e The need to generate revenue for investing in future physical and technological
improvements as highlighted earlier in this report, to ensure the continuous improvement
and sustainability of parking services. For example, is it appropriate and sustainable to
continue to offer free parking at some car parks and free evening/Sunday parking at others?

e Providing lower cost all day parking (where possible) for workers
e Preventing rail commuters from occupying bays that are needed for visitors and workers.

¢ Concessions should only be applied where there is a SMART objective for doing so and
where their impact can be tracked and measured to ensure that identified objectives are met.

' British Parking Association (2013) - Re-Think! Parking on the High Street: Guidance on Parking
Provision in Town and City Centres

2 Local Government Association (2020) - Revitalising town centres: a toolkit for councils

3 Welsh Government (2015) - Assessing the impact of car parking charges on town centre footfall

Page 113



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Evening Charging

8.8 From our investigations, free evening parking is only offered at some public car parks in
neighbouring authorities. Privately owned shopping centres always charge for evening and
Sunday parking, which would suggest that from their experience, reasonable charges do not
impact footfall. We have limited or no data to evidence occupancy of off-street car parks during
evenings and Sundays, therefore more surveys and consultation would be required to support
our options.

8.9 Based upon the data we have analysed, our experience of other similar locations and the fact
that charges are applied at nearby towns, it is not anticipated that the introduction of low and
reasonable charges during these periods would materially influence parking demand. Income
derived from evening and Sunday would help fund service improvements at the car parks and
additional capacity. Therefore, BDC should assess the introduction of evening charges at car
parks in the main settlements.

8.10 Based upon our analysis and experience elsewhere, if an evening and Sunday tariff of £1 per
visit was introduced by BDC throughout the district, this could result in a potential additional
income of c£200,000 per annum.

Free Parking in District or Local Centres

8.11  Whilst parking charges may deter some convenience retail customers where parking costs may
represent a much larger proportion of retail spend, if set at a fair level they could help ensure
that parking spaces in Bromsgrove town centre frequently turnover, thereby increasing overall
footfall.

8.12  This effect can sometimes also be achieved by utilising limited stay restrictions without charging
motorists, however the successful management and enforcement of car parks comes at a
financial cost that needs to be funded to be sustainable, usually by charging for these parking
visits. No parking provision is actually free, as costs must be funded, even if not by the motorist.
For example, at out-of-town retail parks, where free parking is often quoted as a major attraction,
these parking management costs are paid for by retail tenants via lease service charges. At a
time when local authority budgets are under immense pressure, it is increasingly important that
parking services are self-sufficient, whilst ensuring that parking continues to support local
businesses and communities. Implementing a reasonable charging policy can meet these
objectives. Free parking is currently available on car parks in Alvechurch, Catshill, Aston Fields
and Sanders Park.

8.13 A potential option is that charges are implemented, where possible, in Alvechurch car park, and
Aston Fields, due to their respective locations, and usage could benefit from a small charge. In
both locations, elected Members complained of the car parks being used for anti-social activities
or vehicles being left overnight. Having a charging regime would bring both car parks into the
patrol regime of CEOs, which would mean that usage would be regularly monitored. At Sanders
Park, because this location serves a recreation purpose and is not open 24 hours a day, it is
recommended to retain free parking here.

8.14 It is difficult to accurately forecast the potential revenue from introducing the charges on free
car parks as there is no usage data available, however we estimate that it would be more than
c£100,000 per annum.

Cleaner Vehicle Concessions

8.15 To encourage the use of lower emission vehicles, an option could be to freeze future tariff
increases for electric or low emission vehicles so that their use is incentivised.

Page 114



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

9. Future Growth & Trends

Overview

9.1 In this section, a review has been conducted to investigate future growth and potential trends;
this review focuses on trends in car parking provision and how this is being influenced by
changes in travel behaviour, as well as changing habits for shopping, working, education and
leisure.

9.2 Consideration has also been given in terms of the COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit implications
on retail growth and trends in town centres, which includes modal shift and a reduced retail
demand. This has been considered to determine the possible implications and demand for
future parking capacity.

Worcestershire County Council Local Plan Aims

9.3 As the local highway authority for Bromsgrove is Worcester County Council it is useful for an
insight into their objectives within their local plan and a summary of this can be seen below:

e To reduce the impacts of transport in Worcestershire on the local environment, by reducing
transport-related emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases, with the desired
outcomes of tackling climate change and reducing the impacts of transport on public health.

e To contribute towards better safety, security, health, and longer life expectancy in
Worcestershire, by reducing the risk of death, injury or iliness arising from transport and
promoting healthy modes of travel.

9.4 The key objectives outlined specifically for BDC as part of the Worcestershire Local Plan are:
e To enable and promote growth;
¢ To relieve congestion;
e To tackle air quality issues;
e To enhance transport network reliability and resilience.

9.5 Overall, there is a clear shift towards active travel and public transport, shifting people from
private car use. This could have an impact on the level of occupancy seen in car parks across
the district.

Public Transport Modal Shift

9.6 Car ownership and travel trends have been analysed as part of this study, and an analysis of
the ownership of cars across each respective ward can be seen overleaf in Figure 31.

Page 115



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Figure 31: Car Ownership by Ward

Average Across all wards
Avoncroft Ward

Rock Hill Ward

Charford Ward

Norton Ward

Sanders Park Ward
Sidemoor Ward

Barnt Green & Hopwood Ward
Alvechurch Village Ward
Alvechurch South Ward
Marlbrooke Ward

Lowes Hill Ward

Aston Fields Ward
Slideslow Ward
Tardebridge Ward

Lickey Hills Ward

Catshill South Ward
Catshill North Ward
Barnt Green & Hopwood Ward
Lickey Hills Ward

Cofton Ward

Wythall East Ward
Hollywood Ward

Drakes Cross Ward
Wythall West Ward
Rubery South Ward
Rubery North Ward
Bellbroughton and Romsley Ward
Perryfields Ward

Hagley West Ward
Hagley East Ward

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%
m No cars or vans in household m 1 car or van in household
m 2 cars or vans in household m 3 cars or vans in household

® 4 or more cars or vans in household

9.7 As can be seen above, some of the wards have around 36% of households owning 1 vehicle;
the wards with the largest percentage of households with one vehicle are Rubery South, Rubery
North, Sanders Park, Catshill North and Catshill South, at around 42%.

9.8 The percentage of households which own two vehicles is on average 39% with the following
wards having the greatest percentages - Cofton, Lickey Hills, Barnt Green and Hopwood Park
which all have 45.5% of households having 2 vehicles. Norton has the highest percentage at
46.5% of households owning 2 vehicles.

9.9 The number of households which own 3 or 4 vehicles is around 10% on average for 3 vehicles
and 4% on average for households which own 4 vehicles.

Page 116



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

9.10 Across all the data, an average has been created shown at the top of Figure 31. This shows
that across all wards the largest proportion of people own 2 cars/vans within a household at
39%, this is followed by 1 car/van per household at 36%. The lowest proportion overall was
households with 4 or more cars/vans at 4%. Therefore, most households own 2 cars or less at
86%, with only 14% of households across the district owning 2 or more vehicles.

9.11 Table 7 below highlights the number of Cars/Vans owned per household on a national scale.

Table 7:  National Car/Van Availability

Number of Cars/Vans per Household Percentage
No cars or vans in household 26%
1 car or van in household 42%
2 cars or vans in household 25%
3 cars or vans in household 6%
4 cars or vans in household 1%

9.12 The national average has been analysed in the above table which shows the most common is
to own 1 car/van per household nationally at 42%. Bromsgrove on average is lower than this by
6% at 36%. The proportion of households which do not own a vehicle across Bromsgrove is
significantly lower than the national average at 10% compared to the 26% stated above. In
comparison to this the number of households within Bromsgrove which own 4 or more vehicles
is similar to the national trend at 4% compared to the 1% above.

9.13  Given the high level of car ownership, significant modal shift is required to encourage more
people to use public transport.

Car Parking Usage

9.14  Traditionally, car parking in centres has been intended for retail, employment, and educational
uses. However, given changes in retail spending habits, the repopulation of centres (greater
residential development and changes to permitted development rights), and the strategic
purpose of centres over recent years, the use of centres is likely to have changed accordingly,
and therefore the purpose of car parking may also need to adapt to ensure that it meets the
needs of users.

9.15 A study in 2019* provides insight into retail changes on the high street due to the increase of
online purchasing, which may have an impact on the demand or town centre and high street
parking.

9.16  The report found that 10% of consumers would shop less in physical stores in the next 12
months. Figure 32 shows that the proportion of shopping occasions per month that occurred
online was equal to or less than using the high street. There still seems to be a future demand
for the high street for shopping, albeit this may also be affected by the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic.

4 Retail Economics and Womble Bond Dickinson (2019) - Digital Tipping Point Retail Report.

Page 117



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Figure 32: Shopping Occasions Per Month By Age

S

: - “

-_ -_
O

g “

o

n

Age 16-24 Age 25-34 Age 35-44 54 Age 55-64 Age 65+

@ High Street Shopping Centre @ Retail Park Online

9.17 The improvement in mobile data connectivity, such as expansion of 4G and new 5G networks,
as well as growth of online retailers such as Amazon, coupled with the grocery businesses’ (e.qg.
Tesco) gradual expansion into non-food items over the past 20 years, has had significant
consequences for physical shopping destinations, and the retail offer in centres, throughout the
UK.

9.18 In slow decline over the past 20 years, the massive expansion of online retail has led to even
lower levels of footfall across the high streets including impacting on retail parks and shopping
centres. Online sales have massively accelerated this decline in recent years.

9.19  If this continues it would mean that demand for car parking would reduce and a reduction in car
park capacity should follow to balance the costs of maintenance and operation. Valuable land
taken up by under-utilised car parks may be better used for other needs, such as employment
and housing development.

Projected Parking Demand 2024 to 2039

Growth Rates

9.20 The car parking supply in Bromsgrove town centre overall is currently adequate for the demand.
Traffic growth data from the TEMPRO tool has been applied to the surveyed data to project
future parking demand within the town centre. The growth in car ownership within Bromsgrove
has been applied, rather than trip end growth, as the projected growth is greater.

9.21 TEMPRO, the Trip End Model Presentation Program, is a tool designed to allow for detailed
analysis of pre-processed trip-end, journey mileage, car ownership and population/workforce
planning data from the DfT National Trip End Model (NTEM).

9.22 TEMPRO is the industry standard tool for estimating traffic growth, which is required when
assessing the traffic impact of a development on the local highway network (including car
parking demand).

9.23 Table 8 shows the predicted growth levels for Bromsgrove from TEMPRO based on the existing
town centre conditions.

Page 118



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Table 8:Predicted growth levels for Bromsgrove from TEMPRO

Day Years Between Average Trip Growth
Average Weekday 2024-2039 1.2069
Average Saturday 2024-2039 1.2123
Average Sunday 2024-2039 1.2182

Future Parking Occupancy Levels

9.24 Following the current parking occupancy analysis conducted in Table 5, the above growth
factors from the TEMPRO traffic growth tool have been applied to the levels seen from the initial
analysis, to give an approximate value for the occupancy of car parks within Bromsgrove town
centre in 2039. The future occupancy levels calculated can be seen below in Table 9.

¢ Red = Less than 30% Occupancy
o = 30% - 60% Occupancy

¢ Green = Greater than 60% Occupancy
Table 9: Average 2039 Occupancy by Car park

Weekday Average Saturday Average Sunday Average

Car park Occupancy Occupancy Occupancy

Morning Afternoon Evening Morning Afternoon Evening Morning Afternoon Evening

New Road
Car park

36% 56%

North
Bromsgrove
Car park

Parkside
Car park

Recreation
Road South 48% 39%
Car park

School
Drive Car 39% 30%
park

St John
Street Car
park

Stourbridge
Road Car
park

Windsor
Street Car
park

Page 119



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Summary of Future Growth

9.25 As discussed, from the findings of our growth analysis, the current level of parking provision is
deemed acceptable for the future growth year of 2039 in Bromsgrove town centre, with only St
John Street and Windsor Street car parks predicted to operate at capacity across both
weekdays and weekends.

9.26 Although Parkside and New Road Car parks are expected to be at a high utilisation level in
2039, should the demand be managed across the car parks which have spare capacity, by
using tools such as wayfinding or VMS (as discussed later in this report) the demand on these
car parks can be managed.

Future Requirement for Churchfields Car Park

9.27  Since 2022, the Churchfields multi-storey car park in Bromsgrove town centre has been closed
due to anti-social behaviour.

9.28 From analysis of existing parking demand through the utilisation figures shared by BDC, we
have ascertained that Bromsgrove town centre has adequate car parking provision both now,
and in the future, without the need to reopen Churchfields car park. This is because in
Bromsgrove town centre, only two short stay car parks (Windsor Street and St John Street)
have utilisation consistently of above 60%, and this is only in the afternoons and the evening.

9.29 Furthermore, as discussed in the section above, findings of TEMPRO traffic growth analysis
show that current level of parking provision is adequate even for the future growth year of 2039,
with only St John Street and Windsor Street car parks predicted to operate at capacity across
both weekdays and weekends. Although Parkside and New Road Car parks are expected to be
at a high utilisation level in 2039, should the demand be managed across the car parks which
have spare capacity, by using tools such as wayfinding or VMS (as discussed later in this report)
the demand on these car parks can be managed.

9.30 Therefore, it can be safely determined that Churchfields car park is no longer required. Existing
Bromsgrove town centre car parks can comfortably meet demand, both now and in 2039. It is
recommended that BDC explore disposal of the car park / land for regeneration purposes.

Future Requirement of Stourbridge Road Car Park

9.31  The car park with the lowest utilisation on average is Stourbridge Road car park which had less
than 20% utilisation, even at extreme peak times, and as low as under 5% utilisation at other
times. This underuse could be due to a variety of reasons, due to the poor relative condition of
the car park in terms of surfacing, lighting, or that it is located away from the town centre
shopping core.

9.32 The Strategic Review has identified that the site requires significant improvements in many
factors to bring it up to standard, however it is unlikely that improvements alone will increase
utilisation and therefore the investment would be unwise where enhancements could be better
made elsewhere.

9.33 Itis therefore recommended that BDC take the necessary steps to explore disposal of the site
so it they can be used for regeneration purposes. From the utilisation figures shared by BDC, it
is extremely unlikely that the disposal of the site will have a negative impact on parking capacity
at other sites. Although there will be a transfer of current users to other car parks across the
town centre, this is expected to be of such a low figure as to be unnoticeable.

Page 120



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

10. Redevelopment & Improvement to Public Parking Across
Bromsgrove Town Centre

Redevelopment Options

10.1  School Drive Car park requires significant improvements such as resurfacing and better lighting.
However, given the underutilisation of this car park and its prime location it is deemed ideal to
take some of the burden off other car parks with the recommended disposal of Churchfields car
park.

10.2  Another factor which could increase utilisation and therefore revenue on both North Bromsgrove
car park and School Drive is to address the free on street parking directly outside the leisure
centre, which is completely uncontrolled and can be seen below.

Photograph 14: School Drive On Street Parking

10.3 The above highlights the current on street parking provision which is used as free parking for
the leisure centre, to avoid the parking fee at North Bromsgrove car park. Therefore, this area
could be redesigned as a short-stay overspill of the North Bromsgrove car park, to ensure that
people use North Bromsgrove and School Drive car parks.

10.4  Furthermore, if the redevelopment of School Drive Car park should go ahead and given its
location to the Town Centre as well as other short stay car parks such as Windsor Street, this
should be considered as short stay parking given the high levels of utilisation seen across the
existing short term car parks, and therefore, extra capacity would be required in the future.

Page 121



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

10.5 To further assist the increase in levels of short stay parking within Bromsgrove town centre,
New Road could be converted to a short stay car park allowing BDC to increase parking
revenues due to the higher tariffs seen for short stay car parks.

10.6  Aston Fields car park has a low utilisation due to its inaccessibility and overall, this car park is
limited by the 2-hour limit on short stay, this causes the low utilisation levels seen and this
should be extended if the car park is retained.

10.7  The car park could have a small charge implemented which is lower than what Bromsgrove
Train Station car park charges, so it becomes a viable choice for people choosing to leave their
car at the train station when they commute.

EV Charging Spaces

10.8 Given the increase in take up of electric vehicles, there is a reasonable assumption to be made
that the car parks within Bromsgrove should have a suitable EV charging provision available.
Currently, only 6 car parks (50%) have EV charging available.

Charging Types
10.9 There are currently 3 broad types of charging station currently in use:

¢ Rapid are the fastest type, able to charge an EV to 80% in 20-40 minutes depending on
battery capacity and starting state of charge. These are mostly installed in motorway service
areas or similar facilities.

e Fast chargers are the most common in car parks and are available in two power capabilities
(7KW and 22kW). These can charge a compatible EV in 3-5 hours, or in 1-2 hours if both
vehicle and charger are compatible with the higher power.

e Slow charging units are rated at 3kW. Charging times vary on unit speed and vehicle.

10.10 As the technology develops other charger types will appear.

EV Charging

10.11 BDC should continue installing EV charging provision at the same rate as existing. This would
allow for the uptake in the use of electric vehicles to continue to increase overall.

Providing a Positive Parking Experience

10.12 The use of technology could improve the customer experience. This can be achieved by the
following:

Communication with Motorists and influencing behaviour

10.13 The data gathered from parking technology can be used to communicate with and inform
motorists, influencing their behaviour to help relieve congestion at peak periods. Effective use
of this opportunity would enable drivers to make informed choices about whether to drive or use
other forms of transport, when and where spaces are most likely to be available and the best
route to use.

10.14 If the information is provided, integrated information systems would also have the potential to
recommend alternative travel methods, encouraging the use of public transport for all or part of
journeys based on a combination of speed, convenience, and price.

Page 122



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

10.15 Forexample, systems could advise drivers travelling to Bromsgrove town centre that Recreation
Road car park is likely to be full and advise the use of an alternative car park or arrival, during
less busy periods. This information would help manage demand and ensure that where capacity
is an issue, all spaces are used as efficiently as possible throughout the day.

Acceptance of a variety of Payment Methods

10.16 The use of electronic payment methods (including contactless at the parking facility and
payment by app) are already of increasing importance and are already in use in the district.
Digitisation is essential to accommodate future car and transport advances.

10.17 Interms of immediate benefits, it would make it easier to create time-based permits and special
permits for specific functions, enabling the Council to tailor products to meet the needs of the
communities it serves. Creating convenient alternatives to cash is an essential pre-requisite for
any parking operator that aims to reduce or remove cash payment.

Pay by licence plate.

10.18 This can be used in several ways. At payment terminals (aka pay and display machines).
Requiring customers to enter their licence plate number when paying removes the need for
customers to return to their vehicles to place a ticket in the windscreen.

10.19 It enables monitoring of parking places by mobile ANPR and provides data on length of stay
and return rates. We understand that some of the existing pay and display machines have this
capability, but it is not currently used. Whilst initially, some car park users may be resistant to
typing in numbers, we would expect this to only be a short-term familiarity issues as these
systems are widely used successfully elsewhere (increasingly so when linked to ANPR
enforcement systems on privately operated car parks).

e Pay on Foot - An ANPR system would assist with vehicle identification (for example
with lost tickets, issues at exit etc) and with usage statistics.

e Pay by app - The licence plate is the vehicle identifier.

¢ Permits and long-term passes - When combined with ANPR, customers can use these
permits and passes seamlessly in pay on foot car parks; when combined with the new
payment terminals these can be used in short term car parks. Other long term ticket
types can also be created for specific types of users (e.g. commuter, tourist, rural
residents, carers) to support other council policies.

* Discounts and offers - Payment by licence plate simplifies the process of offering
discounts and validations, using an online system to manage the process of applying
a discount to the parking session.

Pay for time used rather than pay on arrival

10.20 As the current pay and display system requires payment on arrival, users are required to predict
their length of stay. In 2017 City of York Council and the local Business Improvement District
commissioned customer research, and one of the key findings of which was that 67% of
respondents expressed a preference for “pay on exit” systems as they were not certain of their
length of stay upon arrival.

10.21 There are alternative to pay on arrival that have been successfully implemented elsewhere.
Although pay on foot with barriers in larger or more strategically important car parks is not
currently used in Bromsgrove as most places it is restricted to multi-storey car parks, however

Page 123



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

barriered systems (sometimes linked to ANPR) are becoming more commonly used by local
authorities on larger surface car parks.

10.22 Pay on foot has the advantage that users must pay to leave, reducing the need to patrol and
issue PCNs (note that PCNs can still be relevant for those who park inappropriately, e.g. in Blue
Badge bays).

10.23 As this is an engineered system, it can fail, therefore appropriate maintenance and support
contracts would be required to manage any breakdowns. On larger surface car parks where,
adjoining properties have rights of access, RFID passes would have to be supplied to allow
these rights to continue. Alternatively, if ANPR is installed, licence plate details for rightsholders
can be stored to provide access automatically.

Case Study — Cheshire West and Chester

Cheshire West and Chester Council (CWCC) operates both on and off-street parking within its boundary.
It had historically operated its off-streetcar park using pay and display except for one car park in Chester
which had pay and display on some floors and pay on exit on the remainder. Due to issues with the pay
on exit system, CWCC considered options for its replacement and the potential to extend the system to
other car parks in Chester. This was for several reasons including:

¢ Improving compliance rates at off street car parks — enforcement resources had been prioritised
to on street to ensure statutory obligations were complied with.

e To improve payment options. Existing machines accepted only coins and no change was given.

e To provide functionality for the introduction of concession arrangements with local businesses
A WPS Pay on Foot and ANPR (licence plate recognition) system was subsequently installed
at 7 of its car parks in Chester and new pay and display machines at other which now allow
contactless payment and provide change for cash payment. Functionality includes: -

¢ Recognition of season ticket/pre-payment card holders with barriers raising automatically

e CWCC resident Blue Badge Holders Park free for up to 4 hours using a chip system applied to
the badge which the pay on foot system recognises.

¢ A system to manage free parking for specific users such as visitors to surgeries. A custom-built
Ticket Entry Terminal in each entry lane enabling visitors to choose between concession
parking and public parking. If a concession ticket is chosen the system automatically analyses
the parking status and provides visitors with a ‘concession parking available’ ticket (to be
validated within the concession

¢ A web-based application that allows business to pay towards or for its customers’ parking.

¢ An intercom system linked to the Council’s car park management office during operational
hours. Outside these periods, issues are managed by the CWCC’s main CCTV control room.

+ Aflexible WPS maintenance contract, supported by front line maintenance from CWCC officers
if required.

Since installation, revenue has increased significantly with the capital costs being recouped within 12
months. The system has allowed CWCC to focus more resources on enforcing on-street parking
contraventions to keep traffic moving in the city. As reasonable provision was made for customer support
and equipment maintenance there have been no material issues with system reliability.

Page 124



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

The Case for Cashless

10.24 For the customer, the need to carry change for cash payments can be inconvenient. Where
coins are accepted, the Council currently needs to securely collect and process the income at
a cost to the authority. There is also the risk of break-ins to payment machines with a potential
loss of income. Reducing the number of coins collected by the authority would decrease the
cost of processing this income and reduce the potential for theft. However, while reducing the
number of parking payment machines could lead to revenue savings on maintenance, saving
on the collection and processing costs would only be achieved if the actual proportion of coins
coming through the system is reduced.

10.25 Despite new payment choices, previous research® shows that many customers remain keen to
use cash. However, contactless cards are changing the way customers pay for other products
and services, and it may be time to use this as a way of removing cash from parking. Customers
expect to be able to pay for services as seamlessly as possible, using new technologies where
appropriate, and want a quick and effortless service.

10.26 The rationale is clear for moving to card only payment, removing the risk of theft and vandalism
through the removal of cash storage in car park pay machines. However, experience to date
suggests that other Councils have elected to retain the option to pay by cash in one form or
other. While not a statutory requirement, retaining the option to pay in cash is often retained has
been justified to encourage people to visit and support local business, to accommodate
disadvantage and address equality concerns.

Summary

10.27 BDC should aim to become cashless. An increase in customers using credit/debit card is
anticipated once all pay and display machines have contactless available. In car parks with
multiple terminals, the Council should consider replacing some of their machines with cashless
only terminals to encourage the use of credit/debit card transactions.

10.28 A marketing campaign highlighting the availability and convenience of card payments should
also be proposed by BDC to increase awareness and increase cashless uptake. As cashless
usage increases the Council would be able to opt to convert more machines to contactless only.

5 Link (2024) — Access to Cash Review

Page 125



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

11. Future Trends Summary

Parking and the Net Zero Carbon Agenda

11.1  In 2019, the UK Government and the devolved administrations committed to the Net Zero target
as recommended by the Climate Change Committee. Reaching net-zero greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions requires extensive changes across the economy, but the foundations are in
place. Major infrastructure decisions need to be made soon and quickly implemented. These
changes are unprecedented in their overall scale, but large-scale transitions have been
achieved successfully in the UK before, such as the natural gas switchover in the 1970s or the
switch to digital broadcasting in the 2000s.

11.2  Achieving the long-term goal of a zero-carbon economy would call for many far-reaching and
structural changes to how we live and how we travel. The type of vehicles we drive, how many
of us would own them and where we work are significant factors in the overall picture.

11.3 In the shorter term, there is a need to improve multi-modal access to town centres, offices,
hospitals, and public services. For the foreseeable future, privately owned cars would remain a
predominant mode of transport. Improving access in a zero-carbon economy means finding
ways to accommodate cars while minimising the environmental impact and providing maximum
flexibility for the future.

11.4  As covered above, in that greater provision of charging infrastructure should be provided, but
also that the need for cars should be reduced by making Smarter Choices such as active travel
(i.e. walking, cycling and public transport) the easiest option. To this effect, new developments
should be car-free or have restricted on-site parking or be situated within controlled parking
zones and have adequate cycle facilities.

Future Trends and Mobility Summary

11.5 This section has reviewed future growth and potential trends such as car parking provision,
changes in travel behaviour and changing habits for retail.

11.6  The prominence of buses in the Bromsgrove, which serve communities with low car ownership,
as well as being the only public transport mode to some of the centres, means that bus usage
would remain stable.

11.7  The combination of recent changes in retail spending habits, accelerated through factors such
as the increase in online retail and the pandemic as well as the repopulation of centres, through
greater residential development and changes to permitted development rights, means that the
use of centres is likely to have changed accordingly. Some of these changes could significantly
reduce the longer-term demand on high streets and shopping centres, resulting in less car
parking being required. The purpose of car parking may also need to adapt to ensure that it
meets the needs of users, including availability of secure freight or coach parking.

11.8 It has also found that when looking at attitudes of parking users that expenditure is not a major
consideration for the average car owner, yet location, convenience and the sized bays are high
priorities. Any cost-related considerations more so relate to payment preferences that have
shifted due to a change in public attitudes to app-based platforms away from handling cash and
touching buttons or screens.

11.9  Public car parks in centres are likely to be impacted by future development and growth through
the Bromsgrove Local Plan. Targets to meet the future under-supply of housing and
employment land need may bring pressure on under-utilised car parks to be disposed of to
provide residential development opportunities or accessible investment sites in centres. Car

Page 126



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

parks that are under occupied within strategic centres and town centres provide an opportunity
for employment sites, as they are accessible and have a large surface area, making them ideal.
They are also quicker to deliver on such sites. Indeed, some authorities are currently carrying
out reviews of the potential for development within strategic centres, including housing
development beyond existing housing allocations and commitments.

Signage Across Bromsgrove

11.10 Across all the local centres and wards across Bromsgrove where public parking is available,
clear signage should be provided to make drivers aware of all the options available to them.
This is due to there being a direct link between a town centre economy and how easy the town
centre is to access for all modes of transport. Ideally a town centre should be walking distance
to all major transport hubs such as car parks, bus stations, and rail stations. Whilst Bromsgrove
has a rail station it is located over one mile away from the town centre.

Bromsgrove Town Centre

11.11 The only reliable method of allowing visitors to make this decision is through signage. There is
currently only a handful of car parking signs within the town centre and the quality is considered
poor. There is very little information included with virtually all signs simple stating a direction
where parking is available. This isn’t sufficient to create an efficient town centre parking
experience and is likely to result in certain car parks being used regardless of the intended
location.

11.12 Another key feature for accessing the town centre is how straight forward and clear signage is
for visitors from their transport mode to the destination. The success of good car park directional
signage for vehicles would be completely undone if the subsequent signage directing visitors
from the car park to their destination is poor. Therefore, wayfinding is used to support directional
signage.

11.13 This is most commonly signed through use of finger posts with key destinations such as town
centre, toilets, bus/rail station, and others being signed in the direction of travel. These can be
supported through simple and complex monolith signs that can include maps and key
information. These can also be modern day tourist information systems.

11.14 The location and number of way-finding signs is as important as vehicular signs. It should be
possible for a visitor to have no understanding of a town centre, to make their way from a car
park to their destination without any confusion.

11.15 This is important as it may steer people towards car pars with lower utilisation instead of parking
at busier car parks simply by making them aware that they are there.

11.16 There are four types of car parking signage that have been considered as part of this signage
review. These are:

« Strategic car parking signage that provides car parking directional information for a
number of car parks or parking locations in the town centre.

e Car park advanced directional signage that provides directional information for a few
car parks in an area such as Parkside and Recreation Road South.

e Providing advanced directional signage to Aston Fields Car park when travelling
towards the train station.

e Car park Variable Message Signs that provide car parking directional information
across the town centre.

Page 127



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

¢ Specific car park sign that can be static or Variable Message Sign for individual car
park

* Direct traffic towards Sanders Park as a leisure destination

11.17 Figures 35 and 36 below show examples of these signs.

Figure 33: Directional Car park Sign Example Figure 34: Directional Car park Sign Example

E Short stay Town centre

ﬁ o &= Short stay
P Long stay ==p

11.18 The examples above highlight how simple directional signs can have great effectiveness in
shaping the direction in which people choose to travel and is a crucial factor to help redistribute
the occupancy of car parks across Bromsgrove Town Centre.

11.19 To achieve the most effectiveness, the signs should be positioned in the following places shown
on Figure 37.

Page 128



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Figure 35: Location of Strategic Car park Signage In Bromsgrove Town Centre
= [3%]
(o0]

9‘ LOWES HILL

b
w
— o0
v 9 "
4?.
oa@%b Bromsgrove sratfory Ry 9
Ste,
%
v
o Fing
&ty Cb /l/
RS v ) %

%3‘\%.‘.

7 Charford . 9

Location of Strategic Car
parking Signage

Variable Message Signs (VMS)

11.20 A Variable Message Sign (VMS) is classified as “a device capable of displaying, at different

times, two or more aspects.” These aspects may take the form of a sign prescribed by the
TSRGD 2016.

11.21 A VMS is one of the most effective methods of providing key clear concise information to
drivers as they travel to their destination. Car park guidance VMS provides car park
information such as the number of spaces available within a car park. VMS can use both
forms such as a free text sign displaying “Car Park A Full, Please Use Car Park B.”

11.22 Bromsgrove town centre is compact which makes locating VMS more straightforward.

Potential locations where variable message signage could be installed can be seen overleaf in
Figure 38.

Page 129



AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

11.23

11.24

11.25

Figure 36: Potential Locations of Variable message signage
:rr' é{‘ T
3 z
L ¢§
&
Q «
. g
S, g
< e y
? &
= B
& e
i Bi e 5 A
1 = & S G e
By & & & @ =
= & & &5 i
c < < Pl
Yo, S
2 TSk o
3 i
= £ s o2y,
< & S
2 o @
%, o B
e e
',"_. St
%5 F O =
Dern, ° G »
8ty I3 o 0_\'« v
L b
ld% &\x ﬁ“’n\_ "oy .
2, i <
% &
®, &
P
Pl e |
L ‘}\\-:- ‘e\' ?-
; e i By S ¥
& 2 i, 3 % (ﬂj f:-
5 iy o o
—'.:‘r:;._fr ! o ~ A
fes :
9 i Potential Location of Variable
Message Signage
A,

The locations highlighted above have been chosen due to being the key access roads into
Bromsgrove town centre and would give drivers plenty of time to decide on where is best to
park, the VMS sign states that their favoured car park is full.

Alvechurch and Catshill

Given that Alvechurch only has one publicly owned off-street car park, some advanced signage
on key roads entering would benefit the town, especially for users who do not park there
regularly. Requirements for Catshill are similar, however Catshill would also benefit from
implementing VMS which details the EV charging that is available on its car park.

The suggested location of VMS for Catshill car park can be seen overleaf in Figure 39.

Page 130



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

Figure 37: Approximate Suggested Location for Parking Signage In Catshill
= SUUITA R
S g Q-‘/D
g c &
X~ = Obna'I.R” coelles,
o = I
@ 8 Q >~
T
k7 $°
& &
2 3
“
o S L
C4, < om Rd
/"o/s’)/
Bracke,,o K ¢
o ? @
\(\ng(‘.\.\p o ) Q}b
Springs Ave & S
% & >
% % Y
9,& £
S Q &
% g o &V
B 3] & x b"o
2 2 = 3 $
et = = $ n LS
3 ) ) =z
e = & 2
> [T o ke
(]
~ —
“rch R4
- o
: 9 3
o B4185 R &
Barl
, plaLeY Moy, , é\g
g Ba, i
Tl
L) &
. . B £
9 Location of Strategic Car = By =
. . T
parking Signage o Wity
Q Location Of Car park
)

11.26 The suggested location of VMS for Alvechurch Car park can be seen overleaf in Figure 40

Page 131



AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

Figure 38: Approximate Suggested Location for Parking Signage In Alvechurch
(=)
b ?nr
@69‘? %
~ %
5 o)
<
Oj,” A .
% 3,,
p
,)C'/ o
/S, -
o'lhng@
N ¢y _ gl 2 N
S Q "
& 7
oS 8 o W
Tany?
o
7 Ave 5,
0 > 3
GRUNZ \»\\\\6‘ 9
§ \1
\N_{M\)ed\’“ <o pe? Ra for égé
\!
X
X
. g 1,
2, o )
Yo Y oD & 9
2 Qs &
3 2 v w
% % & 5
-3 "2» & E)
£ @
Location of Strategic Car

parking Signage

© OF

Location Of Car park

Page 132




Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

12. Conclusion and Recommendations

12.1  This Strategic Review has reviewed the supply and demand for parking in Bromsgrove town
centre and the surrounding areas both now and in the future.

12.2  Committed development in the pipeline could affect the number of parking spaces that are
occupied. There is a need to achieve the best balance between the sometimes-conflicting
requirements of a parking strategy, i.e. its role in supporting the town centre economy, the public
realm, income to BDC and other operators, traffic congestion and the objective to encourage
sustainable transport and development. In developing a future parking strategy there is a need
to avoid causing unintended consequences.

12.3 There is a significant amount of parking in the town centre, of a similar scale to comparator
towns of similar populations. Public transport plays a limited role in the movement of people to
and from the town centre, in comparison with many other towns that have better bus services.
Therefore, Bromsgrove is relatively car-dominated.

12.4  The charging tariff utilised in Bromsgrove town centre is well balanced with short stay parking
available in all public car parks and long stay in all but one. The parking charges are consistent
with similar towns and, the condition of the public car parks is good, but some potential
improvements have been identified.

12.5 The surveys and ticket sales show that Saturdays are significantly busier than weekdays, except
in a few car parks that are popular with commuters and season ticket holders during the week
(i.e. Parkside).

12.6  We have considered the results of our analysis and have highlighted the five most crucial
aspects of the study that BDC should progress further. These aspects are detailed below:

e Improve car park directional signage to town centre car parks and associated way-
finding signage to direct visitors to nearby facilities in the town centre.

e Investigate a nighttime car parking tariff that can be used as a basis to advertise the
nighttime offer in Bromsgrove and encourage the evening economy.

¢ Consider improvements to town centre car parks, which could be generated by
increasing parking tariffs as the benchmarking exercise suggests there is scope for
an increase. This would support improvements to the town centre overall and an
increase in the town centre offering.

¢ Invest in redeveloping School Drive car park to make it more attractive to people
wishing to use the car park.

¢ Place yellow lining on the on-street parking outside of the leisure Centre to encourage
people to use the paid parking there instead of parking for free.

e Aim to get more people to pay for parking charges by using card payments or by the
app, with the long-term aim to go cashless, to reduce costs for BDC as well as making
sure that all transactions are secure.

12.7 Detailed recommendations for each car park can be seen in Table 10.

Page 133



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Table 10:  Summary of Recommendations

Car park Recommendations

e Consider implementing an evening charge

¢ Consider installing an ANPR system to manage ticketing in the car

New Road car park park

e Consider the possibility of making New Road a short stay car park to
take some of the strain off existing short stay car parks

¢ Installation of 5mph speed limit signs to make the car park safer for
pedestrians

¢ Consider implementing an evening charge

North Bromsgrove car park ¢ Consider installing yellow lining along school drive to prevent drivers
from parking in the free on street bays adjacent from the charged car
parks

e Consider installing an ANPR system to manage ticketing in the car
park

¢ Consider implementing an evening charge

Parkside car park e Consider installing an ANPR system to manage ticketing in the car
park

¢ Consider the installation of EV charging spaces

e Consider introducing an all day tariff for stays of over 3 hours
. e Consider implementing an evening charge

Recreation Road South car

park e Consider installing an ANPR system to manage ticketing in the car
park

e Consider installation of motorcycle & bicycle parking
¢ Renovate the lining and surfacing in the car park
e Installation of EV charging spaces

e Consider the possibility of converting part/all the car park to a short

School Drive car park stay to take some of the strain off existing short stay car parks.
e Installation of high-quality signage to guide people to the car park

e Consider installing an ANPR system to manage ticketing in the car
park

e Consider the installation of EV charging spaces

St John Street car park e Consider installation of motorcycle & bicycle parking
e Consider installing an ANPR system to manage ticketing in the car
park
Stourbridge Road car park e Consider disposing of this car park site due to low utilisation and high

renovation costs

¢ Installation of high-quality signage to guide people to other town

Windsor Street car park centre car parks to ease capacity issues

¢ Consider installing an ANPR system to manage ticketing in the car
park

Page 134



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

¢ Consider removing the short stay restrictions

Aston Fields car park . o . o . .
¢ Consider bringing in charging which is competitive with Bromsgrove

Train Station Car Park

Sanders Park car park  Consider installation of motorcycle & bicycle parking

¢ Consider the viability of bringing in a small charging regime for the
car park

¢ Installation of 5mph speed limit signs to make the car park safer for

Alvechurch car park )
pedestrians

e Consider installation of motorcycle & bicycle parking
¢ Installation of high-quality signage to guide people to the car park

¢ Consider the viability of bringing in a small charging regime for the
Catshill car park car park

e Installation of high-quality signage to guide people to the car park

12.8 As a finite resource, parking in Bromsgrove town centre needs to be managed and tariffs are
one of the main ways of doing this, with an application of setting reasonable charges. There is
a need to generate revenue for investing in future physical and technological improvements, to
ensure the continuous improvement and sustainability of parking services. Based upon the data
we have analysed, our experience of other similar locations and the fact that charges are applied
at nearby towns, it is not anticipated that the introduction of low and reasonable charges during
these periods would materially influence parking demand. Income derived from evening and
Sunday would help fund service improvements at the car parks and additional capacity.
Therefore, BDC should assess the introduction of evening charges at car parks in the main
settlements.

12.9 Based upon our analysis and experience elsewhere, if an evening and Sunday tariff of £1 per
visit was introduced by BDC throughout the district, this could result in a potential additional
income of c£200,000 per annum. A potential option is that charges are implemented, where
possible, in Alvechurch car park, and Aston Fields, due to their respective locations, and usage
could benefit from a small charge. In both locations, elected Members complained of the car
parks being used for anti-social activities or vehicles being left overnight. Having a charging
regime would bring both car parks into the patrol regime of CEOs, which would mean that usage
would be regularly monitored. It is difficult to accurately forecast the potential revenue from
introducing the charges on free car parks as there is no usage data available, however we
estimate that it would be more than c£100,000 per annum.

12.10 From analysis of existing parking demand through the utilisation figures shared by BDC, we
have ascertained that Bromsgrove town centre has adequate car parking provision both now,
and in the future, without the need to reopen Churchfields car park. This is because in
Bromsgrove town centre, only two short stay car parks (Windsor Street and St John Street)
have utilisation consistently of above 60%, and this is only in the afternoons and the evening.

12.11 Furthermore, as discussed earlier in the report, findings of TEMPRO growth analysis show that
current level of parking provision is adequate even for the future growth year of 2039, with only
St John Street and Windsor Street car parks predicted to operate at capacity across both
weekdays and weekends.

12.12 Although Parkside and New Road Car parks are expected to be at a high utilisation level in
2039, should the demand be managed across the car parks which have spare capacity, by

Page 135



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

using tools such as wayfinding or VMS (as discussed later in this report) the demand on these
car parks can be managed.

12.13 Therefore, it can be safely determined that Churchfields car park is no longer required. Existing
Bromsgrove town centre car parks can comfortably meet demand, both now and in 2039. It is
recommended that BDC explore decommissioning the site so that the land can be disposed of
for regeneration purposes.

Page 136



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

We are Waterman, where every project matters

We deliver progressive, sustainability-driven environmental and engineering consultancy services across
every sector. We think differently, and we’re harnessing our collective expertise to deliver greener, healthier
and well-connected communities, networks and built environments.

Based in strategic locations throughout the UK and Ireland, our team of specialists is at the forefront of
tackling the climate emergency and forging a path to a Net Zero built environment.

UK & Ireland Office Locations

Glasgow

........ Newcastle

Manchester  c.eeeeee.

....... Nottingham
Birmingham
---------- Chelmsford
. . 0000 s London
MStOl  wevvveesceerneniiieeerc i e Redhill

Southampton

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 7

Bromsgrove Strategic Parking Review

Part Two: Car Park Management Review

2 August 2024

Waterman Infrastructure & Environment Ltd

5th Floor, One Cornwall Street, Birmingham B3 2DX
www.watermangroup.com

Page 139



Agenda Iltem 7
\\’ waterman

Client Name: Bromsgrove District Council
Document Reference: 20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002
Project Number: WIE20771

Quality Assurance — Approval Status

This document has been prepared and checked in accordance with
Waterman Group’s IMS (BS EN ISO 9001: 2015, BS EN ISO 14001: 2015 and BS EN I1SO 45001:2018)

Revision Status Date Prepared by Checked by Approved by

PO1 S3 02/08/2024  Oliver Truelove James Picton David Whalley
Undergraduate Senior Transport Associate Director
Transport Planner Planner

Co1 S4 07/10/2024  Jack Wellings James Picton Richard White
Consultant Senior Transport Associate Director

Planner

Co1 S5 13/01/2025 Connor Webb Jack Wellings Richard White

Undergraduate Transport Consultant ~ Associate Director

Transport Planner

Comments

Final Issue following client comments

Revision Status

Pnn  Preliminary (shared; non-contractual) S1 Coordination

Cnn Contractual S2 Information
S3 Review & Comment
S4 Review & Authorise

S5 Review & Acceptance
A1, An uthorised & Accepted (n=work stage if applicable)
plgage 146



Agenda ltem 7

Disclaimer

This report has been prepared by Waterman Infrastructure & Environment Ltd, with all reasonable skill, care, and
diligence within the terms of the Contract with the client, incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of
Business and taking account of the resources devoted to us by agreement with the client.

We disclaim any responsibility to the client and others in respect of any matters outside the scope of the above.

This report is confidential to the client, and we accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to third parties to whom
this report, or any part thereof, is made known. Any such party relies on the report at its own risk.

Page 141



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Contents
EXECULIVE SUMMAIY.....eeiieiiiii st e e e e s e s mnm e e e e s sa e nmn e e e e e s sa s nmmnnneeesannan 1
I {111 o o LW T T o 3
I TS = 1 S 3
= o3 (0 | 0T Lo 3
=T oo B o Ty 4= | SR 4
2. Car Park Management Approach COMPAriSONS ........ccccuerurrrrrssmmerisssresssssnre s ssse s s smne s s smnessssssnees 5
[Tz Lo NG =Y | Lo 1] SRR 5
L o | 3 =T oo T 6
Cheshire West & Chester ... ... . ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e neneeeeaaeeean 7
3. Review of Existing Car Parking ProviSion ... 9
T oo [ T 4o T o SRR 9
Off-Street Car Parking ENfOrCEMENT...........viiiiiiiiiceee e e e s e e e an 9
Car Park User PreferEnCes. ... ... . o oottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeas 11
SUMMIAIY ...ttt e ettt e e e et et e e eeeeeeesateaaeeeeaaeeaasassssaeeaeeesesanssaseeaeeeeanasssseanaaaeeesaasnreneeeas 12
4. Meeting Future Car Parking Needs ... s 14
5. Analysis of Existing Payment Patterns ... 17
oo [ T 4o T o S 17
PaymeENt Patterns ... nnnnn 17
6. Car Park Management Options ApPPraisal.........ccccucirrrrrimrerisnseme e s smr e s smme s 19
oo [ T 4o T o S 19
Recommendation of Preferred Option for Car Park Management ............ccocceiiiiiiin e, 23
7. Costs and ROI of Preferred Car Park Management Option...........ccccooommiiiiiicccsnmes e 24
g1 oo [8 e o o EU PSP PUPPR PP 24
Cost Of aN ANPR SYSIEIM ..ot rb e e e s abee e e aee 24
Legal Framework to Implement an ANPR SyStem ...........ooiiiiiiii e 24
Return on Investment (ROI) of an ANPR SYStE€M .........cooiiiiiiiiii e 27
Recommended Locations for ANPR SYSIEMS .........uiiiiiiiiiiiie e 27
T TeTo] g oI R 0 01 £ SRR 27
INSEAllAtioN & SIGNAGE .....eeiiieiiiie ettt et e e 28
SUMMIAIY ...ttt e e ettt e e e e e et et e e e e e e e saateeaeeeeaaeaaasastsseeeaeeesesnsssaeeeeeeeaaasssssaeaaaeessaassreneeeas 29
8. Summary and Recommendations........ccccocirriiimiiminnirr s 30
Figures
Figure 1: BromSQgroVe WAIGS .......uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee et snnsnnnsnsnnsnsnnnnnnnnnnn 3
Figure 2: Bromsgrove Parking Locations Enforced by Bromsgrove District Council............ccccceceennnnne 9
Figure 3: Bromsgrove Town Centre Enforcement Notices Issued 22/04/24 — 28/04/24 ...................... 10
Figure 4:  Committed Developments in relation to Car Parks in Bromsgrove Town Centre................... 14
Figure 5: =Y 1= A Y/ o 18

ontent
Bromsgrov?ég%ij-a;king Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Tables

Table 1: Car Park Enforcement 22/04/24 — 28/04/24 .............ueoi oot 10
Table 2: Benefits of Parking in €ach Car Park.............ooociiiiiiiiiii e 12
Table 3: Previous Three Years Housing DElIVEIY...........uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiii s 15
Table 4: Percentage of Revenue by Method ...........oooiiiiiiiiiiii e 17
Table 5: Income from Parking Charges.........ccuviiiiiiiiiiicceeee ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ennnes 28

Content
Bromsgrovel:gﬂrgegiiis«ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Executive Summary

This report covers Part Two of the Strategic Review of Car Parking in Bromsgrove. As part of this
report, we have reviewed car park management arrangements with solutions identified to reduce
the need for off-street parking enforcement including an outline of costs, together with operational
and enforcement issues. We have also recommended time of day restrictions to address existing
parking issues and assess enforcement requirements for identified parking management design
options.

During our review, we have considered how Bromsgrove District Council’s car parks are currently
being managed. This is particularly timely given the town has undergone changes in land use and
shopping behaviour over recent years which has impacted upon the popularity and functions of the
town centre. Retail developments and regeneration projects in Bromsgrove have impacted on the
demand for travel and the popularity of different parking areas, so there is a need to review whether
the current parking provision is meeting the needs of the town, both at present and in the future.
Currently, all car parks are within reasonable walking distance of most of the town centre, and that
residents and visitors have a good range of existing provision to choose from.

The report includes a review of existing car park management strategies in Bromsgrove town centre
compared to local authority areas with a similar demographic on social and economic needs. These
have been assessed using factors such as existing conditions and enforcement methods. In
comparing the effectiveness of different parking management approaches, lessons learned have
been established from other areas, and the report determines how these approaches can be
adopted by Bromsgrove to meet future needs.

Our proposed management approach recommends that parking enforcement should remain a
sufficient deterrent to encourage motorists to comply with the regulations, however the primary
purpose of penalty charge notices (PCNs) should only be to encourage compliance with parking
restrictions in Bromsgrove, and not for the purposes of revenue generating. Rather, by further
improving the parking offer, through offering cashless parking in all Bromsgrove town centre car
parks for example, efficiencies can be found which in turn could increase revenue. The main
efficiency would come with a potential reduction in the need for Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO)
presence in Bromsgrove town centre, if for example the parking infrastructure at certain sites
changed to embrace innovative enforcement methods. Also, use of new and existing technologies
can enhance the user experience, in making parking easier and providing different ways to pay.
There is also the potential to reduce back-office administration and allow for an improved offer
relative to season tickets and contract parking.

An analysis of the impacts of future developments on Bromsgrove town centre car parking shows
that there are several new residential developments which could influence traffic flow within
Bromsgrove town centre, and parking provision, in particular car parks. The primary concern is the
potential impact from the Land at Perryfields Road and Whitford Road developments. The larger
site is following a phased development approach, and that due to the proximity to the town centre,
it can be assumed that many residents will access the centre through sustainable transportation
methods. However, the St John Street car park, in particular, could see an increase in traffic leading
to the car park capacity being reached, as it is already the most utilised car park from the data
analysed. The Recreation Road South car park could also see an increase in usage as it is one of
the car parks nearest to new residents. Therefore, the impacts from both developments need to be
considered by BDC as part of any future parking strategy for the town centre. Implementation of a
zoning system in Bromsgrove to assist with identifying the geographical distribution of town centre
developments could help to allocate associated parking demand to appropriate car park locations.
When considered alongside a car park pricing strategy, the zoning system could also help to focus

1
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-%ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

more expensive parking towards the central areas of Bromsgrove, with less expensive parking
options located around the edges of the town centre, with the aim of reducing the impact of vehicles
penetrating the town centre.

Our review analysed typical CEO enforcement activity in the town centre over a typical weekday
period, within a neutral month. We found that some car parks within the town centre were frequently
visited by CEOs, with a considerable amount of time spent at the North Bromsgrove and Recreation
Road South sites in particular, but very few PCNs were issued at either. This indicates that, whilst
the threat of a PCN acts as a deterrent in Bromsgrove town centre, compliance with parking
regulations is currently high, and therefore, alternative approaches could be considered to reduce
the level of CEO presence and resource required within the town centre. In analysing car park user
payment patterns, we have ascertained that car parking in Bromsgrove town centre is suitable for
exploring alternative car parking management arrangements. Currently, most payments for parking
are made by credit/debit card at the payment machines, however, cash payment remains high
across all sites, in particular School Road car park where around 45% of all transactions were cash
transactions.

There is a considerable economic case for car parking within Bromsgrove town centre going
cashless, as it would reduce maintenance costs for the operation of Pay and Display machines as
well as the cost of collecting the cash from the machines. App/online payments are currently very
low, so it is further recommended that more information/signage is provided to make users aware
that they do not have to necessarily use the pay and display machines to pay for car parking.

As part of our review, a SWOT (Strengths — Weaknesses — Opportunities — Threats) analysis of
potential car parking management arrangements was conducted. Adopting a “business as usual”
approach is not optimal as the only benefits appear to be that the service provider and service users
are familiar operating and using the service as it is at present. However, this is far outweighed by
factors such as maintaining systems and infrastructure that support cash payment, and security
concerns such as protecting revenue in the payment machines. Installing an ANPR system across
Bromsgrove town centre car parks offers significant benefits in terms of security, efficiency, and
revenue management. From the SWOT analysis, ANPR is deemed the most advantageous method
to install at off-street town centre public car parks due to the strengths and weaknesses outweighing
the strengths and weaknesses of a barrier system and “business as usual.”

There is a legal framework for BDC to follow to implement fixed ANPR cameras in off-street public
car parks in Bromsgrove, if this recommendation is to be pursued. However, before using ANPR
cameras in off-street public car parks (under both civil and criminalised regimes), BDC must satisfy
themselves that they have the power to install and use the cameras as intended. This is a complex
area of the law. It is critical that BDC establish the necessary power to use cameras for parking
enforcement, otherwise any enforcement action taken on the basis of evidence generated may be
invalid. We advise that BDC involve their legal advisers on this crucial point from the outset.

There are cost, maintenance, and potential privacy concerns to overcome, and to maximise the
benefits and mitigate the risks, BDC will need to undertake careful planning, compliance with
regulations, and robust cybersecurity measures. Integrating ANPR with the existing online
payment/smart parking solution could further enhance the user experience and operational
efficiency. Furthermore, installation of ANPR offers significant opportunities for BDC to receive
detailed data on parking habits across their car parks, helping to make informed decisions on tariffs,
redevelopment, and improvements to car parks. Our Management Review has taken revenue
generation, costs of installing an ANPR system and the return on investment into account in
evaluating the preferred option. Should the current management arrangement be enhanced with
ANPR technology in Bromsgrove town centre car parks, the CEO resource could be freed up to
patrol other areas of the district with a focus on on-street enforcement.

2
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-%«ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

1. Introduction

The Brief

1.1 Waterman Infrastructure & Environment (‘Waterman’) have been commissioned by Bromsgrove
District Council to undertake a Car Park Management Review of Bromsgrove Town Centre and the
surrounding areas.

1.2 As part of this review, we have considered existing car park management arrangements with
solutions identified to reduce the need for off-street parking enforcement, including an outline of
costs, together with operational and enforcement issues. We have also recommended time of day
restrictions to address existing parking issues and assess enforcement requirements for identified
parking management design options.

1.3 The district boundary and the respective wards within Bromsgrove are illustrated in Figure 1.

Figure 1: Bromsgrove Wards

- Quinton HARBORNE EozEasion X
Bromsgrove Ward Boundaries Stourbridge o & BALSALLNEATE
s & BALSALL HEA

Kinver Halesowen o Edgbaston
anocy

4 Alvechurch South Ward

Alvechurch Village Ward
2 iy "
£ Aston Fields Ward 2 ot c

Avoncroft Ward {iagley East Watd

Q
Barnt Green and Hopwood Blakeshall

Ward

B Cookley
£ Bromsgrove Central Ward o e iy 3}
olverley Churchill g
Belbroughton and Romsley )

Ward Blakedown

4 catshill North Ward %

47 catshill South Ward

& Charford Ward Kidderminster

%,
e R BelbrBughton aid:Romsleth
SHA Belbroughton Bell End

Cofton Ward ssdiln

&7 Drakes Cross Ward Wythall

e Stone Harvington Fairfield
¥ Hagley East Ward FELEE Wythall West Ward.

g Earlswoo
g J

a2

&

2, Tanwood -

Mustow Green Rournhedtt

Chaddesley e ‘} -

< Corbett SR 2 Cpushi
&F Hollywood Ward / Dodford

£¥ Lickey Hills Ward Torton '\//

Lowes Hill Ward o Reytieiss ward

rem e ey

£¥ Hagley West Ward

£ Hill Top Ward

Garnt Green
urch

Rowney Green

Wood End

B
£F Marlbrook Ward Alvechurch South Ward

5 " Hartlebury Rushock
Norton W:
ot Tanworth
47 Perryfields Ward Ay ranvort
\ Waresley
& Rock Hill Ward

§ Elmley Lovett 7

$ Danz«

47 Rubery North Ward ¥
. Crosswa Cutnall Green
47 Rubery South Ward Green J

& iditch
£ sanders Park Ward Sneeds Green Eimbridge = Redditch

J WINYATES WEST g Uller

Oldbe

47 sidemoor Ward

& slideslow Ward Avoncroft Ward

Dunhampton
Lineholt 2

Doverdale Wychbold
Hampton

B
& Tardebigge Ward Lower Bentley

47 Wythall East Ward
£F wythall West Ward Rashwood

Cocks Brook Morton Bag

Background

14 This Management Review considers how Bromsgrove District Council’'s car parks are being
managed. This is particularly timely given the town has undergone changes in land use and
shopping behaviour over recent years which has impacted upon the popularity and functions of the
town centre.

1.5 Retail developments and regeneration projects in Bromsgrove have impacted on the demand for
travel and the popularity of different parking areas, so there is a need to review whether the current
parking provision is meeting the needs of the town, both at present and in the future.

1.6 This study includes a review of existing car park management strategies in Bromsgrove town centre
and local wards compared to local authority areas with a similar demographic on social and
economic needs. These have been assessed using factors such as existing conditions and
enforcement methods.

3
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-%(ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

1.7 Additionally, the report provides solutions to address car parking management, reducing the need
for off street parking enforcement at certain locations allowing wardens to cover greater distances
outside of the town centre. This is also discussed in the On-Street Parking Enforcement Review
report.

1.8 Further in this Management Review, the possibility of Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR)
camera use is explored, outlining the costs, as well as operational and enforcement issues.
Report Format

1.9 The structure of this report is as follows:
¢ Section 2 reviews other local authorities car park management strategies.

e Section 3 presents the existing parking provision.
¢ Section 4 reviews proposed developments across the Bromsgrove District Council Boundary.

¢ Section 5 analyses the current payment trends across the car parks managed by Bromsgrove
District Council.

e Section 6 conducts a SWOT analysis of the preferred management method.

e Section 7 considers the alternative parking strategy measures and presents the recommended
strategy; and

¢ Section 8 provides a summary of the report findings.

4
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-égking Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

2. Car Park Management Approach Comparisons

Introduction

2.1 The purpose of this section is to compare the effectiveness of different parking management
approaches from local authority areas, to establish any lessons learned from other areas, and to
determine how these approaches can be adopted by Bromsgrove to meet future needs.

2.2 Bromsgrove is a traditional market town located in Worcestershire, with a population of
approximately 99,200 (Census, 2021). Bromsgrove borders the built-up area of Birmingham to the
north. Other towns and villages in the district include Alvechurch, Aston Fields, Belbroughton,
Catshill, Clent, Hagley, Rubery, Stoke Prior and Wythall.

23 For Bromsgrove District Council, currently off-street car parking enforcement is contracted to
Wychavon District Council (WDC) to administer. They have a finite resource of 5.5 Full-Time
Equivalent (FTE) Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) spread across the district and CEOs are based
out of Bromsgrove town centre.

2.4 From analysis of the beat patterns of the Civil Enforcement Officers, which was covered in the
Strategic Review, the most common areas being enforced are within Bromsgrove town centre,
notably public car parks within the core town centre area.

2.5 A review has been undertaken of the car parking management arrangements of the following three
local authorities who have recently either completed a 5-year plan for car parking, renegotiated their
parking enforcement contracts, or have recently updated their car parking strategies to meet parking
needs both for the present and in the future:

e Bracknell Forest
e Oldham
e Cheshire West and Chester

2.6 The three areas were chosen as comparators, as they have similar values to Bromsgrove in terms
of demographics, as well as social and economic needs. These have been assessed using factors
such as existing conditions and enforcement methods.

Bracknell Forest

2.7 The Enforcement and Parking Management Strategy for Bracknell Forest Council between 2019 —
2024 has been reviewed. Lessons learned from Bracknell’'s approach, and how it could be applied
in Bromsgrove’s approach, are as follows:

¢ In terms of enforcement and management, enforcement should remain an important part
of delivering a parking strategy for Bromsgrove, as a sufficient deterrent to encourage
motorists to comply with the regulations.

e Parking measures should be used to support continued economic growth and increasing
dwell times, manage traffic and secure enough revenue to cover the cost of car parking.
However, the primary purpose of penalty charge notices should be to encourage 100%
compliance with parking restrictions, and as such raising revenue should not be an
objective of parking enforcement, and therefore, going forward, targets should not be set in
respect of numbers of PCNs issued or revenue collected from PCNs.

e There is no doubt that contract efficiencies could be made via a redefinition of staffing roles
and responsibilities whereby existing roles are combined; this also provides a great
resilience for redeployment of staff.

5
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-%«ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

2.8

e The traditional approach has been to ensure a physical presence of staff, but modern
technological capabilities and infrastructure allow for a reduction in workforce with the move
to central control and automation as is the industry norm. There is however a balance to be
struck as a move such as this is likely to have a perceived reduction in customer service.

e Use a Variable Messaging System (VMS), located at key entry points into Bromsgrove town
centre; this would provide information to motorists about parking availability in the main
town centre car parks. VMS data counters can record all entries and exits to estimate
occupancy. This can be used to direct and control parking (at busy times and for large
events) and reduce congestion at key times.

e Offer cashless parking in all Bromsgrove’'s car parks. By further improving the offer,
Bracknell found efficiencies which in turn could increase revenue. The main efficiency
would come with a potential reduction in civil enforcement officer staffing if for example the
parking infrastructure at certain sites changed from pay and display to ANPR.

e Use new and existing technologies to enhance the user experience, in making parking
easier and providing different ways to pay. Digital technology can be used to better inform
motorists of the choices available to them and parking availability information.

e Consider the development of an online portal system, which will have the potential to reduce
back-office administration and allow for an improved offer relative to season tickets and
contract parking. The intention is that this web-based system could enable the user to make
an application for either a single season ticket on an individual basis or for several season
tickets on behalf of a company. There is the potential that this system could also allow for
a complete cashless parking solution whereby a bank card is registered and debited each
time a registered vehicle leaves the car park.

Oldham

Oldham Town Centre is situated in a similar location to Bromsgrove, both being in close proximity
to a major city. Population sizes are also similar with both their town centres and surrounding
wards having a population of approximately 100,000. Lessons learned from Oldham’s approach,
and how it could be applied in Bromsgrove’s approach, are as follows:

e Implement of a zoning system to assist with identifying the geographical distribution of town
centre developments and help to allocate associated parking demand to appropriate car
park locations.

e The aim of this zonal system would be to create a more evenly distributed provision of car
parking spaces around the town centre. When combined with a complementary routeing
and signage strategy, this will allow drivers to be guided quickly to an appropriate car park
depending on the direction from which they approach the town centre. This should reduce
incidences of traffic circulating the town centre searching for a car parking space.

e When considered alongside a car park pricing strategy, a zoning system could also help to
focus more expensive parking towards the central areas, with less expensive parking
options located around the edges of the town centre, with the aim of reducing the impact of
vehicles penetrating the town centre.

6
Bromsgrové:@gegia-éag«ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Cheshire West & Chester

29 Cheshire West and Chester Council (CWCC) operates both on and off-street parking within its
boundary. It had historically operated its off-street car park using pay and display except for one
car park in Chester, which had pay and display on some floors and pay on exit on the remainder.

2.10 Due to issues with the pay on exit system, CWCC considered options for its replacement and the
potential to extend the system to other car parks in Chester. Lessons learned from CWCC'’s
approach, and how it could be applied in Bromsgrove’s approach, are as follows:

e To install a Pay on Foot and ANPR (licence plate recognition) system at designated car
parks with functionality including recognition of season ticket/pre-payment card holders with
barriers raising automatically, resident Blue Badge Holders parking free for up to 4 hours
using a chip system applied to the badge which the pay on foot system recognises.

e Implement a web-based application that allows businesses to pay towards or for its
customers’ parking.

e A flexible maintenance contract, supported by front line maintenance from Bromsgrove
officers if required. Since installation, CWCC found that revenue increased significantly with
the capital costs being recouped within 12 months. The system could also help with
Bromsgrove’s’ parking enforcement operations, allowing WDC to focus more resources on
enforcing on-street parking contraventions to keep traffic moving in the district.

Summary

2.11 In this section we have compared the effectiveness of different parking management approaches,
to establish any lessons learned from other areas, and to determine how these approaches can
be adopted by Bromsgrove to meet future needs. In areas that have similar values to Bromsgrove
in terms of demographics, as well as social and economic needs, existing conditions and
enforcement methods were reviewed.

2.12 It was found that parking enforcement should remain a sufficient deterrent to encourage motorists
to comply with the regulations, however the primary purpose of penalty charge notices should only
be to encourage compliance with parking restrictions, and not to raise revenue; thereby targets
should not be set in respect of numbers of PCNs issued or revenue collected.

2.13 Contract efficiencies can be made via a redefinition of staffing roles and responsibilities whereby
existing roles are combined; this also provides a great resilience for redeployment of staff. Modern
technological capabilities and infrastructure allow for a reduction in workforce with the move to
central control and automation as is the industry norm. There is however a balance to be struck as
a move such as this is likely to have a perceived reduction in customer service.

2.14 At key entry points into Bromsgrove town centre, use a Variable Messaging System (VMS) could
provide information to motorists about parking availability in the main town centre car parks. This
can be used to direct and control parking (at busy times and for large events) and reduce congestion
at key times.

215 By further improving the parking offer through offering cashless parking in all Bromsgrove’s car
parks, efficiencies could be found which in turn could increase revenue. The main efficiency would
come with a potential reduction in civil enforcement officer staffing if for example the parking
infrastructure at certain sites changed from pay and display to ANPR. Use new and existing
technologies to enhance the user experience, in making parking easier and providing different ways
to pay.

7
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-@«ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

216  More prevalent utilisation of digital technology can be used to better inform motorists of the choices
available to them and parking availability information. Also, to consider the development of an online
portal system, which will have the potential to reduce back-office administration and allow for an
improved offer relative to season tickets and contract parking.

2.17 Implement of a zoning system in Bromsgrove to assist with identifying the geographical distribution
of town centre developments and help to allocate associated parking demand to appropriate car
park locations. When considered alongside a car park pricing strategy, the zoning system could
also help to focus more expensive parking towards the central areas, with less expensive parking
options located around the edges of the town centre, with the aim of reducing the impact of vehicles
penetrating the town centre.

8
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-ﬁalking Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

3. Review of Existing Car Parking Provision

Introduction

3.1 In this section we have undertaken a review of existing off-street car parking provision within
Bromsgrove town centre, including the spatial distribution of off-street car parks.

3.2 Our review has also looked at typical CEO enforcement activity over a typical weekday period,
within a neutral month. This was to ascertain a baseline for typical enforcement activity within the
town centre.

3.3 We have analysed the number of visits to each location and compared this with the number of PCNs
issued. We have also analysed the average time spent monitoring each car park by CEOs, and
where particular locations attract the highest resources. We have given the approximate total time
spent monitoring by enforcement officers over the 7-day period and an average time spent in each
car park.

3.4 To help predict future trends and management propositions, we have provided various reasons
users park at each car park within the town centre. This is in order to make the case for change for
an enforcement approach at these locations.

Off-Street Car Parking Enforcement

3.5 Bromsgrove town centre and surrounding wards have 10 car parks. Figure 2 below shows the
locations of the Off-Street car parks in Bromsgrove town centre.

Figure 2: Bromsgrove Parking Locations Enforced by Bromsgrove District Council
Yo ot 2 2
Ty - £ old Burzot L0
& . & o =
E J.‘:-‘ = o £ ] Ofd Burcoyv5
o J%‘s- & i Sants Re
2 1 \,I,_\u“"@ LOWES HILL
g g
g g £
k) @ g ®
2 %, : &l .':'Io_l\l_r‘lﬁ'udge Foad
) (s &
el = Parkeide Uiﬁﬁarx_{\@
£ %, ot B B
= A Recretion Road Sduth o $ 9 Noh Beormsarave &
= i(fu‘dﬂ '=, i 9
=4 "Minster g 5 ot School Drive
g 7 v B cas ;
= 9 oo Pk romsgroves = . &
' 9 Windsor Street P e o gy
Md"'&,, i G,
L) Mew Road & %
e & i
&1 JohaBirest o b NCR S < » o O
aentiefieid B % & D;z E:} & e, ey,
: o : i .5, C
& 3 & .'?? i Sk g Ve,
& & £ d
ol
o 4
i
& 5o e
& 0 5 &
o & T & v
= &° %, < % L | =
g Ko T & 5 2 4 T T Mot o ®
£ / %, % s
i b ks < v"éb i % i
& g urary
&
po e
fy - =
e Pl 2 o
g ¢ :-
!
2 (3
i 3 o
Lo %
s 2 n:&i
Charford . =
{ m g, % &
&
. 3 & N
() Location of Car Parks <, sy qonn®® Qe s
5 BY

9
Bromsgrovel:@gegia-@?king Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

3.6 Table 1 overleaf shows the off-street areas featured in the Figure 2, monitored by enforcement
officers between 22/04/24 — 28/04/24. Figure 3 below shows the number of enforcement notices
issued between 22/04/24 — 28/04/24 in Bromsgrove Town Centre.

Figure 3: Bromsgrove Town Centre Enforcement Notices Issued 22/04/24 — 28/04/24
& 0@\\ - ,? e,c“v‘é » é",ﬂ; 0ld Bureot\™
k3 S o 8 £ rcot
2 Q < 5. &
Q ’VC}?S > oa® . A gaints' RO BQ‘(F,\\,
A‘aad
g; 15% g \ri0‘°( LOWES HILL
0 &
"}o/ SIDEM %9 \(é\fb
3 i o 7,
% Ry 9 A : ®
< 9
Q'Erminster Rd %i n’.,, D 2 gf&b
2 (-3 ec’Q- éf’
Bromsgrove° ) Stratford gy & aratford gy
quﬂ'er R 8
Baﬁ\EﬁEM Broek ’po' > QQ,Q > & Yoy
é@& & o"\\@ 3? ¢§ 5 Par R
Ke y o (\Q\ \“ o@e' “?Q’D §q§o O@ o vf'?
%, (Y
9 = > b @5‘% &\0""2 ’ %
Qs <ot ARy T
A P Ra
4-7 & &% S &
d ps $ £ %é) S 4 %
c e 8 & %,
= 9 - ]0 % Q:Q v”sb §¢0 @% e’J_%u
Qu-14020 &
3 S 3 z
; & = cie®d %
Table 1:Car Park Enforcement 22/04/24 — 28/04/24
Location Number Observed Notices Average Total Time
of Visits Vehicle Issued Time
Count
Alvechurch 5 3 3 00:03:59 00:19:57
Tanyard Lane
Car Park
Aston Fields 9 4 1 00:05:20 00:47:59
Car Park
New Road 18 16 11 00:08:08 02:26:15
Car Park
North 15 26 10 00:12:03 03:00:45
Bromsgrove
Car Park
Parkside Car 38 22 9 00:06:14 03:56:50

Park

10
Bromsgrove!:gﬂgegia-ﬁa’a&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Location Number Observed Notices Average Total Time
of Visits Vehicle Issued Time
Count
Parkside 7 4 4 00:05:07 00:35:51
Offices Car
Park
Recreation 73 11 3 00:06:39 08:05:39
Road South
Car Park
School Drive 27 8 3 00:08:25 03:47:10
Car Park
St John 19 19 7 00:09:16 02:55:58
Street Car
Park
Stourbridge 5 0 0 00:05:21 00:26:43
Road Car
Park
Windsor 37 42 14 00:07:19 04:30:54
Street Car
Park

3.7 As can be seen in Table 1 above, ‘Recreation Road South’ car park is the most visited car park by
enforcement officers with 73 visits over the 7-day period, this comes to approximately 10 visits per
day. Despite the high number of visits from enforcement officers, and the fact the car park is the
busiest in Bromsgrove town centre and surrounding wards, there are a low number of notices issued
with just 3.

3.8 The car parks with the highest notices issued are, ‘Windsor Street Car Park,” ‘New Road Car Park’
and ‘North Road Car Park’ with 14, 11 and 10 Notices issued by enforcement officers. ‘Stourbridge
Road Car Park’ and ‘Aston Fields Car Park’ have the lowest number of Notices Issued with 0 and
1. A number of car parks have 3 Notices issued including ‘Recreation Road South’.

3.9 The car park with the highest average time spent monitoring by enforcement officers is ‘North
Bromsgrove Car Park’ with an average time of 00:12:03 each visit. Therefore, ‘North Bromsgrove
Car Park’ is the car park where enforcement officers spend the most time in a week with just over
3 hours being spent there.

3.10 To conclude, the approximate total time spent monitoring by enforcement officers over the 7-day
period is 30:54:01, with an average time spent in each car park of 00:07:05.

Car Park User Preferences

3.11  With 9 car parks within reasonable walking distance of most of the town centre, Bromsgrove
residents and visitors have a range of car parks to choose from.

3.12 To help predict future trends and management propositions Table 2 below shows a number of
reasons users park at each car park within the centre.

11
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-ﬁﬂking Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



AX) waterman

Table 2:Benefits of Parking in each Car Park

Car Park

New Road Car Park

North Bromsgrove Car
Park

Parkside Car Park

Parkside Offices Car Park

Recreation Road South
Car Park

School Drive Car Park

St John Street Car Park

Stourbridge Road Car
Park

Windsor Street Car Park

Possible Reasons of
Parking here

Easy walking distance to High
Street

Main Car Park for the Leisure
Centre

Easy walking distance to High
Street

Facilities nearby such as
Churchfields Surgery and
Bromsgrove Library

Proximity to Asda Superstore.
Large site and easy to
navigate, easy walking
distance to High Street

Proximity to Leisure Centre
Proximity to Waitrose Car
Park, within reasonable
walking distance to High

Street

Possible Aldi Overflow

Easy walking distance to High
Street

Agenda Item

Possible Reasons to Avoid

Maijority of Car Park on a slope

Further out from town centre

Likely to park in ‘North Bromsgrove Car
Park’ for Leisure Centre

Reputation of being busy

More likely to park in Aldi Car Park for

Aldi, Condition is not as appealing as

nearby alternatives. Parking available
over the road

Reputation of being busy

As seen in the figures and tables above, many car parks within the town centre share similar
reasons to park there, thus the choice of usage comes down to user preferences (including start/end
destination) for visitors to Bromsgrove town centre. The car parks are well used, compliance with
regulations appears to be high, and therefore, alternative approaches could be considered to

‘Stourbridge Road Car Park’ and ‘School Drive Car Park’ lack direct incentives to park and would

3.13
reduce CEO resource at these locations.

3.14
therefore be classed as back-up / overflow car parks only.
Summary

3.1

In this section we have undertaken a review of existing off-street car parking provision within
Bromsgrove town centre, including the spatial distribution of off-street car parks. We have found
that all car parks are within reasonable walking distance of most of the town centre, and that
residents and visitors have a good range of existing provision to choose from.

12
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-ﬁﬁaing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

3.2 Our review has also analysed typical CEO enforcement activity in the town centre over a typical
weekday period, within a neutral month. We found that some car parks within the town centre were
frequently visited by CEOs, with a considerable amount of time spent at the Recreation Road South
site in particular, but very few PCNs were issued.

3.3 This indicates that, whilst the threat of a PCN acts as a deterrent, compliance with parking
regulations is currently high, and therefore, alternative approaches could be considered to reduce
the level of CEO presence and resource required within the town centre.

3.4 We have provided various reasons users park at each car park within the town centre. Many car
parks within the town centre share similar reasons to park there, thus ultimately coming down to
user preferences (including start/end destination). They are well used, compliance with regulations
appears to be high, and therefore, alternative approaches could be considered to reduce CEO
resource at these locations.

13
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-ﬁﬁ(ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

4. Meeting Future Car Parking Needs
Introduction

4.1 As part of our Management Review, we have investigated whether Bromsgrove town centre car

parking provision is fit to meet the future needs of residents and visitors, and whether additional
provision is required.

4.2 In this section, we have reviewed the impacts of future developments as outlined in the adopted
Bromsgrove Local Development Plan 2011-2030. These future developments are identified as

“Committed Developments” in the LDP and therefore, BDC has confidence in these coming forward
within the plan period.

Impacts of Committed Developments

4.3 From analysing the spatial distribution of committed developments, we have identified that there
are several new residential developments which could have an effect on traffic flow within
Bromsgrove town centre and parking provision in particular car parks.

4.4 Primarily amongst these is the impacts derived from the following developments as found in Figure
4 below.

Figure 4: Committed Developments in vicinity of Bromsgrove Town Centre

- % Z B %, §
3 A ; &)
Y & & &
m & % < &
& s 3 a Jand R
o Ben,
&

o
%
:
y,
E
"
b,
!b&
o |
& <
ol
&
o Sppuar®®

Ofd Burcet LR

Old Buropy\9

%\-
or
é*
25
¢
By
2 4
S,
“B
“"Gham Rd
A38

% samisRd

g,
—h_:\?’%
4 /£
&
m'b
8
?; @
abpin
3

¢ 5 1 e LOWES HILL
o / g
£ | D% & g &
- { % AT 4 -(5‘(.
/ 5 I ‘o =i o] ) Sigurbridge Road
s 4
Lf—\‘g [ IfJ T, . ParksideCar Pk fug
= 4 i ¢
g - % Recreation Road South () £® : Q North Bromsgrove
= erp e % School Drive Q
i z Nster g % e 5
s £ 2 Il
% BT()HI‘J{JFL!\‘U i Stratford g, woxford .
ot Lt 5 O witdsa i .
O it L¥ Land at Perryfields Road
i evefield Brogk . }4"?9@
| 7Y 3 & P~ . AU,
; : ¥ Land at Whitford Road
| \ E -
| \ Yy :
J \ I
/ \ & o Location of Car Parks
[ h s s
I ) o & o
/ . E %
/ L N 4 & - % =
Eﬁf E o8 i %ﬂ’y S %",1 ; o 4@, @q&% 2 “’“"ﬂnmrf“g
L o '3 < o 0" 2 s,

4.5 As can be seen in the figure above, there are two developments on the western side of Bromsgrove
Town Centre which could have an impact on future provision:

e Land at Perryfields Road development - phased development for up to 1,300 dwellings

e Whitford Road - up to 490 dwellings

14
Bromsgrov&gegia-ﬁgking Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

4.6

4.7

4.8

The development of these sites would naturally increase parking occupancy within the town centre.
Due to the proximity to the town centre, it can be assumed that many residents would access the
centre through sustainable transportation methods, however despite this, the St John Street car
park could see an increase in traffic leading to the car park capacity being reached, moreover as it
is already the most utilised car park across the 3 days analysed.

Table 3 shows the previous 3 years of dwellings delivered compared to the requirements:

Table 3: Previous Three Years Housing Delivery
Year Completions Plan requirement
2020/ 21 144 368
2021/ 22 162 368
2022 /23 193 368
Total 499 1104

The total delivery of houses is 499. The total planned requirements were 1,104. Therefore, 45% of
proposed houses have been built within the district. This indicates that development is not currently
coming forward as planned, although impacts need to be considered as part of an overall parking
strategy. This is further portrayed in Figure 5 below:

Figure 5: Bromsgrove District Housing Trajectory

Bromsgrove District Housing Trajectory 01.04.2024

600

Expected completions - large sites

500

&=0—0—0

 Expected completions - small sites

400

0—0—0—0g 101 0—0—0—0

Net completions - large sites

300

B Net completions - small sites

200

S

B Net completions - All for 2011-2018

100

%
i
.
.
%
AR
e

/ @~ Plan - Annualised strategic allocation based
7000 dwellings to 2030

11 12 12-13 13-14 14-1515-16 16-17 17-18 18-19 19-20 20-21 21-22 22-23 23-24 24-25 25-26 26-27 27-28 28-29 29-30

15
Bromsgrov&@&gi&ﬁﬁ&ing Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Summary

4.9 As part of our Management Review, we have reviewed the impacts of future developments as
outlined in the adopted Bromsgrove Local Development Plan 2011-2030.

4,10 We have identified that there are several new residential developments which could influence traffic
flow within Bromsgrove town centre and parking provision in particular car parks. The primary
concern is the potential impact from the Land at Perryfields Road and Whitford Road developments.

4,11  The development quantum for both sites combined is nearly 2,000 homes, and these will naturally
increase parking occupancy within the town centre.

412 The larger site is following a phased development approach, and that due to the proximity to the
town centre, it can be assumed that many residents will access the centre through sustainable
transportation methods.

4.13 However, the St John Street car park in particular could see an increase in traffic leading to the car
park capacity being reached, as it is already the most utilised car park across the 3 days analysed.
The Recreation Road South car park could also see an increase in usage as it is one of the car
parks nearest to new residents.

4.14  Therefore, the impacts from both developments need to be considered by BDC as part of any future
parking strategies for the town centre.

16
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-ﬁgﬁing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

5. Analysis of Existing Payment Patterns

Introduction

5.1 To ascertain the suitability of exploring alternative management arrangements for Bromsgrove town
centre car parks, we have analysed user payment behaviour to understand payment patterns.

5.2 In this section, we analyse the paid council operated car parks to ascertain the proportion of
transactions that are made by cash or card at a pay and display machine, or by online payments
which BDC have recently commenced operating.

Payment Patterns

5.3 The analysis was conducted between the dates 22/04/2024 and 28/04/2024. The dates were
chosen due to it being within a neutral month, with no school holidays or public holidays to impact
the findings. This was so a realistic representation could be made of the payment methods that are
currently used in a typical week.

54 Overall, the split of transactions for the chosen week can be seen below in Table 4.

Table 4:Percentage of Revenue by Method

Payment Method Percentage of Revenue

Cash at Machine 31%

Card at Machine 50%
App/Online Payments 19%

5.5 From the data analysed, around 50% of users choose to pay with a debit/credit card when paying
for parking in car parks across Bromsgrove town centre. Significantly, 31% of users still choose to
pay by cash, with App/Online payments only being 19%.

5.6 A further, in-depth review of the current payments received from the specific car parks around
Bromsgrove is provided in Figure 7.

17
Bromsgrov&gegia-@&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

Figure 5: Payment Type by Car Park

70%

60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10% I I

0%

L& S L& & Q& &
S

Q
>
fé\Q
©)
ofo' QJQ}
< &

¢ & e S 3 X § ¢
S O P «® O e

m Machine Cash Revenue m Machine Card Revenue App/online revenue

5.7 Figure 7 shows that most payments during a typical week in a neutral month were made by paying
by credit/debit card at payment machines. However, cash payment remains high across all sites, in
particular School Road Car Park where around 45% of all transactions were cash transactions. This
is the most popular method of payment at this site.

5.8 New Road Car Park which has the lowest proportion of cash transactions at 13% and one of the
highest card transaction proportions at 59%.

5.9 A common trend is that app/online payments are below 35% on all car parks with the lowest being
11% at School Road. This is most likely due to people not being aware that they are able to pay by
app/online.

Summary

5.10 In this section, through analysing car park user payment patterns, we have ascertained that car
parking in Bromsgrove town centre is suitable for exploring alternative car parking management
arrangements.

5.11  Currently, most payments for parking are made by credit/debit card at the payment machines,
however, cash payment remains high across all sites, in particular School Road car park where
around 45% of all transactions were cash transactions.

5.12 There is a considerable economic case for car parking within Bromsgrove town centre going
cashless, as it would reduce maintenance costs for the operation of Pay and Display machines as
well as the cost of collecting the cash from the machines.

5.13 Operating a cashless system across all car parks would allow for revenue to be protected as well
as reducing operating costs. To implement this however, users’ habits of choosing to pay with cash
would need to change. App/online payments are currently very low, so it is further recommended
that more information/signage is provided to make users aware that they do not have to necessarily
use the pay and display machines to pay for car parking.

18
Bromsgrov&@&gi&@king Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

6. Car Park Management Options Appraisal

Introduction

6.1 Having established that Bromsgrove town centre car parks are suitable for exploring alternative car
parking management arrangements, in this section we explore options for alternative arrangements
through a SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats) Analysis

6.2 This has been conducted for Option 1 — Implementing an ANPR system, and Option 2 — Installation
of Ticketed Barriers, as well as a “Do Nothing” (Business as Usual) option.

6.3 This has been conducted to formulate an options appraisal through leveraging strengths,
addressing weaknesses, exploiting opportunities, and mitigating threats:

Do Nothing (Business as Usual)

Strengths Weaknesses
1. Organisational Familiarity 1. Maintenance and Technical Issues
2. Familiarity for Users 2. Dependence on Existing Systems
3. Technological Obsolescence
4. Revenue Protection Risks
Opportunities Threats
1. Continuity of service 1. Regulatory Changes

2. Technological Obsolescence

3. Revenue Protection Risks

The SWOT analysis above shows that the Strengths in adopting a “business as usual” approach
would be organisational familiarity with operating the service as it is at present. This approach would
also give existing users familiarity, in that the approach would not be changed. This may best
support the users who currently pay by cash.

Opportunities derived from adopting a “business as usual” approach come from the continuity of
service it would provide for the existing operation.

Weaknesses and Threats concern an ongoing requirement to maintain the systems and
infrastructure that support cash payment. There would be a dependence on maintaining existing
systems and infrastructure which may become obsolete with advances in payment methods and
parts to maintain them. Protecting revenue in the payment machines is also an ongoing weakness
and threat in that they are currently, or could be in the future, a target for criminal activity, given that
they are currently a source of cash.

19
Bromsgrové:@gegia-@?king Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Option 1: Implementing an ANPR system

Introduction

6.4 An automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) system captures the vehicle registration number of
vehicles when they drive in and out of a car park. Rather than buy a ticket when the customer
arrives, they will need to pay before they exit the car park, so there will be no ticket to display. A
receipt can be printed from the payment machines.

6.5 When paying at the machines the customer will need to put in their registration number into the
machine, and the machine will calculate how long they have been in the car park. They allow for
credit/debit card payment (including contactless).

6.6 A system is typically set to allow for vehicles to pick up/drop off or find a space. If the customer
spends longer than the limit, they will need to pay for parking. If they do not pay for parking, they
can get issued with a PCN.

Strengths Weaknesses
1. Improved Security 1. High Initial Cost
Efficiency in Parking Management 2. Maintenance and Technical Issues
Enhanced Revenue Management 3. Privacy Concems

2

3

4. Data Collection 4. Dependence on Technology
5

Convenience for Users

Opportunities Threats
1. Integration with Smart Parking Solutions 1 Regulatory Changes
2. Enhanced Customer Service 2. Public Resistance
3. Futureproofing 3. Technological Obsolescence
4. Cybersecurity Risks

In terms of implementing an ANPR system for car parks in Bromsgrove, the Strengths are in
improved security - Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) systems can enhance the security
of a car park by identifying and recording all vehicles entering and exiting. This helps in deterring
criminal activities such as theft and vandalism. The strengths also provide efficiency in parking
management; ANPR systems streamline parking operations by automating entry and exit
processes. This will reduce the need for manual checks and can speed up the flow of traffic,
reducing congestion at peak times. Also, enhanced revenue management can be derived from an
ANPR system; it could be integrated with payment systems to enforce parking fees accurately,
ensuring all users are charged correctly. This minimises revenue loss due to unpaid parking. Data
collection is also a strength, as the systems can provide valuable data on parking usage patterns,
helping to optimise space utilisation and inform future improvements. Finally, it is a convenient
option, in that users could benefit from a smoother and quicker parking experience as ANPR
reduces the need for physical tickets and barriers.

In terms of Weaknesses, there is a high initial cost. The installation and setup of ANPR systems
can be expensive, requiring significant upfront investment in hardware, software, and infrastructure.
ANPR systems require regular maintenance and updates to ensure accuracy and functionality.

20
Bromsgrove!:gﬂgegia-ﬁﬁ&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Technical failures could lead to operational disruptions. The use of ANPR involves the collection
and storage of vehicle data, which can raise privacy issues among users. Compliance with data
protection regulations like GDPR will be essential. Also, over-reliance on ANPR technology can be
problematic if there are system failures or power outages, potentially causing operational
bottlenecks.

Opportunities derived from installing an ANPR system allow for integration with smart parking
solutions; these systems can be integrated with other smart parking technologies, such as real-time
space availability indicators, mobile app payments, and reservation systems, enhancing the overall
user experience. Enhanced customer service can also be derived, with data from ANPR able to be
used to offer personalised services, such as loyalty programs for frequent users or targeted
promotions. Moreso, implementing ANPR systems position BDC to adapt to future developments
in automated and connected vehicle technologies.

In terms of Threats, regulatory changes such as potential future changes in data protection and
privacy regulations could impose additional compliance requirements or restrict the use of ANPR
technology. Users may also have concerns about privacy and data security, leading to resistance
or reduced patronage if they feel their personal information is not adequately protected. Rapid
advancements in technology could render current ANPR systems obsolete, necessitating further
investment in upgrades or replacements. Also, ANPR systems are vulnerable to cyber-attacks,
which could compromise sensitive data and disrupt operations. Robust cybersecurity measures are
essential to mitigate this threat.

Summary

6.7 Installing an ANPR system in a car park offers significant benefits in terms of security, efficiency,
and revenue management. However, it also entails high costs, maintenance requirements, and
potential privacy concerns.

Option 2 — Installation of Ticketed Barriers

6.8 A barrier-controlled car park is a parking facility that uses barriers to regulate vehicle access and
exit. Typically, vehicles must pass through a barrier that raises or lowers based on specific
conditions, such as payment status or the presence of a valid parking ticket.

6.9 Vehicles must stop at the barrier, which either raises automatically after payment is made or allows
exit after the driver presents a ticket or validates their stay. Payments can be made at machines
located near the entrance or exit, or through mobile apps. Some systems may also allow for pre-
booking. Many barrier-controlled car parks are equipped with surveillance cameras and other
security measures to enhance safety and monitor activity. These car parks often charge based on
the duration of stay, making it easier to manage parking time and fees.

6.10  This type of system helps to manage parking availability, reduce congestion, and ensure that only
paying customers have access to the parking facility.

21
Bromsgrov&@@gi&ﬁﬁking Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

6.11

Strengths Weaknesses
1. Improved Security 1. High Installation Costs:
2. Revenue Management 2. Maintenance Requirements:
3. Reduced Theft and Vandalism 3. Operational Disruptions:
4. Limited Scalability
5. User Inconvenience
Opportunities Threats
1. Integration with Modern Technology 1. Technological Obsolescence:
2. Enhanced Customer Service 2. Regulatory Changes:
3. Data Collection 3. Public Resistance:
4. Competition from Alternative Solutions:
o

In terms of implementing ticketed barriers to car parks in Bromsgrove town centre, the Strengths of
this approach are the security benefits; barrier systems control entry and exit points, reducing
unauthorised access to car parks and enhancing overall security. Also, they would ensure accurate
fee collection by controlling vehicle entry and exit based on payment or validation, and function as
a deterrent to potential thieves and vandals by creating a controlled environment.

Weaknesses include the significant initial investment required for the purchase and installation of
barrier systems. Ongoing maintenance would be necessary to keep the barriers operational, which
could incur additional costs. Also, barrier malfunctions could cause delays and operational
disruptions, leading to user dissatisfaction. A traditional barrier system may not be easily scalable
or adaptable to future technological advancements. Finally, physical barriers can be seen as
inconvenient by users, particularly during peak times when queues may form.

In terms of Opportunities, a barrier system could be integrated with technologies like ANPR, RFID,
or contactless payment systems to enhance functionality and user experience. By implementing
automated ticketing and payment systems, the parking process could be streamlined, improving
customer satisfaction. Also, barrier systems can collect data on parking usage patterns, which could
be used to optimise parking management operations and inform future improvements.

Threats come from the technological obsolescence that could occur from implementing such a
system; rapid advancements in technology could render existing barrier systems obsolete,
necessitating further investment in upgrades. Changes in regulations regarding access control and
data privacy could impact the use and functionality of barrier systems. Also, users may resist the
installation of barriers due to perceived inconvenience or privacy concerns. Finally, increasing
availability of alternative parking management solutions, such as ANPR-only systems or app-based
entry systems, could reduce the attractiveness of traditional barrier systems.

Summary

Installing a barrier system in Bromsgrove town centre car parks could offer several strengths,
including enhanced security, effective access control, and better revenue management. However,

22
Bromsgrove!:gﬂgegia-%&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

it also comes with weaknesses such as high initial and ongoing costs, potential for operational
disruptions, and user inconvenience.

Recommendation of Preferred Option for Car Park Management

6.12 The SWOT analysis shows that adopting a “business as usual” approach is not optimal as the only
benefits appear to be that the service provider and service users are familiar operating and using
the service as it is at present. However, this is far outweighed by factors such as maintaining
systems and infrastructure that support cash payment, and security concerns such as protecting
revenue in the payment machines.

6.13 Installing an ANPR system across Bromsgrove town centre car parks offers significant benefits in
terms of security, efficiency, and revenue management. There are cost, maintenance, and potential
privacy concerns to overcome, and to maximise the benefits and mitigate the risks, BDC will need
to undertake careful planning, compliance with regulations, and robust cybersecurity measures.
Integrating ANPR with the existing online payment/smart parking solution could further enhance the
user experience and operational efficiency.

6.14 Installing a barrier system in Bromsgrove town centre car parks could offer several strengths,
including enhanced security, effective access control, and better revenue management. However,
it also comes with weaknesses such as high initial and ongoing costs, potential for operational
disruptions, and user inconvenience.

6.15 Therefore, from the SWOT analysis, ANPR is deemed the most advantageous method to install at
off-street town centre public car parks due to the strengths and weaknesses outweighing the
strengths and weaknesses of a barrier system and “business as usual.” Furthermore, installation of
ANPR also offers significant opportunity for BDC to receive detailed data on parking habits across
their car parks, helping them to make informed decisions on tariffs, redevelopment, and
improvements to car parks.

23
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-ﬁﬁ(ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

7. Costs and ROI of Preferred Car Park Management Option

Introduction

71 In this section we explore the preferred option to improve car park management within the district
through installing an ANPR system at Bromsgrove town centre public car parks.

7.2 The installation of ANPR cameras would provide a system to monitor vehicles entering and exiting
the car parks and would provide information on length of stay (without the requirement for the
installation of a barrier at the entrance and exit of the car park). The estimated cost of installing
ANPR cameras and the legal framework to implement the system is detailed in the sections below.

Cost of an ANPR System

7.3 The cost of installing and maintaining an ANPR parking management system depends upon several
variables and factors that need to be considered. However, we have given a broad order of
magnitude cost of the elements that would be involved in the installation. These are broken down
below:

e Video Camera Cost (Not including server and software) - £470 - £700.
¢ Specialised ANPR Camera Cost (One off) - £1,000 - £3,000

e Average Installation Cost Range: £700 - £1,000

e Barrier or Gate Installation Cost Range: £1,500 - £3,000

e Server / software — £35,000 - £55,000

¢ Maintenance — Variable depending on contractor

Legal Framework to Implement an ANPR System

7.4 Broadly speaking, there are two scenarios when fixed ANPR cameras may be deployed in off-street
public car parks in Bromsgrove. These are:

o within a civil or special enforcement area (C/SEA) where enforcement is undertaken
using powers set out in the Traffic Management Act 2004 (civil regime); and

e within areas where parking enforcement is undertaken using powers set out in the
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (criminalised regime).

7.5 In either the civil or criminalised regime, car parks should be provided on the basis of proper orders
under the Road Traffic Regulation Act (RTRA) 1984 (e.g. the powers in Section 32 and 33 with
Orders under Section 35 and Contraventions under Section 35A).

7.6 Before using ANPR cameras in off-street public car parks (under both civil and criminalised
regimes), BDC must satisfy themselves that they have the power to install and use the cameras as
intended. This is a complex area of the law. BDC should carefully consider the provisions of Section
35 of the RTRA 1984 and decide whether they enable an order to be made by the authority for the
use of ANPR cameras at particular locations.

7.7 BDC might also consider the potential use of more general or ancillary powers, for example, under
the Local Government Act 1972 or the Localism Act 2011. It is critical that BDC establish the
necessary power to use cameras for parking enforcement, otherwise any enforcement action taken
on the basis of evidence generated may be invalid. We advise that BDC involve their legal advisers
on this crucial point from the outset.

24
Bromsgrov&@@gi&@?king Review
Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

7.8 Regulated car parks that are within a Civil or Special Enforcement Area (C/SEA) must be managed
in accordance with the powers set out in the Traffic Management Act (TMA) 2004. As noted above,
TMA 2004 enforcement still requires a Traffic Order (TRO/TMO) or Parking Places Order to be
made under the RTRA 1984.

7.9 The Government confirmed a major set of reforms amending the TMA in the form of the
Deregulation Act in April 2015 to make parking policy in England more motorist-friendly via
restrictions on camera enforcement by local authorities. However, the reforms mainly concerned
on-street parking only.

7.10 In C/SEA where parking contraventions only carry civil financial penalties BDC must still satisfy
themselves that the same points discussed above regarding the need to establish the power to use
the camera, and to ensure its use is lawful. In addition, cameras may only be used to capture
evidence upon which a penalty charge is issued if they are 'approved devices'.

7.11  In summary, the key points for C/SEA are that:

e The car parks are within a C/SEA as specified in schedule 8 of the TMA (Greater London),
or by an order made by the Secretary of State under Schedule 8. The way any such order
is couched is important. If the order is only couched in terms of roads then arguably it may
not apply to off-street parking. However, provided the order is defined in terms of an area
(or areas) then it is likely that this encompasses any off-street car parks within the area(s).
Alternatively specific car parks may be identified in CEA Orders.

e The PCN level has been set in accordance with Schedule 9 of the TMA. The vehicle owner's
copy of the PCN should be fixed to the windscreen, so it must be weatherproof or able to
fit a weatherproof envelope. It should be fixed in such a way that it cannot easily be removed
by wind or passers-by.

e The cameras are 'approved devices' as required by the General Directions and meet the
requirements in the Approved Devices Regulations.

e BDC has due regard to the relevant Statutory Guidance issued by the Department for
Transport (or Welsh Ministers in Wales), and other relevant considerations such as data
protection and privacy law.

7.12  The rationale for the previous points regarding the use of ANPR cameras within a C/SEA are as
follows:

The TMA and associated Regulations and Orders

7.13 The government confirmed a major set of reforms amending the TMA 2004 in the form of the
Deregulation Act 2015 to make parking policy in England more motorist-friendly via restrictions on
camera enforcement by local authorities.

7.14  So far as off-street parking is concerned, the Secretary of State for Transport wrote to all English
local authorities in September 2014 indicating that the Government opinion was that it was unlawful
for local authorities to use CCTV/ANPR in public car parks and informed them that DVLA would not
supply information in those circumstances. That remains the Government's position.

7.15 However, local authorities have challenged this position and claim to have legal opinion to the
contrary. English local authorities such as Lichfield and Crawley have already installed ANPR in
their off-street car parks and it is recommended that BDC engage with both authorities on their
approach and lessons learned.

7.16  Part 6 of the TMA sets out a regime for the civil enforcement of road traffic violations. Section 73
sets out the types of road traffic contravention which are subject to civil enforcement, including

25
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-ﬁﬁ&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

parking contraventions. Section 74 and Schedule 8 make provisions about which areas are civil
enforcement areas or may be designated civil enforcement areas. Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of
Schedule 8 states that the whole of Greater London is a civil enforcement area for parking violations,
and paragraph 1 of Part 2 states that the appropriate national authority (i.e. the Secretary of State
for Transport in England or the Welsh Ministers in Wales) may designate other areas as civil or
special enforcement areas.

7.17  Section 72 of the Act empowers the appropriate national authority to make regulations regarding
the imposition and payment of penalty charges. The relevant regulation in this context is the Civil
Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007 (the 'English
Regulations').

7.18  Section 92 (1) of the TMA 2004 defines an 'approved device' simply as 'a device of a description
specified in an order made by the appropriate national authority'. Further provisions about this
process of approval are contained in Orders (made under sections 89 and 92 of the TMA), which is
the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (Approved Devices) (England) Order 2007.

7.19 In this case the Orders contain a schedule which sets out various technical requirements which
approved ANPR devices must meet (such as that the device must include a securely mounted
camera that is connected to a recording system and so on). The Orders state (at article 2) that an
approved device is simply a device which has been certified by the Secretary of State as meeting
the technical requirements set out in the Schedule.

7.20 In England the approval of devices is undertaken by the Vehicle Certification Authority on behalf of
the Department for Transport. The British Parking Association (BPA) has a list of certifications of
approved devices.

The Statutory Guidance

7.21 Section 87 of the TMA requires local authorities to 'have regard' to guidance issued by the
appropriate national authority as to how they should exercise their civil enforcement functions. The
relevant guidance in England is the 'Secretary of State's Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities on
the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions' dated 28 February 2008 (the 'English Guidance').

7.22 Paragraphs 48 to 50 of the English Guidance concern enforcement using approved devices.
Paragraph 48 states:

'The Secretary of State recommends that approved devices are used only where enforcement is
difficult or sensitive and CEO enforcement is not practical. Approved devices should not be used
where permits or exemptions (such as resident permits or Blue Badges) are not visible to the
equipment may apply'.

7.23  This part of the Guidance potentially creates restrictions on the use of ANPR cameras which are
not contained in the legislation. The effect of this part of the Guidance is not straight forward and
would ultimately need to be considered in the particular context in which BDC would be thinking of
using the cameras.

7.24  All the parking Penalty Charge Notices, regardless of whether the contravention was detected by
person or camera, must be issued by a human. CEOs must check the validity of any contraventions
captured by camera before agreeing to serve a PCN. The CEO may potentially become a witness
in any subsequent adjudication or court action.

26
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-ﬁgﬁing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Return on Investment (ROI) of an ANPR system

7.25 Despite the initial outlay, ANPR cameras would provide a return on investment in several ways after
they are installed. The returns fall within the following four categories:

e Improved Security: ANPR systems can significantly enhance security measures,
potentially reducing crime rates and associated costs.

o Efficient Traffic Management: These systems can streamline traffic flow and reduce
congestion, leading to time and fuel savings for citizens.

e Automated Revenue Collection: ANPR can automate toll collection and parking fee
management, potentially increasing revenue and reducing operational costs.

e Data-Driven Decision Making: The data collected by ANPR systems can inform urban
planning and policy decisions, leading to long-term cost savings.

7.26  They also offer benefits in terms of:
e Automated Vehicle Access;
e Easy User Experience;
¢ Opportunity to grow revenue allowing pre-booking;

e Can filter vehicles that are charged at the car park, authorised vehicles that effectively have a
permit can automatically be approved to the desired parking rate;

e Drivers do not need any technology attached or equipped to vehicles.
e Can temporarily store data until a condition is met (such as paying a parking ticket).

7.27 The installation of ANPR cameras at the significant car parks around Bromsgrove town centre would
allow for CEOs to dedicate more resource towards enforcing on-street parking issues.

Recommended Locations for ANPR systems
7.28 ANPR parking systems are recommended at the following car parks:
¢ Recreation Road South Car Park;
e Windsor Street Car Park;
e St John Street Car Park;
e New Road Car Park;
o Parkside Car Park;
e North Bromsgrove Car Park;
e School Drive Car Park; and,
¢ Aston Fields Car Park.

7.29 These car parks have been selected as there is sufficient parking demand, on a regular basis, for
an ANPR system to be beneficial.

Income & Costs

7.30 Table 5 shows a breakdown of the income from parking charges and penalty charges, exclusive of
VAT, per year, for the last 3 years that data is available:

27
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-;:!a&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



AX) waterman

Table 5: Income from Parking Charges

Agenda ltem 7

Year Income from parking Income from penalty
charges exclusive of VAT charges exclusive of VAT
2021 -22 £470,183.61 £20,571.42
2022 - 23 £1,004,128.92 £48,547.31
2023 - 24 £875,133.54 £45,068.88

7.31  As can be seen above, taking the most recent year in a post Covid-19 economy, £875,133.54 was
generated from parking charges and £45,068.88 from penalty charges for Bromsgrove District
Council. Using these figures, a standard week generates £16,830 from parking charges and £866
from penalty charges.

7.32 An ANPR camera is estimated to cost circa £5,700 for full installation per car park (excluding
maintenance/software etc).

7.33 If installed at 8 car parks as proposed above, this would cost Bromsgrove District Council £45,600
plus between £35,000 and £55,000 to establish a server, with variable maintenance costs.
Installation & Signage

7.34 Examples of how cameras can be positioned as well as the signage required can be seen below.

Photograph 1: Example of ANPR Camera

ANPR Camera &'
Controlled ¥
Pay on Entry
Car Park

5 Terms and Conditions apply
See notice boards in
car park for full details

e Private Land

28
Bromsgrov&é}&gig-;alking Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Summary

7.35 In this section, we have outlined the preferred option to improve car park management within the
district through installing an ANPR system at Bromsgrove town centre public car parks.

7.36  The estimated cost of installing ANPR cameras, if installed at 8 car parks as proposed above, would
cost Bromsgrove District Council a broad order of magnitude £46,000 plus between £35,000 and
£55,000 for establishing a server, not including maintenance costs. This cost could be offset against
roughly £925,000 of annual income generated from parking charges and penalty charges
combined.

7.37  There is a legal framework for BDC to follow to implement fixed ANPR cameras in off-street public
car parks in Bromsgrove, if this recommendation is to be pursued. However, before using ANPR
cameras in off-street public car parks (under both civil and criminalised regimes), BDC must satisfy
themselves that they have the power to install and use the cameras as intended. This is a complex
area of the law. BDC should carefully consider the provisions of Section 35 of the RTRA 1984 and
decide whether they enable an order to be made by the authority for the use of ANPR cameras at
particular locations.

7.38 BDC might also consider the potential use of more general or ancillary powers, for example, under
the Local Government Act 1972 or the Localism Act 2011. It is critical that BDC establish the
necessary power to use cameras for parking enforcement, otherwise any enforcement action taken
on the basis of evidence generated may be invalid. We advise that BDC involve their legal advisers
on this crucial point from the outset.

7.39 Despite the initial outlay, ANPR cameras could provide a return on investment in several ways after
they are installed, including improved security, efficient traffic management, automated revenue
collection and data-driven decision making.

29
Bromsgrov&gegia-;a?king Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

8. Summary and Recommendations

8.1 The study includes a review of existing car park management strategies in Bromsgrove. We have
assessed the existing conditions and enforcement methods and have provided the basis of
solutions to address car parking management in the town centre, reducing the need for off-street
car parking enforcement at certain locations allowing CEOs to cover greater distances outside of
the town centre.

8.2 There is a large amount of parking in Bromsgrove town centre, of a similar scale to comparator
towns of similar populations. Committed developments in the pipeline may affect the number of
parking spaces that need to be provided and the demand for public parking in the town centre.

8.3 There is a need to achieve the best balance between the sometimes-conflicting requirements of a
parking strategy, i.e. its role in supporting the town centre economy, the public realm, income to
Bromsgrove District Council and other operators, traffic congestion and the objective to encourage
sustainable transport and development. In developing a future parking strategy there is a need to
avoid causing unintended consequences.

8.4 Bromsgrove District Council CEO enforcement data was analysed between 22m April 2024 and 28t
April 2024. This was to ascertain a baseline for typical CEO enforcement activity over a typical
weekday period, within a neutral month. The data analysed shows Recreation Road South to be
the most visited car park by CEOs with 73 visits over the 7-day period. The car park with the highest
average time spent monitoring by CEOs was found to be North Bromsgrove Car Park with an
average time of over 12 minutes for each visit. This town centre car park is the car park where
enforcement officers spend the most time in a week, with just over 3 hours being spent there. The
approximate total time spent monitoring Bromsgrove town centre car parks by CEOs over the 7-
day period we analysed was 30 hours per CEO, with an average time spent in each car park being
roughly 7 minutes.

8.5 Our recommendation to improve car parking management is to install ANPR parking cameras at
town centre car parks. This would provide a system to monitor vehicles entering and exiting the car
park at all times of the day, the length of stay, and payment. This hugely reduces the chances of
cars that have overstayed being missed, since the cameras would operate 24 hours a day, 7 days
a week.

8.6 Broadly speaking, there is a legal framework for BDC to follow to implement fixed ANPR cameras
in off-street public car parks in Bromsgrove, if this recommendation is to be pursued. However,
before using ANPR cameras in off-street public car parks (under both civil and criminalised
regimes), BDC must satisfy themselves that they have the power to install and use the cameras as
intended. This is a complex area of the law. BDC should carefully consider the provisions of Section
35 of the RTRA 1984 and decide whether they enable an order to be made by the authority for the
use of ANPR cameras at particular locations. BDC might also consider the potential use of more
general or ancillary powers, for example, under the Local Government Act 1972 or the Localism Act
2011. It is critical that BDC establish the necessary power to use cameras for parking enforcement,
otherwise any enforcement action taken on the basis of evidence generated may be invalid. We
advise that BDC involve their legal advisers on this crucial point from the outset.

8.7 A drawback to the ANPR camera proposal is that there is a considerable initial cost of buying and
installing the infrastructure, but despite this, the benefits provided appear to outweigh the initial cost.

8.8 Should the current management arrangement be enhanced with ANPR technology in Bromsgrove
town centre car parks, CEO resource could be freed up to patrol other areas of the district with a
focus on on-street enforcement.

30
Bromsgrov&@@gia-ga’s&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20938100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800002



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

We are Waterman, where every project matters

We deliver progressive, sustainability-driven environmental and engineering consultancy services across
every sector. We think differently, and we’re harnessing our collective expertise to deliver greener, healthier
and well-connected communities, networks and built environments.

Based in strategic locations throughout the UK and Ireland, our team of specialists is at the forefront of
tackling the climate emergency and forging a path to a Net Zero built environment.

UK & Ireland Office Locations

Glasgow

........ Newcastle

Manchester  c.eeeeee.

....... Nottingham
Birmingham
---------- Chelmsford
. . 0000 s London
MStOl  wevvveesceerneniiieeerc i e Redhill

Southampton

Page 174



Bromsgrove Strategic Parking Review

Part Three: Review of On-Street Enforcement

10 May 2024

Waterman Infrastructure & Environment Ltd

5th Floor, One Cornwall Street, Birmingham B3 2DX
www.watermangroup.com

Page 175

Agenda ltem 7




Agenda Iltem 7
\\’ waterman

Client Name: Bromsgrove Council
Document Reference: 20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003
Project Number: WIE20771

Quality Assurance — Approval Status

This document has been prepared and checked in accordance with
Waterman Group’s IMS (BS EN ISO 9001: 2015, BS EN ISO 14001: 2015 and BS EN I1SO 45001:2018)

Revision Status Date Prepared by Checked by Approved by
PO1 S3 17/09/2024  Jack Wellings James Picton Richard White
Transport Planner Senior Transport Associate Director
Planner
CcO1 S4 07/10/2024  Jack Wellings James Picton Richard White
Transport Planner Senior Transport Associate Director
Planner
C02 S5 13/01/2025 Connor Webb Jack Wellings Richard White
Undergraduate Transport Consultant ~ Associate Director

Transport Planner

Comments

Final Issue following client comments

Revision Status

Pnn  Preliminary (shared; non-contractual) S1 Coordination

Cnn Contractual S2 Information
S3 Review & Comment
S4 Review & Authorise

S5 Review & Acceptance
A1, An uthorised & Accepted (n=work stage if applicable)
plgage l?é



Agenda ltem 7

Disclaimer

This report has been prepared by Waterman Infrastructure & Environment Ltd, with all reasonable skill, care, and
diligence within the terms of the Contract with the client, incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of
Business and taking account of the resources devoted to us by agreement with the client.

We disclaim any responsibility to the client and others in respect of any matters outside the scope of the above.

This report is confidential to the client, and we accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to third parties to whom
this report, or any part thereof, is made known. Any such party relies on the report at its own risk.

Page 177



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Contents

EXECULIVE SUMMAIY.....eeiieiiiii st e e e e s e s mnm e e e e s sa e nmn e e e e e s sa s nmmnnneeesannan 1
I {111 o o LW T T o 3
2 = - T (o 1o LU o 5
3. On Street Parking Enforcement AnalysSis. ..o e 6
4. Targeting of Parking Issues - Addressing Elected Member and Resident Concerns ............... 13
5. Targeting of Parking Issues - HOt SPOLtS ........ccccciiriimminiir e 18
6. Targeting of Parking Issues - Traffic Regulation Orders (TROS).......c.cccccmririmmmnnnimennsssreeesseee 23
7. Targeting of Parking Issues - Wychavon District Council (WDC) Parking Enforcement
Contract and Shopmobility ServiCe........ e 26
8. Recommendations and NexXt StePS.......cuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirir e s s s e rresesessssssnnnnnn 32
Figures

Figure 1: BromSQgroVe WAIGS .......uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e ssnssssnsssnnsssnsnsnssnnnnnnnnnnnnn 3
Figure 2: Number of PCN’s issued in BrOMSGrOVE .........ccuuuiiiiieee et ee e e e e e e e e e e 8
Figure 3: Number of PCN’s issued in RUDEIY .........oooiiiiiii e 9
Figure 4: Number of PCN'’s issued in Barnt Green and Alvechurch............cccccoviiiiiicie e 10
Figure 5: Number of PCN’s issued in HAQIEY .........cocooiiiiiiiiiiiee e 11
Figure 6: Highest Number of PCN'’s issued in Bromsgrove District...........cccooccviiiiiiei i 12
Figure 7: T AT =Y =Y o PP 23
Figure 8: N Y=o [0 o] o 23
Figure 9: Hagley Primary SChOOL ..........oooiii e e e e e e e e e e enanes 24
Figure 10:  Haybridge SCROOI .........cooiiiiie e e e e e e e e e s e raeeaeeeeaan 24
Figure 11:  Shawhurst Lane, HOIlYWOOd .............coiiiiiiiiiiiiee et a e e 24
Figure 12: Bradford Road, BelbroUughton ...........cooiiiiiiiiiiii et a e 24
Tables

Table 1: On Street Parking ANAIYSIS ... ...ooi ittt 6
Table 2: Summary of COUNCIION ISSUES ..........ueiiiiiiie e 13
Table 3: On Street Parking Analysis (Extract of Table 1) ..o 18
Table 4: HIgh ODSErVed COUNTS ..ottt et et e e ee e 18
Appendices

A. On-Street Car Parking Analysis

B. Bromsgrove Parking Charge Notices

C. Rubery Parking Charge Notices

D. Barnt Green and Alvechurch Parking Charge Notices

E. Hagley Parking Charge Notices

F. Bromsgrove District Parking Charge Notices

G. Councillor Comments

BromsgroveP é&é;j—?ﬁning Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Executive Summary

As part of a Strategic Review of Car Parking in Bromsgrove, Waterman Infrastructure and
Environment have been commissioned by Bromsgrove District Council (BDC) to provide analysis
and recommendations of enforcement for on-street parking in the district. The issues of on-street
parking, both within centres, on residential streets, and outside schools at peak times have been
raised as a concern by BDC elected Members and members of the public. Our analysis suggests
that there are several parking issues within the district, including parking outside of shops, take
aways and schools. Commencing with a BDC Parking Cabinet Advisory Group in May 2024, which
gathered strong Member interest, all issues raised were investigated through summer 2024 by
means of numerous site visits, meetings with elected Members out on site and a public engagement
event in Aston Fields Comments made by elected Members and members of the public have been
addressed in this document through observations out on site, with recommendations for each issue,
on a thematic basis.

On-street parking enforcement is currently contracted to Wychavon District Council (WDC) under
a Service Level Agreement. BDC has employed Wychavon District Council (WDC) to undertake
Civil Parking Enforcement for over 10 years. The services covered by this include the delivery of
on and off-street parking enforcement and the associated full administration including appeals and
adjudication. With the SLA having expired, there is an opportunity to look at alternatives. WDC have
a finite resource of 5.5 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) spread across
a mainly rural district, and this brings challenges in both coverage and logistics. However, our
investigations found that there are several locations and streets which are frequently visited by civil
enforcement officers in preference to others. From analysis of the beat patterns of the Civil
Enforcement Officers, the most common areas being enforced are Bromsgrove town centre, Barnt
Green and Rubery. This could be due to historical factors, logistics or commonality of repeat
offences, but it is clearly a situation that is a cause for frustration within BDC.

The general pattern of enforcement action means that there are several locations in the district,
such as Hagley, Alvechurch and Belbroughton in which enforcement action could be targeted,
where elected Members and residents have raised concerns with the perceived lack of presence
of CEOs when and where it really matters. In our view, WDC could be better supported through a
simpler conduit by which residents can report their concerns on parking violations / inconsiderate
parking to enable the service to be more responsive. An awareness-raising campaign, mainly
through social media platforms and community engagement, could be coordinated by BDC and
Worcestershire County Council (WCC) as Highway Authority to encourage considerate parking.
The recent update of the Highway Code and the gathering impetus towards criminalising pavement
parking in the future, could be a good hook in which to frame the campaign. The current contract
with WDC is currently under review and, in line with Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities in
England on Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions, which was updated in 2022, we have
made some suggestions where the contract can be enhanced so it follows the latest guidance and
that WDC can do everything within its powers to enforce parking violations.

Parking outside schools at peak times was frequently raised as a concern during our engagement
and is a long-term historical issue in most places. Some schools have taken their own approaches
to addressing parking concerns, such as measures to directly appeal to drivers, however this does
not appear to have been coordinated at district or county level. There are examples of good practice
within the district that could be suitable for other locations, and/or where BDC can learn from
neighbouring Local Authorities who are facing similar problems. For example, lack of coverage of
Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) outside some schools do not give CEOs the powers to enforce
parking violations; we suggest there is a need for more to be implemented around the district, so
that CEOs have the powers to address problem hotspots.

1
Bromsgrov&@@gi&?&gﬁing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

We have made several recommendations through this document which could go some way towards
alleviating illegal parking in the district. These include:

o A BDC social media and community engagement campaign, targeted at drivers, to
encourage considerate parking outside of shops and schools, as a “softer measure”
behavioural change campaign.

o Further investigation and action to review and amend “harder measure” parking restrictions
and increase coverage of signing and lining options (i.e. double yellow lines, designated
parking areas).

. BDC and WCC to investigate the potential of developing an online tool to enable BDC
residents to log parking violations and persistent offences, linked to the current WCC
system to report environmental concerns and problems with street furniture (i.e. street
lighting, pavements). This could be used by WDC as a measure to target resources from
local intelligence.

. Consideration by WDC of potential opportunities to free-up CEOs from patrolling off-street
car parks in Bromsgrove Town Centre through the recommendations to use ANPR
enforcement in certain locations, thus enabling the freeing-up of resources to patrol
locations where problems have been reported to persist and presence is currently low. It is
recommended that CEO coverage be increased to 20% of all CEO patrols to be undertaken
outside of Bromsgrove Town Centre.

. Coverage of TROs, outside of schools, in the district to be reviewed and increased where
problems persist. This will give CEOs the powers to enforce parking violations and will
discourage inconsiderate parking.

. BDC and WDC to investigate the feasibility of using vehicle-mounted ANPR enforcement
at parking hotspots outside of schools, thus further freeing up CEO resource to target
problem areas.

. In line with updated Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities in England on Civil
Enforcement of Parking Contraventions, adopt the suggestions where the contract can be
enhanced so it follows the latest guidance and that WDC can do everything within its
powers to enforce parking violations.

. A further public consultation exercise on the future of the Shopmobility Service as an
update to previous consultation carried out in 2021.

. Investigate the feasibility of resiting the Shopmobility service to the High Street.

On consideration of our findings and recommendations, we suggest a “Parking Task Group” should
be established between BDC, WDC and WCC to put these recommendations into action.

2
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-&a«ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

1. Introduction

1.1 This report focuses on on-street car parking enforcement and identifies 'hot spots' for where
traffic/parking enforcement issues exist. The report explores solutions that could be implemented
to improve this situation. This also includes a review of the enforcement service provided by
Wychavon District Council (WDC).

1.2 A review of on-street enforcement has been carried out to address member and resident concerns.
A review of concentration of enforcement and hotspots for law breaking/nuisance has also been
undertaken, focusing on repeat offences.

1.3 A variety of thematic options have been recommended, emphasising the need for a comprehensive
approach towards addressing on-street parking issues.

14 To gain a local view on the issues of on street parking, elected Members were engaged with through
summer 2024, and a public engagement event was carried out in one ward in July 2024. Any local
intelligence shared by elected Members through email was investigated further.

1.5 The district boundary and the respective wards within Bromsgrove are illustrated in Figure 1.

Figure 1: Bromsgrove Wards

S i o Quititon HARBORNE EDGBASTON ¥
Bromsgrove Ward Boundaries Stourbridge A e e
o & BALSALL HEATH

5

Kinver GNILL Halesowen i
s sty

& Alvechurch South Ward Edgbaston TYSELEY.

Alvechurch Village Ward C
B » Ny ’ Sty
47 Aston Fields Ward 1 " LLe i
&

Avoncroft Ward
g
Barnt Green and Hopwood Blakeshall
Ward

SEVY

Cookley.

& Bromsgrove Central Ward Romsley g
! :

olverley Churchill y

Belbroughton and Romsley
Ward H ROADWATERS Blakedown

& catshill North Ward "
47 Catshill North War 3elbrbughton aiidRonisleth bery  Am

Belbroughton”Bel| End Rednal

¥ é
o~ ingre™
47 Catshill South Ward g™

& charford Ward Kidderminster

Rubery South Ward.

s

Cofton Ward & ¥l
¥

&7 Drakes Cross Ward

Wythall

> Chester

3
5 Stone: Harvington - s LiL‘wy/\ Coton Ward

& Hagley East Ward Vigthall West Ward

o
3
g
<

N Tanwood

&7 Hagley West Ward < 5

Mustow Green Bournhethi

£ Hill Top Ward Chaddesley =78
Corbett oo

&7 Hollywood Ward / Dodford

& Lickey Hills Ward ) Torton '\/7

Lowes Hill Ward o ’L\ “M@f/ﬁ,e@r;/bews Ward.

(e (4 gy
Hartlebury Rushock 3

&

Earlswoo

o
Wood End

Rowney Green

Alvecaureh South Ward

& Marlbrook Ward

{7 Narton Ward
Tanworth

& penyfilds Ward WS
Waresley
Tardebigge Ward

o

{

\
: 3
4 Rock Hill Ward i - L
\ § Elmley Lovett Danzi
&7 Rubery North Ward < /

Crosswa Cutnall Green

4 Rubery South Ward i L~

%
au‘
Oy
U
%
FOXBYDIATE

& 5
A/ Sanders Park Ward Snead's Green Elmbridge & [ stoke Prior Redditch
Ky

47 sidemoor Ward Uller

WINYATES WEST

Aa3s

& lideslow Ward Avencroft Ward
Dunhampton

Lineholt

47 Tardebigge Ward 0Oldbe

g DAL Wychbold Lower Bentley . i i
L7 Wythall East Ward 3 Hfg’v‘é“t’” i [
&7 Wythall West Ward gy Rashwood : ESTATE
ik tocks Brook Morton Bag:

3
Bromsgrovel:@gegia-&lking Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



AX) waterman

1.6

Report Format

The structure of this report is as follows:

Section 2 reviews on street enforcement;

Section 3 analyses the on street parking;

Section 4 is the summary of councillor issues;

Section 5 identifies hot spots;

Section 6 explains Traffic Regulation Orders;

Section 7 summaries the Contract;

Section 8 provides a summary of the report findings; and,

Section 9 is the summary and conclusions.

4
Bromsgrovel:@gegia-&?king Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

2. Background

2.1 On street parking enforcement is currently undertaken by Wychavon District Council (WDC). The
CEOs patrol between 7am — 10pm. The areas that are patrolled are:

. Bromsgrove;

o Hagley;

. Belbroughton;
. Barnt Green;

D Wythall;

. Rubery

2.2 The most recurring complaints from elected Members and residents concerns on street parking
around drop off and pick up times at schools with limited Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) in the
district.

2.3 During June and July 2024, several meetings were held with WDC to discuss on street parking
enforcement in Bromsgrove and surrounding areas. There have been recent major changes to
Recreation Road and Churchfields car parks which have changed from “pay on foot” to Pay &
Display. There are approximately 5.5 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) CEOs currently patrolling. The
team is a joint resource between Bromsgrove and Redditch District Council areas, so they have a
considerable area to enforce.

24 Due to several parking offenses being undertaken outside of entertainment venues on Friday and
Saturday evenings, a series of late shift patterns can be undertaken which take place between 8pm
to 10pm. If availability of staff falls short of the required number, shifts patterns and beats are
amended accordingly.

5
Bromsgrové:@gegia-&%«ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



AX) waterman

3.2

3.3

3.4

On Street Parking Enforcement Analysis

Through engagement during summer 2024, the issues of on-street parking were raised as an
ongoing concern by elected Members and residents. Therefore, WDC provided information on all

roads in which a CEOQ visited, as part of their beat patterns.

The roads in which the highest number of Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) were issued, between
01/04/2023 and 31/03/2024, within the Bromsgrove District, are provided in Table 1 below. The full

output is provided in Appendix A.

Table 1:0n Street Parking Analysis

Agenda Item 7

Road Number of | Observed Notice Percentage | Percentage
Visits Counts Issued Visits Counts
(PCN’s) where where
PCNs PCNs
issued issued
Worcester Road, 981 2,402 183 19% 7%
Bromsgrove
Crown Close, 1,134 292 181 16% 62%
Bromsgrove
The Strand, Bromsgrove 1,945 211 115 6% 54%
Church Street, 1,468 209 105 7% 50%
Bromsgrove
Churchfields, 1,626 6,535 87 5% 1%
Bromsgrove
College Road, 553 2,924 65 12% 2%
Bromsgrove
Market Street, 3,834 1,117 60 1% 5%
Bromsgrove
High Street, 2,270 158 57 2% 36%
Bromsgrove
Hewell Road, Barnt 185 805 55 29% 7%
Green
New Road, Rubery 61 563 39 64% 7%
Worcester Road, Hagley 126 659 38 30% 5%
Fiery Hill Road, Barnt 193 138 37 19% 27%
Green
Windsor Street, 1,604 92 34 2% 37%
Bromsgrove
The Square, Alvechurch 119 430 31 31% 7%

The information provided by WDC show that most PCNs were issued on Worcester Road in
Bromsgrove with 183 PCN'’s issued within the year. There are 14 locations across the district where
31 or more PCN'’s have been issued in the course of a year.

Two roads in Bromsgrove town centre, Worcester Road and Crown Close, have by far the most
numbers of PCNs issued; there is an average of one PCN issued at these locations every two days.

6
Bromsgrovel:gﬂrgegia-%king Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Off the 14 locations with the most PCNs issued, Bromsgrove town centre locations make up 8
locations in this list.

3.5 The observed counts were taken on occasions when a vehicle was observed for a discretionary
period before a CEO issued the driver with a PCN. An example of this would include a vehicle
parked on double yellow lines. In this instance, the CEO would observe the vehicle for a period of
time, typically between 1 and 5 minutes, to determine whether any activity is taking place (e.g.
loading/unloading, a passenger boarding or alighting the vehicle).

3.6 On most occasions, vehicles will drive away within the observation time. If no activity is taking place
during the observation time, a PCN will be issued.

3.7 WDC’s system records how many observations are made, regardless of whether a PCN had been
issued or not.

3.8 A PCN is issued if a car is parked illegally (over the vehicles allotted time or parked on restrictions).
This is issued by a CEO when monitoring roads in the district.

3.9 In the sections below, we have provided maps to show where PCNs are being issued in each local
centre, to visualise where enforcement activity is concentrated:

Bromsgrove Town Centre

3.10  The points on the map extract in Figure 2 below shows the locations of PCNs being issued between
01/04/2023 and 31/03/2024 within Bromsgrove town centre.

7
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-%«ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



AX) waterman

Figure 2:

Number of PCN’s issued in Bromsgrove

Agenda Item 7

U yied

o
W
o

Rowan ./

1] 34ed

e
Ry

&

Ly
er‘
-

o
0. G
Oy .

py 26pliqinolg

ot
AM
e
o

stratford Ry

Sliddg

9 p
PY 15E3

y
Sy,

&
g

Number of Notices Issued

&) 31-38Notices
39 - 57 Notices
60 - 105 Notices

9

115 - 183 Notices

3.1
seen where the main parking

3.12

attractors are in the town.

Figure 2 shows that the majority of the PCNs issues are in the centre of Bromsgrove and it can be

It is noted that Bromsgrove town centre has excellent coverage of CEOs, that beat patterns pick up

the problematic locations and that CEOs are responsive to issuing PCNs at these locations. This
may be due to the fact economic activity within Bromsgrove is concentrated here, as well as the fact
the CEO welfare unit is located here also.

Rubery
3.13

between 01/04/2023 and 31/03/2024:

8
Bromsgrovel:gﬂrgegia-%(ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003

The points on the map extract in Figure 3 below shows the locations of PCN’s being issued in Rubery



3.14

AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

Figure 3: Number of PCN'’s issued in Rubery
o =
g AF L\
s fee w%
teenln & o \
G e\"q %, AR = .
o e ‘?G‘ 0‘&0 Mg /}7 ot ot RubEW'{O "-_'?g
% S 5
E
S
Rubery \® % %
New wos " o %,
3
c,\anl?‘d
Waseey i
: £ Five R
e £ 2 g
5 B z
E = = Qe®
% % g 2 e’
& 4, L 2 .
Py, “ % i Rubery
b % nm’“ﬁ‘q = »38 A3s A3E o
E % &
Z B z &
& Z N
g - 2 &
% @ SR L *
% o LS 2 o @
“ % @ ¥ es® 5 3, 3 .
7 % o) T z % % 1 e
& z % B Kendal Rise o
e > of R
%= Wl
3 ved ”{a% cliff Rock Rd :g-'
a .~
= \Nheltgg,, L& ) © &
5 = T = £ o
o B = g 2 = % =
= @ B ) ) 2 o,
8 g R % S ¥ &
e < [0} T &
oty %4 &
S &
b, g & i
Y a O o®
e 5 P
4y & &
o = =
Yapes®™"
alle .
. & Number of Notices Issued
L &
&
39 - 57 Notices

Figure 3 shows that the majority of the PCN’s are located on New Road in the centre of Rubery.

As this is the main shopping street in Rubery it makes sense to target enforcement action here,

however issues were raised by Members over inconsiderate parking on adjoining streets and at
The Avenue industrial estate, which do not appear to have been observed as frequently.

9
Bromsgrové%@&gi&&?king Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Barnt Green and Alvechurch

3.15  The points on the map extract in Figure 4 below shows the locations of PCN’s being issued in
Barnt Green and Alvechurch between 01/04/2023 and 31/03/2024:
Figure 4: Number of PCN’s issued in Barnt Green and Alvechurch
&S / Number of Notices Issued
T 12 31 - 38 Notices
: § :
& & Tgm2® 3 39 - 57 Notices
O‘e\ 3 < //’w,
y % 60 - 105 Notices
xerry Hill Rd \ = g
o Barnt Green = £ ® old
2 ey, Sangnne e e o 115 - 183 Notices
1 "R Flory HIl R Barnt Green - .
Sandhins\® @dﬁ% mucﬂ‘“‘ v
& %, ez 3 %5
e = - %,
; O\A“ngﬂ <n OVd,;%/* Q?&D‘x
us2] K ¢
2
%
Tanyard\S . 6‘2!)
; “\W“‘N\ - Alvechurch “38\"‘
e /)"‘o ‘Y\.\\\
@ % N H
; % ¥
B z§ School Ln
§ 2
< 3 ] S on®® &
& % _\ o e Hil Statio g T |
& g s@x\\z\d"‘“ S TS 57. 3
Scarfield iy $
3.16

The map extract in Figure 4 shows that the majority of the PCN’s in Barnt Green were issued on
Hewell Road, where the main shopping activity takes place, and directly outside Barnt Green train
station on Fiery Hill Road. Members and residents have raised issues with parking on Sandhills

Road and Sandhills Lane, which do not appear to have been observed by CEOs as frequently.
3.17

For Alvechurch, the majority of PCNs were issued by the village centre car park on Birmingham
Road. It should be noted that the centre covers a wide area, and this includes a number of schools

where problematic parking has been raised by Members, including further along Birmingham Road
towards the M42 bridge.

10
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-&ﬁ&ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



3.19

3.18

AX) waterman

Hagley

01/04/2023 and 31/03/2024:

Agenda Item 7

The points on the map extract in Figure 5 shows the locations of PCNs being issued between
Figure 5:

Number of PCN’s issued in Hagley
&
4,
‘EJ
& &
- &
hird C,
Q bt?w
Middiefield Ln &
W
-Eiraﬁre tJ'I Qﬁt&h o?,
A
Hagley= Station R o n %_
o = "
N [= )
° = o
o %
k'::.5” "‘?gp
h &
Church 51 '.:(‘-" %
. ¢B‘d\
WEST HAGLEY W
S‘u.anmn
g
:?;E "?{,f
(3
& &
& £ B
& 8 “Stern®
e % .-,'.xﬁ“ind
"l e
: &
"ge & Number of Notices Issued
1]
o&® S ’
st i 31 - 38 Notices
oo T“F'c.r;
@\ v nafr;_n
The map extract in Figure 5 shows that the majority of the PCN’s were issues on Worcester Road
of PCNs were issued.

in Hagley village centre. There are, however, wider parking issues in Hagley associated with
parking outside schools and colleges on Station Road and Park Road, where only a small number

11
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-&g«ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771

20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Bromsgrove District

3.20 The points on the map extract in Figure 6 shows the locations of PCN’s being issued between
01/04/2023 and 31/03/2024 across the whole district. A map is provided at Appendix F for the
Bromsgrove District area.

Figure 6: Highest Number of PCN’s issued in Bromsgrove District
Number of Notices Issued
Hagley
Lower Cl .
e ¥ 31 -38 Notices
Clent Romsley
39 - 57 Notices
9
Y 60 - 105 Notices
’%%
g Bell Heath k. ery y
Belbroughton™Bell End Q 115 - 183 Notices
s 0y Ln r\'_v,‘?)
a AS Arrowfield
7 Fairfield Lydiate Ash' Lickey Top
Tanwood M5
Bournheath >
hladdesley N P &
Corbett Catshill Barnt Green Me2
. SN M42 4 o
Dodford (42, ~ 42 L
Lickey End Alveciurch
e,
"’V/:,p,ﬁ o ? ?:’ Rowney Green
g
Broub ve
t;;-b Finstall
Charford £
v %
N “d Stoke Heath D
o,
ﬁ\gxz) w//
& () -
Elmbridae & Stake Prinr . Redditch

Summary

3.21  Analysis of enforcement activity shows that CEO activity is concentrated in Bromsgrove town
centre, which is where the CEO welfare unit is located. Other highly visited places are the village
centres of Barnt Green, Rubery and Hagley.

3.22 There are several places which did not have a high number of PCN'’s issued. This includes
Belbroughton, Hagley and Alvechurch. However, these locations are visited regularly. The places
with a high number of visits and low PCNs issued are detailed in Section 5 of this report.

3.23 There are further gaps in enforcement activity that could be targeted by local intelligence to
discourage repeat offences. The villages of Catshill, Romsley, Lickey and Rowney Green do not
appear to be visited as frequently as could be, and there is a risk that parking issues will remain
entrenched. In the following sections, we discuss how parking issues can be targeted and
addressed through coordinated action, targeting hotspots and contractual enhancements.

12
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegia-%ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

4. Targeting of Parking Issues - Addressing Elected Member and
Resident Concerns

4.1 During engagement with elected Members and residents in Summer 2024, numerous concerns
were raised about parking at problematic locations and with regular frequency. Therefore, in July
and August 2024, a site visit was undertaken by members of the project team to each of the places
of concern.

4.2 These visits were carried out to enable the team to observe parking issues, to determine the root
cause, as well as observe any associated issues caused by illegal or inconsiderate parking.

4.3 The summary of elected Member and residents’ comments, any notes from the site visits and the
body responsible for this, are provided in Table 2 below. The table provides a summary of
comments made by location, what was observed during the site visits and the recommendation,
along with action owner.

44 The full table including site visit photos are provided in Appendix G.
Acronyms = WDC — Wychavon District Council (Parking Enforcement)
WCC — Worcestershire County Council (Highways)
BDC — Bromsgrove District Council
WMRE — West Midlands Rail Executive (as part of West Midlands Combined Authority)
WMP — West Mercia Police

NFA — No further action required

Table 2: Summary of Issues
District Comments Recommendation Action
Owner
Rubery Lack of enforcement for Increase frequency of CEO wDC
vehicles parked illegally. activity on New Road
Frequent parking outside shop | Increase frequency of CEO wDC
frontages and illegal parking by | activity on New Road.
American Candy and
Banophool restaurant.
Diagonal parking at shops, Reline spaces to better WCC
cars now too big. economise spacing and
increase capacity.

Poor parking bay marking and | Reline parking spaces. WCC
lining outside takeaways (Ruby
Chinese).
Parking issues on Whetty Lane | N/A NFA
including opposite Coppice
Close and on Leach Heath
Lane.

Aston Fields | On Stoke Road there are Increase frequency of CEO | WDC
reports of lack of enforcement. | activity in  Aston Fields,

targeted at problem locations.

Needs dedicated lined parking | Investigate opportunities to WCC
bays — outside row of shops. increase parking capacity.

13
Bromsgrov&gegia-galking Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

enforcement, ignoring parking
restrictions, lack of double
yellow or faded road markings.

activity in Hagley, targeted at
Park Road and Station Road.
Investigate relining along Park
Road and Station Road.

Inconsiderate parking by large | Work with Co-Op store to WDC
vehicles. encourage use of dedicated
loading bay.
School parking issues affecting | Increase frequency of CEO BDC, WDC,
the rugby club. activity in Aston Fields, WCC
targeted at problem locations.
Work with school to encourage
considerate parking and
investigate possibility of
implementing a TRO.
Parking in the vicinity of Fringe | Increase frequency of CEO wDC
Green Road causes traffic from | activity in Aston Fields,
the traffic signals to merge due | targeted at problem locations.
restricted carriageway spaces
and limits visibility.
Key issues are lack of parking Increase frequency of CEO wDC
for residents as they have no activity in Aston Fields,
driveways and a garage targeted at problem locations.
opposite on Stoke Road.
It has been suggested to use | Await resurfacing work in BDC
old station car park and issue | Summer / Autumn 2024 and
permits to residents. monitor usage
Alvechurch | Lack of enforcement in the Increase frequency of CEO wDC
town centre. Long stay parking | activity in Alvechurch, targeted
beyond limits at problem locations.
Lack of EV charging on street. | Investigate opportunity for an WCC
EV charging station outside
Village Hall.
School parking issues — needs | Increase frequency of CEO WDC,
enforcement and better activity in Alvechurch, targeted | WCC BDC
signage. at problem locations. Work
with school to encourage
considerate parking and
investigate possibility of
implementing a TRO.
Village Hall parking bays need | N/A NFA
repainting.
Beoley Lack of enforcement, cars Increase frequency of CEO WDC,
(Portway) dumped, needs better lining activity in Portway, targeted at | WCC
and double yellows (near to this location. Investigate
Fishing Republic) on Alcester double-yellow lining along
Road. length of Alcester Road to
Penn Road junction. Provide
hatching at junction of Alcester
Road and Penn Road to
discourage parking on
junction.
Lack of enforcement on Dumble | Increase frequency of CEO WDC, WCC
Pit Lane. Better signage | activity in Portway, targeted at
needed. Make a one-way | this location.
street?
Hagley Issues around school — lack of | Increase frequency of CEO WDC, WCC

14
Bromsgrov&gegia-%king Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003




AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

Issues with school traffic and
inconsiderate parking from
both Hagley Catholic and
Haybridge Schools — needs
better lining and enforcement

parade of shops, being used
inconsiderately

exit width to shopping parade
to encourage on-way flow.

Parish car park — workers use Investigate feasibility of WDC, BDC,
it when it should be for resurfacing the car park with WCC
shoppers, look at enforcement | better lining of spaces, signage
arrangements, needs EV to advise of parking restrictions
provision, better lining and EV charging provision.
Better lining and spacing for Investigate re-lining parking WCC
improving capacity on side of bays to economise space
Worcester Road opposite along Worcester Road.
shops
Train car park — many drop-offs | BDC officers to raise parking BDC,
near to station to avoid parking | issues at Hagley with WMRE WCC,
charges, needs better lining on | with a view to finding a solution | WMRE
residential streets. for the station car park.
Investigate further double-
yellow lines and clearly defined
parking spaces on Station
Road, Brake Lane and
Sweetpool Road.
Belbroughton | Outside infant school — reline Investigate relining at this | WCC
double yellow? location
Outside Talbot Pub — needs Increase frequency of CEO WDC,
better lining and management. | activity in Belbroughton, WMP
Lack of enforcement especially | targeted at this location.
when big events are going on
Clent Lack of parking management Increase frequency of CEO WDC, BDC,
near to National Trust car activity in Clent, targeted at WCC,
parks — people parking in this location, and coordinate WMP
village centre or on with WMP.
surrounding roads. Needs
double yellows and Investigate further double-
enforcement yellow lines and clearly defined
parking spaces on Hagley
Wood Lane.
Fairfield Inconsiderate parking outside | Investigate relining at this | WCC
Fairfield school, needs better | location
lining (currently faded), needs
double vyellows not single,
needs to be enforced
Romsley Bays outside Co-op need Investigate lining clearly WCC
better lining defined parking spaces at this
location
One way in/out for accessing | Investigate reducing entrance / | WCC

15
Bromsgrove!:gﬂgegia-%&ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003




AX) waterman

Agenda Item 7

Barnt Green | Better management of car Investigate lining clearly BDC/WDC

parking around rail station — defined parking spaces at this

double yellows and location

enforcement needed

Use Victoria / social club car BDC to speak to Social Club | BDC

park for overflow shoppers about this opportunity

parking?

Rationalise high street parking | BDC / WDC to investigate | BDC

times, should be 1 hour across | feasibility of rationalising wait | WDC

the board? times to discourage long-stay
parking.

Better marking and signage Investigate relining at this | WCC

around schools location

Reline bays and lines Investigate relining at this | WCC
location

Longer double yellows to deter | Investigate relining at this | WCC

long-stay parking on residential | location

street

Catshill Parking management by Investigate relining at this WCC

Catshill First School — better location

signing and lining

Better parking management Investigate relining at this | WCC

around shops — lining bays etc | location

Better parking management Investigate relining at this | WCC

outside One Stop, paint bays in | location

and hatching at junction?

Paint parking bays on the | Investigate relining at this | WCC

highways to deter pavement | location

parking

Summary of Actions

WDC - Wychavon District Council (Parking Enforcement)

Increase frequency of CEO activity at problem locations

WCC — Worcestershire County Council (Highways)

Investigate further double-yellow lining at problem locations.

Provide junction hatching at problem locations o discourage parking on junctions.

Reline on-street spaces at particular locations to better economise spacing and increase

capacity.

Reline parking spaces.

Investigate implementing TROs outside schools where they currently do not exist and where

parking issues are persistent.

BDC - Bromsgrove District Council

Work with schools and local businesses where parking issues persist to encourage considerate
parking or use of dedicated facilities.

16
Bromsgrove!:gﬂgegia-%king Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003




Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

e Investigate feasibility of rationalising wait times within village centres, to ensure usage of shops.
Restaurants etc is balanced and equitable, and that spaces are used for the correct purposes.

e Investigate issuing residents parking permits at problem locations.
e Speak to landowners about opportunities for overspill parking.
e Await resurfacing /upgrading work to particular car parks and monitor usage.

e Investigate further Electric Vehicle charging provision in car parks and on-street spaces in village
centres.

WMRE - West Midlands Rail Executive (as part of West Midlands Combined Authority

o BDC officers to raise parking issues at Hagley with WMRE with a view to finding a solution for the
station car park.

WMP - West Mercia Police

e Coordinated action between WDC and WMP to address parking issues in Belbroughton and Clent.

Conclusion

410 The issues raised by Members were supported through our own observations during the site visits.
These included large vehicles parking in restricted areas and vehicles parked at junctions. Some
of the comments are at specific times of the day such as school drop off and pick up, parking on
certain roads and issues around takeaways.

411 Following the comments raised by Members and residents, and the subsequent site visit to view
these areas of concern, a number of ‘hot spots’ have been identified where enforcement and / or
potential solutions are possible.

17
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-%&ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

Targeting of Parking Issues - Hot Spots

From the PCN data received from WDC, coupled with the councillor comments, it has been
identified that within the Bromsgrove District, there have been many PCN’s issued to cars parked
illegally over a 12-month period. The places with the highest number of PCN'’s issued is identified
in Table 1 (in Section 3).

Cars tend to illegally park when they are parking for short periods of time. Clusters and hot spots
tend to be within the vicinity of schools, shops, and takeaways.

An extract of Table 1 is provided in Table 3. Roads that had less than 60 PCN’s over a year issued
have been removed from the extracted table.

Table 3: On Street Parking Analysis (Extract of Table 1)

Road Number of Visits | Observed Counts | Notice Issued Percentage of
(PCNs) PCNs issued
Worcester Road, 981 2,402 183 19%
Bromsgrove
Crown Close, 1,134 292 181 16%
Bromsgrove
The Strand, 1,945 211 115 6%
Bromsgrove
Church Street, 1,468 209 105 7%
Bromsgrove
Churchfields, 1,626 6,535 87 5%
Bromsgrove
College Road, 553 2,924 65 11%
Bromsgrove
Market Street, 3,834 1,117 60 1%
Bromsgrove

There have also been locations where there has been many observed illegal parking but a lower
number of PCN’s issued. This is identified in Table 4.

Table 4: High Observed Counts

Road Number of Visits | Observed Counts NOtzg%:f:)UEd ';gﬁ?:::gse?;
Churchfields, 1,626 6,535 87 1%
Bromsgrove
College Road, 553 2,924 65 2%
Bromsgrove
Recreation Road, 1,293 1,277 16 1%
Bromsgrove
Burcot Lane, 53 84 2 2%
Bromsgrove
New Road, 829 129 1 1%
Bromsgrove

From Table 4, the reasons why a low percentage of PCNs have been issued is possibly due to a
high number of vehicles moving on upon seeing the CEO and, therefore only one or two percent of
tickets have been issued.

18
Bromsgrovel:gﬂrgegia-%(ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

5.11

5.12

5.13

5.14

5.15

Specifically, this was observed outside schools when parents / guardians are dropping off pupils at
the start of the day and picking up and the end of the school day. There could be additional times
when cars are parked for after school activities such as parents evening and school performances
for example. CEQ’s cannot issue PCN'’s if there is no Traffic Regulation Order in place (there is
more information on Traffic Regulation Orders in Section 6).

Rubery

During the site visit, it was observed that cars were parked on double yellow lines along New Road
and outside shop frontages. There were no CEOs on patrol during the site visit. However, as shown
in Appendix A, CEOs visited New Road 61 times.

As suggested by the elected Members here, the diagonal parking bays are inadequate to
accommodate modern vehicle dimensions. To accommodate larger parking spaces, a redesign of
the parking areas on New Road would be required. This could potentially result in the loss of parking
space availability.

Aston Fields

The parking bays outside the Co-op on Stoke Road were clearly marked and sufficient for three
vehicles, however, during the site visit, it was observed that vehicles, including an HGV, were
parked illegally on Stoke Road outside the Co — op. There were no CEQO’s on patrol during this visit,
although, as shown in Appendix A, CEO'’s visited Stoke Road 62 times.

The issues around the school on Rigby Lane would be affected during school start and finish times.
The site visit was undertaken during the school summer holidays, so no issues were viewed on the
day.

Regarding the issues at the Stoke Road / Fringe Green Road priority junction, there were vehicles
parked opposite Fringe Green Road, however, there was no queuing back from the junction the
A38. A potential to improve traffic flow and sight lines in and out of the junction is to extend the
double yellow lines to improve sight lines for vehicles exiting onto Stoke Road, especially during
times when it is queueing back from the A38.

There was no illegal parking recorded at dwellings around the garage on Stoke Road. There is a
lack of driveways, and the garage is operational. The potential solution is to allow residents to apply
to permit parking along Stoke Road.

There have been suggestions to use Aston Fields Social Club Car Park and better utilise the old
station car park (Aston Fields Car Park). Both car parks had no vehicles parked on them during the
site visit. The social club car park is a private car park which would require liaison with the social
club and Aston Fields Car Park is two hours free parking and the machine issues tickets for this,
but that is the maximum stay permitted.

Alvechurch

One of the issues in Alvechurch is that there is a lack of enforcement in the town centre and vehicles
park for longer than the permitted time limits. There were no CEO’s on patrol during this visit,
although, as shown in Appendix A, CEQ’s visited The Square, Alvechurch 119 times. Also, no
vehicle electric charging points were observed on street.

The parking bays outside the Village Hall were in the process of being re-painted as this issue was
raised by the Members.

19
Bromsgrov&@@gi&&a?king Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

5.16 At Alvechurch CofE Middle School, there are parking issues. The councillor has suggested
enforcement and improved signage. Cones were placed along the curb line to prevent vehicles
from parking.

5.17 These issues could be resolved by re-painting the yellow lines and making Alvechurch a higher
priority on the CEO’s beat.

Beoley, Portway

5.18 On Alcester Road in Portway, there have been Parish Councillor complaints about a lack of
enforcement and vehicles parked on double yellow lines. During the site visit, it was observed that
vehicles were parked on both sides of the road on double yellow lines as well as on the verges.
These issues could be resolved by making Portway a priority on the CEQO’s beat (which as shown
in Appendix A, CEQO’s visited Alcester Road 33 times) or the installation of a camera along this
section of Alcester Road.

5.19 There was also a comment about parking along Dumble Pit Lane. During the site visit, a vehicle
was parked on the double yellow lines. There is also a suggestion to make the road one-way.
However, the road serves the petrol filling station. The petrol filling station can also be accessed
from the A435 northbound carriageway. A further review of the impact of making the road one-way
would have to be undertaken in terms of capacity and vehicle routing.

Hagley

5.20 The issues in Hagley are parking issues at the primary school on Park Lane and the two secondary
schools on Brake Lane. It was observed that a number of the road markings were faded. There
were no CEOs on patrol during this visit, although, as shown in Appendix A, CEOs visited Park
Road 54 times and Brake Lane 6 times during 2023/2024.

5.21 The car park in the centre of Hagley, the Shopper’s Car Park, was relatively full during the site visit.
The overflow is vehicles parking on Worcester Road. It was viewed during the site visit that the on-
street parking was fully utilised and no illegal parking was observed. As shown in Appendix A,
CEO’s visited Worcester Road 126 times.

Belbroughton

5.22 The lining outside the infant school was faded. On roads outside the Talbot Pub, there was no cars
parked illegally and the lining was adequate. There were no CEOs on patrol during this visit,
although, as shown in Appendix A, CEO’s visited High Street 104 times. There is, however, an
issue of the number of vehicles being driver after visiting a pub which may be addressed by the
police.

Clent

5.23 The councillor raised the issue that there was lack of parking management near to the National
Trust Car Park and vehicles park on surrounding roads. It was observed on the site visit that
vehicles park on both sides of Hagley Wood Lane to avoid paying for the National Trust Car Park.
There were no CEOs on patrol during this visit, although, as shown in Appendix A, CEQ’s visited
Holy Cross Green three times. A potential solution to this issue is to provide directional signage to
the Walton Hill Car Park which is located approximately 0.75km to the east of the National Trust
Car Park on Hagley Wood Road.

5.24 These issues could be resolved by re painting the yellow lines and making Hagley a higher priority
on the CEQO’s beat.

20
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-%&ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Fairfield

5.25 The lining outside the school had faded. Therefore, re painting the lines would be required. There
were no CEOs on patrol during this visit, although, as shown in Appendix A, CEO’s visited B4091
Stourbridge Road 10 times.

Romsley

5.26 The lining outside the Co-op were adequate during the site visit and there we no vehicles observed
using the in and out accessing the parade of shops inconsiderately. There were no CEOs on patrol
during this visit, although, as shown in Appendix A, CEOs visited B4091 Stourbridge Road 10
times.

Barnt Green

5.27 At the railway station in Barnt Green, the councillor suggest that better enforcement is required on
roads around the station. This includes Hewell Road, Fiery Hill Road and Station Approach. They
suggest double yellow lines and enforcement. There were no cars parked illegally during the site
visit and there were no CEQOs on patrol during this visit, although, as shown in Appendix A, CEQO’s
visit Fiery Hill Road 193 times and Hewell Road 185 times.

5.28 There have been suggestions to use Barnt Green Social Club Car Park as an additional facility to
add capacity. The social club car park had no vehicles parked on it during the site visit. The social
club car park is a private car park which would require BDC to liaise with the social club and seek
an agreement.

5.29 There is a suggestion by the councillor to rationalise high street parking times. During the site visit
it was observed the parking was limited to a maximum of 30 mins outside the Tesco. Elsewhere on
Hewell Road, parking is restricted to a maximum of 2 hours. All the available parking was utilised,
however, a high number of cars were arriving and departing, especially in the 30 min parking
section outside Tesco'’s.

5.30 It was also observed during the site visit that the lining was faded on Hewell Lane. This was lining
for the parking bays and lining around in the vicinity of St Andrew's CofE First School. Therefore,
the re painting of these lines will be required.

Catshill

5.31 During the site visit, it was observed that lining was faded around Catshill First School. There were
suggestions from Members for better parking management around shops on Golden Cross Lane,
better parking management at One Stop on Woodrow Lane and for painting parking bays on the
highway to deter pavement parking.

5.32 A van was parked on the footway whilst a delivery outside one of the restaurants on Golden Cross
Lane. Therefore, better signing and lining would be required as well as obstruction so vehicles
cannot park on the footway.

21
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegia-gag«ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

Committed Developments

5.33 A review of the committed developments in the district has identified that there are several new
residential developments which could have an effect on the number of vehicles parking on street.

5.34  The analysis undertaken of the existing car parks within Bromsgrove town centre identify that there
is currently capacity available for additional vehicles from these proposed developments.
Therefore, on street parking issues should not exacerbated by these new developments.

5.35 The impact of the committed developments on district and local centres is not currently known.
Further work is required to understand demand and impact on the local highway network and
parking capacity within these centres.

Summary

5.36  The on street parking issues identified by the councillors, coupled with the number of PCN’s issued
and the subsequent site visits, have been summarised, and potential solutions for each district have
been provided.

5.37 ltis also stated that there are several committed developments across the district, however, these
are not likely to have an impact on the level of on-street parking in Bromsgrove town centre. It is
unclear whether they would have an impact on local centres, and so further work is required to
understand the impacts.

22
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegizggaing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

6. Targeting of Parking Issues - Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs)

6.1 A TRO is the responsibility of the highway authority. The highway authority for BDC (and WDC) is
Worcestershire County Council (WCC).

6.2 To enable a CEO to issue a PCN on a vehicle, a TRO must be in place for the PCN to be issued.
“Zig-zag” yellow markings outside schools are only enforceable if a TRO is present.

6.3 There are currently only four locations in Bromsgrove District that have TROs on the yellow “Zig
Zag’” lines on the road outside schools, and these are:

. Shawhurst Lane, Coppice Primary School and Woodrush Hight School, Wythall;
o Bradford Lane, Belbroughton Primary School, Belbroughton;

o B4551 Bromsgrove Road, St Kenelms Primary, Romsley; and,

. Gunner Lane, Holywell Primary School, Rubery.

6.4 Therefore, given the lack of coverage, in order to allow CEOs to address parking issues outside of
schools through enforcement, BDC must request that WCC implement more TRO’s so that CEOs
can issue PCNs if vehicles are parked illegally.

6.5 There is a large amount of parking that occurs outside schools when dropping off and picking up
pupils. There have been instances of illegal parking in Barnt Green, Alvechurch, Hollywood and
Hagley.

6.6 Despite the schools having advisory signing and lining, informing drivers that there are restrictions
to parking in this location, there are many reported instances where this on street illegal parking is
an issue.

6.7 As previously mentioned, there are a high number of PCN'’s issued on Shawhurst Lane as there is
a TRO in place which allows CEQ’s to issue PCN'’s. However, schools in Barnt Green, Alvechurch,
Lickey, and Hagley, amongst others, do not have these TRO’s. The current parking restrictions on
roads by the schools are shown below in Figures 7, 8, 9 and 10.

Barnt Green Figure 8: Alvechurch

Figure 7:

23
Bromsgrov&g&‘]iz%ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



6.8

6.9

6.10

Figure 9:

Hagley Primary School

The roads where TRO’s have been adopted
to and the PCN’s are enforceable are
Shawhurst Lane and Bradford Road and as
such there are a high number of PCN'’s
issued. The parking restrictions on
Shawhurst Lane and Bradford Road are
shown below in Figure 11 and 12.

Figure 11:

Shawhurst Lane, Hollywood

Agenda ltem 7

Figure 10: Haybridge School

Bradford Road,

Figure 12:
Belbroughton

Many of the problems raised by elected Members and residents, and observed during site visits,
appear to be outside schools, shops, and takeaways.

Therefore, the introduction of greater coverage of TROs in problem hot spots would allow CEOs to
issue PCNs in these locations, and therefore a TRO would need to be applied for and implemented

by WCC at the following locations.

We have listed these by order of strategic priority:

D New Road, Rubery;

o Stoke Road, Aston Fields (particularly outside Co-op);

24
Bromsgrov&gegiz%)king Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

6.11

6.12

On Rigby Lane outside Rigby Hall School;

Hagley Primary School, Park Road, Hagley;

Haybridge High School and Sixth From, Brake Lane, Hagley;
Hagley Catholic High School, Brake Lane, Hagley;

Hewell Road, Hewell Lane and Fiery Hill Road, Barnt Green; and,

Catshill First School, B4185 Gibb Lane.

A TRO in these locations would allow CEO’s to issue PCN’s to the vehicles parked illegally. The
number of visits could potentially increase with the ability to issue PCN'’s to those vehicle parked

illegally.

Currently, the issue of arriving to a location without a TRO, illegal parking can only be observed
and not acted upon.

25
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegiz%&ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

7. Targeting of Parking Issues - Wychavon District Council (WDC)
Parking Enforcement Contract and Shopmobility Service

71 The contract between Wychavon District Council (WDC) and Bromsgrove District Council (BDC) is
summarised in this section. This covers both parking enforcement and the Shopmobility service.

7.2 On-street parking enforcement is currently contracted to Wychavon District Council (WDC) under
a Service Level Agreement. BDC has employed Wychavon District Council (WDC) to undertake
Civil Parking Enforcement for over 10 years. The services covered by this include the delivery of
on and off-street parking enforcement and the associated full administration including appeals and
adjudication.

7.3 For the Patrol services, the requirements of WDC are currently carried out by 5.5 FTE employees,
consisting of CEOs. These CEOs are also a shared resource with Redditch District Council. The
employees carry out patrols on BDC Car Parks and to enforce on street parking regulations. These
patrols are carried out primarily between 7am and 10pm, Monday to Sunday.

7.4 A key requirement of the current contract is that 10% of patrol time is required to be undertaken in
areas such as Rubery, Hagley, Wythall and Barnt Green. From the data analysed, it appears that
this requirement is being met, although it is worth noting that this still leaves large areas with lack
of coverage of CEOs.

7.5 As part of this review, discussions were held with WDC regarding the efficacy of the current contract.
Matters such as coverage, levels of enforcement and use of local intelligence were discussed,
however the main issue WDC face is the retention of CEOs, given the nature of the work. As can
be seen in previous chapters, our investigations of patrols and PCNs found that there are several
locations and streets which are frequently visited by civil enforcement officers in preference to
others.

7.6 The general pattern of enforcement action means that there are several locations in the district,
such as Worcester Road, Hagley, The Square, Alvechurch and New Road, Aston Fields in which
enforcement action could be targeted, where elected Members and residents have raised concerns
with the perceived lack of presence of CEOs when and where it really matters.

7.7 With the SLA having expired, there is an opportunity to look at alternatives to the existing
arrangements. In considering the wide range of options for BDC parking enforcement services, and
how to deliver them, we discuss which option provides the best value for money, is efficient and
effective and demonstrates Best Value through continuous improvement. Throughout the three-part
Strategic Review, we have done this by critically assessing the current arrangements and by looking
at how services are provided by other councils and other organisations.

2022 Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities in England: Civil Enforcement of Parking
Contraventions

7.8 First and foremost, before considering the recommended option, it is advised that BDC update
any future SLA in line with recently updated Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities in England
on Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (2022).

7.9 In the updated Statutory Guidance, there are now provisions that allow for CEOs to issue
information leaflets or warning notices. This could be particularly useful at locations such as outside
of a school where we have recommended for a TRO to be adopted, and, whilst it is going through
the formal processes, to provide those carrying out parking violations ample warning of future
enforcement action.

26
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegiz%king Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

7.10 Furthermore, provisions allow, if the CEOs have the time available, such as from the freeing up of
resource, to carry out related traffic management tasks. There is the opportunity for CEOs to carry
out tasks such as informing the police of criminal parking activity and reporting suspected
abandoned vehicles, both issues which have been raised during engagement and encountered
during site visits.

7.11  Provisions also allow for officers to be classified as “Dual Function” CEOs where they can carry out
functions under more than one act. For example, a CEO may be authorised under the Traffic
Management Act for the purposes of carrying out parking enforcement duties, but that same CEO
may also be authorised under environmental legislation for the purposes of carrying out
environmental enforcement duties such as issuing fixed penalty notices for littering or dog fouling.
This could bring benefits for both environmental and public health outcomes but would need to be
discussed/agreed between services as to the requirements and how it could be implemented, if this
is an option that is of interest.

7.12  More pertinently, the updated provisions allow local authorities outside of London to, for the first
time, enforce “moving traffic contraventions”, such as endorsable offences as dangerous parking,
obstruction, failure to comply with police "no parking" signs placed in emergencies, and any vehicle
where security or other traffic policing issues are involved, including the need to close roads or set
up diversions. Parking offences at pedestrian crossings or zigzag lines may be enforced by the
police or the authority but any action by the police currently takes precedence.

713 A Commencement Order in the updated guidance gives those local authorities in England outside
London with existing civil parking enforcement powers, the ability to apply to the Secretary of State
for an order designating all or part of their network as a civil enforcement area for moving traffic
contraventions. From the guidance being enacted in October 2022, to October 2023, up to 52 Local
Authorities had applied for a commencement order under the first two tranches.

7.14  ltis recommended that BDC review the further passage of legislation in this regard as creating a
cohesive civil enforcement regime will remove numerous inconsistencies which inherently arose
due to the disparate enabling legislation, enabling more efficient future administration.

Option Assessment
7.15  Three options have been considered for a future SLA and are discussed in this section:
Option 1 — Do-Nothing

For the Do-Nothing option, this implies that the SLA remains as it currently stands and is
merely updated according to additional provisions in the 2022 Guidance.

Option 2 — SLA Enhancements

The Contract Enhancements option implies that for the parking enforcement element, the
new SLA would need to integrate our recommendations for contractual enhancements, so
that it follows the latest guidance and best practice and integrates the recommendations of
our reports.

Option 3 — Alternative Provider

The final option, an Alternative Provider, implies that BDC do not continue with WDC and
retender for the service, perhaps opening up parking enforcement for an SLA with a private
contractor.

7.16  For the Shopmobility element, we believe a further review is required, including an updated survey
of service users, to understand their views and needs, especially with regards to maintenance of
Shopmobility equipment, response times to customer enquiries, or comments on the booking

27
Bromsgrovel:gﬂgegiz%«ing Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

system and registration, so that BDC can ensure the service is fit for purpose and can provide
strategic direction and support.

Option 1 — Do-Nothing

7.17 ‘Do nothing’ means the SLA is simply carried over for WDC to deliver parking enforcement services
for another set period. This would represent the ‘status quo’ by retaining the current arrangements.

7.18 There could be benefits from the continuity of service, but this option would not address resident of
Member concerns about the efficacy of the service and would not fulfil the strategic objectives set
by BDC or the recommendations of our review.

7.19 There would be a loss of collaboration opportunity to deliver cost savings. This option would not
require any financial investment, but BDC would also receive no cost savings and efficiencies from
recommendations made in our reports. BDC will still have a compliant CEO team but will lose
potential resilience benefits.

Option 2 — SLA Enhancements

7.20  This option implies that for the parking enforcement element, a new SLA be agreed with WDC with
negotiated enhancements that integrate our recommendations in the reports.

7.21 In the second document of our strategic review, regarding off-street car parking facilities, we have
recommended that BDC adopt enforcement by ANPR cameras at certain high-volume car parks in
Bromsgrove town centre. This would free up resource to enable CEOs to spend a greater amount
of time outside of Bromsgrove town centre, as they would not be required to patrol certain public
car parks.

7.22 We recommend that BDC negotiate a 10% increase in the requirement of patrol time to be
undertaken outside the town centre and that this requirement explicitly includes areas where poor
coverage has been reported, such as Catshill and Belbroughton. This would mean that in the
revised contract, there would be a requirement that 20% of patrol time be carried out in outlying
areas. This would of course be subject to the recommendation being adopted from the previous
element of our strategic review, in that ANPR equipment is adopted at the 8 Bromsgrove town
centre car parks, to free up CEO resource to patrol elsewhere in the district.

7.23  This option will demonstrate ownership of change in the face of the government funding challenge
and will embed a change culture. It will deliver cost savings and protect or enhance frontline services
in priority areas.

7.24  Due to rise of contactless payments, BDC will be able to reduce cash collection, providing a saving
of around £50,000 per annum. The reduced amounts taken in cash as a result of the above should
mean that the amounts in the payment machines are unlikely to decrease as customers switch to
card or online payments.

7.25 Further, there could be benefits from continuity of service and BDC will benefit from the additional
enforcement presence and/or deterrence that ANPR will provide in Bromsgrove town centre. Under
the current arrangements, if one of the CEOs are ill, there is smaller pool of staff to cover the district,
and the impact is that there is less reach of the CEOs. This could result in more dropped PCNs and
decreased resilience.

Option Three - Alternative Provider

7.26 A third option, an Alternative Provider, implies that BDC do not continue with WDC and outsource
the service, perhaps opening up parking enforcement to a private contractor, with a new SLA to be
agreed that integrates the recommendations made in the reports.

28
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegiz%(ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

7.27  There are a number of economies of scop and economies of scale that could be derived, although
lessons learned from other LA’s that had implemented such an option would need to be followed.

7.28 Under a private provider, there are naturally opportunities for innovation and investment, as well as
potential for increased productivity, however there could be risk management issues as parking
enforcement on behalf of BDC is now undertaken by a third-party.

7.29  Further, there is a risk that any new provider may seek their own service model and this may be
driven by difference objectives, for example to boost revenue by targeting the most lucative areas
for enforcement. In which case the recommendation to raise CEO coverage outside of
Bromsgrove town centre to provide better CEO coverage to outlying areas may not be followed
through.

Preferred Option: It is recommended that Option 2 — SLA Enhancements is pursued. The SLA
should be renegotiated with WDC to enhance the service offer. The key objective should be freeing
up resource to enable CEOs to spend a greater amount of time outside of Bromsgrove town centre.
We recommend that BDC negotiate a 10% increase in the requirement of patrol time to be
undertaken outside the town centre and that this requirement explicitly includes areas where poor
coverage has been reported, such as Catshill and Belbroughton. This would mean that in the
revised contract, there would be a requirement that 20% of patrol time be carried out in outlying
areas. This would of course be subject to the recommendation being adopted from the previous
element of our strategic review, in that ANPR equipment is adopted at the 8 Bromsgrove town
centre car parks, to free up CEO resource to patrol elsewhere in the district. This option will
demonstrate ownership of change in the face of the government funding challenge and will embed
a change culture. It will deliver cost savings and protect or enhance frontline services in priority
areas. Due to rise of contactless payments as a result in the change of payment methods, BDC will
be able to reduce the need for cash collection. Further, there could be benefits from continuity of
service and BDC will benefit from the additional enforcement presence and/or deterrence that
ANPR will provide in Bromsgrove town centre.

Further Considerations - Shopmobility

7.30 BDC’'s Shopmobility scheme provides mobility scooters for the purposes of shopping in
Bromsgrove town centre. It is a member’s only scheme and registrations / bookings are taken
through telephone and email bookings. During the weekday, depending on provision of equipment,
it can be a “turn up and go” service, but for Saturday bookings, it is advised that bookings are taken
24 hours in advance of visits to guarantee availability.

7.31  Under the Shopmobility element of the contract, WDC use reasonable endeavours to ensure that
the Shopmobility service is operated in accordance with its opening hours, practices, and
procedures.

7.32  The current service is listed as operating out of Churchfields Multi-story car park, which has been
closed since 2022 and, from the supply and demand surveys we conducted in the first part of our
strategic review, is currently surplus to requirements. If the service is to continue in its current
format, a new venue is required.

7.33  There are currently several vacant units on Bromsgrove High Street which could be ideal for a new
site, to ensure convenience for current/potential users and maximum presence and exposure for
potential users.

29
Bromsgrov&gegizggking Review
Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

7.34 A survey of users was conducted in 2021 however results are not publicly available. Data has not
been made available by WDC for matters such as maintenance of Shopmobility equipment,
response times to customer enquiries, or comments on the booking system and registration.
However, BDC has a contractual obligation to fund the repair and replacement of the Shopmobility
equipment as necessary and provide strategic direction and support.

7.35  As part of the contract, the level of service provision for Shopmobility can be varied at the request
of BDC, dependent on decisions as to the future of the service.

7.36  Given the time that has passed since the previous survey, and that it was conducted during the
height of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is recommended that a further review is required of the efficacy
of the current service, including with service users, in the post-pandemic environment. This is
because both service users’ shopping habits and willingness to share public spaces have largely
returned to pre-pandemic levels, and therefore a survey conducted from this point onwards may be
more reflective of the current and future needs of service users.

Summary

7.37 ltis recommended that SLA enhancements are pursued in a new SLA with WDC to provide parking
enforcement services. The key objective should be freeing up resource to enable CEOs to spend
a greater amount of time outside of Bromsgrove town centre. We recommend that BDC negotiate
a 10% increase in the requirement of patrol time to be undertaken outside the town centre and that
this requirement explicitly includes areas where poor coverage has been reported, such as Catshill
and Belbroughton.

7.38  This would mean that in the revised contract, there would be a requirement that 20% of patrol time
be carried out in outlying areas. This would of course be subject to the recommendation being
adopted from the previous element of our strategic review, in that ANPR equipment is adopted at
the 8 Bromsgrove town centre car parks, to free up CEO resource to patrol elsewhere in the district.

7.39  This option will demonstrate ownership of change in the face of the government funding challenge
and will embed a change culture. It will deliver cost savings and protect or enhance frontline
services in priority areas. Due to rise of contactless payments as a result in the change of payment
methods, BDC will be able to reduce the need for cash collection.

7.40  Further, there could be benefits from continuity of service and BDC will benefit from the additional
enforcement presence and/or deterrence that ANPR will provide in Bromsgrove town centre.

7.41  The key issues are the retention of CEOs, and that they mainly visit the same streets. Therefore,
other areas in the district are not visited as regularly and PCN’s are not issued to vehicles parking
illegally. Therefore, any CEO activity must be increased to provide better coverage and target
problem locations.

7.42  Theissuing of information leaflets or warning notices could be particularly useful outside of a school
where we have recommended for a TRO, to provide those committing parking violations ample
warning of future potential enforcement action.

7.43 Regarding Shopmobility, there is a requirement for a re-survey of service users as the previous
survey was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, the current Shopmobility
location is Churchfields Multi Storey, which was closed in 2022, and the location of the service
needs to be reviewed to better serve its users.

30
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegiz%&ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



31
Bromsgrove!:gﬂgegiz%«ing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7

AX) waterman

Recommendations and Next Steps

The analysis provided suggests that there are parking issues within the Bromsgrove district. These
are parking outside of shops, take aways and schools. Therefore, there are a few recommendations
which could alleviate illegal parking. These are:

e Increase the number of CEQO’s and include a variety of places to patrol (including
Belbroughton, Clent and Portway);

e Update signing and lining (reline faded road markings and programme maintenance of road
markings);

e Review signing and lining (is their adequate signage to deter vehicles from parking);
e Implement TRO’s on restricted parking at schools where currently there is no TRO in place;
e Schools to examine the potential for providing a drop off and pick up zones / areas;

e A social media and community engagement campaign to be rolled out in Autumn 2024,
targeted at drivers, to encourage considerate parking outside of shops and schools, as a
“softer measure” behavioural change campaign.

e Further investigation and action to review and amend “harder measure” parking restrictions
and increase coverage of signing and lining options (i.e. double yellow lines, designated
parking areas).

e BDC and WCC to investigate the potential of developing an online tool to enable BDC
residents to log parking violations and persistent offences, linked to the current WCC
system to report environmental concerns and problems with street furniture (i.e. street
lighting, pavements). This could be used by WDC as a measure to target resources from
local intelligence.

e Consideration by WDC of potential opportunities to free-up CEOs from patrolling off-street
car parks in Bromsgrove Town Centre through the recommendations to use ANPR
enforcement in certain locations, thus enabling the freeing-up of resources to patrol
locations where problems have been reported to persist and presence is currently low. It is
recommended that CEO coverage be increased to 20% of all CEO patrols to be undertaken
outside of Bromsgrove Town Centre.

e Coverage of TROs, outside of schools, in the district to be reviewed and increased where
problems persist. This will give CEOs the powers to enforce parking violations and will
discourage inconsiderate parking.

e BDC and WDC to investigate the feasibility of using vehicle-mounted ANPR enforcement
at parking hotspots outside of schools, thus further freeing up CEO resource to target
problem areas.

e In line with updated Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities in England on Civil
Enforcement of Parking Contraventions, adopt the suggestions where the contract can be
enhanced so it follows the latest guidance and that WDC can do everything within its
powers to enforce parking violations.

e A further public consultation exercise on the future of the Shopmobility Service as an
update to previous consultation carried out in 2021.

e Investigate the feasibility of resiting the Shopmobility service to the High Street.

32
Bromsgrové:gﬂgegizaéaaing Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\’ waterman

e Leaflets / flyers / social media campaign to remind drivers of where not to park. Reinforce
that double yellows are there for a reason.

e In Aston Fields, encourage better communication between Rigby Hall School and
Bromsgrove Rugby Club. This is in the case of events occurring at the same time, such as,
weekday evening matches and parents evening or school production.

e An issue identified on Hagley Wood Lane is the amount of parking which currently is
undertaken. This is due to Nimmings Wood Car Park being a National Trust car park which
requires payment to park. There is, however, another car park approximately 0.75km to
the east of this car park at Walton Hill which is free and cars parked on Hagley Wood Lane
could utilised this car park Therefore, improved directional signage on Hagley Wood Road
to Walton Hill Car Park would reduce the number of vehicles parked on the roadside on
Hagley Wood Road;

e Better road maintenance across all arears clearing tree debris off the road; and Review
that drainage is adequate.

8.2 These recommendations are for the consideration of Bromsgrove District Council. It is
recommended that a Parking Task Group be established between stakeholders to put the
recommendations into action.

33
Bromsgrov&gegizaalking Review

Project Number: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

Appendices

A. On-Street Car Parking Analysis

endj
Bromsgrovﬁ&&g‘?ﬁ&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Agenda Item 7

Road Number of Visits Observed Counts Notice Issued Percentage
Worcester Road, Bromsgrove 981 2,402 183
Crown Close, Bromsgrove 1,134 292 181
The Strand, Bromsgrove 1,945 211 115
Church Street, Bromsgrove 1,468 209 105
Churchfields, Bromsgrove 1,626 6,535 87
College Road, Bromsgrove 553 2,924 65
Market Street, Bromsgrove 3,834 1,117 60
High Street, Bromsgrove 2,270 158 57
Hewell Road, Barnt Green 185 805 55
New Road, Rubery 61 563 39
Worcester Road, Hagley 126 659 38
Fiery Hill Road, Barnt Green 193 138 37
Windsor Street, Bromsgrove 1,604 92 34
The Square, Alvechurch 119 430 31
Birmingham Road, Bromsgrove 532 395 28
New Road, Aston Fields 156 170 22
Chapel Street, Bromsgrove 523 31 21
Shawhurst Lane, Hollywood 50 32 21
Stoke Road, Bromsgrove 62 102 17
Recreation Road, Bromsgrove 1,293 1,277 16
Perry Lane, Bromsgrove 175 32 15
The Crescent, Bromsgrove 200 188 14
High Street, Belbroughton 104 36 13
A448 Stratford Road, Bromsgrove 960 26 11
Alcester Road, Beoley 33 10 10
Buntsford Hill, Bromsgrove 61 14 10
Park Road, Hagley 54 22 9
Lydiate Ash Road, Lydiate Ash 100 10 8
South Crescent, Bromsgrove 114 14 8
Gunner Lane, Rubery 20 12 7
Leach Heath Lane, Rubery 32 14 7
B4091 Stourbridge Road, 518 9 6
Ednall Lane, Bromsgrove 194 59 6
St Godwalds Road, Aston Fields 52 104 6
Bear Hill, Alvechurch 82 5 4
Finstall Road, Aston Fields 85 25 4
St Kenelms Road, Romsley 49 43 4
Windsor Gardens, Bromsgrove 11 4
A448 Kidderminster Road, 207 3
All Saints Road, Bromsgrove 161 7 3
Bromsgrove Road, Romsley 50 18 3
Buntsford Drive, Bromsgrove 22 3 3
Station Street, Bromsgrove 96 9 3
The Dock, Bromsgrove 11 4 3
Westbourne Terrace, Bromsgrove 15 6 3
Blackmore Lane, Bromsgrove 315 2 2
Bradford Lane, Belbroughton 16 2 2
Burcot Lane, Bromsgrove 53 84 2
Carlyle Road, Aston Fields 5 4 2
Church Lane, Bromsgrove 247 2
Crabtree Lane, Bromsgrove 72 2
Golden Cross Lane, Catshill 34 41 2
Old Birmingham Road, Bromsgrove 35 6 2

Page 213



Agenda Item 7

Sandhills Road, Barnt Green 23 5 2
Shawhurst Croft, Hollywood 31 3 2
St Chads Road, Rubery 14 4 2
Station Road, Hagley 23 6 2

A38 Birmingham Road, Bromsgrove 29 1 1
Beverley Road, Rubery 27 2 1
Birmingham Road, Alvechurch 7 1 1
Callow Brook Lane, Rubery 3 1 1
Chapel Street, Hagley 7 2 1
Coronation Terrace, Bromsgrove 3 3 1
George Street, Bromsgrove 3 1 1
Groveley Lane, Crofton Hackett 21 1 1
Hanover Street, Bromsgrove 297 3 1
Hazel Road, Rubery 7 6 1

Hill Lane, Bromsgrove 108 1 1
Kidderminster Road, Bromsgrove 80 4 1
Kinver Drive, Hagley 1 1 1
Malvern Road, Lickey 3 1 1

New Road, Bromsgrove 829 129 1
Newfield Road, Hagley 1 1
North Road, Bromsgrove 1 1
Oakhurst Drive, Bromsgrove 1 1
Oldfields, Hagley 1 1
Parsonage Drive, Crofton Hackett 17 1 1
Poplar Drive, Barnt Green 1 1 1
Red Lion Street, Alvechurch 70 6 1
Santridge Lane, Bromsgrove 126 2 1
School Drive, Bromsgrove 957 5 1
School Drive, Wythall 35 2 1
Station Drive, Hagley 3 1 1
Swan Street, Alvechurch 15 5 1
Warmington Road, Hollywood 3 1 1
Wellington Road, Bromsgrove 3 1 1
West Road, Bromsgrove 323 1 1
Woodrow Lane, Bromsgrove 14 4 1
A441 Redditch Road, Alvechurch 1 1 0
A448 New Road, Bromsgrove 9 0 0
A456 Worcester Road, Hagley 4 0 0
A491, Bromsgrove 3 0 0

Abbey Close, Bromsgrove 4 0 0
Aintree Close, Catshill 5 0 0
Alcester Road, Bromsgrove 5 0 0
All Saints Place, Bromsgrove 60 0 0
B4091 Stourbridge Road, Fairfield 10 1 0
B4096 Old Birmingham Road, 2 0
B4187 Worcester Road, Hagley 0 0
B4551 Bromsgrove Road, Romsley 0 0
Barkers Lane, Wythall 12 0 0
Barley Mow Lane, Catshill 0 0
Barrington Road, Rubery 0 0
Beaudesert Road, Hollywood 0 0
Belvedere Drive, Bromsgrove 22 0 0
Birmingham Road, Lydiate Ash 72 0 0
Bittell Road, Barnt Green 3 0 0

Page 214



Agenda Item 7

Blackwood Road, Bromsgrove 8 0 0
Braces Lane, Bromsgrove 48 1 0
Braces Lane, Catshill 18 0 0
Brake Lane, Hagley 6 2 0
Broad Street, Bromsgrove 11 0 0
Charford Road, Bromsgrove 11 7 0
Church Hill, Belbroughton 2 0 0
Church Road, Belbroughton 32 0 0
Church Road, Bromsgrove 65 2 0
Church Street, Hagley 11 4 0
Cottage Lane, Catshill 26 0 0
Crabtree Drive, Bromsgrove 6 0 0
Crabtree Lane, Aston Fields 1 0 0
Dark Lane, Romsley 1 0 0
Dovecote Road, Bromsgrove 3 0 0
Dragoon Fields, Bromsgrove 1 0 0
Drawbridge Road, Aston Fields 1 1 0
Drayton Road, Belbroughton 3 0 0
Drummond Road, Aston Fields 1 0 0
Eachway, Rubery 1 0 0
Echells Close, Bromsgrove 2 0 0
Forge Drive, Bromsgrove 1 0 0
Golden Cross Lane, Bromsgrove 1 0 0
Hagley Hill, Bromsgrove 2 0 0
Hagley Wood Lane, Romsley 57 3 0
Hanbury Road, Bromsgrove 1 0 0
Hartle Lane, Belbroughton 18 0 0
Hewell Lane, Barnt Green 30 0 0
Highfield Road, Bromsgrove 2 0 0
Holy Cross Green, Clent 3 0 0
Latimer Road, Alvechurch 1 0 0
Leach Lane, Rubery 2 1 0
Legion Road, Rubery 8 0 0
Lickey Road, Rubery 5 0 0
Lickey Square, Lickey 21 0 0
Linehouse Lane, Catshill 12 2 0
Lodge Crescent, Hagley 20 1 0
Manor Court Road, Bromsgrove 4 0 0
Manor Court Road, Lickey 0 0
Maple Road, Rubery 4 0 0
Market Street Service Road, 16 0 0
Marlborough Avenue, Aston Fields 8 0 0
Marlgrove Court, Bromsgrove 0 0
Martin Close, Bromsgrove 0 0
May Lane Service Road, Wythall 0 0
May Lane, Hollywood 24 0 0
Meadow Road, Bromsgrove 1 0 0
Meadow Road, Wythall 25 3 0
Meadowfield Road, Rubery 0 0
Meadowvale Road, Bromsgrove 0 0
Middlefield Road, Aston Fields 6 2 0
Mill Lane, Bromsgrove 293 0 0

Mill Lane, Wythall 1 0 0

Nash Lane, Belbroughton 32 0 0

Page 215



Agenda Item 7

New Road - Northern Service Road, 2 0 0
New Road (Stub Road), Rubery 1 0 0
New Road, Belbroughton 1 0 0
Newton Road, Rubery 1 0 0

Old Birmingham Road, Lickey 40 3 0
Old Rectory Lane, Alvechurch 1 0 0
Old Station Road, Bromsgrove 0 0
Orchard Croft, Barnt Green 0 0
Park Road, Bromsgrove 0 0
Providence Road, Bromsgrove 11 0 0
Radford Road, Alvechurch 3 0 0
Rigby Lane, Aston Fields 29 0 0
Sanders Road, Bromsgrove 7 1 0
Sandhills Lane, Barnt Green 16 2 0
Santridge Lane, Barnt Green 0 0
Sawn Street, Alvechurch 0 0
School Drive, Barnt Green 0 0
School Road, Rubery 4 0 0
Sherwood Road, Aston Fields 85 2 0
Sherwood Road, Stoke Prior 0 0
Silver Street, Wythall 0 0
Snake Lane, Alvechurch 0 0
Sommerville Road, Hagley 0 0
St John Street, Bromsgrove 282 0 0
Station Road, Aston Fields 7 0 0
Station Road, Bromsgrove 13 2 0
Station Road, Wythall 0 0
Stoke Road, Wythall 2 0
Summervale Road, Hagley 0 0
Swift Close, Bromsgrove 0 0
Tanyard Lane, Alvechurch 28 0 0
Tanyard Lane, Bromsgrove 2 0 0
The Avenue, Rubery 50 2 0

The Flats, Bromsgrove 15 0 0
The Hedgerows, Bromsgrove 0 0
The Square, Bromsgrove 5 0 0
Victoria Road, Bromsgrove 63 1 0
Westbourne Close, Bromsgrove 2 0 0
Whetty Lane, Rubery 53 1 0
Wildmoor Lane, Bromsgrove 1 0 0
Woodrow Lane, Belbroughton 1 0 0
Worcester Close, Hagley 3 1 0
Worcester Lane, Hagley 2 0 0
York Road, Hagley 1 0 0

Page 216



Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

B. Bromsgrove Parking Charge Notices

endj
Bromsgrovel%&&g‘ijgéa king Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Bromsgrove Town Centre Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

Number of Notices Issued . .
. < ' - ApestDaI‘e
9 2 - 10 Notices N

9 11 - 27 Notices

Blackwell o

9 28 - 59 Notices | v : ‘
° 60 - 183 Notices 4 ¥

Park Gate

S w=m
g‘]ﬁlﬁd‘# P\

)

\
P
e
s
A\

o
€



BMOT
Polygon

BMOT_1
Text Box
Bromsgrove Town Centre Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

BMOT_2
Text Box
Number of Notices Issued

BMOT_3
Image

BMOT_4
Image

BMOT_5
Image

BMOT_6
Image

BMOT_7
Text Box
2 - 10 Notices

BMOT_8
Text Box
11 - 27 Notices

BMOT_9
Text Box
28 - 59 Notices

BMOT_10
Text Box
60 - 183 Notices


Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

C. Rubery Parking Charge Notices

endj
Bromsgrovﬁ&&g‘?ﬁming Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Rubery Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

Number of Notices Issued > N > - — S =
: LA

D
@
M5 QC > ' o
. N //
2 - 10 Notices o\
““-\" O '
= .
G
-
DA .-/\ =
ceell Ln . 2O ‘ p
‘.1-\"" o \ A )
>al! S\ © 0 2
A "" ""'- & Z
X .Jt. 7). )
T °¢ >
N\ [ >
I O D
[~ >

9 28 - 59 Notices



BMOT_11
Polygon

BMOT_12
Text Box
Rubery Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

BMOT_13
Text Box
Number of Notices Issued

BMOT_14
Image

BMOT_15
Image

BMOT_16
Text Box
2 - 10 Notices

BMOT_17
Text Box
28 - 59 Notices


Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

D. Barnt Green and Alvechurch Parking Charge Notices

endj
Bromsgrovﬁ&&g‘?ﬁ@king Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Barnt Green & Alvechurch Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

Number of Notices Issued

9 2 - 10 Notices

9 28 - 59 Notices



BMOT_18
Polygon

BMOT_19
Text Box
Barnt Green & Alvechurch Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

BMOT_20
Image


Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

E. Hagley Parking Charge Notices

endj
Bromsgrovﬁ&&g‘?ﬁ%&ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



West Hagley Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

Number of Notices Issued

IVERLEY

9 2 - 10 Notices

9 28 - 59 Notices



BMOT_21
Polygon

BMOT_22
Image

BMOT_23
Text Box
West Hagley Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24


Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

F. Bromsgrove District Parking Charge Notices

endj
Bromsgrovﬁ&&g‘?ﬁ@ing Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



Number of Notices Issued
9 2 - 10 Notices
11 - 27 Notices
28 - 59 Notices

9 60 - 183 Notices

9z abk

Bromsgrove and Surrounding Wards Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

o

& (
Stourton WOLLASTON M8 W
NG Quinton HARBORNE EDCEASTON o
i LYE
Stourbrldge 4 & BALSALL HEATH
458 X
LAPAL
Kinver GIGMILLOLDSWINFORD Halesowen w3 Edgbaston TYSELEY
NORTON Manor MOSELEY.
PEDMORE MOOR STREET CALIFORNIA ACOCI
% \\J\a“o‘\’\‘y SELLY 0AK
BARTLEY GREEN o
3]
e KING'S HEATH
ol STIRCHLEY HALL GREEI
Blakeshall! caunsarL n Hagley 7N
/\9 BOURNVILLE i
w
Cookley Lower Clent Q o
o YARDLEY. WOOD
Clent Romsley s
WOIVerIey Church”l KING!STNORTON
NORTHFIELD DRUIDS HEATH
2
FRANCHE YT Blakedown 3
%,
‘ N %e A e TURVES/GREEN wcesed
BBERLEY amRd (2 Bell'Heath ! y Ho#Y/00d
ccing® o#Yoo
o Belproughton™Bell End Rednal )
Kidderminster 9 LONGBRIDGE §
A\ DICKENS H
\]é\e\] é:’; QS‘O Sa“dy Ln = P\BQ)
¥ s
¥ 8 - Wythall
S b Stone! Harvington ) Lydiate Aga Lickey Arrowfield y
SPENNELL'S Fairfield 9 Top
7 NN N
= Tanwood PMis| /7 \ A 9
Mustow Green Bournheath 9 3 Y/ Earl
Chaddesley Catshill & 1
Corbett atshi Barnt Green S 2]
Dodford ) 42| Ma2) M42 ] ‘
) Lickey End Av®Yurch (M42
WILDEN Torton B | M42|
ER MITTON \a9de, 00 | Portway
Vp 7 A
e %t g /xq o~ )\g Rowney Green WoodIEnd
P o)
Hartlebury Rushock QB?E; \ 0
r\q\\ D Brgnson's Tanw!
TITTON Waresl PN Qnstall fOSS in $
aresley ( 7,\
i Elmley Lovett chiiord Beoley Q
v Yy T
§§ X M5 h 6% MOONS ;n? m
& Crgssway Cutnall'Green Stoke Heat %% INDUSTRIAL' / -
¥ reen 4 ) ESTATE Q_
& & %,
) . 3 ” =z Redditch
Snead's Green & €
Elmbridge e Stoke Prior. TSR 0
WINYATES WEST g —
. Dunhampton WEEHEATH
Lineholt Doverdale MATCHBOROUGH 3
=)}
3’? Hampton ychbeld Lower Bentley HEADLESS CROSS
L ptt PARK FARM e \l
ove INDUSTRIAL b3
Rashwood ESTATE )

BERRY(HILL

CRABBS CROSS

RAAwiaA.


BMOT_24
Polygon

BMOT_25
Text Box
Bromsgrove and Surrounding Wards Map of On Street Enforcement between 01.04.23 - 31.03.24

BMOT_26
Image


Agenda Item 7
\\, waterman

G. Councillor Comments

endj
Bromsgrovﬁ&&g?géa king Review

Document Reference: WIE20771
20771100-WAT-XX-XX-RP-H800003



AX) waterman

District

Councillor Comments

om Site Visit

Site Visit Notes

District

Councillor Comments

Photo from Site Visit

Site Visit Notes

8¢ abed

Rubery

Lack of enforcement for
vehicles parked illegally.

Frequent parking outside
shop frontages and illegal
parking by American
Candy and Banophool
restaurant.

Increase frequency of
CEO activity on New
Road

Diagonal parking at
shops, cars now too big.

Increase frequency of
CEO activity on New
Road.

Poor parking bay marking

and lining outside
takeaways (Ruby
Chinese).

Reline spaces to better
economise spacing and
increase capacity.

Reline parking spaces.

Parking issues on Whetty
Lane including opposite
Coppice Close and on
Leach Heath Lane.

N/A

Aston Fields

On Stoke Road there are
reports of lack of
enforcement.

Increase frequency of
CEO activity in Aston
Fields, targeted at
problem locations.

Needs dedicated lined
parking bays — outside
row of shops.

Inconsiderate parking by
large vehicles.

Investigate opportunities
to increase parking
capacity.

School parking issues
affecting the rugby club.

Work with Co-Op store to
encourage use of
dedicated loading bay.

Increase frequency of
CEO activity in Aston
Fields, targeted at
problem locations. Work
with school to encourage
considerate parking and
investigate possibility of
implementing a TRO.

Parking in the vicinity of
Fringe Green Road
causes traffic from the
traffic signals to merge
due restricted
carriageway spaces and
limits visibility.

Increase frequency of
CEO activity in Aston
Fields, targeted at
problem locations.

) Wa]| epuaby



6¢¢ abed

AX) waterman

in the town centre.
Long stay parking
beyond limits

CEO activity in
Alvechurch, targeted at
problem locations.

Lack of EV charging
on street.

Investigate opportunity
for an EV charging
station outside Village
Hall.

School parking
issues — needs
enforcement and
better signage.

Increase frequency of
CEO activity in
Alvechurch, targeted at
problem locations. Work
with school to encourage
considerate parking and
investigate possibility of
implementing a TRO.

Village Hall parking
bays need
repainting.

N/A

enforcement, ignoring parking
restrictions, lack of double
yellow or faded road markings.

Issues with school traffic and
inconsiderate parking from both
Hagley Catholic and Haybridge
Schools — needs better lining
and enforcement

Parish car park — workers use it
when it should be for shoppers,
look at enforcement
arrangements, needs EV
provision, better lining

District Councillor Photo from Site Visit Site Visit Notes District Councillor Comments Photo from Site Visit Site Visit Notes
Comments
Aston Parking in the Increase frequency of Beoley Lack of enforcement, cars Increase frequency of CEO activity in
Fields vicinity of Fringe CEO activity in Aston (Portway) dumped, needs better lining Portway, targeted at this location. Investigate
(cont.) Green Road causes Fields, targeted at and double yellows (near to double-yellow lining along length of Alcester
traffic from the problem locations. Fishing Republic) on Alcester Road to Penn Road junction. Provide
traffic signals to Road. hatching at junction of Alcester Road and
merge due Penn Road to discourage parking on junction.
restricted
carriageway spaces
and limits visibility.
Key issues are lack Increase frequency of
of parking for CEO activity in Aston
residents as they Fields, targeted at
have no driveways problem locations.
and a garage
opposite on Stoke
Road.
It has been Await resurfacing work in Lack of enforcement, cars Increase frequency of CEO activity in
suggested to use Summer / Autumn 2024 dumped, needs better lining Portway, targeted at this location.
old station car park and monitor usage and double yellows (near to
and issue permits to Fishing Republic) on Alcester
residents. Road.
Alvechurch | Lack of enforcement Increase frequency of Hagley Issues around school — lack of Increase frequency of CEO activity in Hagley,

targeted at Park Road and Station Road.
Investigate relining along Park Road and
Station Road.

Investigate feasibility of resurfacing the car
park with better lining of spaces, signage to
advise of parking restrictions and EV charging
provision.

Better lining and spacing for
improving capacity on side of
Worcester Road opposite
shops

Investigate re-lining parking bays to
economise space along Worcester Road.

Train car park — many drop-offs
near to station to avoid parking
charges, needs better lining on
residential streets.

BDC officers to raise parking issues at Hagley
with WMRE with a view to finding a solution
for the station car park.

Investigate further double-yellow lines and
clearly defined parking spaces on Station
Road, Brake Lane and Sweetpool Road.

) Wa]| epuaby



0g¢ abed

AX) waterman

Photo from Site Visit

enforcement,
ignoring parking
restrictions, lack of
double yellow or
faded road
markings.

Issues with school
traffic and
inconsiderate
parking from both
Hagley Catholic
and Haybridge
Schools — needs
better lining and
enforcement

Belbroughton

Outside infant
school — reline
double yellow?

targeted at Park Road
and Station Road.
Investigate relining
along Park Road and
Station Road.

District Councillor Photo from Site Visit Site Visit Notes District Councillor Comments
Comments

Hagley Issues around Increase frequency of Barnt Green Better management of car

(cont.) school — lack of CEO activity in Hagley, parking around rail station —

double yellows and
enforcement needed

Site Visit Notes

Use Victoria / social club car
park for overflow shoppers
parking?

Investigate lining clearly defined parking
spaces at this location

Rationalise high street
parking times, should be 1
hour across the board?

BDC to speak to Social Club about this
opportunity

Outside Talbot Pub
— needs better
lining and
management. Lack
of enforcement
especially when big
events are going on

Better marking and signage
around schools

BDC / WDC to investigate feasibility of
rationalising wait times to discourage long-
stay parking.

Investigate relining at this location

Reline bays and lines

Investigate relining at this location

) Wa]| epuaby



T abed

AX) waterman

District Councillor Photo from Site Visit Site Visit Notes District Councillor Comments Photo from Site Visit Site Visit Notes
Comments
Barnt Grenn | Longer double Investigate relining at Catshill Better parking management Investigate relining at this location
(cont.) yellows to deter this location (continued) outside One Stop, paint bays
long-stay parking in and hatching at junction?
on residential street
Catshill Parking Investigate relining at
management by this location
Catshill First School
— better signing and |..
lining e
Better parking Investigate relining at Better parking management Investigate relining at this location
management this location outside One Stop, paint bays

around shops — in and hatching at junction?

lining bays etc

Investigate lining clearly defined parking
spaces at this location

Romsley Bays outside Co-op need
better lining

One way in/out for accessing
parade of shops, being used
inconsiderately

Investigate reducing entrance / exit width to
shopping parade to encourage on-way flow.

) Wa]| epuaby



Agenda Iltem 7
\\, waterman

We are Waterman, where every project matters

We deliver progressive, sustainability-driven environmental and engineering consultancy services across
every sector. We think differently, and we’re harnessing our collective expertise to deliver greener, healthier
and well-connected communities, networks and built environments.

Based in strategic locations throughout the UK and Ireland, our team of specialists is at the forefront of
tackling the climate emergency and forging a path to a Net Zero built environment.

UK & Ireland Office Locations

Glasgow

........ Newcastle

Manchester  c.eeeeee.

....... Nottingham
Birmingham
---------- Chelmsford
. . 0000 s London
MStOl  wevvveesceerneniiieeerc i e Redhill

Southampton

Page 232



geg abed

Appendix 4

Bromsgrove PCN Information — Quarterly Summary

B rove PCN | - Quarterly Sum

01 2024 01 2023 02 2024 02 2023 Q3 2024 03 2023

Mumber % [Mumber % Mumber |% Mumber % Mumbar  [% Mumber %
On-Street PCNs lssued 536] 3829 284| 37.60 406 3264 71 35.36 613 40.79 ani 43,06
Off- Streat PCNs Issued ge4| 61.71 438| 62.40 838 67.36 499 B4.64 ga0 59.21 398 56,94
Total PCNs Issued 1400 782 1244 772 1503 949
Out of Town On-Street PCNs Issued 192] 1371 72 8,21 120 9.65 46 5,96 210 13.97 51 7.30
[Time Spent On-Street (Town) Mins 33969] 4744 209331 39.12 28339 44.02 20610 38.72 37245 49.67 18849 43,37
Time Spent On-Street (Other Areas) Mins 10290 14.37 7868] 14.70 10752 16.70 6016 11.59 13316 17.76 4699 12.06
Time Spent Off-Street Mins 27344 38.19 24706 46.17 25281 35.27 25266 48.69 24419 32.57 15419 359.57
Total Patrol Time Mins 11603 53507 4372 51892 74980 38967
Income Recelved from PCNs £38,440.57 £21,569.96 £32,559.30 £25,142.98 £41,604.20 £22,559.44

/. Wa}| epuaby



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2025/6 TO 2027/8 — Tranche 2

Relevant Portfolio Holder Clir. Steve Colella, Finance Portfolio Holder
Portfolio Holder Consulted Yes
Relevant Head of Service Debra Goodall

Report Author | Job Title: Assistant Director Finance & Customer Services
email:Debra.goodall@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Contact Tel:
Wards Affected N/A
Ward Councillor(s) consulted N/A
Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) All

Non-Key Decision

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in
advance of the meeting.

This report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph(s) 3 of Part |
of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended

1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS

1.1  The Council has set its budget in two Tranches this year as it did in the
2024/5 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) process. The initial Tranche
was published in December 2024 and approved initial pressures and
increases at Council in January. This second Tranche is being considered
now that the final Local Government Settlement figures are known. The final
budget will be approved at Council in February.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet are asked to Recommend to Council that:

1 The Tranche 2 growth proposals.

2 The additional funding to the Council as per the final Local Government
Settlement, including the estimated levels for 2026/7 and 2027/8.

3 The Tranche 2 savings proposals, including an increase of Council Tax of
2.99%.

4 Approve the Commercial and Worcestershire Regulatory Services fee
increases for 2025/26.

5 The updated five year Capital Programme 2025/6 to 2029/30 along with its
ongoing revenue costs.

6 The levels of Earmarked Reserve being carried forward into future years
and the setting up of the Property and ERP Reserves..

7 The level of General Fund balances following additions from the 2025/6
MTFP.

8 Members take account of any feedback from the Tranche 2 consultation

process undertaken.

Page 239



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

3.1

Cabinet note that:

. Members understand and accept the implications set out in the S151 Officers

Robustness (S25) Statement of this 2025/26 to 2027/28 Medium Term
Financial plan in moving the Council to financial sustainability.

. The need for accelerated business cases to be worked up to enable upgrades

of infrastructure to the District for consideration in line with work set out in
paragraph 3.19 for completion prior to vesting day.

Background

Introduction

The Council sets a 3-year Medium Term Financial Plan every year, with the
final Council Tax Resolution being approved by Council in February. This
year’s process has been more difficult due to the following factors:

e The starting point from the 2024/5 MTFP is positive with respective neutral
balances at the starting points for both years.

e That this is the first budget of a new National Government and will be for
only 1 year in duration. The Government have indicated that resources are
tight which has been reflected in the Provisional Local Government
Settlement in December.

e The present cost of living crisis which continues to impact our most
vulnerable residents.

e Three years accounts (2020/21 to 2022/23) delivered with a “disclaimer
Opinion” and 2023/24 Accounts also likely to have a similar opinion. In this
instance, the reason for this will be the limitation of scope imposed by
statute (not by the local authority). A disclaimer due to the backstop does
not of itself indicate a local authority failing but the ongoing implications
are still not clear.

e The continued uncertainty of the existing movement of the Government to
funding projects for specific outcomes and the movement of this from a
bidding process to an “allocations” process.

e Uncertainty over the final mode of working for the Council and what will be
required by the new Government, our residents and our Members.

e Loss of key personnel, present vacancies rates (although only half the
national average), and staff retention — linked to the Workforce Strategy.

e Business Rates and Council Tax Income — and associated collection rates
and reliefs linked to the “cost of living” crisis and C-19 grants working their
way through our system.

¢ Inflation is now moving back to the Government target of 2%.

As such, it is prudent to split the budget process into two tranches,

Page 240



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

¢ Having an initial Tranche which seeks to close as much of the deficit as
possible using information known as at the end of October and seeking
approval for those savings to be implemented at Council in January,

e Having a second Tranche after the Christmas break, for which approval
will be sought in February, that takes account of the Local Government
Settlement whose final detail will not be known until early January.

3.2  This report will set out:

The approved Tranche 1 Position including base assumptions.
The impact of the Local Government Settlement.

Council Priorities

Strategic Approach

The final Tranche 2 three year balanced budget, including updated
assumptions.

Impact of Tranche 2 on Reserves and Balances.

The 5 year Capital Programme.

The Risk Assessment

The S151 Officers Robustness Statement

Consultation Details.

The approved Tranche 1 Position including base assumptions.

3.3 ltis important to set out the base assumptions under which the budget is
constructed. These assumptions can then be stress tested for various
scenarios to test the robustness of the overall budget. The Tranche 1 base
assumptions were:

e Council Tax — Figures assume the full 1.99% allowable increase over all
years of the 3 year MTFP. The Local plan has housing increases of 457
and 338 in the first two years of the MTFP. For prudence, at the moment it
is assumed that increases of 200 and 150 over these years.

e Business Rates Increases — business rates assume growth based on
Pooling with the other Districts and the County Council.

e New Homes Bonus/Government Grants — It is assumed that levels would
be the same as previous years.

e Pension Fund assumptions takes account of the latest triennial valuation
which was received in September 2022. It was noted that there is a
significant risk is that the next revaluation will be actioned in 2026 and as
such the 2026/7 figure could well change pending the outcome of that
exercise.

3.4  The following “generic” pressures and savings were included in Tranche 1:

e The Pay Award is increased from 2% to 3% for 25/6. This would be an
additional £154k cost.

Page 241



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

3.5

e Pension Fund Actuarial Triennial Revaluation. Although the fund
continues to perform well we are concerned on the reducing numbers of
live members in the scheme and so have included an amount from 2026/7
of £200k as a potential risk.

e Fees and Charges assumed an increase of 2%. However, given 50% of
fees and charges costs link to staff costs and these possibly will increase
at 5% for the 2024/5 financial year. Therefore, to keep pace this this
increase of costs it is proposed that a 4% increase is made.

e The largest change however will link to upcoming Waste Requirements.
The Council is required to implement these proposals from April 2026. The
impact on Council budgets is significant in terms of both Revenue and
Capital with an ongoing £950k revenue cost, £95K Capital costs and one
off implementation costs of £100k.

e Bromsgrove School loses its Business Rates reliefs as part of the Budget.
This relief of circa £500k would become part of the collection fund
calculation with for planning purposes circa 50% coming to the Council
and 50% going back to the Government.

e Additional Artrix Costs at £31k a year.

e Additional inflation of 5% on contract is included at 5% which is £90k.

e A review has been undertaken of Corporate Budgets (Council
Tax/Business Rate, Investment Income and Debt) against expected
numbers and due to a number of factors there is a positive position.

e The Council had 4% in to cover staff inflation in 2024/5. This pay award is
now circa 5% and so this adjustment has also been made in the corporate
budgets.

Departmental changes, due to contract pressures and demographics have
also been taken into account. These departmental changes result in an
overall £1.387m revenue pressure in the 2025/6 financial year and then £938k
by 2027/8. The overall Tranche 1 Position is summarised in the following Two
tables, the first taking account of “Corporate” issues, the second then adding
on the “Departmental” issues.

Page 242



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12" February 2025
Year i 2025/6 '2026!7 i 2027/8
£000 £000 £000
Opening Position 8 7 7
Changes
Increase Pay Award to 3% 154 154 154
Pension Revaluation (addn costs) 200 200
Increase Fees and Charges to 4% -200 -200 -200
Increased Waste Interest costs 27 27 27
Increased Waste MRP costs 68 68
Waste Project costs (capitalised) 20 20
Increased Waste Revenue costs 950 950
School Business Rates -250 -250 -250
Artrix Maximum Costs 31 31 31
Contract Inflation 90 90 90
Improvements in Corporate Budgets -343 -393 -607
1% Additional 24/5 Payoll cost over Budget 154 154 154
Net additional Costs =337 851 637
Updated Position -329 858 644
Year i 2025/6 '2026;‘7 i 2027/8
£000 £000 £000
Position after Corporate Iltems -329 858 644
Departmental Items 1,387 976 938
Position after Departmental ltems 1,058 1,834 1,582

3.6

3.7

Table 1 Tranche 1 Position

At Tranche 1, there is a £1m deficit to be closed which rises to an ongoing
£1.5m problem in 2027/8. £1m of this amount from 2026/7 onwards is linked
to the impact of the changes to Waste Regulations.

The impact of the Local Government Settlement

The Chancellors Autumn Statement was made on the 30" October had the

following impacts on Council budgets:

e A 3.2% real-terms increase in Core Spending Power (CSP) for the whole
sector in 2025-26. This will include £1.3b additional grant funding, of
which at least £600m will be directed to social care.

e The Budget was silent on council tax referendum limits, but the DCN
expectation is that referendum principles will stay at 2.99% for districts.

e £233m new funding for homelessness prevention. This will be in addition
to the £1.3b grant funding mentioned above.

e £1Db to extend the Household Support Fund and Discretionary Housing
Payments into 2025-26.

e £1.1b new funding through implementation of the Extended Producer
Responsibility scheme for recycling.

Page 243



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

¢ Right to Buy: councils will be permanently allowed to retain 100% of
receipts locally and discount levels will revert to pre-2012 levels from 21st
November.

e Business Rates support to the retail, hospitality and Leisure sector,
although it is not known the route of compensation yet for Councils.

e A £500m increase to the Affordable Homes Programme in 2025-26.

e UK Shared Prosperity Fund has been extended for 2025-26 at a reduced
level of £900m, a 40% decrease on the current year. It is not yet clear
whether this funding will continue.

e Employer national insurance (NI) contributions will increase by 1.2% to
15% from April 2025 but councils are expected to be reimbursed for this.
The impact of this on Bromsgrove if this was not funded is £144k.

e The National Living Wage will increase by 6.7% to £12.21. Minimum wage
for 18- to 20-yearolds will increase by 16% to £10 per hour.

3.8 The Provisional Local Government Settlement was made on the 18"
December 2024. In that settlement the Councils Core Sending Power is
unchanged at £13.42m. However, this zero increase in spending power
masks a significant change in funding with Councils expected have a 2.99%
increase in Council Tax to get to that Break Even position, with “Other Grants”
reducing by a corresponding amount. As the Council, as other Councils,
already assume, maximising Council Tax increases in their existing forward
plans this is settlement with no inflation built in. This is reflected in the
following table:

2025/6 2024/5 Difference Difference

£m £m % £m
Settlement Fund
Assessment 2.02 1.983 1.9% 0.037
Assumed Council Tax 9.836 9.499 3.5% 0.337
Other Grants 1.564 1.937 -19.3% -0.373

Settlement Control
Totals 13.42 13.419 0.0% 0.001

Table 2 Local Government Settlement Figures

3.9 Assetoutin 3.7 above, the Government have however given specific
targeted Grant Funding for a number of initiatives. This funding is single year,
as Local Government Funding is being significantly changes for the 2026/7
settlement. However, the impacts on the Council for this targeted funding is:
e £700m additional grant funding — Bromsgrove has not received any
additional Grant Funding.
e Council Tax in Tranche 2 will be increased from 1.99 to 2.99%.
e £233m additional Homelessness Prevention Grant. Bromsgrove has
received £349k, which is £88k more than in reports discussed and
approved in December.

Page 244



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

e £1.1b new funding through implementation of the Extended Producer
Responsibility scheme for recycling. Bromsgrove has received
£1,004k which is included in the Tranche 2 budget proposals.

e Right to Buy changes are not applicable for Bromsgrove.

e Business Rates support to the retail, hospitality and Leisure sector is
expected to be neutral and Government Funded.

e UK Shared Prosperity Fund has been extended for 2025-26 at a
reduced level of £900m. Bromsgrove has received £918k split
Revenue £748k and Capital £170k.

3.10 In addition to those items set out above, following the World Climate
Conference in December there are likely to be ongoing targets in this area.
Councils have already declared “Climate Emergencies” and have challenging
carbon reduction targets to deliver by 2030, 2040 and 2050. At the moment
plans are within existing budgets, but as we move through the next three-year
period there will be the requirement for the prioritisation of resources and
approval of additional funding on a scheme by scheme basis. These will need
to be taken account of in future budgets, although a significant part of this
budget spend will be Capital in nature.

3.11 There are a number of other significant factors in looking at the 24/5 budget
which are linked to the Local Government Finance Market. Presently:

e There are a number of Local Authorities who have now issued S114
Statements.

e Although Bromsgrove is now up to date with its accounts, these accounts
have “Disclaimer Opinions” and it is likely that the Council will receive
“Disclaimer Opinions” for at least the 23/4 and 24/.5 Accounts. The
ramifications of these “disclaimer Opinions” on the wider Local
Government Sector and individual Councils is not clear. There will be circa
600 of these “Disclaimer Opinions” across English Councils.

e The Government Devolution Bill and the reorganisation of two tiered areas
to unitary authorities by the end of this Governments first term. This will
have significant impact on Worcestershire Councils.

3.12 Significant Grant levels not set out in 3.9 above are:

Housing Benefit Administration Subsidy - £146,878
Discretionary Housing Payments - £62,332

Discretionary Housing Payments Administration - £11,114
New Burdens Funding (UC) £2,770

Revenue Support Grant £118,000

New Homs Bonus £24,000

Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Grant £36,000
Funding Floor (formally Funding Guarantee) £1,111,000
S31 Grant Funding for Business Rates Subsidy (RHL) will be base on the
NNRAL1 forms

Page 245



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

e National Insurance Contribution — The Final Local Government Settlement
on the 3" February allocated a sum of £0.1m. This is circa £200k less
than the Councils requirements and this difference is reflected as an
additional pressure.

e Housing Benefit Subsidy £11,192,229 (24/5 level — 25/6 level not known)

e Disabled Facilities Grant - £1,285,847 (up from £1,130,316) — Capital
e Capital DEFA allocation for Food Waste Bins/Vehicles £902,511 - Capital

3.13 As part of the Budget process the following reports have been approved in the
January 2025 Cycle of meetings:
e The Council Tax Base for 2025/26.
e The final Council Tax Support Scheme for 2025/26.

The following reports linked to the budget were updated in the 2024/25 MTFP
and have not changed since that time:

e The Discretionary Council Tax Reduction Policy.

e Council Tax — Empty Homes Discounts and Premiums.

e Non Domestic Rates — Discretionary Rates Relief Policy.

Council Strategic Priorities

3.14 The Leader and Cabinet, with the support of the Corporate Management Team,
have updated the Councils Strategic Priorities and these have been approved
by Council.

3.15 The final Council Plan provided an overarching vision for the District with the
four new priorities as follows:

Economic Development
Housing

Environment
Infrastructure

Page 246



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

‘We aspire to create a welcoming environment that prioritises
quality of life, where residents and businesses feel a deep sense
of belonging and connection.’

Economic . -
Housing Environment

Development

3.16 The council’s vision, priorities and themes are connected using a ‘green’ thread:

“A green thread runs through the Council plan. Climate change and carbon
reduction are key issues within the plan and the relevant measures identified
to evaluate performance will help the Council to understand both activities and
progress in this area”.

3.17 Opportunities and Challenges highlighted in the plan include:

The opportunities include:

e The location of Bromsgrove for business; with Worcestershire, regionally
and beyond.

The entrepreneurial and community spirit within Bromsgrove District.
Keeping businesses in the district when they grow.

The amazing natural environment of the district.

The creative options provided through new technologies to enhance our
services and our customers experiences.

The challenges include:

e The ongoing financial challenge- to both the organisation but also our
communities and residents through the real pressures presented by cost of
living and the housing market.

e Continuing to support those who are most vulnerable, and manage the
increasing costs.

e Keeping businesses in the District when they grow.

e Understanding the different community needs across the district

e The need for enhanced digital and physical connectivity.

3.18 The council cannot deliver all priorities on its own. In some cases, it can support,

influence, or work collaboratively with other partner agencies to persuade them
to take a particular course of action/undertake a particular

Page 247



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

project. Considerable support and input from partner organisations will be
needed for priorities to be successfully achieved.

3.19 We talk in the Risk section about the impending Devolution of powers in Local
Government and the setting up of Unitary Councils in existing 2 tier areas
before the close of this Parliament. This will have a significant impact on the
Council. In light of this, the Council is reviewing schemes that can be delivered
and completed within the next three years to ensure that a legacy of a
sustainable attractive Bromsgrove is transferred on vesting day with
infrastructure and amenities reflecting stakeholder requirements to make a
difference to the residents of Bromsgrove’s lives. Initiatives under review for
inclusion and approval following updated business cases are:

e Full funding of the 10 year play strategy agreed by Council in 2024 (only 5
years are in the present capital programme) including non-Council assets
set out in that report.

e Bromsgrove Town Centre public realm — continuation of improvements on
the high street, Church Street, Mill Lane, Worcester Road. Resurfacing,
street furniture and lighting upgrade, and possible acquisitions to deliver
further regeneration. C.£2m

e Rubery — high street design feasibility study to create central plaza/meeting
space and reconfigure parking — c.£120k.

e Work in other centres although this will need to link with Parish Councils and
un-Parished areas who also have responsibilities.

e Full programmes of litter bin replacement.

e Investment to upgrade our parks facilities.

e Investment in a new Depot to reflect differing needs for services and
vehicles in the future.

Strategic Approach

3.20 The Council has come into the 2025/26 budget process with a number of
conflicting issues. These include:

e An ongoing in year 2024/25 deficit at Q2 of a £344k to close.

e The requirement to fund future pay award which are circa 50% of costs.
Over the past 3 years these pay awards have been significantly higher than
“‘normal”. Although nationally agreed, these have not been funded.

e Increases in Council Tax are limited at 2.99%, which is significantly lower
than the present rates of inflation.

e The fact that Local Government Finance will change significantly in the
2025/6 settlement which is not known at the moment and which is multi year.

e That over the course of this Parliament all 2 tier areas, such as
Worcestershire will be converted into Unitary Authorities.

3.21 The next section sets out the Tranche 2 position. In it the Council moves to a

considered sustainable position over the 3 year planning period. One
significant factor that has been taken account of is the fact that Local

Page 248



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

Government funding will change significantly in 2026/27 and so in this budget
it is prudent to minimise any savings pending the upcoming funding review.

3.22 The level of reserves and balances presently held suggest that although
significantly more is held than the suggested 5% recommended level for the
General Fund, that any calls on this amount for a significant emergency
situation would reduce levels by possibly 50%.

3.23 The Council must adapt how it operates to take advantage of customer
requirements, technology, available resources, and the economic and
environmental conditions to remain a sustainable viable organisation. To
ensure this happens there will be the need for future investment, efficiencies
and possibly the requirement to fund redundancy (both from reserves and
balances).

3.24 As set out later in the Robustness Statement, in compiling Tranchel of the
budget, assumptions were based on the best information held then. Issues
the Council is facing are not unique, they are being faced by almost all
Councils. Tranche 2 of the budget has adjusted for any funding that the
Government will provide but primarily sets out other options to close the
Tranche 1 deficit,

The final Tranche 2 three year balanced budget, including updated
assumptions

3.25 The Council started Tranche 2 of the Budget with the following financial
deficits to close:

Year i 2025/6 r21]26;'?’ i 2027/8
£000 £000 £000
Position after Corporate ltems -329 858 644
Departmental ltems 1,387 976 938
Position after Departmental ltems 1,058 | 1,834 1,582

Table 3 Opening Tranche 2 Position

3.26 The financial settlement, as set out in paragraphs 3.9 and 3.10 above had no
increase in overall funding and a number of areas of specific targeted funding:

3.27 The Council has assessed a number of other options to move to what it
believes is a considered sustainable position over the 3 year planning period.
This process has the following additional Income

e Council Tax — The Government expects as part of the Local

Government Settlement for all Councils to increase Council Tax levels
by the maximum 2.99%. The Council assumed a 1.99% increase in

Page 249



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

Tranche 1 and so this increases that level by £96k to come in line with
Government expectations

e Actuarial Changes from 2026. Following a conversation with the new
Actuary and the Worcestershire Treasurers at the end of November,
expectations are now that in the 2026 Triennial Revaluation there will be
minimal increases. This saves £150k

e ERP Funding Allocations — the Council have received £1,004k in ERP
Funding. As per the table below, this will be allocated over the three
year funding period with £250k allocated for specific marketing initiatives
to move the initiative forward across all sectors.

e 24/25 Salary Adjustment — Now that actual salary increases have been
allocated for 2024/25 as part of the December payroll, this savings can
be made

e Capitalisation of Salaries — The Council should be allocating staff costs
to capital projects. It has not done this in the past. At the moment an
assumption of a 5% recharge has been made, — this needs to be
sustainable over time. These capitalisation amount have been added to
the capital programme.

e One Off Funding from the Finance Reserve. There are finance specific
items in the departmental pressures that are one off in nature. These
can be funded from the Earmarked Finance Reserve.

e Departmental Efficiencies — to balance the overall budget, there is the
requirement for departmental efficiencies to be made. These are
highlighted in the following table:

Net Savings

Service Budget £250k
BDC Regulatory 384 7
Business Transformation & OD 1,874 36
Chief Exec 893 17
Housing and Community Services 1,182 23
Environmental Services 4,138 80
Finance & Customer Services 1,442 28
Legal & Democratic 1,111 21
Planning and Leisure 1,241 24
Regeneration and Property 726 14
Totals 12,991 250

Table 4 — Departmental Efficiencies

e Savings on the VM Ware Contract — it was expected that this contract
would have a 10 fold increase with a change of supplier but in December
we were able to limit the increase to a far smaller increase.

And the following additional costs

Page 250



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

e Replacement Bins — Bromsgrove are now the only Council in England
with its type of Bin. This is limiting the options in the purchasing of the
Refuse Fleet. There was a report that went to Cabinet on the 6" January
setting out the issues.

e WRS Uplift for Inflation — these are the agreed increases approved at
the WRS Board in November 2024.

e Local Government Settlement Costs — these now reflect the changes to
funding in the 2025/26 Local Government Financial Settlement. The
most significant is the £352k reduction in Government Grants.

e The Sunrise Project - The project focusses on supporting the most
vulnerable and complex customers often known to organisations for
repeat and reactive demands and identified as having a high level of
contact with multiple partner agencies. The expenditure will improve the
financial sustainability and health and wellbeing of residents, and in
particular those more vulnerable residents. The project is tenure blind
and includes the provision of access to courses to improve employment
opportunities and quality of life.

e The Final Local Government Settlement on the 3" February allocated
the Council £0.1m for the National Insurance changes. This is £200k
less than the Council’s requirements and this difference is shown now
as a pressure.

3.28 The net effects of these changes is summarised in the table below. Overall
there is a net £167k deficit in 2025/26, increasing to £1030k in 2026/27, before
reducing to £399k in 2027/28. This is an overall call on general fund reserves

of £1,596k.
2025/6 | 2026/7 | 2027/8
Year
£000 £000 £000
Position after Departmental Items 1,058 | 1,834 | 1,582
Additional 1% Council Tax -96 -96 -96
Adjustment for Actuaries figures -150 -150
glelgcéarl\tllgn of ERP Funding from 335 335
Updated ERP Adjustment -100 -115 -115
Salary Adjustment 24/5 -150 -150 -150
Capitalisation at 2.5% -375 -375 -375
Capitalisation to 5.00% -375 -375- -375
Finance Reserve -289
CMT £250k Efficiencies -250 -250 -250
VM Ware Contract Savings -120 -120 -120
ERP Spend on Communications (TBC) 100 100 50
Replacement Bin Requirements 120 420 420
WRS Agreed Uplifts 29 29 29

Page 251




Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025
Increased Council Tax Budget 26 23 -307
Reduced Government Grant 352 352 352
The Sunrise Project 37 38 39
Further National Insurance requirement | 200 200 200
Updated Totals 167 1,030 399

Additional Grant Allocations

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Revenue 748

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Capital 169
ERP Allocation - 1 Year only to 1,004
Reserve

Local Plan — Green Belt Reviews 70

Table 5 Tranche 2 Position
3.29 Appendix A sets out the Departmental Budgets.
Updated Fees and Charges

3.30 The Council has commercial rates it charges for its commercial Environmental
Services Customers. These are set out in confidential Appendix B.

3.31 In addition, updated Worcestershire Regulatory Service Charges are set out
for approval in Appendix C. These are increased in line with increases in the
service across the County which are at the 4% level unless set by statute.

Impact of Tranche 2 on Reserves and Balances

3.32 The existing 24/25 MTFP saw general fund balances at a break even position
over the three year planning moving the Council towards sustainability. In the
2023/24 budget, the Council was prudent and reviewed all its earmarked
Reserves and reallocated a substantial amount to the General Fund and also
a newly formed Utilities Reserve due to the significant pressure on budgets in
that area. As we have moved into 2024/25 there have been additional
inflationary pressures linked to significant unfunded nationally agreed staffing
increases. This has been partly offset by the Utilities Reserves. Years 2 and
3 of this reserve are not now required and have been transferred to the
General Fund to bolster its position.

3.33 The projected 2025/6 to 2027/7 position, at Tranche 1, had £3,050k of
pressures to mitigate. This has been mitigated down in Tranche 2 to a
£1,596k overall pressure over the three years with an ongoing issue of £399k
a year to resolve in 2027/28 onwards. This is a slightly different approach to

Page 252



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

the previous two MTFP’s where the Councils have moves to a “sustainable
position” over the three year period but reflects that fact that Local
Government will have a new 3 year settlement from the 2026/7 financial year
and with those allocation methods only being consulted on in the Spring of
2025. It would not be prudent to balance the budget by reducing services
when the new settlement might have those services as a priority area.

3.34 Presently, the General Fund sits at a value of £12.781 (taking account of the
Tranche 2 position) at the 315t March 2028. This sum is over 25% of gross
expenditure and significantly above the 5% benchmark quoted by the
Government a being a minimum requirement. If Housing Benefit payments,
which are passported through the Council are ignored than this percentage
rises to over 30% of expenditure.

3.35 The Council has now closed its accounts up to the 2022/23 financial year and
has received “Disclaimer Opinions” for those three years. Because those
years are now closed there is certainty over the Earmarked Reserve balances
which at the 31st March 2028 sit at a value of £9.484m.

3.36 This Earmarked Reserves level of £9.484m assumes that all Ward budgets
are funded from the Financial Services Reserve.

3.37 Specific Reserves will be set up for the following purposes
e £100K for a review of the Property function
e An ERP Reserve of £1,004K to transfer the grant funding for ERP
schemes and release it over the three year MTFP period.

The detailed position in respect of Reserves is set out in Appendix D.

The 5 Year Capital Programme

3.38 The Council over the past number of years has not spent its capital
programme allocations in year. A review has been carried out of
e All schemes that have not started (both from 23/24 and from previous
years)
e Schemes that have started
To assess deliverability and links to revised strategic priorities.

3.39 Present rationale is for any scheme not yet started (unless grant or S106
funded) to rebid for funds as part of the 2025/26 budget process. The
Summary Capital Programme is set out in the following Table:

Table 6 Summary Capital Programme

3.40 The priority in capital terms is for the Council to spend its grant funding. It has
the following:

Page 253



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025
Year |Total Programme| Revised Total |Council Funded Grant Funded
2024/5 6,376,987 21,267,936 10,996,671 10,271,265
Carry Fwd 14,890,949
2025/6 17,351,727 8,017,369 9,334,358
2026/7 3,222,841 2,422,841 300,000
2027/8 2,469,459 1,669,459 800,000
2028/9 2,310,531 1,510,531 800,000
2029/30 2,373,749 1,573,749 800,000

Table 6 Capital Programme

e Levelling Up of £16.1m (£14.5m Grant, £1,6m Council) which now needs
to be spent by the 30" September 2025 (being the Market Hall Scheme)

e UK Shared Prosperity Funding of £918k for 2025/26 — which is one year
only funding.

3.41 Appendix E sets out the present capital programme to be agreed.

3.42 The following are the changes between what was presented in Tranche 1 and
the present:

e The items carried forward from 2023/24 to 2024/25 have been fully
reviewed and updated as part of the Closure of Accounts 2023/24
process.

e The requirement of a firewall for Parkside at £9,750 has ben integrated
into the programme.

e The requirement for an additional £25k a year for laptops for new
starters has also been integrated into the programme.

e The Market Hall redevelopment has been reprofiled and overall shows
a £1.4m deficit, which presently is being funded by the Council.

e The requirement to replace the Wheely Bin fleet has been added at a
cost of £2.2m as per the Cabinet Report of the 6" January 2025.

e Updated funding for 2025/6 has been added for both UKSPF and DFG
Budgets.

e The Government funding for the new Food Waste Service (Vehicles
and Containers has been added at £902k. This is still over £500k short
of our overall requirement.

e The updated play audit implementation profile from the December 2024
report has been added — no change was required for the revenue
funding assumptions.

¢ Inclusion of the capitalisation of salaries.

3.43 The significant Council spending continues to be the Fleet Replacement
Programme although it is slipping into the future as we await the
Governments final Environment Bill and confirmation of the type of vehicles
required after 2030.

Page 254



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

3.44 The Council is undertaking a review of all its assets, linked to the requirement
of Council buildings to be at Level C Energy Efficiency. A report is expected
early in 2025 setting the Councils fixed asset approach.

3.45 The Capital Programme is very closely linked to the Asset Strategy, Treasury
Management Strategy, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and Asset
Investment Strategy. These Strategies set out how the Council can invest
and borrow funds and to whom. They are set out in Appendices F, G, H and
|. These Strategies have been reviewed by the Audit, Standards and
Governance Committee in January 2024.

The Risk Assessment

3.46 As set out in this Report we are budgeting in a time of extreme uncertainty:

e There having been a change of National Government and this being
their first year of being the administration since 2010.

e The 2025/6 Local Government Financial Settlement is only for one year
and overall have a £352k reduction in central grants.

e There will be a new financial settlement formula in 2026/7, which will
be for three years, but the make-up of this settlement formula will only
start to be consulted on in the spring of 2025.

e The Government have also announced significant reorganisation of the
Local Government Sector with Worcestershire which is 2 tier moving to
a Unitary setup by the end of this Parliament. At the present time, the
format of Unitary Councils in Worcestershire is unclear as are the rules
in relation to use of Reserves and Balances in the intermediate period
and the obvious impact on the Councils Staff, Members and present
Stakeholders.

e The status of Councils with “Disclaimer Opinions” on their accounts. It
is understood there will be over 500 of these opinions across English
Councils.

e The ongoing issue of Funding, with the care element of Local
Government taking more over the “overall” resource pot on a yearly
basis leaving less for other services we provide to the public.

3.47 As per the Risk Reports that are reported to Audit, Governance and
Standards and Committee there are the following specific Risks linked to
finance:

e Resolution of the approved budget position.

e Financial process rectification (in relation to the 2020/21 Accounts and
subsequent years not being approved — which is close to some sort of
resolution with the “Disclaimer Opinions”).

e Decisions made to address financial pressures and implementing new
projects that are not informed by robust data and evidence.

e Adequate workforce planning.

Page 255



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

3.48 In addition, in this time of uncertainty the Council will also need to embed a
new Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Resources, both
of whom have been appointed in January 2025 and will start after their
respective notice periods.

3.49 There are the core risks of implementation of any Council financial plan in
that:

e Any savings proposal must pass the S151 Officers tests for robustness
and delivery. If items are not deliverable or amounts not obtainable,
they cannot be included.

e Implementation of savings to time and budget — there must be full
implementation processes documented to ensure implementation
within timescales.

e Non delivery is a high risk - Savings are tracked and reviewed on a
guarterly basis at the Audit Standards and Governance Committee to
ensure implementation happens based on the plans and the
assumptions will become part of the Council’s core processes.

e Loss of key personnel will be crucial, especially given the impending
Local Government Reorganisation and mitigation plans will need to be
drawn up which in themselves will require resources to administer and
deliver.

e Change of corporate direction/priorities given the upcoming changes in
the sector.

The S151 Officers Robustness Statement

3.50 For Tranche 2, the opinion of the Interim Director of Finance is that the risks
contained in the 2025/26 budget estimates have been minimised as far as is
possible.

3.51 In the past two years the Council have moved to the delivery of sustainable
budgets however these have been impacted by three years of Pay Awards far
in excess to those ever seen in Local Government. This, given the fact that
staffing costs are approaching 50% of overall costs, has had a significant
impact on council budgets over this period leading to in year overspend
positions and has required subsequent mitigation in following years budgets.

3.52 Although inflation is reducing in the UK, given wider economic events and
changes in other countries Governments and the move to more nationalistic
policies it is not clear if inflation in particular will move back to being
consistently within the Government’s 2% target. This impacts Council costs
but also those who have the requirement to use our services.

3.53 Employee budgets are almost 50% of the Council’s costs. Over the past 18

months there has been a significant move to fill establishment positions.
However, the Council is still running at levels of vacancy of around 100

Page 256



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

against an overall joint establishment of 850 and using considerable agency
resource to ensure services are maintained. This attracts additional short term
cost and the Workforce Strategy, implemented in 2023, is starting to mitigate
this. This is shown in the Councils staff turnover figure being 50% of the
National average at just over 7%. However, this remains the most significant
financial risk to the Council.

3.54 The next most significant financial risk was the fact that that the Council had
not been able to present its 20/21, 21/22 and 22/23 Accounts for Audit, and
the possible inaccuracy of opening balances used in budgetary data. These
three years have now been completed under the new “backstop” regulations,
but because of the national audit Issues the Council has received “Disclaimer
Opinions” for all three years. There are circa 500 of these opinions for
English Councils and it is not clear of the implications of this on Councils and
the wider sector. What the closure process has highlighted, now it has been
completed for these years, is that the Council is in a stronger position in terms
of reserves than was the started position. The 2023/4 Accounts have also
now been completed and presented for Audit within the new “Backstop”
requirements.

3.55 The revenue budget and capital programme have been formulated having
regard to several factors including:

Funding Available.

Inflation.

Risks and Uncertainties.

Priorities.

Service Pressures.

Commercial Opportunities.

Operating in a Post C-19 environment.

3.56 The MTFP highlights that the current financial position has moved, following
the Local Government Settlement, to a position of requiring £1.596m of
funding from General Fund Reserves over the three year period. Thisis a
departure from the previous two years where the Council has tried to move to
a more ongoing sustainable position. The reason for this movement in the
short term is that
e In year three 2027/28, the ongoing deficit to close going forward is £399k.
e That the Local Government Financial Settlement methodology will
significantly change in 2026/27, and it would not be sensible to make
savings where those services might need to be re-instated.

e That the general fund will still be at a strong level — at £12.781m after
allowing for this support which is well above 25% of gross turnover.

3.57 The Council has reviewed the Councils position in line with the CIPFA
Resilience Index. The data for the resilience index is obtained from the
Revenue Expenditure and Financing England Outturn Report 2023-24 (‘RO
Forms') and reflects figures submitted by Local Authorities to MHCLG,

Page 257



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

published on 12 December 2024. The Council in comparison to its nearest
neighbours and levels of risk:
e Has lower risk in terms of levels of reserves, interest payable, levels of
debt, and growth being above the baseline.
e Has a slightly higher than average fees and charges to Services
expenditure ratio.

This reflects that fact that the Council has no long terms debt and reasonable
levels of General Fund and Earmarked Reserves. With fees and charges,
these are the only real avenue to revenue increases given the limits on
Council Tax rises.

3.58 In line with Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, this report of the
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) sets out the robustness of estimates included in
the budget and the adequacy of the Council’s reserves.

The Chief Financial Officer’s opinion is that the estimates are robust

3.59 Relevant budget holders are responsible for individual budgets and their
preparation. All estimates are then scrutinised by Financial Services staff and
the Corporate Management Team prior to submission to Members.

3.60 The two tranche 2025/26 budget process has ensured that all budget
assumptions have been reviewed and reconsidered by Officers, and then
Members, through the Finance and Budget Scrutiny Working Group,
Cabinet and Council.

3.61 The budget has a £1.596m call on General Fund Reserves over the three
year period but by year 3 does start to move to a more sustainable position.
More work will need to be done to embed changes to ensure financial
sustainability is embedded across the organisation, especially with the change
coming forward for Local Government in terms of Funding and Structure.

Adequacy of Reserves

3.62 Budget and MFTP proposals forecast the level of General Fund balances
at £12.781m as at 31st March 2028 which is over five times the
recommended 5% of net level as set out in the Reserves section.

3.63 The present positive medium term financial position, takes into account the
updated position in terms of accounts now being closed to the 2023/24
financial year however the “Disclaimer Opinions” still give the potential of
possible issues with Opening Balances. It is prudent for the Council to build
reserves as they are the Council’s single source of funding for business
change initiatives.

3.64 Further work will be undertaken to ensure that expenditure levels are
sustainable and matched by income over the medium to long term. Plans are

Page 258



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

therefore in place to continue to review budgets and identify and accelerate
further savings opportunities.

Collection Fund and Precepts

3.65 The Council Tax collection fund is anticipated to be in surplus based on
December data by £0.595m, which will be distributed amongst the major
preceptors using the prescribed formulae. The Council’s share of the surplus
payable as a one-off sum in the following financial year 13% of the total which
amounts to £76k.

3.66 Worcestershire County Council, Hereford and Worcester Fire Authority and
the West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner are due to set their precepts
in the week commencing 3™ February. This will enable the Council to set the
Council Tax on 19" February 2025. The precepting bodies Council Tax
requirements will be included in the formal resolutions which will be presented
to Council on 19t February.

Consultation Details

3.67 The Council has consulted on its Tranche 1 budget. This budget consultation
opened on Thu 5 December 2024. An email invite was sent to the
Bromsgrove Community Panel. The survey was also promoted on a variety of
social media channels. The survey closed at 12noon on Thursday 2 January
2025.

3.68 The response rate for the community panel was 48%. There were a total of
278 valid responses received.

3.69 Question 16 gives the splits of Age Ranges of the people who filled out the
guestionnaire. The vast majority were over 50.

3.70 The survey asked respondents to rank the three most important services they
felt the Council should invest in. These were:
e Local Economic Development and Employment (47.1% of respondents).
e Community Safety (44.6.% of respondents).
e Maintenance of the Landscape and Environment (43.8.% of respondents)

3.71 6 questions had responses well over 50% agreeing or strongly agreeing, and
only two had responses lower than 50% - these being
e Do you agree that the Council should invest more in our front-line services
to cover increases in fuel at a 49.6% approval rate.
e Do you support fees and charges (this excludes parking) rising by 4% to
keep them in line with inflation and rising staffing costs at a 40.2%
approval rate.

Page 259



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

3.72 The highest approval rating, at 86.2% was the question - Do you agree that
the Council should invest in economic development in order to support local
businesses, start-ups, the town and local centres and to prioritise local skills.

3.73 Two further questions were asked on what level of increase to Bromsgrove
District Council's proportion of Council Tax do you support?
e 61.5% agreed of strongly agreed with a 1.99% increase.
e This dropped to 45.8% at 2.99%.

3.74 There were 2 free test questions:
e Please let us know your suggestions for investing in the district to increase
prosperity and enhance appeal for residents and businesses alike?

o There were 178 responses to this question.

o Responses to this question provided many suggestions and
comments regarding the district. The top three themes were
Bromsgrove Town Centre, supporting businesses and the
importance of infrastructure, from roads to public transport. These
themes had many cross overs, from the impact of traffic,
encouraging a diverse range of businesses into the town and
reducing costs to visitors and businesses alike.

o Suggestions included:

= Reducing business rates / relief

* Reducing parking costs

= Supporting independent retailers

= Bringing in key major retailers

= Understanding offer on High Street- too may charity shops,
cafes, hair & vaping businesses

= Utilise empty shops- for small businesses, new start-ups,
housing, community use

= Improve the market- quality, offer, number of days

= Make the town vibrant, attractive & distinctive- develop
attractions, encourage visitors

= Improve the appearance & maintenance of the high street

= Improved public transport

= Support active travel

= Access grants wherever possible

= Ensure a district-wide view

©)

e Please let us know any other comments on the budget or ideas for
reducing costs or increasing income to ensure Council services remain
sustainable?

o There were 118 responses to this questions.
o Of the responses to this question, the largest category fell into the
theme of efficiency and value for money. Other themes included

Page 260



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

infrastructure, focusing on those in need, ensuring transparency
and accountability asset utilisation, and the town centre.
o Suggestions included:

Reviewing salaries

Ensuring right skills within the council

Outsource some functions

Explore alternative methods of delivery e.g. co-operatives,
partnerships

» Reduce use of consultants

= Review fees & charges

Commercial opportunities e.g. logs, compost or specific
services

Turn off lights / utilise smart sensors

Reduce events

Promote events better to increase revenue

Community use of buildings

Energy generation e.g. solar panels in car parks
Convert buildings into housing e.g. multi-storey by Asda
Increase enforcement fines e.g. fly tipping & littering
Support the voluntary sector

Reducing business rates / relief

Review council tax

Better coordination around highways and roadworks

3.75 The consultation spreadsheet sets out the overall summary and a breakdown
by question is shown as Appendix H.

3.76 Tranche Two of the budget will be consulted on following its publication on the
4t February. Any comments will be fed into Cabinet and Council on the 19t
February 2025.

3.77 The Council will raise awareness of the budget proposals via use of social
media.

4. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

4.1  Financial implications are set out in Section 3.

Legal Implications

4.2 A number of statutes governing the provision of services covered by this
report contain express powers or duties to charge for services. Where an
express power to charge does not exist the Council has the power under
Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 to charge where the activity is

Page 261



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12™" February 2025

incidental or conducive to or calculated to facilitate the Council’s statutory
function.

Service / Operational Implications

4.3  Monitoring will be undertaken to ensure that income targets are achieved
through the Quarterly Finance and Performance Reports to Cabinet and the
Quarterly Savings Reports to Audit Standards and Governance Committee.

Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications

4.4  The implementation of the revised fees and charges will be notified in
advance to the customer to ensure that all users are aware of the new
charges and any concessions available to them.

4.5 Initial Equalities Impact Assessments must be taken where required. None
have been required with this budget.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 ltis crucial that the Councils sets a balanced budget in order for it to deliver
sustainable services to its Stakeholders. There are significant risks in any
budget and these are set out in sections 3.44 to 3.47.

5.2  There is arisk that if fees and charges are not increased that income levels
will not be achieved, and the cost of services will increase. This is mitigated
by managers reviewing their fees and charges annually.

6. APPENDICES

Appendix A — Budgets by Department

Appendix B — Environmental Services Commercial Fees & Charges (Exempt)
Appendix C — Worcestershire Regulatory Services Fees & Charges

Appendix D — Reserves

Appendix E — 5 Year Capital Programme

Appendix F — 2025/6 Capital Strategy

Appendix G — 2025/6 Treasury Management Strategy

Appendix H- 2025/6 MRP Statement

Appendix I- 2025/6 Investment Strategy

Appendix J — Consultation Breakdown

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

None.

Page 262



Agenda Iltem 8

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET 12" February 2025

Appendix A — Budgets by Department

To Follow — being updated for NI changes following Government Advice in
Final Local Government Settlement on the 3" February 2025

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



/9¢ abed

Appendix C — Worcestershire Regulatory Services Fees and Charges

ENVIROMMENTAL SERVICES 2023/24 2024/25 2025/286

Strav Dogs Fire [staturaru] £25.00 £25 00 £25 00
Ot of kours charge £47. 00 E50.00 £52.00
Repeat offender penalty £42.00 £45 .00 E4F7.00
Adrmiristration Charge £17.00 £18.00 £19.00
Fenmnelling per dog. per daw E18.00 E20.00 £E21.00
Fenmelling of dangerous dogs - per dog, per daw [buw £26.00 £28.00 £29 00
ternperament or breed]
Vet's Fees At cost At cost At Cost
Treatrment Costs [wormer., Flea treatment etc. ) £12.00 £13.00 £13.50
Return charge [during office hours when resource available F42 00 £45 00 F4F7 00
Penalty charge for non-compliance of kMicrochipping
regulations [not microchipped or contact details out of date) New £15.00 £16.00
or Contral of Dogs Order 1992 [ o owner contact details on N N
collar or tag)

#4600 per hour
E rwirommmerntal lnFormation wihere request relates to 'contarnination of the land' charge infF to (:D:_la[e £49.00 [Flat £51.00
Regul ations request applied to locate and provide the inforration requested. inrarmatron [_as Fee] )
estimated at ime
of reqgue=sil
R } . . Feduced Fire [Faid within 10 daws] ES0.00 E&0-100

Litterning - Fixed Penaltu hlotice

For Depo=iting Litter [sectiorn 8788

- Erwvironmental Frotection Sct

1990]
Full Fire arnount £80.00 E100-£150

Fixed Fenaltu Motice For Failure o | Reduced Firne [Paid within 10 daws] £200.00 £210.00

produce authority ['Waste

Carrier's Licence] [Section

AHEE Control of FPallution

[ Arnendment] Act 1989] Reduced

Fire [Paid within 10 daws] Full Fire Araoumt £300.00 £325.00

g W)l epuaby



89¢ abed

Fixed Penaltu Maotice For Failure to
produce documentation [Waste
Transfer Notes] [Section 34(5]
and regulations made under it
SF4ENSAL Environmental
Protection ot 1330) Reduced Fine
[P aid within 10 daus)

Reduczed Fine [Paid within 10 daws]

£200.00

£210.00

Full Fine S&mount

£300.00

£325.00

Fixed Penaltu Maotics For Breach of
YWaste Duty of Care [section 3d
Ervirornmental Pratection Scc 17330]

Reduczed Fine [Paid within 10 daws]

£120-£200

Sliding scale

£100-£300

£150-£400

Flutipping — Fized Penaltu Motice
far Oepasiting Contralled wWaste
[Section 34[11(a) and Section
32N al Environmental Protection
Ace 1330

Reduczed Fine [Paid within 10 daws]

£150-£250

Full &maunt =sliding scale

£150-£400

£300-£500

Training Certificates

Health ! Expart

£35 + VAT

€100 + VAT

£ 104 + var

Annual specific erport inspection Certificate

£4728 + VAT

£457 + VAT

£ATS. 00 + vat

Per hiour [minimum 1 hoar] £50_00 £54_00 £56_00
FHRS [Food Hugiene Rating Schemel re-rating £178. 00 £130_00 £138_ 00
Food Aduizary Wisits £150.00 £160_00 £166_00

Frivate \Water Suppliss

Risk A=sses=ment per hour Iminimum 1 houar)

£59 per hour

£653 per hour

£665. 00 per houwur

Inwestigation per howr [minimum 1 howr)

£59 per hour

£53 per hour

£66_ 00 per houwr

Sranting an Authorisation per hour [minimom 1 howr]

£59 per hour

£53 per hour

£66_ 00 per houwr

Sampling Visit per hour [minimum 1 howr)

£59 per hour

£653 per hour

£66.00 per howur

Sample analusis per sample taken

£33 .00 per howur
plus laboratory
charges

£63 00 per
hour plus
laboratory

£66_ 00 per
hour plus
laboratory

Sample taken during sheck monitaring

£33 .00 per howur
plus laboratory
charges

£63 00 per
hour plus
laboratory

£66_ 00 per
hour plus
laboratory

Sample taken during audit monitoring

£53.00 per hour
plus laboratory
charges

£63. 00 per
hour plus
laboratory

£66.00 per

hour plus

laboratory

g W)l epuaby



LICEMNSING ACT 2003 - FEES SET BY CENTRAL GOVERMMENMNT - SAME FOR ALL DISTRICT COUMNCILS

Temporary Event Hotices

Festo seme a Temporary Event Blotice [TER]
Copu of & TEM [if lo=t ar stolen]

Personal licences
Application For the grant of a personal licence
Fee for areplacement persanal licence [if lost or stalen]
F e ta motifu 2 change of name or address on a personal licence

Applications for new premises licences or club premises certificates
Applications Far the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate
Eand & (NORMN O - 4300)
Eand B (MNORN 4301 - 33000)
Eand C (NORMN 33001 - S7000)
Band O (MNORY S7001 - 125000)
E=nd E (RNORY 125001 +)

premises is used erclusively aor primarily far the supply of alcohal For consumption an the
premises]

Eand & (NORM O - 4300)

Eand B (MNORY 4301 - 33000]

Eand C (NORMN 33001 - S7000)

Eand O [(MORN S7T001 - 125000)

Band E (NORY 125001 +)

additional fees for grant of 2 premises licences (for large venues with capacities owsr SO00)
S000 - 3333
10000 - 143339
15000 - 13333
20000 - 23333
30000 - 33333
40000 - 43333
50000 - 53333
0000 - 53333
Toooo - 73333
S0000 - 53333

69¢ abed

Applications to vary premises licences and club premises certificates
Applications bo vary a premises licence or club premises certificate
Band A [MORY 0 - 4300)
E=arnd B (MNORY 4301 - 33000)
Earnd C (NORYW 33007 - S7000]
Eard O (MNORY S7007 - 125000]
Earnd E(MDORMW 125001 +)

Applications to vary a premises licence [where the premises is used enclusively or primarilu far
the supply of alcohol faor consumption on the premizses]

Eard & (MNORW 0 - 4300)

Earnd B (MORY 4307 - 33000]

Earnd C (NORYW 33007 - S7000]

Eard O (MNORW ST007 - 125000]

Eand E[MDORY 125001 +)

Application For a minor variation of a premises licence or club premises certificate

£Z21.00
€£10.50

€3 700
£10_50
E£10.50

€100.00
€£130.00
€£315.00
£450_ 00
£635_ 00

€£100.00
€£130.00
€£315.00
£300_ 00
£1. 30500

£1.000.00
£2.000.00
£4_000_00
€8, 000_00
€16 00000
€24 00000
€32 000.00
£40.000.00
£48. 00000
£56.000.00

£100.00
£190.00
£315.00
£450.00
E£635.00

£100.00
£130.00
£315.00
E£300. 00
£1. 30500

€£53.00

g W)l epuaby



0/¢ abed

Annual maintenance fees
Annual premizes licence or club premises certificate fee
Bard & (MNORW O - 4300)
Band B (NORW 4301 - 33000)
Band CIMNORY 33001 - 57000)
Band O (NORMW 37007 - 125000]
Band E (MNORW 125007 +]

Annual premises licence [whers the premises iz used exclusively or primarily Far the supplu of
alcohal for consumption on the premizes]

Band & (MORY 0 - 4300)

Eand B [(MORY 4501 - 33000)

Eand C [MORY 533007 - 37000)

Band O (MORY 37001 - 125000]

Eand E [(MORY 125007 +)

Additiornal annual fees premizes licences [(For large venues with capacities awver S000)
5000 -3333
10000 - 143339
15000 - 13333
20000 - 23333
30000 - 33333
40000 - 43333
E0000 - 53333
EQ0O00 - 53333
TOOoo0 - 73333
S0000 - 83333

Other applications and notifications
Application to transfer a premizes licence
Application to wary a premizes licence to nominate a premises supervisor
Fee to change name or address of the holder of a premizses licence
Fee ta change the name or address of a designated premizes superviszor on a premises
Fee far areplacement premizes licence or club premises certificate [if lost or stalen)
Fee to notifu licensing authority of 2 propern interest in a premises
Matication of change or club name or alteration to club rules
Matification of change of registered address of club
Interim authority notice Following de ath, incapacity or insolvency of licence holder
Application for grant of a provizional statement

Pavement Licenses
Eweru B months

£70.00
£180.00
£295.00
£320.00
£350.00

£70.00
£180.00
£235.00
£640_00
£1.050.00

£500.00
£1.000.00
£2.000.00
£4.,.000.00
£8.000.00
£12.000.00
€£16,.000_00
£20.000.00
£24,.000.00
£28.000.00

£23.00
£23 .00
£10.50
£10.50
£10.50
£21.00
£10.50
£10.50
£23.00
£315.00

£100.00

g W)l epuaby



T/ ¢ abed

LICENSING FEES AND CHARGES

2023124 2024125
TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE
Hackney Carriage YWehicle Licence £260_40 £2T78 60
Frivate Hire Wehicle Licence £241.50 £258_40
Temporary Hacknew Carriage Yehicle Licence £135_30 £203.00
Temporary Private Hire WYehicle Licence £181. 10 £133_80
Private Hire Operator Licencs (5 uear) £1.180_20 £1.262_80
Hackrew Carriage ! Private Hire Oriver Licence (3 uesar) £244_ 70 £2651_.80
K rnowledge Test £24_20 £25 90
Replacement vehicle licence plate £24_Z0 £25_ 390
Feplacement driver’s licence £22.10 £23.60
Transfer of ownership of a licensed vehicle £39_ 30 £42_ 70
Criminal Record [DES] Check £58_80 £62_90
ANIMAL ACTIVITY LICEMNCES
Hiring out horses, breeding of dogs. providing or arranging
the provision of boarding for cats or dogs and selling
Application fee £323.00 £355.00
Licence fee [1u=sarl £184_00 £139.00
Licence fee [ years] £364_00 +393_00
Licence fee 5 usars] £546.00 £590.00
Application to vary a licence £240_.00 £259.00
‘Yeterinary fees [if applicable) Recovered at cost
Local autharity inspection [on request of lisence halder] £164_00 £1F 7. 00
Keeping or training animals For exhibition [ondy)
Application fee £213_.00 £237.00
Licence fee [3 uears] £300_00 £324_00
Application ta vary a licencs £1585_00 £170_00
Wererinary fees [if applicable) Recovered at cost
Local autharity inspection [on request of licence holder] £163_00 £17F7_ 00
ACUPUNCTURE, COSMETIC PIERCING, SEMI-PERMAMNEMNT
SKIN COLOURING, TATTOOING, ELECTROLYSIS
Fee taregister a premises £142_80 £152_80
Fee o register a practitionsr £93_50 £100_ 00
GAMBLING ACT 2005 (inc. SMALL LOTTERIES)
Small society lotteries
Fee taregister a small societu lattery £40_ 00 £40_ 00
Small sacietu lattery annual maintenances fes £20_00 £20_00
Application For the grant of a premises licence
Eetting [=xcluding rracks] £1.8543.10 £1.978.50
Betting Tracks £1.542_50 £1.650_50
Birngao £2_216_60 £Z.371.80
Adult Gaming Centres £1.266_30 £1.354_30
F amilu Entertainment Centres £1.266_30 £1.354_90

2025126

£283.T0
£268.7T0
£217.40
£201.60
£1.313.30
£2TZ.30
£26_90
£26.390
£24_50
£d44_40
£65.40

£365. 70
£205.00
£404_80
£607. 70
£Z266_80

£182.30

£2d44_10
£3I3IF.TO
E£175.10

£182_30

£158_90
£104.00

£40_00
£20.00

£2.057.60
£1.716_50
£Z2 46670
£1.4039.10
£1.409_10

g W)l epuaby



2/ ¢ abed

Premises licence annual Fees
Betting [excluding tracks)

Betting Tracks=s

Birngo

Adult Gaming Centres

F amilu Entertainment Centres

Application to vary a premises licence
Betting [excluding tracks)

Betting Tracks=s

Birngo

Adult Gaming Centres

F amilu Entertainment Centres

Application to transfer a premises licence
Betting [excluding tracks)

Betting Tracks=s

Birngo

Adult Gaming Centres

F amilu Entertainment Centres

Application for a provisional statement
Betting [excluding tracks)

Betting Tracks=s

Birngo

Adult Gaming Centres

F amilu Entertainment Centres

Application Ffor the grant of a premises licence [provisional

statement holders]
Betting [excluding tracks)
Betting Tracks

Birngo

Adult Gaming Centres

Family Entertainment Centres

Application For reinstatement of a premizes licence
Eetting [=xcluding rracks)

Betting Tracks

Eirngo

Adult Gaming Centres

F amilu Entertainment Centres

Premises licence Fees [Imiscellaneous]
Copw of & premises licence Lall tupes]
Matification of 2 changes inrespect of a premises licence [all tupes]

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits
Application for grant of a permit

Application Far variation of a permit

Application Far the transfer of & permit

Arnrual permit fee

Changes of name shown on & permit

Fegqusest for 2 copu of 2 permit

£381.20
£634_ 20
£634_F0
£634.20
£476.T0

£351.30
£731.70
£1.112.00
£351.30
£735.00

£758._10
£601.70
£753.Z0
£758.10
£601.70

£1.8493_10
£1.542_50
£2Z_ Z216.60
£1.266.30
£1.266.30

Mo fee set
Mo fee set
Mo fee set
Mo fee set
Mo fee set

£F33.20
£530.10
E£ET39. 20
€73 20
£530.10

£25.00
£50.00

£150.00

£100.00
£25.00
£50.00
£25.00
£15.00

€£407_30
£6T73. 60
£673. 60
£673.60
£5710.10

€£1.017.90
£847T_10

£1.183_80

£1.000.00
£F86.50

£811.20
£643 850
£81Z2_30
£811.20
£643. 50

£1.978.50
£1.650.50
£2.371.80
£1.354.90
£1.354.90

£833.60
£833.60
£837.10
£837_10
£636.650

£F30.30
£631.40
£730.390
€£730.90
£631.40

£25. 00
£50.00

£150.00
£100.00
£25_ 00
£50.00
£25. 00
£15.00

£424_20
£7F05.T0
£7F05.70
£7F05.70
£530.50

£1.058_60
€581 00

£1. 23740

£1.000.00
E£818. 00

£843_60
£663_60
£844_80
£843_60
£663.60

€2 05760
£1.T16.50
£Z 46670
£1.4039.10
£1.4039.10

£866_30
£866.30
£87F0.60
£870_60
£724_50

£822_50
£656.7T0
£822.50
£822_50
£656_T0

£25.00
£50.00

€150 00
£100_ 00
£25.00
£50.00
£25.00
£15.00

g W)l epuaby



¢/ ¢ abed

Licensed Premises Gaming Machines [Automatic
Fee to serve notification

Club Gaming Permits

Application For grant of 2 permit

Application for grant of a2 permit [Club premises certificate halders)
Application for wariation of 2 permit

Application For rensw al of 2 permit

application far renew al of 2 permit [club premizes cenificate holdsrs)
arnrual permit Fese

Fequest for a copy of a permit

Club Machine Permits

Application Far grant of s permit

Application For grant of a permit [Club premises certificate holder=]
Application for wariation of 2 permit

Application For rensw al of 2 permit

application far renew al of 2 permit [club premizes cenificate holdsrs)
arnrual permit Fese

Request for a copy of a permit

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit
application Far grant of = permit

Application Far rernew al of 2 permit

Change of name shown on a permit

Feguest for a copy of a permit

Prize Gaming Permits
application Far grant of = permit
Application Far rernew al of 2 permit
Change of name shown on a permit
Feqguest for a copw of a permit

Temporary Use Motices
Festo serve a Temporary Llze Matice
Fequest for a copw of a Tempaorary L=se Matice

STREET TRADING

Arnrnual street trading consent - Food = initial

Annual street trading consent — food — renew al
Arnual strest trading consent — non—food — initial
Arnrnual strest irading consent - non—food - rensw al

SCRAP METAL DEALERS LICENCES
Application for a new site licence

F o= per additional site

application Far renew al of a site licence

Fee per additional site

Application for a new collectors licence
Application for rernsw al of 2 collectars licence
Wariation of a licence

Request for a copy of alicence [if lost ar stolen]

£50.00

£200.00
€£100.00
£100. 00
€200 00
£100.00

£50.00

£15.00

£200.00
£100.00
£100. 00
€200 00
£100.00
£50.00
£15.00

£300. 00
£300.00
€25 00
£13. 00

£300. 00

£300.00
£25_00
£13. 00

€£287_ 00
€25 00

£1.5713. 40
£1.333F 40
£1.267_ 40
£1.140.30

£50.00

£200.00
€£100.00
£100. 00
€200 00
£100.00

£50.00

£15.00

£200.00
£100.00
£100. 00
€200 00
£100.00
£50.00
£15.00

£300. 00
£300.00
€25 00
£13. 00

£300. 00

£300.00
£25_00
£13. 00

£307_10
€25 00

£1.625_80
£1. 430 30
£1.356_10
E£1L.220.10

£311.00
£160.00
€£257_00
€£170.00
£155. 00
£10Z2_00
£ o0
£27_ 00

£50.00

£200_.00
£100. 00
£100. 00
£200_00
£100.00
£50_.00
£15.00

£200_00
£100.00
£100. 00
£200_00
£100.00
£50_.00
£15.00

£300.00
£300_00
€25 00
£15.00

£300.00

£300_00
£25_ 00
£15.00

£313. 40
€25 00

£1.690_80
£1.550_50
£1.410_30
£1. 26830

£153. 70
£105_10
£F2_10
£2T_ 50

g W)l epuaby



/¢ obed

F00 LICEMCES
Application for grant or renew al of a licence
Secretary of state inspector and veterinary fees

DAMNGEROUS WILD ANIMALS [(DWA)
Application for grant or renew al of a licence
Yererinary inspection fees

SEX ESTABLISHMEMNTS

Application for grant or renew al of a licence
Application for transfer of licence
Application for variation of licence

PAVEMEMNT LICEMCES
Application for a pavement licence [6 months licence)
Application for a new pavement licence - 2 uears

Application for arenew al pavement licence - 2 uears

STREET AMENITY PERMISSIOMNS
Application for grant of a new permission

Application for renew al of a2 permission

HYPMOTISM

Application for autharization

£250._00

Recovered at cost

£235.00

Recovered at cost

£1.020.00
£500._00
£1.020.00

£100.00

£200_00
£55.00

£50.00

£267T.50

£251.50

£1.091.40
£535.00
£1.091.40

£100.00

£214_00
£585_ 90

£53.50

£27T8. 20

£261.60

£1.135.10
£556_ 40
£1.135.10

£0_00
£500.00
£350_00

Ceased -

Ceased -

£55.60

g wa)| epuaby



G/ ¢ obed

Appendix D — Reserves Position

Transkers  Transkers Transfers
In Dut In
Balance Balance
as at 31 as at 31
March March
2022 2023

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2022423 2022423

202324

General Fund Balances [9,012] 1747
General Fund:

Building Contral Otker 7 1] 1]
Building Cortral Partnerships a2 i] i]
Cornrmunity Services 21 2] i
E conomic Regeneration 1348 1] 1]
Election Services 51 34 a
Erwironrental Services 27 a a
Financial Services 4,705 a 0
HR Backlog Funding

ICT Backlog Funding

Hauszing Schermes o654 1] 1]
ICTiSysterms 197 i] i]
Leizure/Commmunity Safety 151 ] [36)
Local Meighbourkood Partnership: & 1] 1]
Citer i ] ]
Planring & Regeneration 133 330 i]
Regul atary Services [Partner Shar 73 12 i
Replacement Reserve [Inc. Recwdli 1] 1]

Shared Services [Severance Costd 311 1] 1]
Cavid-19 (General Covid Grant] 7EE i i
Covid-13 [Callection Fund) 4,789 i] [3,385)
|tilities

“Ward Budgets

Cauncil Tax Hardship Fund 1] 79 1]
Property Services Feview

EPR Funding &llocationb

Artrix Holding Trust

Transfers

Dut

202424

£000

[1.330)

Balance
asat31 Prior
March year

Transfers Transfers Transfers Transfers Transkers Transfers Transfers Transfers
Prior Yr Bud In Out Balance In Ot Balance In Out Balance In DOut Balance
Balance Balance Balance Balance
agz at 31 as at 31 as at 31 as at 31

Transfers Transfers March  Transfers Transfers March  Transfers Transfers March  Transfers Transfers March
2024 Changes In Out 2024 In Ot 2024 In Out 2024 In Out 2024

£000 2024125 2024125 3-Mar-25 2025026 2025426 31-Mar-26 2026027 2026027 3-Mar-27 2027128 2027128 31-Mar-28

£000

[1.050)

g wa)| epuaby



This page is intentionally left blank



11z abed

Appendix E — Capital Programme

Council Council Council Council Council Council 3rd Party 3rd Partyird Partidrd Party3rd Party 3rd Party|
Cap Description Department Funding detail| Caried | 2024125 | 2024125 | Spend | 202326 202627 2027128 202829 | 2029430 24125 2026 26027 2728 28029 29430 24125 2526 26027 2W28 28129 2930
Proj Fwdto | Budget | Total 245 Total Total  Total Total | Total £ £ £ £ i £ £ i £ £ £ £
2415 £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Large Schemes
Levelling Up Fund Fund
- Government Funded Flanning, Regeneration | Grant Funding 0 0 oo 0
B Leisure Services
0 0 [ 0
Plarket Hall [LUF) Plarning, Regeneration |Levelling Up 12337104 609,004 | 15921799 [ 9,228,000 0" 0
200072 & Leisure Fund 3,000,000 £109.704 £,228,000
Ef - Fire Station Planring, Regereration [Levelling Up 1209674 1209674 | 77300 0 I n " 0
200073 % Leisure Fund 1209674
- Council Funded Borrowing 0 I n " 0
0 0 I 0
UK Shared Prosperity Fund 0 I oo 0
- Capital Element Planning, Regeneration | Grant Funding 0 I oo 0
B Leizure Services 0 0
- Revenue Element Planning, Grant Funding 0 0 oo 0
Regeneration & 1] 0
-Rermainder (tobe allocated)  Planning, Regeneration | GrantFunding | 627001 | 1784215 | 24126 913,000 I n "0 0
& Leisure Services 1784205 918,000
0 0 I 0
0 0 I 0
Schemes Agreed to Continue i 0 orn i
200008 Burcot Lane Finanzial & Custorner | Public warks laan 0 1] 1] 915,514 0 1] [ 0
Services board and grant
hornes england i ]
200007 Comnmunity & Housing | Capital I 0 0 I oo 0
ceTv GF Services ReceiptatBorrowi 0 1]
200008 Funding for DFGs Cornrmunity & Housing | Grant income 13432 | TR0FE | M3 748 | BET0G3 | 1288947 00000 900000 800,000 900,000 00,000
GF Services WCC 113036 1285847 500000 800,000 800,000
200009) Horne Repairs Assistance Cornmunity & Housing — |Long Term Ta602 | B0,000 165,602 50,000 50000 50000 T G0OO0 50000
GF Services Debtors 50,000 50000 50000 50000 50000 50,000
2000100 Energy Efficiency Installation  Community & Housing | Capital 02180 1 10,000 212190 0 i} n "0 0
GF Services ReceiptatBorrowi 110,000 i}
200016] hew Finance Enterprize Financial & Custorner | Capital Receipts 20,000 20,000 20,000 20000 20000 T 20000 20000
systern Services 20,000 20000 20000 20000 20,000 20000
200013 Fleet Replacemnet new line 0 280,000 | 280,000 ( 13,860 | 1265000 20,000 [ 0
2780000 1265000 820,000 0 0
200022 Replacernent Parking Erwiratrnental Services | Capital 12745 | 128000 | 137745 85003 00000 100000 100000 100000 100,000
rnachines and Upkesp of Sites ReceiptsBarrawi 125000 100000 100000 100,000 100,000 100,000
200030 wheelie Bin Purchase Erwironmental Services | Capital 0 60,000 E0.000 a2 120000 120000 120000 120000 120,000
ReceiptsBarrawi
nq E0000 120000 120000 120,000 120,000 120,000

g wa)| epuaby



8/ ¢ abed

Council

Council Council Council Council Council

3Ird Party 3rd Partyird Partdrd Partydrd Party 3rd Party

Cap Description Department Funding detail | Caried | 2024425 | 202425 | Spend | 202526 202627 2027128 2028129 | 202930 425 26 2627 2028 229 2930 425 2N26 26027 2728 28029 2930
Proj Fwdto | Budget | Total 2415 Total ~ Total  Total  Total | Total i i i |3 |3 i |3 |3 i i |3 i
2445 £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Mew  [Buildings Legal and Property Barrowing 00000 | 100000 | 200,000 780 00000 100000 100000 7 100,000 100,000
00000 100000 100000 100000 100,000 100,000
200045] Greener Homes Cammurity & Houging [ Grants & I i i £.125 i i 0 "0 i
[5F Services Contributions
i i
200026] Fubery Redevelopment warks i Al i 0 "0 i
200082\ Mew Digital Service Commurity & Hauzing - |Barrowing J3REG i J1REG i i 0 "0 i
[5F Services 1 1
2000331 Bug Shelters Enwirormental Services |Borrowing 000 | 8000 | 3e000 180 |00 000 18000 T 000 18000
WBO00 18000 8000 18000 98000 18000
200069) Ciaco Metwark Update Busingss transformation | Barrowing I i i MA77 50000 50000 T 0000 50000
& Organizational
Developrent i 4877 50000 BOJO0 50000 50,000
Server Feplacement Est{Exact Business transformation |Barrowing 7951 | TP7E00 | 169,549 |50 BOOO0  BOOOD " ROOOD 60000
200070{ known 02 2022) & Orgarisational 77500 18500 0000 BOOOD  EOOO0 60,000
Laptap Refresh Buziness transfarmation |Barrowing 13459 | BO000 | WB34E [ M 5000 30000 30000 730000 30000
200071 & Organisational 0000 5000 30000 30000 30000 30000
Sanderz Park Planning, Fegeneration | 5108 i i i 4560 i i 0 i
0075 & Leizurs Services 0 0
Fleet Replacerment Costs 9400 i 9400 Ta,000 i T "0 i -
‘Wheely Bin Increases a5.000 i 85,000 i i 0 "0 i
"wfild Flower Machingry 2000 i 2000 i i [ i
Iritial Play Audit Requirements G000 | 4000 | 451000 i i 0 "0 i
2000105 364,000
|Updated Play dudit 6242 HA84 226459 TOETAN 165749
Reuiraments [Dec 241 6242 BOR4 26459 E7RM TERT4S
Mivernent of ICT Cyber 0000 50000 i i i 070 i
Capital Works Forward 0000
Mew ongaing Cyber securty 2000 | 25000 [ 25000 " 26000 T 25000 25000 25000
budge! B0 A0 A0 K00 28000 25,000
Play Area, POS and Spat Planning, Pegeneration (5108 19013AFUL | 22626 | 37956 [ GORGZ [ 30000 i i i i i

improvernents &t Lickey End
Recreation Ground in
accordance with the 5106
Agreemernt

& Leisure Services

g wa)| epuaby



6/¢ abed

Council Council Council Council Council Council

3rd Party 3rd Partylrd Partdrd Party3rd Party 3rd Party

Cap Deseription Department  |Funding detail | Caried | 2024125 | 2024125 | Spend | 202526 2026027 2027028 2008029 (202%30( 242 2826 2627 208 2499 2930 M W% MR N A 2930
Proj Fwdto | Budget | Total | 245 | Total  Total Total Total | Total H H H H H £ £ £ H H £ H
il £ £ H £ H H H
Food Waste Collection - fund 2T 0 0 0 I
for Vechgicles and cortainers
028
Replacement Whesled Bing om0 0 0 0
2200000
Parkside - Requirement for a 5740 0 0 0 0
fireml
5750
Laptops for new Starters R0 AN B0 A0 0
B0 28000 B0 2000
Sdany Capilisation 000 FR0000 FRO000 70000 TAO.000 0000 7A0000 70000 FRO000 TR0.00
Ay - Landord Obligations 000 | A0 | v | 0000 2000 20000 T80 2000 000 D00 DM 2000 20000 20000
Total AN BRI7 | BB SN | 199347 T 32204 2469458 2INEN(2T]  3AAN0 SO ZAZ2B41 TRRS45Y 150531 1578 WZ7RT I A0 A00000 BO0000  0ojno

g W)l epuaby



This page is intentionally left blank



T8¢ abed

Appendix F — Capital Strategy

Introduction

1.1  This capital strategy report gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management
activity contribute to the provision of local public services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the
implications for future financial sustainability. It has been written in an accessible style to enhance members’ understanding of
these sometimes technical areas.

1.2  Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have financial consequences for the Authority for many
years into the future. They are therefore subject to both a national regulatory framework and to local policy framework,
summarised in this report.

Capital Expenditure and Financing

1.3 Capital expenditure is where the Authority spends money on assets, such as property or vehicles, that will be used for more
than one year. In local government this includes spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to other
bodies enabling them to buy assets.

1.4  In 2025/26, the Authority is planning capital expenditure of £2.7m as summarised below:

Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

actual forecast budget * budget budget
General Fund services 3.4 4.2 2.7 2.3 1.5
Regeneration 0.5 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
TOTAL 3.9 6.1 2.7 2.3 1.5

g wa)| epuaby



28¢ abed

1.5

1.6

1.7

The Council is still to finalise work required for the adoption of IFRS16 linking to the accounting for leases which must be
implemented by the 2025/26 financial year.

The main General Fund capital projects are the three Levelling Up Projects which amount to £16m of expenditure and include
Public Realm Improvements £1.0m, The New Market Hall Centre amounts to £10.3m, and clearance of the Windsor Street
site ready for redevelopment. The Council received approval from the Ministry of Housing, Local Government and
Communities on the 30t January 2025 that delivery of these projects could be extended until the 31st March 2026. Both the
Windsor Street and Public Realm projects were completed by the end of the 2024/5 financial year. The Burcot housing
development was completed in early 2024 (£10.0m). Following a change in the Prudential Code, the Authority no longer incurs
capital expenditure on investments.

Governance: Service managers bid annually in January to include projects in the Authority’s capital programme. Bids are
collated by corporate finance who calculate the financing cost (which can be nil if the project is fully externally financed). The
Audit Standards and Governance Committee and then the Cabinet appraises all bids based on a comparison of strategic
priorities against financing costs and makes recommendations to Council. The final capital programme is then presented to
Cabinet in February and to Council in February each year.

» For full details of the Authority’s capital programme, including the project appraisals undertaken, see Tranche 2 of the

2025/26 Medium Term Financial Plan.

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and other contributions), the
Authority’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or debt (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative).
The planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:

Table 2: Capital financing in £ millions

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

actual forecast budget * budget budget
External sources 0.9 2.7 0.8 0.8 0.8
Own Resources 3.0 34 1.9 15 0.7

g wa)| epuaby



cge abed

1.8

1.9

Debt

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

TOTAL

3.9

6.1

2.7

2.3

1.5

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by
other financing, usually from revenue which is known as minimum revenue provision (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds from
selling capital assets (known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt finance. Planned [MRP / repayments] and use

of capital receipts are as follows:

Table 3: Replacement of prior years’ debt finance in £ millions

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
actual forecast budget * budget budget
Minimum revenue
provision 0.9 1.2 13 1.3 1.4
Capital Receipts 0.9 2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

» The Authority’s full minimum revenue provision statement is available within the body of this report.

The Authority’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the capital financing requirement (CFR). This
increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and reduces with MRP and capital receipts used to replace debt. The
CFR is expected to increase by £2.7m during 2025/26. Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the

Authority’s estimated CFR is as follows:

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions

31.3.2024 | 31.3.2025 | 31.3.2026 | 31.3.2027 | 31.3.2028
actual forecast budget budget budget
General Fund &
Regeneration 38.6 42.7 454 47.7 49.2
TOTAL CFR 38.6 42.7 454 47.7 49.2

g wa)| epuaby



8¢ obed

1.10 Asset management: To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Authority has an asset management

1.11

strategy in place. Within this strategy, individual properties and associated land will be further evaluated to determine:

e The operational necessity and benefit.

e Projected costs of ensuring all elements of the buildings continue to meet legislative requirements and performance
standards.

e Planned and cyclical maintenance costs for elements nearing the end of their ‘life’ expectancy, ensuring service provision
is maintained without unnecessary interruption. Costs associated with meeting future EPC rating minimum requirements.

e Rent levels (and net costs for each building) and revised leases.

e Alternative or rationalised portfolio or joint enterprises for service delivery.

By evaluation of all factors cited above, informed decisions can be made to determine which assets are:

e No longer cost effective to run, where outlay exceeds earning potential
e No longer viable for effective service delivery
e Surplus to requirements

Asset considerations will be presented to Cabinet on a half yearly basis for approval for disposal, unless there is an urgent
requirement for a decision.

Asset disposals: When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known as capital receipts,
can be spent on new assets or to repay debt: The Authority is currently also permitted to spend capital receipts “flexibly” on
service transformation projects until 2025/26 although nothing is presently planned. Repayments of capital grants, loans and
investments also generate capital receipts. The Authority plans to receive £0m of capital receipts in the coming financial year
as follows:

Table 5: Capital receipts receivable in £ millions

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
actual forecast budget * budget budget
Asset sales 0.9 2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

g wa)| epuaby



Gg8¢ abed

Loans etc repaid 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Treasury Management

1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash available to meet the Authority’s spending
needs, while managing the risks involved. Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by
borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current account. The Authority is typically cash rich in
the short-term as revenue income is received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long-term as capital expenditure is incurred
before being financed. The revenue cash surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing.

Due to decisions taken in the past, the Authority currently has no external long term (over 1 year) borrowing and £14.5m
treasury investments at an average rate of 4.9%.

Borrowing strategy: The Authority’s main objectives when borrowing is to achieve a low but certain cost of finance while
retaining flexibility should plans change in future. These objectives are often conflicting, and the Authority therefore seeks to
strike a balance between cheaper short-term loans and long-term fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but higher.

The Authority does not borrow to invest for the primary purpose of financial return and therefore retains full access to the
Public Works Loans Board.

Projected levels of the Authority’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing, PFI liabilities, leases and transferred
debt) are shown below, compared with the capital financing requirement (see above).

Table 6: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions

31.3.2024 | 31.3.2025 | 31.3.2026 | 31.3.2027 | 31.3.2028
actual forecast budget budget budget
General Fund (incl.
PFI & leases) 3.9 6.1 2.7 2.3 1.5

g wa)| epuaby



98¢ abed

1.17

1.18

1.19

1.20

Capital Financing

Requirement A

42.7 47.7 49.2

‘ 38.6

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except in the short-term. As can be
seen from table 6, the Authority expects to comply with this in the medium term.

Liability benchmark: To compare the Authority’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability benchmark has
been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes that cash and investment balances are kept to a
minimum level of £2m at each year-end. This benchmark is currently £5.69m and is not forecast to rise over the next three
years.

Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark in £ millions

31.3.2024 | 31.3.2025 | 31.3.2026 | 31.3.2027 | 31.3.2028
actual forecast budget budget budget
Forecast Outstanding
borrowing - GE 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Liability benchmark 5.69 5.69 5.69 5.69 5.69

The table shows that the Authority expects to remain borrowed below its liability benchmark. This is because cash outflows to
date have been below the assumptions made when the loans were borrowed.

Affordable borrowing limit: The Authority is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level
should debt approach the limit.

Table 8: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
limit limit limit limit
£m £m £m £m

g wa)| epuaby



/8¢ abed

1.21

1.22

Authorised limit — borrowing 60 60 60 60
@L;tshé)srised limit — PFI and 1 1 1 1
Aol a| @]  a|  ow
ng;ﬁgﬁgal boundary — 55 55 55 55
;)npdeﬁgggzl boundary — PFI 1 1 1 1
Opratone pourcary ot | ss|  s| s

Treasury investment strategy: Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again. Investments made
for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally considered to be part of treasury management.

The Authority’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over yield, that is to focus on minimising risk
rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with the
government, other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that will be held for
longer terms is invested more widely, including in bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk of
receiving returns below inflation. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an external
fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the Authority may request its money back at short

notice.

Table 9: Treasury management investments in £millions

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

actual forecast budget * budget budget
Near-term investments 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Long-term investments 0 0 0 0 0

g wa)| epuaby



8g8¢ abed

1.23

1.24

TOTAL 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 | 4.5 |

» Further details on treasury investments are in the Treasury Management Strategy part of this appendix.

Risk management: The effective management and control of risk are prime objectives of the Authority’s treasury management
activities. The treasury management strategy therefore sets out various indicators and limits to constrain the risk of unexpected
losses and details the extent to which financial derivatives may be used to manage treasury risks.

o The treasury management prudential indicators are in the treasury management strategy which are part of these
appendices.

Governance: Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and are therefore delegated to
the Director of Finance and staff, who must act in line with the treasury management strategy approved by Council. Quarterly
reports on treasury management activity are presented to Cabinet. The Audit, Standards and Governance Committee is
responsible for scrutinising treasury management decisions.

Investments for Service Purposes

1.25

1.26

1.27

The Authority makes investments to assist local public services, including making loans to local service providers, local small
businesses to promote economic growth, and the Authority’s subsidiaries that provide services to stakeholders. Total
investments for service purposes are currently valued at £0m.

Risk management: In light of the public service objective, the Authority is willing to take more risk than with treasury
investments, however it still plans for such investments to break even after all costs. A limit of £2.5m is placed on total
investments for service purposes to ensure that plausible losses could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without
unmanageable detriment to local services.

Governance: Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service manager in consultation with the Director of
Finance and must meet the criteria and limits laid down in the investment strategy. Most loans and shares are capital

g wa)| epuaby



68¢ abed

expenditure and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital programme. The relevant service director and
the Director of Finance are responsible for ensuring that adequate due diligence is carried out before investment is made.

Further details on service investments are in the Treasury Management Strategy.

Liabilities

1.28 The Authority is committed to making future payments to cover its pension fund deficit (which is in surplus as per the 2022
Triennial revaluation and the backlog will be cleared in 2037). It has also set aside £1.0m for Business Rates appeals.

1.29 Governance: Decisions on incurring new discretional liabilities are taken by Heads of Service in consultation with the Director
of Finance. The risk of liabilities crystallising and requiring payment is monitored by the corporate finance team and reported
biannually to Cabinet. New liabilities exceeding £0.5m are reported to full council for approval/notification as appropriate.

Revenue Budget Implications

1.30 Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable on loans and MRP are charged to
revenue. The net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount
funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants.

Table 10: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
actual forecast budget * budget budget
Financing costs (Em) 0.9 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.4

g wa)| epuaby



06¢ abed

Proportion of net

)
revenue stream 11.50%

11.50% 11.50% 11.60%

‘ 11.40%

1.31 Sustainability: Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue budget implications of
expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 50 years into the future. The Director of Finance is satisfied
that the proposed capital programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable because of the Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) forecasts which show that the Council is financially sustainable over that period.

Knowledge and Skills

1.32 The Authority employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with responsibility for making capital
expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions. For example, the Director of Finance and Head of Service are qualified
accountants with significant experience. The Authority pays for junior staff to study towards relevant professional qualifications
including CIPFA and AAT.

1.33 Where Authority staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of external advisers and consultants that
are specialists in their field. The Authority currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers and Bruton
Knowles as property consultants. This approach is more cost effective than employing such staff directly and ensures that the
Authority has access to knowledge and skills commensurate with its risk appetite.

» Further details on staff training can be found in the HR Employee Development section of the website.

g wa)| epuaby



T6¢ abed

Appendix G — Treasury Management Strategy

Introduction

2.1

2.2

2.3

Treasury management is the management of the Authority’s cash flows, borrowing and investments, and the associated risks.
The Authority has invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested
funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. The successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk
are therefore central to the Authority’s prudent financial management.

Treasury risk management at the Authority is conducted within the framework of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2021 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires
the Authority to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each financial year. This report fulfils the
Authority’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered in a different report, the Investment Strategy.

External Context

Economic background:

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

The impact on the UK from the government’s Autumn Budget, slower expected interest rate cuts, a short-term boost to but
modestly weaker economic growth over the medium term, together with the impact from President-elect Trump’s second term
in office and uncertainties around US domestic and foreign policy, will be major influences on the Authority’s treasury
management strategy for 2025/26.

The Bank of England’s (BoE) Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) held Bank Rate at 4.75% at its December 2024 meeting,
having reduced it to that level in November and following a previous 25bp cut from the 5.25% peak at the August MPC
meeting. At the December meeting, six Committee members voted to maintain Bank Rate at 4.75% while three members
preferred to reduce it to 4.50%.

The November quarterly Monetary Policy Report (MPR) expected Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth to pick up to
around 1.75% (four-quarter GDP) in the early period of the BoE’s forecast horizon before falling back. The impact from the
Budget pushes GDP higher in 2025 than was expected in the previous MPR, before becoming weaker. Current GDP growth
was shown to be zero (0.0%) between July and September 2024 and 0.4% between April and June 2024, a further
downward revision from the 0.5% rate previously reported by the Office for National Statistics (ONS).

ONS figures reported the annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation rate at 2.6% in November 2024, up from 2.3% in the
previous month and in line with expectations. Core CPI also rose, but by more than expected, to 3.6% against a forecast of
3.5% and 3.3% in the previous month. The outlook for CPI inflation in the November MPR showed it rising above the MPC’s
2% target from 2024 into 2025 and reaching around 2.75% by the middle of calendar 2025. This represents a modest near-

g wa)| epuaby



26¢ abed

2.8

2.9

2.10

term increase due to the ongoing impacts from higher interest rates, the Autumn Budget, and a projected margin of
economic slack. Over the medium-term, once these pressures ease, inflation is expected to stabilise around the 2% target.
The labour market appears to be easing slowly, but the data still require treating with some caution. The latest figures
reported the unemployment rate rose to 4.3% in the three months to October 2024 and economic inactivity fell to 21.7%. Pay
growth for the same period was reported at 5.2% for both regular earnings (excluding bonuses) and for total earnings.
Looking ahead, the BoE MPR showed the unemployment rate is expected to increase modestly, rising to around 4.5%, the
assumed medium-term equilibrium unemployment rate, by the end of the forecast horizon.

The US Federal Reserve has continued cutting interest rates, bringing down the Fed Funds Rate by 0.25% at its December
2024 monetary policy meeting to a range of 4.25%-4.50%, marking the third consecutive reduction. Further interest rate cuts
are expected, but uncertainties around the potential inflationary impact of incoming President Trump’s policies may muddy
the waters in terms of the pace and magnitude of further rate reductions. Moreover, the US economy continues to expand at
a decent pace, rising at an (upwardly revised) annual rate of 3.1% in the third quarter of 2024, and inflation remains elevated
suggesting that monetary policy may need to remain more restrictive in the coming months than had previously been
anticipated.

Euro zone inflation rose above the European Central Bank (ECB) 2% target in November 2024, hitting 2.2% as was widely
expected and a further increase from 2% in the previous month. Despite the rise, the ECB continued its rate cutting cycle
and reduced its three key policy rates by 0.25% in December. Inflation is expected to rise further in the short term, but then
fall back towards the 2% target during 2025, with the ECB remaining committed to maintaining rates at levels consistent with
bringing inflation to target, but without suggesting a specific path.

Credit outlook:

2.11

2.12

2.13

Credit Default Swap (CDS) prices have typically followed a general trend downwards during 2024, reflecting a relatively more
stable financial period compared to the previous year. Improved credit conditions in 2024 have also led to greater convergence
in CDS prices between ringfenced (retail) and non-ringfenced (investment) banking entities again.

Higher interest rates can lead to a deterioration in banks’ asset quality through increased loan defaults and volatility in the
value of capital investments. Fortunately, the rapid interest rate hikes during this monetary tightening cycle, while putting some
strain on households and corporate borrowers, has not caused a rise in defaults, and banks have fared better than expected
to date, buoyed by strong capital positions. Low unemployment and robust wage growth have also limited the number of
problem loans, all of which are positive in terms of creditworthiness.

Moreover, while a potential easing of US financial regulations under a Donald Trump Presidency may aid their banks’
competitiveness compared to institutions in the UK and other regions, it is unlikely there will be any material impact on the
underlying creditworthiness of the institutions on the counterparty list maintained by Arlingclose, the authority’s treasury
adviser.

g wa)| epuaby



c6¢ abed

2.14

Overall, the institutions on our adviser Arlingclose’s counterparty list remain well-capitalised and their counterparty advice on
both recommended institutions and maximum duration remain under constant review and will continue to reflect economic
conditions and the credit outlook.

Interest rate forecast (December 2024):

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

The Authority’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose expects the Bank of England’s MPC will continue reducing Bank
Rate through 2025, taking it to around 3.75% by the end of the 2025/26 financial year. The effect from the Autumn Budget on
economic growth and inflation has reduced previous expectations in terms of the pace of rate cuts as well as pushing up the
rate at the end of the loosening cycle.

Arlingclose expects long-term gilt yields to remain broadly at current levels on average (amid continued volatility), but to end
the forecast period modestly lower compared to now. Yields will continue remain relatively higher than in the past, due to
guantitative tightening and significant bond supply. As ever, there will be short-term volatility due to economic and
(geo)political uncertainty and events.

A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is in Appendix A.

For the purpose of setting the budget, it has been assumed that new treasury investments will be made at an average
rate/yield of 4.6%, and that new long-term loans will be borrowed at an average rate of 5.2%.

Local Context

2.19

On 28™ January 2025, the Authority had no borrowing and £14.5m of treasury investments. This is set out in further detail at

Appendix B. Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in table 1 below.
Table 1: Balance sheet summary and forecast

31.3.24 31.3.25 31.3.26 31.3.27 31.3.28
Actual Estimate Forecast | Forecast | Forecast
£m £m £m £m £m

Capital financing requirement 38.6 42.7 45.4 47.7 49.2
Less: External borrowing ** 0 0 0 0 0
Internal borrowing 38.6 42.7 45.4 47.7 49.2
Less: Usable Reserves -174 -17.2 -17.1 -17.1 -17.1
Less: Working Capital -3.1 -3.1 -3.1 -3.1 -3.1
Treasury investments -18.1 -22.4 -25.2 -27.5 -29.0

g wa)| epuaby



v6¢ obed

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

2.24

2.25

** shows only loans to which the Authority is committed and excludes optional refinancing

The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while balance
sheet resources are the underlying sums available for investment. The Authority’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing
and investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing.

The Authority has an increasing CFR due to the capital programme, but minimal investments but will be funding the programme
through internal borrowing.

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Authority’s total debt should be lower
than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years. Table 1 shows that the Authority expects to comply with this
recommendation during 2025/26.

Liability benchmark: To compare the Council’'s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability benchmark has
been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes the same forecasts as table 1 above, but that cash
and investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £0.2m at each year-end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise
credit risk.

The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the Council is likely to be a long-term borrower or long-
term investor in the future, and so shape its strategic focus and decision making. The liability benchmark itself represents an
estimate of the cumulative amount of external borrowing the Council must hold to fund its current capital and revenue plans

while keeping treasury investments at the minimum level required to manage day-to-day cash flow.
Table 2: Prudential Indicator: Liability benchmark

31.3.24 31.3.25 31.3.26 31.3.27 31.3.28
Actual Estimate Forecast Forecast | Forecast
£m £m £m £m £m

Loans CFR 38.6 42.7 45.4 47.7 49.2
Less: Usable Reserves -17.4 -17.2 -17.1 -17.1 -17.1
Less: Working Capital -3.1 -3.1 -3.1 -3.1 -3.1
Net loans requirement 18.1 22.4 25.2 27.5 29.0
Plus: Liquidity allowance 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2
Liability benchmark 18.3 22.6 25.4 27.7 29.2

Following on from the medium-term forecasts in table 2 above, the long-term liability benchmark assumes capital expenditure
funded by borrowing of £2m average a year, minimum revenue provision on new capital expenditure based on a 25 year
asset life and income, expenditure and reserves all increasing by inflation of 2.5% a year.

g wa)| epuaby



G6¢ obed

Borrowing Strateqy

2.26

2.27

2.28

2.29

2.30

231

2.32

The Authority currently holds £0 million of loans, as part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes. The
balance sheet forecast in table 1 shows that the Authority expects to borrow up to £0m in 2025/26. The Authority may however
borrow to pre-fund future years’ requirements, providing this does not exceed the authorised limit for borrowing of £60 million.
Objectives: The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance between
securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are required. The flexibility
to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

Strategy: Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local government funding, the Authority’s
borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the
debt portfolio. Short-term interest rates are currently higher than in the recent past but are expected to fall in the coming year
and it is therefore likely to be more cost effective over the medium-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-
term loans instead. The risks of this approach will be managed by keeping the Authority’s interest rate exposure within the
limit set in the treasury management prudential indicators, see below.

By doing so, the Authority is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment income) and reduce overall
treasury risk. The benefits of [internal / short-term] borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for incurring
additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.
Arlingclose will assist the Authority with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. Its output may determine whether the
Authority borrows additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 2025/26 with a view to keeping future interest costs low, even if
this causes additional cost in the short-term.

The Authority has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the PWLB but will consider long-term loans
from other sources including banks, pensions and local authorities, and will investigate the possibility of issuing bonds and
similar instruments, in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA
Code. PWLB loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment assets primarily for yield; the
Authority intends to avoid this activity in order to retain its access to PWLB loans.

In addition, the Authority may borrow short-term loans to cover unplanned cash flow shortages.

Sources of borrowing: The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:
 HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan Board)

« National Wealth Fund Ltd (formerly known as UK Infrastructure Bank Ltd)
« any institution approved for investments (see below)
« any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK

g wa)| epuaby



96¢ abed

2.33

2.34

2.35

2.36

« any other UK public sector body

« UK public and private sector pension funds (except Local Government Pension Scheme)

» capital market bond investors

« UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to enable local authority bond issues

Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing,
but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

» leasing

« hire purchase

» Private Finance Initiative

» sale and leaseback

Municipal Bonds Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government Association
as an alternative to the PWLB. It issues bonds on the capital markets and lends the proceeds to local authorities. This is a
more complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond
investors with a guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will
be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow
from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a separate report to full Council.

Short-term and variable rate loans: These loans leave the Authority exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate rises and
are therefore subject to the interest rate exposure limits in the treasury management indicators below. Financial derivatives
may be used to manage this interest rate risk (see section below).

Debt rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a
discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature
redemption terms. The Authority may take advantage of this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without
replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk. The recent rise in interest rates
means that more favourable debt rescheduling opportunities should arise than in previous years.

Treasury Investment Strateqy

2.37

The Authority holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of expenditure plus balances and
reserves held. In the past 12 months, the Authority’s treasury investment balance has ranged between £1 and £14.5 million,
and similar levels are expected to be maintained in the forthcoming year.

g wa)| epuaby



/6¢ abed

2.38

2.39

2.40

2.41

2.42

2.43

Objectives: The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to invest its treasury funds prudently, and to have regard to the security
and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The Authority’s objective when investing
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and
the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year,
the Authority will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain
the spending power of the sum invested. The Authority aims to be a responsible investor and will consider environmental,
social and governance (ESG) issues when investing.

Strategy: As demonstrated by the liability benchmark above, the Authority expects to be a long-term investor and treasury
investments will therefore include both short-term low risk instruments to manage day-to-day cash flows and longer-term
instruments where limited additional risk is accepted in return for higher investment income to support local public services.
The CIPFA Code does not permit local authorities to both borrow and invest long-term for cash flow management. But the
Authority may make long-term investments for treasury risk management purposes, including to manage interest rate risk by
investing sums borrowed in advance for the capital programme for up to three years; to manage inflation risk by investing
usable reserves in instruments whose value rises with inflation; and to manage price risk by adding diversification to the
strategic pooled fund portfolio.

ESG policy: Environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations are increasingly a factor in global investors’ decision
making, but the framework for evaluating investment opportunities is still developing and therefore the Authority’s ESG policy
does not currently include ESG scoring or other real-time ESG criteria at an individual investment level. When investing in
banks and funds, the Authority will prioritise banks that are signatories to the UN Principles for Responsible Banking and funds
operated by managers that are signatories to the UN Principles for Responsible Investment, the Net Zero Asset Managers
Alliance and/or the UK Stewardship Code.

Business models: Under the IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends on the Authority’s “business
model” for managing them. The Authority aims to achieve value from its treasury investments by a business model of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore, where other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to be accounted
for at amortised cost.

Approved counterparties: The Authority may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 3 below,
subject to the limits shown.

g wa)| epuaby



86¢ abed

2.44

2.45

Table 3: Treasury investment counterparties and limits

Credit Banks Banks Registered
. Government Corporates .
rating unsecured secured Providers
UK n/a n/a £ Unlimited n/a n/a
Govt 50 years
AAA £3m £3m £3m £3m £1m
5 years 20 years 50 years 20 years 20 years
AA+ £3m £3m £3m £3m £1m
5 years 10 years 25 years 10 years 10 years
AA £3m £3m £3m £3m £1m
4 years 5 years 15 years 5 years 10 years
AA- £3m £3m £3m £3m £1m
3 years 4 years 10 years 4 years 10 years
£3m £3m £3m £3m £1m
A+
2 years 3 years 5 years 3 years 5 years
A £3m £3m £3m £3m £1m
13 months 2 years 5 years 2 years 5 years
£3m £3m £3m £3m £1m
A- 13
6 months 5 years 13 months 5 years
months
None £1.5m n/a £3m £1m £500k
6 months 25 years 5 years 5 years
Pooled funds and real
estate investment £2.5m per fund or trust
trusts

Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made with entities whose
lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than [A-]. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific
investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are
never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.
For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made either (a) where external advice indicates the entity to
be of similar credit quality; or (b) to a maximum of £500,000 per counterparty as part of a diversified pool e.g. via a peer-to-
peer platform.

g wa)| epuaby



66¢ abed

2.46

2.47

2.48

2.49

2.50

251

2.52

Government: Loans to, and bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by, national governments, regional and local authorities
and multilateral development banks. These investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of
insolvency, although they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK Government are deemed to be zero credit risk due to its
ability to create additional currency and therefore may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

Secured investments: Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the potential losses in the event of
insolvency. The amount and quality of the security will be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds and reverse
repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit
rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral credit rating and
the counterparty credit rating will be used. The combined secured and unsecured investments with any one counterparty will
not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

Banks and building societies (unsecured): Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with
banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks. These investments are subject to the risk of credit
loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail. See below for arrangements relating to
operational bank accounts.

Registered providers (unsecured): Loans to, and bonds issued or guaranteed by, registered providers of social housing or
registered social landlords, formerly known as housing associations. These bodies are regulated by the Regulator of Social
Housing (in England), the Scottish Housing Regulator, the Welsh Government and the Department for Communities (in
Northern Ireland). As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.
Money market funds: Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no price volatility by investing
in short-term money markets. They have the advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment
risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager in return for a small fee. Although no sector limit applies to
money market funds, the Authority will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to ensure access
to cash at all times.

Strategic pooled funds: Bond, equity and property funds, including exchange traded funds, that offer enhanced returns over
the longer term but are more volatile in the short term. These allow the Authority to diversify into asset classes other than
cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date
but can be either withdrawn after a notice period or sold on an exchange, their performance and continued suitability in meeting
the Authority’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

Real estate investment trusts: Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority of their rental
income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As with property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over
the longer term but are more volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand for the shares as well as
changes in the value of the underlying properties.

g wa)| epuaby



00¢€ abed

2.53

2.54

2.55

2.56

2.57

Other investments: This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example unsecured corporate bonds
and unsecured loans to companies and universities. Non-bank companies cannot be bailed-in but can become insolvent
placing the Authority’s investment at risk.

Operational bank accounts: The Authority may incur operational exposures, for example though current accounts, collection
accounts and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater than
£25 billion. These are not classed as investments but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore
be kept below £2.0m per bank. The Bank of England has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25
billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Authority maintaining operational
continuity.

Risk assessment and credit ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Authority’s treasury advisers, who will
notify changes in ratings as they occur. The credit rating agencies in current use are listed in the Treasury Management
Practices document. Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria
then:

* no new investments will be made,

» any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
« full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible downgrade (also known as “negative
watch”) so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn on the next working
day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced. This policy will not apply to negative
outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an imminent change of rating.

Other information on the security of investments: The Authority understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect,
predictors of investment default. Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information on potential government
support, reports in the quality financial press and analysis and advice from the Authority’s treasury management adviser. No
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may
otherwise meet the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, as happened in 2008, 2020 and
2022, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the
Authority will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its
investments to maintain the required level of security. The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial
market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to

g wa)| epuaby



TOg abed

2.58

2.59

2.60

2.61

2.62

invest the Authority’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK Government, or with other local authorities.
This will cause investment returns to fall but will protect the principal sum invested.

Investment limits: The Authority’s revenue reserves available to cover investment losses are forecast to be £10.867 million
on 318t March 2025 and £10.789 million on 315t March 2026. In order that no more than 42% of available reserves will be put
at risk in the case of a single default, the maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government)
will be £5 million. A group of entities under the same ownership will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.
Credit risk exposures arising from non-treasury investments, financial derivatives and balances greater than £2m in operational
bank accounts count against the relevant investment limits.

Limits are also placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts and foreign countries as below.
Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign country,
since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Cash limit
Any single organisation, except the UK Central £5m each
Government
UK Central Government Unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same
ownership £5m per group
Any group of pooled funds under the same £5m per manager
management

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s

; £5m per broker
nominee account

Foreign countries £5m per country
Registered providers and registered social £2 5m in total
landlords

Unsecured investments with building societies £2.5m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £1m in total
Money market funds £20m in total
Real estate investment trusts £2.5m in total

Liquidity management: The Authority uses detailed spreadsheets to determine the maximum period for which funds may
prudently be committed. The forecast is compiled on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Authority being forced to
borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the
Authority’s medium-term financial plan and cash flow forecast.

The Authority will spread its liquid cash over at least four providers (e.g. bank accounts and money market funds) to ensure
that access to cash is maintained in the event of operational difficulties at any one provider.

g wa)| epuaby



20¢g abed

Treasury Management Prudential Indicators

2.63 The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the following indicators.

Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by monitoring the value-weighted
average of its investment portfolio. This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking
the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their

2.64

2.65

2.66

2.67

perceived risk.

Credit risk indicator

Target

Portfolio average credit [rating / score]

A-

Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring the amount of cash
available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling three month period, without additional borrowing.

Liquidity risk indicator

Target

Total cash available within 3 months

£2.5m

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk. The upper limits on the

one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates £500,000
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates £500,000

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans and investments will be replaced

at new market rates.

g wa)| epuaby



€0¢ abed

2.68 Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and
lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will be:

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit
Under 12 months 50% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 50% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 50% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

2.69 Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender

can demand repayment

2.70 Long-term treasury management investments: The purpose of this indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to the
risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. The prudential limits on the long-term treasury

management investments will be:

Price risk indicator 202526 | 202627 | 2027727 | NOT*ed
Limit on principal invested beyond year end £1.0m £0.5m £0m £0m

2.71 Long-term investments with no fixed maturity date include strategic pooled funds and real estate investment trusts but exclude
money market funds and bank accounts with no fixed maturity date as these are considered short-term.

Related Matters

2.72 The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to include the following in its treasury management strategy.

2.73 Financial derivatives: Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans and
investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase
income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits). The general power of competence in section
1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e.
those that are not embedded into a loan or investment).

g wa)| epuaby



v0¢ abed

2.74

2.75

2.76

2.77

The Authority will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and options) where they can be
clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the Authority is exposed to. Additional risks presented,
such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk.
Embedded derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this
policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the approved investment criteria, assessed
using the appropriate credit rating for derivative exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the methodology in
the Treasury Management Practices document will count against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country
limit.

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Authority will seek external advice and will consider that advice before entering into financial
derivatives to ensure that it fully understands the implications.

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive: The Authority has retained retail client status with its providers of financial
services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a smaller range of services but with the
greater regulatory protections afforded to individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the Authority’s treasury
management activities, the Director of Finance believes this to be the most appropriate status.

Financial Implications

2.78

2.79

The budget for investment income in 2025/26 is £203.6k based on an average investment portfolio of £4.5 million at an interest
rate of 4.6%. If actual levels of investments and borrowing, or actual interest rates, differ from those forecast, performance
against budget will be correspondingly different.

Where investment income exceeds budget, e.g. from higher risk investments including pooled funds, or debt interest paid falls
below budget, e.g. from cheap short-term borrowing, then 50% of the revenue savings will be transferred to a treasury
management reserve to cover the risk of capital losses or higher interest rates payable in future years.

Other Options Considered

2.80

The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management strategy for local authorities to adopt. The Director
of Finance, having consulted the Cabinet Member for Finance and Enabling, believes that the above strategy represents an
appropriate balance between risk management and cost effectiveness. Some alternative strategies, with their financial and
risk management implications, are listed below.

Alternative Impact on income and Impact on risk management
expenditure

g wa)| epuaby



Gog abed

Invest in a narrower range of
counterparties and/or for shorter
times

Interest income will be lower

Lower chance of losses from
credit related defaults, but any
such losses may be greater

Invest in a wider range of
counterparties and/or for longer
times

Interest income will be higher

Increased risk of losses from
credit related defaults, but any
such losses may be smaller

Borrow additional sums at long-
term fixed interest rates

Debt interest costs will rise; this
is unlikely to be offset by higher
investment income

Higher investment balance
leading to a higher impact in the
event of a default; however
long-term interest costs may be
more certain

Borrow short-term or variable
loans instead of long-term fixed
rates

Debt interest costs will initially
be lower

Increases in debt interest costs
will be broadly offset by rising
investment income in the
medium term, but long-term
costs may be less certain

Reduce level of borrowing

Saving on debt interest is likely
to exceed lost investment
income

Reduced investment balance
leading to a lower impact in the
event of a default; however
long-term interest costs may be
less certain

g wa)| epuaby



90¢€ abed

Appendix A — Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast — December 2024

Underlying assumptions:

As expected, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) held Bank Rate at 4.75% in December, although, with a 6-3 voting split
and obvious concerns about economic growth, presented a much more dovish stance than had been expected given recent
inflationary data.

The Budget measures remain a concern for policymakers, for both growth and inflation. Additional government spending will
boost demand in a constrained supply environment, while pushing up direct costs for employers. The short to medium-term
inflationary effects will promote caution amongst policymakers.

UK GDP recovered well in H1L 2024 from technical recession, but underlying growth has petered out as the year has
progressed. While government spending should boost GDP growth in 2025, private sector activity appears to be waning, partly
due to Budget measures.

Private sector wage growth and services inflation remain elevated; wage growth picked up sharply in October. The increase
in employers’ NICs, minimum and public sector wage levels could have wide ranging impacts on private sector employment
demand and costs, but the near-term impact will likely be inflationary as these additional costs get passed to consumers.

CPl inflation rates have risen due to higher energy prices and less favourable base effects. The current CPI rate of 2.6% could
rise further in Q1 2025. The Bank of England (BoE) estimates the CPI rate at 2.7% by year end 2025 and to remain over target
in 2026.

The MPC re-emphasised that monetary policy will be eased gradually. Despite recent inflation-related data moving upwards
or surprising to the upside, the minutes suggested a significant minority of policymakers are at least as worried about the
flatlining UK economy.

US government bond yields have risen following strong US data and uncertainty about the effects of Donald Trump’s policies
on the US economy, particularly in terms of inflation and monetary policy. The Federal Reserve pared back its expectations
for rate cuts in light of these issues. Higher US yields are also pushing up UK gilt yields, a relationship that will be maintained
unless monetary policy in the UK and US diverges.

Forecast:

In line with our forecast, Bank Rate was held at 4.75% in December.

g wa)| epuaby



10g abed

The MPC will reduce Bank Rate in a gradual manner. We see a rate cut in February 2025, followed by a cut alongside every
Monetary Policy Report publication, to a low of 3.75%.

Long-term gilt yields have risen to reflect both UK and US economic, monetary and fiscal policy expectations, and increases
in bond supply. Volatility will remain elevated as the market digests incoming data for clues around the impact of policy
changes.

This uncertainty may also necessitate more frequent changes to our forecast than has been the case recently.

The risks around the forecasts lie to the upside over the next 12 months but are broadly balanced in the medium term.

Current Mar-25 Jur-25  Sep-25  Dec-25  Mar-26  Jun-26 Sep-26 Dec-26 Mar-27  Jun-27  Sep-27  Dec-27
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75
Central Case 4.75| 4.50 4.25 4.00 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75
Downside risk 0.00[ -0.25 -0.25 -0.50 -0.50 -0.75) -0.75] -0.75 -0.75) -0.75) -0.¥5] -0.75[ -0.75
3-month money market rate
Upside risk 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75
Central Case 4.90| 4.60 4.35 4.10 3.90 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85
Downside risk 0.00[ -0.25 -0.25 -0.50 -0.50 -0.75) -0.75] -0.75 -0.75) -0.75) -0.75] -0.75[ -0.75
Byr gilt vield
Upside risk 0.00 0.70 0.80 0.%0 0.50 0.530 0.5%0 0.530 0.30 0.90 0.30 0.30 0.50
Central Case 4.34)| 4.30 4.20 4.10 4.00 3.90 3.90 3.95 4.00)0 4.05[ 4.05 4.05| 4.05
Downside risk 0.00f -0.50 -0.60 -0.65 -0.65 -0.70f -0.70] -0.75 -0.75) -0.80) -0.80{ -0.80f -0.80
10yr gilt vield
Upside risk 0.00 0.70 0.80 0.%0 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.90 0.30 0.30 0.30
Central Case 4.56| 4.55 4.45 4.30 4.20 4.20) 4.20( 4.20 4.25) 4.35( 4,35 4.25] 4.35
Downside risk 0.00] -0.50 -0.60 -0.65 -0.65 -0.70f -0.70] -0.75 -0.75| -0.B0) -0.80{ -0.80f -0.BO
20yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.00 0.70 0.80 0.%0 0.90 0.0 0.90 0.90 0.30 0.90 0.%0 0.%0 0.90
Central Case 5.05 5.00 4.90 4.80 4.70 4.65] 4.65( 4.65 4.65) 4.65( 4.65 4.65| 4.65
Downside risk 0.00[ -0.50 -0.60 -0.65 -0.65 -0.70f -0.70] -0.75 -0.75] -0.80) -0.80{ -0.80{ -0.80
50yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.00 0.70 0.80 0.%0 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.30 0.90 0.30 0.30 0.90
Central Case 4.52| 4.70 4.60 4.50 4.40 4.35| 4.35[ 4.35 4.35| 4.35[ 4.35 4.35| 4.35
Downside risk 0.00[ -0.50 -0.60 -0.65 -0.65 -0.70f -0.70] -0.75 -0.75) -0.80) -0.80{ -0.80f -0.80

PWLB Standard Rate = Gilt yield + 1.00%

PWLB Certainty Rate = Gilt yield + 0.80%

PWLB HRA Rate = Gilt yield + 0.40%

National Wealth Fund (NWF) Rate = Gilt yield + 0.40%

g wa)| epuaby



80¢ abed

Appendix B — Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position

28/01/2025 28/01/2025
Actual
Portfolio Average Rate
£m %
External borrowing: 0 0
Total external borrowing 0 0
Treasury investments:
Banks, MMF & building societies (unsecured) 9.5 4.7
Government (incl. local authorities) 5.0 4.9
Total treasury investments 145 4.8
Net Investments 14.5

g wa)| epuaby



60¢€ abed

Appendix | — Investment Strategy

Introduction

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Authority invests its money for three broad purposes:

e because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example when income is received in advance of
expenditure (known as treasury management investments),

e to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other organisations (service investments), and

e to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is the main purpose).

This investment strategy meets the requirements of statutory guidance issued by the government in January 2018 and focuses
on the second and third of these categories.

The statutory guidance defines investments as “all of the financial assets of a local authority as well as other non-financial
assets that the organisation holds primarily or partially to generate a profit; for example, investment property portfolios.” The
Authority interprets this to exclude (a) trade receivables which meet the accounting definition of financial assets but are not
investments in the everyday sense of the word and (b) property held partially to generate a profit but primarily for the provision
of local public services. This aligns the Authority’s definition of an investment with that in the 2021 edition of the CIPFA
Prudential Code, a more recent piece of statutory guidance.

Treasury Management Investments

4.4

The Authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) before it pays for its expenditure in cash (e.g.
through payroll and invoices). It also holds reserves for future expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of other local
authorities and central government. These activities, plus the timing of borrowing decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is
invested in accordance with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. The balance of treasury
management investments is expected to fluctuate between £1m and £14m during the 2025/26 financial year.

g wa)| epuaby



0TE obed

4.5 Contribution: The contribution that these investments make to the objectives of the Authority is to support effective treasury
management activities.

4.6  Further details: Full details of the Authority’s policies and its plan for 2025/26 for treasury management investments are
covered in a separate document, the treasury management strategy, which is part of these appendices.

Service Investments: Loans

4.7  Contribution: The Council will lend money to its subsidiaries, local businesses, local charities and housing associations to
support local public services and stimulate local economic growth.

4.8  Security: The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to repay the principal lent and/or the
interest due. In order to limit this risk, and ensure that total exposure to service loans remains proportionate to the size of the
Authority, upper limits on the outstanding loans to each category of borrower have been set as follows:

Table 1: Loans for service purposes in £ millions

Category of borrower 31.3.2024 actual 2025/26
Balance Loss Net figure in Approved
owing allowance accounts Limit
£m
Subsidiaries 0 0 0 1.0
Local businesses 0 0 0 0.5
Local charities 0 0 0 0.5
Housing associations 0 0 0 1.0
TOTAL 0 0 0 3.0

g wa)| epuaby



TTE abed

4.9  Accounting standards require the Authority to set aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. The
figures for loans in the Authority’s statement of accounts are shown net of this loss allowance. However, the Authority makes
every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent and has appropriate credit control arrangements in place to recover overdue
repayments.

4.10 Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding service loans by using
specialist advice to understand the market and the potential future demands of the market and the customers in it. It will also
use benchmarking data from the market to determine future potential risks which need to be planned for. External advice is
only sought from credible sources eg acknowledged experts in their fields and officers ensure that they fully understand any
information given to them before decision or advice is taken.

Commercial Investments: Property

4.11 Contribution: The Authority invests via Regeneration schemes such as Levelling Up Fundings via the Government in property
with the intention of making a profit that will be spent on local public services. Levelling Up funding in being invested in
regenerating the Market Hall site and clearing the existing Fire Station site for future regeneration.

Table 2: Property held for investment purposes in £ millions

Property [type] Actual 31.3.2024 actual 31.3.2025 expected
Purchase Gains or Value in Gains or Value in
cost (losses) accounts (losses) accounts
N/A 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0

4.12 Security: In accordance with government guidance, the Authority considers a property investment to be secure if its
accounting valuation is at or higher than its purchase cost including taxes and transaction costs.

4.13 Where value in accounts is at or above purchase cost: A fair value assessment of the Authority’s investment property portfolio
has been made within the past twelve months, and the underlying assets provide security for capital investment. Should the

g wa)| epuaby



Z1¢ abed

4.14

4.15

4.16

2024/25 year end accounts preparation and audit process value these properties below their purchase cost, then an updated
investment strategy will be presented to full Council detailing the impact of the loss on the security of investments and any
revenue consequences arising therefrom.

Where value in accounts is below purchase cost: The fair value of the Authority’s investment property portfolio is no longer
sufficient to provide security against loss, and the Authority is therefore taking mitigating actions to protect the capital invested.

Risk assessment: The Authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding property investments by
involving specialist advisors with expertise in the type of property being purchased, looking at historic data and speaking to
other councils undertaking similar activities.

Liquidity: Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to sell and convert to cash at short notice and
can take a considerable period to sell in certain market conditions. To ensure that the invested funds can be accessed when
they are needed, for example to repay capital borrowed, the Council ensures that properties purchased are in an active market
where there is demonstrable demand to ensure that the authority does not purchase assets which it will not be able to sell on
at a later date.

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

4.17

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged hands yet, loan commitments and financial
guarantees carry similar risks to the Authority and are included here for completeness.

Proportionality

4.18

The Council does not plan to become dependent on profit generating investment activity to achieve a balanced revenue
budget.

g wa)| epuaby



¢T¢ abed

Borrowing in Advance of Need

4.19

Government guidance is that local authorities must not borrow more than or in advance of their needs purely in order to profit
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. The Council would only not follow this guidance if interest rate forecasts and
treasury advisor guidance set out that it was more cost effective, in terms of significantly reduced debt interest charges,
for the Council to borrow for the approved 3 year capital programme at a point of time rather than when that expenditure is
taking place over that 3 year period. It is unlikely that this will happen however the option should not be closed off. Funds
would be invested. The Councils policies in investing the money borrowed, including management of the risks, would be as
per normal short term Treasury Investments.

Capacity, Skills and Culture

4.20

421

4.22

Elected members and statutory officers: Member training will take place annually as part of the induction process. External
advisors will provide reports to support investment decisions with officers ensuring that they fully understand them and can
relate them to the strategic objectives and risk profile of the Council.

Commercial deals: Significant work has been undertaken using external advisors and relevant training courses have been
attended to ensure that officers are fully aware of the code and statutory requirements of a local authority which is investing.

KPMG have developed a modelling tool for the Council to use when assessing potential purchases as a precursor to engaging
with external consultants to ensure that potential purchases are likely to make sense from the perspective of the authority
before incurring advisor costs. However, following an internal review of the policy, it has been decided that the Council may
wish to make purchases which do not make a financial return or may indeed make a loss in the short term. On these occasions
a business case will be developed which specifies the non-financial benefits of the investment. These are likely to be
regenerative schemes for the greater good of the area with an intended long term impact. The regenerative and redevelopment
benefits which will flow from the investment will be taken into account in the development of the business case, so if the net
investment yield falls below 0.75% it can still proceed if these benefits are deemed to outweigh the lower than target yield.

Corporate governance: when investment decisions are to be made, they are to be led by the Council’s Director of Finance
in consultation with the Corporate Management Team. They will assess the potential investment opportunity using the KPMG

g wa)| epuaby



v TE obed

finance appraisal model and should they decide it presents a strong opportunity for the Council and complies with the relevant
criteria a conditional offer can be made. A business case will then be developed and presented ensuring that once greater
detail is included, it makes a satisfactory income yield and/or economic redevelopment and regeneration impact. When the
business case is completed, if it is still compliant with the Council criteria, it will be presented to Cabinet for approval before
purchase is completed. Once a purchase has been made the Director of Finance will provide quarterly reports in line with
financial and monitoring reports on the status of the investment.

Investment Indicators

4.23

4.24

The Authority has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members and the public to assess the Authority’s
total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions.

Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Authority’s total exposure to potential investment losses. This includes
amounts the Authority is contractually committed to lend but have yet to be drawn down and guarantees the Authority has
issued over third party loans.

Table 3: Total investment exposure in £millions

Total investment exposure 31.03.2024 31.03.2025 31.03.2026
Actual Forecast Forecast
Treasury management investments 0 2 4
Service investments: Loans 0 0 0
Commercial investments: Property 0 0 0
TOTAL INVESTMENTS 0 2 4
Commitments to lend 0 0 0
Guarantees issued on loans 0 0 0
TOTAL EXPOSURE 0 0 0

g wa)| epuaby



GTE obed

4.25

4.26

How investments are funded: Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are funded.
Since the Authority does not normally associate particular assets with particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply
with. However, the following investments could be described as being funded by borrowing. The remainder of the Authority’s
investments are funded by usable reserves and income received in advance of expenditure.

Table 4: Investments funded by borrowing in £millions

Investments funded by borrowing 31AOCP;L|22IZ4 3;6?2'02;;5 3;(')?;2:;6
Treasury management investments 0 0 0
Service investments: Loans 0 0 0
Service investments: Shares 0 0 0
Commercial investments: Property 0 0 0
TOTAL FUNDED BY BORROWING 0 0 0

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less the associated costs, including the cost
of borrowing where appropriate, as a proportion of the sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local government
accounting framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the revenue account in the year they are incurred.

Table 5: Investment rate of return (net of all costs)

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
Investments net rate of return

Actual Forecast Forecast
Treasury management investments 5.2 4.9 4.6
Service investments: Loans 0 0 0
Service investments: Shares 0 0 0
Commercial investments: Property 0 0 0
ALL INVESTMENTS 5.2 4.9 4.6

g wa)| epuaby



Agenda Item 8

Page 316



/1€ abed

Appendix J — Consultation Results

promoted on a variety of social media channels.
The survey closed at 12noon on Thursday 2 January 2025
valid responses received.

Bromsgrove District Council - Budget Consultation for 2025/26
The budget consultation opened on Thu 5 December 2024. An email invite was sent to the Bromsgrove Community Panel. The survey was also

. The response rate for the community panel was 48%.

There were a total of 278

Qno. | Question Responses Responses | %

(2Q7%3) ':;3 /)(l)?uthreezlCliigtir?gsirg?sse;%r%\éfel’)?lsul(:t Resident of Bromsgrove District 276 100.0%

Have a business based here 11 4.0%

Q2 Please tell us where you live or where your Alvechurch South 4 1.5%

(273) | business is located. Alvechurch Village 9 3.3%

_ . _ Aston Fields 25 9.2%

e St essa oo o ety [ Avoncror s [ 2o

live) ' Barnt Green & Hopwood 5 1.8%

Belbroughton and Romsley 24 8.8%

Bromsgrove Central 27 9.9%

Catshill North 7 2.6%

Catshill South 4 1.5%

Charford 13 4.8%

Cofton 4 1.5%

Drakes Cross 2 0.7%

Hagley East 1 0.4%

Hagley West 4 1.5%

Hill Top 9 3.3%

Hollywood 3 1.1%

Lickey Hills 6 2.2%

Lowes Hill 15 5.5%

g wa)| epuaby



8T¢ abed

Marlbrook 11 4.0%
Norton 11 4.0%
Perryfields 7 2.6%
Rock Hill 9 3.3%
Rubery North 6 2.2%
Rubery South 5 1.8%
Sanders Park 11 4.0%
Sidemoor 16 5.9%
Slideslow 10 3.7%
Tardebigge 12 4.4%
Wythall East 3 1.1%
Wythall West 2 0.7%
Q3 Which services do you think it is important for [ Community and Voluntary Sector 39 14.1%
(276) | the Council to invest in? Community Parks and Open Spaces 103 37.3%
Plgage note that High_vvays are not incll_Jded as (IE:g\Trr;q:;Iz]tSan;S;tainability 15293 ;11146122

this is a Worcestershire County Council -~ :
function Events and Arts Activities 50 18.1%
Local Economic Development and Employment 130 47.1%
Please pick your top 3 most important. Maintenance of the Landscape and Environment 121 43.8%
Strategic Housing 68 24.6%
Waste and Recycling 108 39.1%
Welfare and Financial Support 58 21.0%
Q4 Do you agree that the Council should reinvest | Strongly agree 62 22.5%
(276) |in technology_in order tc_) r_nake services more Agree 115 41.7%
E;a/cdugféuel{f?ectlve and efficient and to be digital Neither agree nor disagree -0 o5 4%
Disagree 22 8.0%
Strongly disagree 7 2.5%
Q5 Do you agree that the Council should increase | Strongly agree 60 21.8%
(275) | investment in temporary accommodation to Agree 100 36.4%
Neither agree nor disagree 65 23.6%

g wa)| epuaby



6TE abed

support homeless families and individuals in Disagree 30 10.9%

district? Strongly disagree 20 7.3%

Q6 Do you agree that the Council should invest in | Strongly agree 116 42.0%

) | oeal businesses, startups, the town and local | 29r°2 122 | 442

coecne;res and to pr’ioritise Poc‘:al skills? Ngither agree nor disagree 32 11.6%

Disagree 1 0.4%

Strongly disagree 5 1.8%

Q7 Do you agree that the Council should be Strongly agree 81 29.7%

O | rovenar Demec 515w omvg v [ 292

frg]cpur(s)\i/r?trg?[?]e Bromsgrove Town gentre Neither agree nor disagree 58 21.2%

offering? Disagree 16 5.9%

Strongly disagree 10 3.7%

Q8 Do you agree that the Council should invest Strongly agree 35 12.7%

(276) more in our front-line services to cover Agree 102 37.0%

increases in fuel? Neither agree nor disagree 115 41.7%

Disagree 16 5.8%

Strongly disagree 8 2.9%

Q9 Do you agree that the Council needs to Strongly agree 64 23.4%

(274) invo]ve young people more in decision Agree 103 37.6%

making and local democracy? Neither agree nor disagree 71 25.9%

Disagree 28 10.2%

Strongly disagree 8 2.9%

Q10 | Do you agree that the Council should invest in | Strongly agree 34 12.3%

(276) greater data an_d systems support to enable Agree 113 40.9%
the delivery of improved services and : :

enhance decision making? Neither agree nor disagree 98 35.5%

Disagree 28 10.1%

Strongly disagree 3 1.1%

Strongly agree 21 7.6%

g wa)| epuaby



0zg abed

Agree 90 32.6%
Do you support fees and charges (this Neither agree nor disagree 55 19.9%
((371%) excludes parking) rising by 4% to keep them ; g g : 00
in line with inflation and rising staffing costs? | D!Sagree 67 24.3%
Strongly disagree 43 15.6%
Q12 | In order to maintain services, what level of increase to Bromsgrove District Council's proportion of Council Tax do you
support?
Q12a | Increase of 1.99% Strongly agree 54 24.8%
(218) Agree 80 36.7%
Neither agree nor disagree 42 19.3%
Disagree 20 9.2%
Strongly disagree 22 10.1%
Q12b | Increase of 2.99% Strongly agree 38 20.0%
(190) Agree 49 25.8%
Neither agree nor disagree 22 11.6%
Disagree 29 15.3%
Strongly disagree 52 27.4%
Q13 | Please let us know your suggestions for
(178) | investing in the District to increase prosperity
and_enhance ?‘ppea' for residents and This was an open question and the comments will be analysed separately
businesses alike.
Q14 | Please let us know any other comments on
(118) | the budget or ideas for reducing costs or

increasing income to ensure Council services
remain sustainable.

This was an open question and the comments will be analysed separately

g wa)| epuaby



Tcg abed

About You
Answering these questions is optional. Any answers are completely anonymous and confidential. The reason why we ask you these questions is so we can:

- Make our council services open to everyone in the district

- Treat everyone fairly and appropriately when they use our services

- In consultations, make sure that we have views from all across the district

The Equality Act 2010 makes these aims part of our legal duties. Your answers help us check that we have met the law and help improve our services.

Q15 | What is your current housing status? Owner 171 62.9%
(272) Mortgaged 68 25.0%
Part rent/part buy 2 0.7%
Private renting 7 2.6%
Council tenant 6 2.2%
Social housing 6 2.2%
Living with relatives 3 1.1%
Private renting 8 2.9%
Other (please specify) 1 0.4%
Q16 [ Which of the following best describes your 16-19yrs 0 0.0%
(273) | age? 20-29yrs 3 1.1%
30-39yrs 22 8.1%
40-49yrs 27 9.9%
50-59yrs 51 18.7%
60-69yrs 75 27.5%
70-79yrs 70 25.6%
80+ years 14 5.1%
Prefer not to say 11 4.0%
QL7 : Yes 72 26.4%
(273) [ Do you have any long-standing health
- ) Yo
?T(r)lggqlﬁﬁg ggt gé?(?t?elflilntzs.disability as ‘a physical or No 177 64.8%
mental impairment that has a substantial and long-term adverse
effect on your ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities’) Prefer not to say 24 8.8%

g wa)| epuaby



zes abed

Q18 [ Which best describes your gender? Female 123 44.9%
(274) Male 137 50.0%
Prefer not to say 12 4.4%
Other (please specify) 2 0.7%
Q20 [ Which best describes your ethnicity White English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish. British 245 89.7%
(273) Any other White background 6 2.2%
Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups 4 1.5%
Asian or Asian British 1 0.4%
Black, African, Caribbean or Black British Arab 0 0.0%
Prefer not to say 15 5.5%
Other ethnic group 2 0.7%
Q21 [ Which best describes your religion or belief? | Atheist 28 10.3%
(272) Buddhist 0 0.0%
Christian 143 52.6%
Humanist 9 3.3%
Hindu 0 0.0%
Jewish 0 0.0%
Muslim 3 1.1%
Pagan 7 2.6%
Sikh 0 0.0%
No religion/belief 50 18.4%
Prefer not to say 26 9.6%
Other (please specify) 6 2.2%
Q49 | Which of the following best describes your Bisexual 9 3.3%
(270) | sexual orientation? Heterosexual 217 80.4%
Lesbian or Gay 6 2.2%
Prefer not to say 35 13.0%
Other (please specify) 6 2.2%

g wa)| epuaby



	Agenda
	3 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 7th January 2025
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 6th January 2025
	5 Pay Policy 2025/2026
	2025 BDC pay policy February 25

	7 Strategic Parking Review
	Appendix 1 - Strategic Review
	Appendix 2 - Car Park Management
	Appendix 3 - On street Enforcement
	Appendix 4 - Bromsgrove PCN Information – Quarterly Summary
	Appendix 5 - Exempt Information
	Appendix 6 - Exempt Information

	8 Medium Term Financial Plan - Tranche 2 Budget including Fees and Charges (following consultation)
	Appendix B - Exempt Information
	Appendix C - Worcestershire Regulatory Services Fees and Charges
	Appendix D - Reserves Position
	Appendix E – Capital Programme
	Appendix F – Capital Strategy
	Appendix G – Treasury Management Strategy
	Appendix I – Investment Strategy
	Appendix J – Consultation Results


